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| Travelers Property Casualty Corp.

financial highlights at a glance

Travelers Property Casualty Corp. (NYSE: TAPA and TAPB) is a leading provider of a wide range of insurance products. Travelers
is the third largest commercial fines insurer, providing a broad array of property casualty insurance products and services to a wide
range of customers from small businesses to Fortune 500 companies. The company is the second largest writer of homeowners
and auto insurance through independent agents. For more information on Travelers products, see www.travelers.com.
Revenues $14.3 billion $12.2 billion
Net Written Premiums $11.9 billion $9.8 billion
Net Income (Loss) $(27) million $1.1 billion
-Per share (Diluted) $(0.03) $1.39
Book Value per Common Share $10.10 $13.90
-Excluding FAS 115 $9.38 $13.58
Assets $64.1 billion $57.8 hillion
Shareholders’ Equity* $9.5 billion $10.4 billion
Common Shares Outstanding at Year End 1,003.9 million 769.0 million
Employees 20,591 20,951
Licensed Independent Agencies 10,339 10,102
*Excludes accumufated other changes in equity from nonowner sources.
Revenues
($ in billions)
on the cover
$15
$.s Travelers” new logo, pictured on the front cover, was chosen from thousands of
$122 concepts submitted by employees and with assistance from agents and
$12 o - - customers. Those who helped develop it suggested that it represents our
si05 5106 company in its willingness to embrace forward-looking ideas while building on
59 — b_ —_ - a solid foundation of time-tested strengths.
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To the shareholders of

Travelers Property Casualty Corp.,

Travelers Property Casualty's emergence as an
independent company began with our March
f? b 2002 Initial Public Offering and culminated in

A | the spin-off to Citigroup shareholders in August.

Property casualty insurance markets were favorable in our first year,
with rising premiums outpacing loss costs. At the same time, we
faced a challenging investment environment and low interest rates,
and we dealt with asbestos-related exposures, a major issue whose
roots lie in our past. After concluding a detailed study of our
projected ultimate asbestos liabilities, we took a $1.3 billion after
tax charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 to strengthen our reserves
for asbestos claims. This led us to a net loss of $27 million for the
year. We ended the year in a strong position, with 2002 revenues
of $14.3 billion, $64.1 billion in assets and $9.5 billion in
shareholders’ equity. I'll discuss our charge and the asbestos issue

in more detail later in this letter.

First, I'd like to tell you a little bit about Travelers before going over
the past years major events and accomplishments, and our

prospects in the coming years.

Who We Are

Travelers offers a broad range of property casualty insurance
products to businesses and individuals primarily through
independent agents and major brokers. We recorded $11.9 billion
in net written premiums in 2002: $7.4 billion, or 62 percent, from

our commercial lines businesses; and $4.5 billion, or 38 percent,
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to act like owners and reward them according to objective,
financially valid performance measures. Over the years, we've
developed a highly effective management information system that
captures the monthly underwriting results of 182 business units
down to the field office level, and analyzes underwriting profitability
by product, agency and customer type. To my knowledge, no one
else in our industry can track such results with this same level of
detail. This tool, coupled with a culture that empowers our field
leadership to set business strategy in their regions and rewards them
for the results they achieve, provides us the necessary flexibility to

spot profitable markets and act quickly to capitalize on them.

Net Income {Loss)
($ in millions)

$1,400

$1.312

1,200
’ % o $1.065

800 — — — — ——
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from our personal lines businesses. Based on the most recent data

available from A.M. Best, we are the fifth-largest U.S. property Basic & Diluted EPS - Net Income (Loss)
casualty insurer — third in commercial lines, eighth in personal lines, and the second-

largest writer of personal insurance through independent agents. Our franchise $20 .

with consumers and agents is strong.

Travelers prides itself on disciplined underwriting, careful cost control, and a focus 13 513 13

on markets where we can produce a healthy bottom-line profit and an average

return on shareholders’ equity that is well above the industry average. We believe 90— — - — —
that doing the right thing for our shareholders, which include the great majority of

our more than 20,000 employees, comes from writing business only where and $05 — — — —_ & —
when margins and returns on equity are adequate.

An important part of executing this bottom-line driven strategy is a culture that 50 ——
encourages flexibility and quick thinking. We give our business managers incentives 1998 1999 2000 2001 ;(00832)
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The culture we've developed at Travelers encourages our
employees to think and act like owners. This philosophy is
supported by investiments in the people and tools that lead to
good decision making and to ensuring we maintain a stable,
consistent presence in our core markets. Travelers is an
underwriting company, disciplined and bottom-line focused. We
concentrate our energies and resources on what we do best, and

in my opinion, we're very good at it.

Significant Events

Market conditions were favorable throughout 2002, particularly in
our core middle-market commercial lines segments. Commercial
Lines net written premiums grew 28 percent over the prior year,
and Personal Lines premiums grew 11 percent, due in large part to
our ability to write business at more favorable rates. At the same

time, we saw a modest increase in what | like to call “real” growth.

Total Assets
($ in billions)

$75

$64.1

SSE
518 gme oo
§50 — —— — — -~
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For the first three quarters, our growth was driven by rate
increases. In the fourth quarter, we began to see increases in the
number of customers, which in a mature industry such as ours, is

something to feel good about.

In the fourth guarter, we expanded our annual review and
assessment of Travelers' exposure to asbestos-related losses in light
of the company’s recent claims experience and industry-wide trends.
As a result of the study, Travelers strengthened its asbestos reserves
to $3.4 billion, after reinsurance recoverables. Accordingly, we
recorded an after-tax charge of $1.3 billion. This reserve
strengthening reflected a conservative view of trends that have
become clearer over the last few quarters and our estimate of the
projected ultimate cost of our asbestos liabilities. The
comprehensiveness of the study and its subsequent level of
disclosure were widely acknowledged to have set a new standard for
our industry. The independent actuarial consultant who reviewed the
study methodology concluded that, “The Travelers approach is

thorough, comprehensive and constitutes industry ‘best practice’.”

Our asbestos reserve study was undertaken with the assumption
that no legislative relief is forthcoming on this issue. However,
asbestos is an issue with the potential to have a significant impact
not only on the insurance industry, but on the U.S. economy as a
whole. According to a September 2002 study by the RAND Institute
for Civil Justice, companies in 75 out of a total of 83 industrial
classifications have been sued, and the total projected cost of claims
exceeds $200 billion. Today, billions of dollars are being spent on
legal costs and on individuals who are not sick. | am hopeful that

Congress will help bring rationality to this issue in the coming year.

Another issue with public policy implications that we faced in 2002
was a shortage of insurance capacity resuiting from the Sept. 11,

2001 attack. The passage of federal backstop legislation in

Investments
(% in billions) November was a welcome event that allowed us to continue
$40 — providing needed coverage to our customers. The fact that we
o were able to weather this crisis without taking drastic steps in the
B wos o marketplace served to strengthen our position in the long term.
$30 — . — -
Throughout the year, we've also addressed some issues that are not directly
20 — — — — — - reflected in our bottom line, but are nevertheless important elements of building
a great company and returning value to our shareholders. To increase the
transparency of our financial results, we greatly expanded our quarterly financial
10— — = — — - supplement and our SEC filings. We adopted new corporate governance
standards, chose to expense stock options beginning January 1, 2003,
$ announced a $500 million share repurchase program in September and
1998 1998 2000 2001 2002




Shareholders’ Equity
($ in billions)

$12

$10.4
p— $9.5
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$6.6
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$5.0
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Excludes accumulated other changes in equity
from nonowner sources.

Statutory Surplus
(% in billions)
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Outlook

Excluding the 2002 fourth quarter asbestos charge and charges for the Sept. 11
attack taken in 2001, our businesses have consistently produced a return on
equity between 14 and 17 percent over the past five years. Excluding those
charges, Travelers’ combined ratio has improved steadily over the past five years,
from 103.7 percent in 1998 to 99.5 percent in 2002. As a result of our
underwriting, expense control and claims handling, our combined ratio has been
five or more points better than the industry average for four out of the past five

years, and we expect to maintain this competitive advantage.

As we enter 2003, Travelers’ potential cash flow, earnings and return on equity are
all very favorable. We expect to see a moderation of price increases across the board,
which has already become visible in commercial lines, but we expect rate increases to
remain well ahead of loss cost trends. Projecting these trends forward, we estimate
strong 2003 net and operating income with a return on shareholders’
equity that is well above historical industry averages. For the purpose

of this assessment, we assume no significant change in loss trends in

8 R
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the coming year; a normal level of catastrophe losses (which will
represent a slight increase over 2002, a favorable year); no net realized
investment gains or losses; a continuation of the current interest rate

and equity market conditions; and no asbestos incurrals.

In addition, we expect our strong balance sheet to offer
opportunities to participate in industry consolidation in the
coming years. We will look for acquisitions in our core U.S.
property-casualty business that will be immediately accretive to
our operating earnings and return on shareholders’ equity, and
where we feel that we can make significant improvements

through our underwriting and expense discipline.

Qur plan is to keep doing what we're doing, to execute our strategy

well and to hit our return on equity targets on a consistent basis. We

have accomplished a great deal in our first year of independence,

and there’s a high level of enthusiasm among our people right now

announced our first dividend on Jan. 1, 2003. Ten highly qualified

outside directors joined our Board during the year.

In addition, we are establishing a charitable foundation and
committing our continued support to the communities where we
work and live. And, in February 2003, we launched a new brand
identity for our company that builds on our 139-year heritage
while conveying a sense of the energy and optimism we feel

about our future.

and strong support from our independent agents. Personally, | feel
very good about where we are, and I'm excited about what we

hope to accomplish in the coming years.

A s

Robert I. Lipp

Chairman




Commercial Lines

Commercial Lines underlying performance was strong in 2002,
with net written premiums up 28 percent to $7.4 billion. The
fundamental profitability of the businesses, as shown in our
combined ratio, continued to show improvement when the impact
of the Sept. 11, 2001 attack and the special asbestos charge are
excluded from 2001 and 2002 figures, respectively.

Travelers is building momentum in the commercial insurance
marketplace, and continues to find ways to leverage information
to make better decisions. We believe that our management
information systems provide a superior level of detail relative to

our competitors’. Supported by a corporate philosophy that puts

Commercial Lines - Net Written Premiums
($ in billions}

8
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$5.0 o
S5 e

2— — — — — -

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Commercial Lines - GAAP Combined Ratios
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underwriting authority at the point of sale, we believe this
provides a significant competitive advantage, while helping us

build strong relationships with agents and brokers.

Another key success factor is Travelers’ outstanding claim service
capabilities. Our claims organization provides local service through
its 39 offices around the country. Each of our lines of business are
supported by dedicated claims professionals whose work is
supported by advanced technology tools, as well as medical,
investigation and subrogation specialists. Additional support is
provided by our dedicated loss-prevention engineering team and
its state-of-the-art laboratory. Our loss prevention professionals
provide value-added service to our shareholders and policyholders
by working with our clients to avoid losses ahead of time. Our
claims handling processes as well as associated support functions

are designed to help ensure fair, prompt payment of claims.

Overall, Commercial Lines’ success relies on excellent people,
focusing on the fundamentals of our business and executing well
every day. Our agents tell us that these strengths — combined with
our underwriting consistency, breadth of product offerings, and

financial capacity ~ have given us a competitive edge.

Our Commercial Lines businesses are organized into five marketing

and underwriting groups, as outlined below:

National Accounts

National Accounts works with national and regional brokers to
provide tailored insurance products and risk management services
to large corporations. Primary insurance products include workers’
compensation, general and products liability and auto liability.

Services include loss prevention, claims administration and risk

. management information systems (RMIS). National Accounts’
160% results also include Travelers’ residual market business, which sells
128.9% fee-based claims and policy management services to state
120% i ol mandated workers' compensation and automobile assigned risk plans. In 2002,
s % 2w National Accounts enjoyed excellent customer retention, improved pricing and
B0% —  — s snen? record new business writings.
National Accounts generated $735 million in 2002 net written premiums, up
0% — — — — — 75 percent from the prior year, and $482 million in fee income, up 33 percent
from the prior year.
o Focus on operational efficiencies and controlling loss costs through skilled claims
1998 1939 2000 2001 2002 management were key strategies in 2002. Several notable initiatives were
8; IETzzgegfi;Z?d‘c}ftzept,mh undertaken in support of those goals. Major enhancements were made to
Si IETSigesflnigazaogfjébgétgzs igzt&os charge Travelers’ proprietary RMIS product, which has been recognized as an industry
Before policyholder dividends .




Commercial Lines 2002
Net Written Premiums by Market
{$ in millions)

Bond National Accounts
GU”‘\ 5630_\ [ $735

85% <
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Key to Commercial Accounts’ profitable growth during 2002 was a
disciplined, deal-by-deal underwriting approach that relies on the
division’s exceptional depth of underwriting talent both in the home
and the field offices and industry-best management information
systems that allow for a careful focus on agents and clients who
provide the best risks. Positive pricing trends in the middle market,
careful loss control by engineering and claims handling staff and
outstanding support from independent agents and brokers all

contributed to the best performance in more than a decade.

Select Accounts

$1,870 Commercial Accounts

$3,556

leader. A new Web site was launched with the goal of facilitating
improved communication and shared information among the
worker, employer, medical providers and Travelers claims
professionals. A new Electronic Claim Reporting Kit includes a
customized claim Web page for the customer’s Intranet that
increases the speed and accuracy of customers’ claim reporting to
better manage claim outcomes. Additional enhancements that
were made to assist workers’ compensation claim handlers and
nurses included the updating of our predictive modeling programs
and development of automated Web-based referrals to our
engineering, investigative, subrogation and major case specialists.
National Accounts is marketing the strength of claims
management with producers and clients by focusing on controlling

clients’ total cost of risk.

Commercial Accounts

Commercial Accounts serves primarily mid-sized businesses for
casualty products and both large and mid-sized businesses for
property products through a network of independent agents and
brokers. Commercial Accounts experienced profitable growth in
all lines of business, with especially strong returns in the
commercial property, general liability and commercial auto lines.
2002 net written premiums, including the benefit of the acquired
Northland and Associates businesses, were $3.56 billion, up 48

percent over the prior year figure.

Commercial Lines 2002
Net Written Premiums by Product
{$ in millions)

General Liability Workers' Compensation

$1,035 $1.135

Fidelity
and Surety
$542

Property
and Other Commercial
$1,089 Commercial Automabile Multi-Peril

$1,455 $2,14

Commercial Accounts continued to focus on the manufacturing
industry in 2002, and looks forward to expanding its presence in
this and other targeted industries in 2003. Specifically, we look
forward to growing business in the high tech manufacturing
industry. In addition, Commercial Accounts completed the
integration of The Northland Companies in 2002, which adds a
well-managed commercial trucking insurance franchise to the
division. Pricing trends in this business were positive in 2002, and

these trends are expected to continue.

In addition, a dedicated Construction unit exists within Commercial
Accounts. This unit, which provides guaranteed cost and loss-
sensitive coverages to trade, general and heavy infrastructure
contractors of all sizes, has a unique focus on the commercial

construction insurance market.
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Key to Construction’s business strategy is careful underwriting and
loss cost management by industry-dedicated specialists.
Construction’s underwriters, engineers and claim personnef employ
extensive knowledge of the construction industry and effective risk
management. Construction safety experts focus on helping
contractors control loss costs, including education in effective loss
control and how to best manage the contract-writing process to

help contractors limit future liability.

Due to disciplined underwriting and specialization in this highly
complex market, Construction enjoyed more than 20 percent
growth in new business during 2002, and realized encouraging
returns in this historically difficult sector of the commercial

insurance market.

Select Accounts

Select Accounts provides guaranteed cost policies, which often
combine property and liability risks, to small businesses through
a network of independent agents. Select Accounts generated
$1.87 billion in net written premiums during 2002, up nine

percent from the prior year.

For customers with less than $10,000 in total annual premiums,
Select Accounts continued to focus on making it easy for its
independent agency sales force to do business with Travelers, as
well as helping agents improve their own efficiency and sales
effectiveness. Enhancements were made to Select Accounts’
industry-leading small commercial sales and service platform,
which includes the award-winning Issue Express Net (IENet) policy
quoting and issuance platform and Travelers’ state-of-the-art small
business service centers. Other enhancements included the
addition of electronic claim notification and electronic policy view
features for agents. During the year, service center utilization by
agents increased by more than 25 percent, while customer
retention rates in the service centers exceeded overall retention

rates by more than 5 percent.

Select Accounts also focused on growth in the larger end of the
small commercial market in 2002 by dedicating new underwriting
resources to customers with more than $10,000 in total
premiums. New business premiums increased by more than 11
percent in this segment in 2002, and gained momentum

throughout the second half of the year.

Select Accounts experienced improving loss cost trends in 2002
and continued to improve its favorable expense ratio by further

leveraging its investment in technology. Select Accounts’

operational efficiencies allowed it to benefit from favorable pricing

trends in the small commercial marketplace during 2002.

Bond

Bond provides a variety of fidelity and surety bonds and executive
liability coverages through independent agents and brokers. In
addition, Bond offers packaged products, which combine fidelity
and liability coverages for employment practices, directors’ and

officers’, and other related professional and fiduciary coverages.

Bond’s 2002 net written premiums were $630 million, up seven
percent from $590 million in the prior year. Excluding the effects of
terminating one reinsurance treaty in 2001 and changing another
in 2002, net written premiums were $647 million in 2002, up 16
percent from $556 million in 2001.

Bond achieved growth in 2002 in both of its principal markets,
surety and executive liability, without compromising credit quality.
In the surety market, & decrease in capacity, driven by an increase
in claims frequency and severity in prior years, enabled Bond to

benefit from increasing rates, which outpaced loss trends.

Within its target executive liability market of private small and
mid-sized businesses and non-profit organizations, Bond was
able to enhance its product and customer diversification by
introducing innovative new products, such as its Miscellaneous
Professional Liability PLUS+™ errors and omissions coverage for a

wide variety of businesses.

Bond continued to be a market leader in technical innovation in 2002.
Through the use of Internet-based technologies, Bond facilitated the
way independent agents and brokers obtain price indications for
executive liability risks. In addition, Bond expanded the capabilities of
its Bond Express underwriting and business center, which services the
small and miscellaneous commercial surety needs of businesses and

individuals throughout the country from one central location.

Gulf

Travelers’ Gulf Insurance Group offers specialty insurance
coverages to businesses of all sizes and industry types,
distributing through wholesale and retail agents and brokers.
With an emphasis on excess and surplus fines, Gulf's focus
includes coverages for directors and officers (principally excess
layers with small retentions), many classes of professional
services, employment practices, fidelity, surety and umbrella.
Gulf also caters to unique industries such as entertainment and

professional sports.



Despite increased business and favorable rate trends in its core

specialty lines, Gulf's 2002 net written premiums of $579 million
were down slightly from the prior year due to the exiting of certain

lines of business.

Personal Lines

/‘\w '\\;
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Personal Lines sells automobile, homeowner and other property
coverages to individuals, primarily through a well-established
network of independent agents. Personal Lines generated strong
top line growth in 2002 with net written premiums growing by 11
percent. This increase reflects pricing actions undertaken to improve
profit margins along with a modest increase in policy volume, which

totalled 5.5 million policies in force at year end.

The personal fines insurance industry is characterized by high
transaction volume, low margins and a complex regulatory and
legal environment. Travelers’ ability to effectively operate within
this environment is evidenced by its significantly improved
results in 2002 with a combined ratio of 99.4 percent versus
103.8 percent in the prior year and A.M. Best's projected 2002
industry average of approximately 105.6 percent. We increased
net income by $74 million (31 percent) and operating income by
$106 million {44 percent) from the prior year through timely
pricing and underwriting actions along with a sustained

emphasis on being a low cost provider.

Personal Lines - Net Written Premiums

Personal Lines 2002
Net Written Premiums by Product
($ in millions)

Homeowners and Other
§1,732

87-9%

$2,843

Our disciplined underwriting and product management
approach creates a competitive advantage through careful
market segmentation, targeted opportunity assessment and
quality management information. We work to produce and
retain only that business that meets or exceeds our profit
expectations. This is critical to our ability to provide a stable
market presence, which in turn creates consistently favorable
performance from our independent agents and maximizes our

long term profitability.

We are a leader in the use of technology to create operational

efficiencies internally and in independent agency functions, and more than

(% in biltions)
80 percent of agency-generated auto and home business was placed
$6.0 through our award-winning systems last year. Many innovations were
introduced in 2002 to improve agents’ ease of doing business with Travelers.
645 s The ability to process property changes and write marine policies was added
g s oL to ATLAS®, our industry-leading automated quote, rate and issue system. A
B3 o real time interface was developed to allow agents to write Travelers business
B30—- - = — — - directly from their agency management systems. New capabilities were
added to our secure agent Internet site to provide agents with one-stop
615 access to customers’ billing and policy information, in addition to the site’s

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

existing array of underwriting and sales support tools.




Personal Lines maximizes operating efficiency and productivity
while providing high quality customer service. Business Centers
enhance efficiency by employing sophisticated call routing and
voice recognition technology. Claim Centers utilize more than
1,500 local claims adjusters, a mobile catastrophe response team,
state-of-the-art notice taking and daim inquiry call centers and
advanced technology to settle claims quickly and accurately.
According to our recent survey results, 94 percent of customers

are satisfied with our professional and equitable claims handling.

Personal Lines leverages strengths in operations, technology and
data management to create a systematic marketing approach.

This approach helps agents generate new business through tools

Personal Lines 2002
Net Written Premiums by Distribution Channel
(% in miflions)

Other
$104

Additional Distribution
$735

9B8:1%

81.6%

Independent Agents
$3,736
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such as the Travelers Customer Care Center, which provides
administrative and customer service support so agents can focus
on sales. Other strategies help agents retain business through
targeted customer retention programs and increase sales
through agency diagnostic tools that create individualized
agency growth plans. This systematic approach is delivered
through field staff who are empowered to shape business
strategy within their regions. As these initiatives increase our
agents’ growth and profitability, we share in the benefits of

improved market position and profitability.

Personal Lines capitalizes on its feading market position with
independent agents by partnering with selected agents and
brokers to sell to affinity groups and large organizations with
support from our telesales and service operations. This
additional distribution channel generates attractive returns and

will continue to supplement our agency business.

With our financial strength and our strong brand, Travelers is
often the national carrier of choice among our independent
agents. Our business outlook remains positive, and with our
continued emphasis on profitable markets and price adequacy,

we expect to grow in both volume and profitability.

Travelers Foundation

Personal Lines - GAAP Combined Ratios

120%
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As a newly independent company, Travelers is establishing a
charitable foundation with the goal of supporting initiatives and
institutions that enhance and improve the health, vitality and
quality of life in our headguarters city of Hartford, Conn., and
other communities where a significant number of cur employees
and key agents live and work. Grants will be primarily awarded in
four categories: education; health and human services; civic

affairs and community development; and arts and culture.
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ftem 1. BUSINESS

Travelers Property Casualty Corp. (TPC) is a property
casualty insurance holding company engaged, through its
subsidiaries, in two business segments: Commercial Lines
and Personal Lines. Travelers Property Casualty Corp. and
its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the Company)
provide a wide range of commercial and personal property
and casualty insurance products and services to businesses,
government units, associations and individuals.

TPC's predecessor companies have been in the insurance
business for more than 130 years. It is o Connecticut
corporation that was formed in 1979 and, pricr to its
March 2002 Initial Public Offering (IPO), was an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Citigroup Inc. {together with its
consolidated subsidiaries, Citigroup). In January 1996,
Travelers Insurance Group Holdings Inc. (TIGHI) was
formed to hold TPC's property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries. In April 1996, TIGH! purchased from Aetna
Services, Inc. (Aetna) all of the outstanding capital stock
of Aetna’'s significant property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries for approximately $4.200 billion in cash. In
April 1996, TIGH! also completed an initial public offering
of its common stock. In April 2000, TPC completed a cash
tender offer and merger, as a result of which TIGHI
became its wholly-owned subsidiary. In the tender offer
and merger, TPC acquired all of TIGH!'s outstanding shares
of common stock which it did not already own, representing
approximately 14.8% of its outstanding common stock, for
approximately $2.413 billion in cash financed by o loan
from Citigroup.

On May 31, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition
of the surety business of Reliance Group Holdings, Inc.
(Reliance Surety). In connection with the acquisition, the
Company entered into a reinsurance arrangement for pre-
existing business. Accordingly, the results of operations and
the assets and liabilities acquired from Reliance Surety are
included in the financial statements beginning June 1, 2000.
In the third quarter of 2000, the Company purchased the
renewal rights to a portion of Reliance Group Holdings,
Inc.'s commercial lines middle-market book of business. The
Company also acquired the renewal rights to Frontier
Insurance Group, inc.’s environmental, excess and surplus
lines casualty businesses and certain classes of surety
business. On October 1, 2001, the Company completed its
acquisition of the Northland Company and Associates
Lloyds Insurance Company (Northland) from Citigroup. On
October 3, 2001, the capital stock of Associates Insurance
Company (Associates) was contributed to the Company
by Citigroup. Accordingly, the results of operations and the
assets and liabilities of these companies are included in the
Company’s financial statements as of their acquisition

dates. On August 1, 2002, Commercial Insurance Re-
sources, Inc. {CRI), a subsidiary of the Company and the
holding company for the Gulf Insurance Group {Gulf),
completed the sale of a 24% ownership interest, on a fully
diluted basis, in CIRI to a group of outside investors and
senior employees of Gulf,

TPC was reorganized in connection with its IPC in March
2002. Pursuant to the reorganization, which was completed
on March 19, 2002, TPC's consolidated financial state-
ments have been adjusted to exclude the accounts of
certain formerly wholly-owned TPC subsidiaries, principally
The Travelers Insurance Company (TIC) and its subsidiar-
ies (U.S. life insurance operations}, certain other wholly-
owned non-insurance subsidiaries of TPC and substantially
all of TPC’s assets and certain liabilities not related to the
property casualty business.

On March 21, 2002, TPC issued 231 million shares of its
class A common stock in an IPO, representing approxi-
mately 23% of TPC's common equity. After the IPQ,
Citigroup Inc. beneficially owned all of the 500 millicn
shares of TPC’s outstanding class B common stock, each
share of which is entitled to seven votes, and 269 million
shares of TPC's class A common stock, each share of
which is entitled to one vote, representing at the time 94%
of the combined voting power of all classes of TPC's voting
securities and 77% of the equity interest in TPC. Concurrent
with the IPO, TPC issued $8%92.5 million aggregate principal
amount of 4.5% convertible junior subordinated notes,
which mature on April 15, 2032. The IPO and the offering
of the convertible notes are collectively referred to as the
Offerings.

On August 20, 2002, Citigroup made a tax-free distribution
to its stockholders (the Citigroup Distribution], of a portion
of its ownership interest in TPC, which, together with the
shares issued in the IPO, represented more than 90% of
TPC's common equity and more than 0% of the combined
voting power of TPC's outstanding voting securities. For
each 100 shares of Citigroup outstanding common stock,
approximately 4.32 shares of TPC class A common stock
and 8.88 shares of TPC class B common stock were
distributed. At December 31, 2002, Citigroup was a holder
of 9.95% of TPC’s common equity and 9.98% of the
combined voting power of TPC's outstanding voting securi-
ties. Citigroup received a private letter ruling from the
Internal Revenue Service that the Citigroup Distribution is
tax-free to Citigroup, its stockholders and TPC. As part of
the ruling process, Citigroup agreed to vote the shares it
continues to hold following the Citigroup Distribution pro
rata with the shares held by the public and to divest the
remaining shares it holds within five years following the
Citigroup Distribution.



The principal executive offices of the Company are located
at One Tower Square, Hartford, Connecticut 06183;
telephone number (860) 277-0111.

This discussion of the Company’s business is organized as
follows: (i) a description of each of the Company's two
business segments (Commercial Lines and Personal Lines)
and related services; {ii) a description of Interest Expense
and Other; and (i) certain other information.’

COMMERCIAL LINES

The Company’s Commercial Lines segment offers a broad
array of property and casualty insurance and insurance-
related services to its clients. Commercial Lines is organized
into the following five marketing and underwriting groups,
each of which focuses on a particular client base or
product grouping to provide products and services that
specifically address clients’ needs:

o National Accounts provides large corporations with
casualty products and services and includes the Com-
pany's residual market business which offers workers'
compensation products and services to the involuntary
market;

o Commercial Accounts provides property and casualty
products to mid-sized businesses, property products to
large businesses and boiler and machinery products to
businesses of all sizes, and includes dedicated groups
focused on the construction industry, trucking industry,
agribusiness, and ocean and inland marine;

o Select Accounts provides small businesses with property
and casualty products, including packaged property and
liability policies;

e Bond provides a wide range of customers with specialty
products built around the Company’s market leading
surety bond business along with an expanding executive
liability practice for middle and small market private
accounts and not-for-profit accounts; and

o Gulf serves all sizes of customers through specialty
programs, with particular emphasis on executive and
professional liability products.

in 2002, Commercial Lines generated net written premiums
of approximately $7.370 billion.

'Certain items in this Form 10-K, including certain matters
discussed under ltem 7, **“Management’s Discussion and Anal-
ysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations” (the
“MD&A'" ), are forward-looking statements. The matters re-
ferred to in such statements could be affected by the risks
and uncertainties involved in the Company’s business, includ-

Selected Product ond Market Information

The accompanying table sets forth net written premiums for
Commerciol lines by product line and market for the
periods indicated. For a description of the product lines
and markets referred to in the table, see ‘'~ Product lines"
and "'~ Principal Markets and Methods of Distribution, ™
respectively.

Many National Accounts customers require insurance
services in addition to or in lieu of pure risk coverage,
primarily for workers' compensation and, to a lesser extent,
general liability and commercial automobile exposures.
These types of services include risk management services,
such as cloims management, loss control and risk manage-
ment information services, and are generally offered in
connection with a large deductible or self-insured pro-
grams. These services generate fee income rather than net
written premiums, which are not reflected in the accompa-
nying table. Net written premiums were as follows:

(for the year ended % of Total
December 31, in millions 2002 2001 2000 2002
Net written premivms

by product line:
Commercial multi-peril .. $2,113.9 $1,757.9 $1,644.0 28.7%
Workers' compensafion.. 1,135.0 1,030.6 1,062.] 15.4
Commercial automobile.. 1,454.7 214.3 778.4 19.7
Property ... 1,088.8 833.1 639.6 14.8
Fidelity and surety ... .. 541.9 506.6 475.4 7.4
General liobility ....... 1,035.2 695.1 431.0 14.0
Total ................ $7,369.5 $5,737.6 $5,030.5 100.0%
Net written premiums

by market:
National Accounts ... .. $ 734.6 $ 4189 $ 3523 10.0%
Commercial Accounts .. 3,556.1 2,407.1 2,098.9 48.2
Select Accounts .. ..... 1,869.5 1,713.2 11,5754 25.4
Bond ........ ... 629.9 590.2 486.5 8.5
Gulf ... 579.4 608.2 517.4 7.9
Total .. v $7,369.5 $5,737.6 $5,030.5 100.0%

ing the effect of economic and market conditions, the level
and volatility of interest rates and currency values, the impact
of current or pending legislation and regulation and the other
risks and uncertainties detailed in the section under the
heading “‘Outlook” and in the “‘Forward-looking State-
ments’' section of the MD&A.




Product Lines

The Company writes a broad range of commercial prop-
erty and casualty insurance for risks of all sizes. The core
products in Commercial Lines are as follows:

Commercial Multi-Peril provides a combination of prop-
erty and liability coverage typically for small businesses.
Property insurance covers damages such os those caused
by fire, wind, hail, water, theft and vandalism, and protects
businesses from financial loss due to business interruption
resulting from a covered loss. Liability coverage insures
businesses against third-party liability from accidents occur-
ring on their premises or arising out of their operations,
such as injuries sustained from products sold.

Workers’ Compensation provides coverage for employ-
ers for specified benefits payable under state or federal
law for workplace injuries to employees. There are typically
four types of benefits payable under warkers' compensa-
tion policies: medical benefits, disability benefits, death
benefits and vocational rehabilitation benefits. The Com-
pany emphasizes managed care cost containment strate-
gies, which involve employers, employees and care
providers in a cooperative effort that focuses on the injured
employee's early return to work, cost-effective quality care,
and customer service in this market. The Company offers
the following three types of workers’ compensation
products:

» guaranteed cost insurance products, in which policy
premium charges are fixed for the period of coverage
and do not vary as a result of the insured’s loss
experience;

¢ loss-sensitive insurance products, including large deducti-
ble plans and retrospectively rated policies, in which fees
or premiums are adjusted based on actual loss experi-
ence of the insured during the policy period; and

° service programs, which are generally sold to the
Company’s National Accounts customers, where the
Company receives fees rather than premiums for provid-
ing loss prevention, risk management, and claim and
benefit administration services to organizations under
service agreements. The Company also parficipates in
state assigned risk pools as a servicing carrier and pool
participant.

Commercial Automobile provides coverage for busi-
nesses against losses incurred from personal bodily injury,
bodily injury to third parties, property damage to an
insured’s vehicle, and property damage fo other vehicles
and other property resulting from the ownership, mainte-
nance or use of automobiles and trucks in a business.

Property provides coverage for loss or damage to
buildings, inventory and equipment from notural disosters,

including hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe
winter weather and other events such as theft and
vandalism, fires, explosions, and storms, and financial loss
due to business interruption resulting from covered property
damage. Property also includes specialized equipment
insurance, which provides coverage for loss or damage
resulting from the mechanical breckdown of boilers and
machinery, ocean and inland marine, which provides
coverage for goods in transit and unique, one-of-a-kind
exposures and miscellaneous assumed reinsurance.

Fidelity and Surety provides fidelity insurance coverage,
which protects an insured for loss due to embezzlement or
misappropriation of funds by an employee, and surety,
which is a three-party agreement whereby the insurer
agrees to pay a second party or make complete an
obligation in response to the default, acts or omissions of
an insured. Surety is generally provided for construction
performance, legal matters such as appeals, trustees in
bankruptcy and probate and other performance bonds.

General Liability provides coverage for liability expo-
sures including bodily injury and property damage arising
from products sold and general business operations.
Specialized liability policies may also include coverage for
directors” and officers’ liability arising in their official
capacities, employment practices liability insurance, fiduci-
ary liability for trustees and sponsors of pension, health
and welfare, and other employee benefit plans, errors and
omissions insurance for employees, agents, professionals
and others arising from acts or failures to act under
specified circumstances, as well as umbrella and excess
insurance.

Principal Markets and Methods of Distribution

The Company distributes its commercial products through
approximately 5,800 brokers and independent agencies
located throughout the United States that are serviced by
approximately 80 field offices and two customer service
centers. In recent years, the Company has made significant
investments in enhanced technology utilizing state-of-the-art
Internet-based applications to provide real-time interface
capabilities with the Company's independent agencies and
brokers. The Company builds relationships with well-estab-
lished, independent insurance agencies and brokers. In
selecting new independent agencies and brokers to dis-
tribute the Company’s products, the Company considers
each agency's or broker’s profitability, financial stability,
staff experience and strategic fit with its cperating and
marketing plans. Once an agency or broker is appointed,
the Company carefully monitors its performance.

Naotional Accounts sells a variety of casualty products
and services to large companies. National Accounts also
includes the Company's residual market business, which

primarily offers workers’ compensation products and ser-




vices to the involuntary market. National Accounts clients
generally select loss-sensitive products in connection with a
Jorge deductible or self-insured progrom and, to a lesser
extent, a guaranteed cost or a retrospectively rated
insurance policy. Through a network of field offices, the
Company's underwriting specialists work closely with na-
tional and regional brokers to tailor insurance programs to
meet clients’ needs. Workers’ compensation accounted for
approximately 74% of sales to National Accounts custom-
ers during 2002, based on gross written premiums and fee
income.

The Company's residual market business sells claims and
policy management services to workers' compensation and
automobile assigned risk plans and to self-insurance pools
throughout the United States. The Company services
approximately 35% of the total workers' compensation
assigned risk market. The Company is one of only two
servicing carriers, which operate nationally. Assigned risk
plan contracts generated approximately $137.3 million in
service fee income in 2002.

Commercial Accounts sells a broad range of property
and casualty insurance products through a large network of
independent agents and brokers. Commercial Accounts’
casualty products primarily target mid-sized businesses with
75 to 1,000 employees, while its property products target
large, mid-sized and small businesses. The Company offers
a full line of products to its Commercial Accounts customers
with an emphasis on guaranteed cost programs.

A key objective of Commercial Accounts is continued focus
on first party lines, which cover risks of loss to property of
the insured. Beyond the traditional middle market network,
dedicated units exist to complement the middle market or
specifically respond to the unique or unusual business client
insurance needs. These units are:

» Construction — dedicated claim, engineering and under-
writing expertise solely targeting construction risks;

* National property — underwrites large property schedules
insuring buildings, property and business interruption
exposures;

¢ Transportation — auto products tailored to the trucking
industry distributed via general agents;

* Boiler and machinery, offers comprehensive breakdown
coverages for equipment;

° Marine - inland and ocean coverages for mid-sized to
large accounts;

o Agribusiness — insurance programs for small to mid-sized
farmowners, ranchowners and commercial growers;

e Specialty E&S - products sold through general agents
targeting small commercial risks; and

o Affinity — programs sold to association, franchise, trade
or affinity groups.

Select Accounts is one of the leading providers of
property casualty products to small businesses. It serves
firms with one to 75 employees. Products offered by Select
Accounts are guaranteed cost policies, often a packaged
product covering property and liability exposures. Products
are sold through independent agents, who are often the
same agents that sell the Company’s Commercial Accounts
and Personal Lines products.

Personnel in the Company's field offices and other points of
local service, which are located throughout the United
States, work closely with agents to ensure a strong local
presence in the marketplace. The Company offers its
independent agents a small business system that helps them
connect all aspects of sales and service through a
comprehensive service platform. Select Accounts is an
industry leader in its array of agency interface alternatives;
more than 85% of all its eligible business volume is
processed by 4,000 agencies using its Issue Express
systems, which allow agents to quote and issue policies
from agency offices.

The Company also provides its agents with a comprehen-
sive selection of online service capabilities, packaged
together in an easy-to-use agency service portal, including
customer service, marketing and claim functionality. For
example, online eBill services allow customers to pay bills
and view billing history online. Also, approximately 2,500
of Select Accounts’ agencies have chosen to take advan-
tage of the Company's state-of-the-art industry direct
service center that functions as an extension of an
agency's customer service operations, offering a wide
range of services, including coverage and billing inquiry,
policy changes, certificates of insurance, coverage counsel-
ing and audit processing, provided by licensed service
professionals with extended hours of operation.

Select Accounts has established strict underwriting guide-
lines integrated with the Company's local field office
structures. The agents either submit applications to the
Company's field underwriting locations or service centers
for underwriting review, quote, and issuance or they utilize
one of the Company’s autemated quote and issue systems.
Automated transactions are edited by the Company’s
systems and issued only if they conform to established
underwriting guidelines. Exceptions are reviewed by the
Company's underwriters and retrospective agency audits
are conducted on a systematic sampling basis. The
Company uses policy level management information to
analyze and understand results and to identify problems
and opportunities.




Bond underwrites and markets its products to national, mid-
sized and small businesses and organizations as well as
individuals, and distributes them through both national and
wholesale brokers, and retail agents and regional brokers
primarily throughout the United States. The Company
believes that it has a competitive advantage with respect to
many of these products based on Bond's reputation for
timely and consistent decision-making, underwriting, claim-
handling abilities, industry expertise and strong producer
and customer relationships founded on a nationwide net-
work of underwriting, industry and claim experts as well as
Bond’s ability to cross-sell its products to customers of both
Commercial Lines and Personal Lines.

Bond's range of products includes fidelity and surety
bonds, excess Securities investors Protection Corporation
(SIPC) insurance, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
errors and omissions insurance, professional liability insur-
ance, employment practices liability insurance, fiduciary
liability insurance, and other related coverages. In addition,
the Company markets packaged products, which combine
fidelity, employment practices liability insurance, directors’
and officers’ liability insurance, other related professional
liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance into one
product with either individual or aggregate limits. Bond is
organized into two broad product line groups: Surety and
Executive Liability. Surety is organized around construction
and commercial customers. Executive liability is organized
around commercial and financial services customers.

Guilf provides a diverse product and progrom portfolio of
specialty insurance lines, with particular emphasis on
executive and professional liability. Products include various
types of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, fiduciary,
and employment practices liability for all sectors of
commercial companies and financial institutions. Errors and
omissions coverages are provided for numerous profes-
sional exposures including architects and engineers, law-
yers, accountants, insurance agents, mutual fund advisors
and investment counselors. Gulf provides fidelity and
commercial crime coverages for nearly all classes of
business. Gulf also offers excess and umbrella coveroges
for various industries. In 2001, Gulf began reducing its
exposure fo the assumed reinsurance, property and trans-
portation lines of business and completely exited these non-
core business lines during 2002.

Pricing and Underwriting

Pricing levels for Commercial Lines property and casualty
insurance products are generclly developed based upon
the frequency and severity of estimated losses, the
expenses of producing business and managing claims, and
a reasonable allowance for profit. The Company has a
disciplined approach to underwriting ond risk management
that emphasizes a profit-orientation rather than premium
volume or market share.

The Company has developed an underwriting and pricing
methodology that incorporates underwriting, claims, engi-
neering, actuarial and product development disciplines for
particular industries. This approach is designed to maintain
high quality underwriting and pricing discipline. It utilizes
proprietary data gathered and analyzed by the Company
with respect to its Commercial Lines business over many
years. The underwriters and engineers use this information
to assess and evaluate risks prior to guotation. This
information provides specialized knowledge about specific
industry segments. This methedology enables the Company
to streamline its risk selection process and develop pricing
parameters that will not compromise the Company's under-
writing integrity.

For smaller businesses, Select Accounts uses a process
based on Standard Industrial Classification codes to allow
agents and field underwriting representatives to make
underwriting and pricing decisions within predetermined
classifications, because underwriting criteria and pricing
tend to be more standardized for these smaller exposures.

A significant portion of Commercial Lines business is written
with large deductible insurance policies. Under some
workers' compensation insurance contracts with deductible
features, the Company is obligated to pay the claimant the
full amount of the claim. The Company is subsequently
reimbursed by the contractholder for the deductible
amount, and is subject fo credit risk until such reimburse-
ment is made. At December 31, 2002, contractholder
receivables and payables on unpaid losses associated with
large deductible policies were each approximately

$2.544 billion. Retrospectively rated policies are also used
for workers’ compensation coverage. Although the retro-
spectively rated feature of the policy substantially reduces
insurance risk for the Company, it does introduce credit risk
to the Company. Receivables on unpaid losses from
holders of retrospectively rated policies totaled approxi-
mately $266.6 million at December 31, 2002. Significant
collateral, primarily letters of credit and, to a lesser extent
surety bonds and cash collateral, is generally requested for
large deductible plans and/or retrospectively rated policies
that provide for deferred collection of deductibles and/or
ultimate premiums. The amount of collateral requested is
predicated upon the creditworthiness of the customer and
the nature of the insured risks. Commercial Lines continually
monitors the credit exposure on individual accounts and the
adequacy of collateral.

The Company continually monitors its exposure to natural
and unnatural peril catastrophic losses and attempts to
mitigate such exposure. The Company uses sophisticated
computer modeling techniques to analyze underwriting risks
of business in hurricane-prone, earthquake-prone and tar-
get risk areas. The Company relies upon this analysis to
make underwriting decisions designed to manage its expo-
sure on catastrophe-exposed business. See

"~ Reinsurance.”



Geographic Distribution

The following table shows the distribution of Commercial
Lines’ direct written premiums for the states that accounted

Methods of Distribution,” respectively. Net written premiums
were as follows:

(for the year ended % of Total

for the majority of premium volume for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000 2002
December 31, 2002: . .
Net wriften premivms
by preduct line:
% of Personal cutomobile . ... ... $2,842.9 $2,590.7 $2,366.3 62.7%
State Total Homeowners and other ... 1,732.1 1,517.2 1,446.5 37.9
California ... o 11.3% Totol oo $4,575.0 $4,1079 $3812.8 100.0%
New York ... s 10.9 . .
Texas 6.4 Net wr‘uﬁe.n premiums
- e . by dﬂsﬂ‘)ﬂbuﬂon
HNOiS . v 5.1 channel:
Massachusefts ... 5.1 Independent agents .. ..... $3,735.6 $3,307.9 $3,027.9  81.6%
Florida ..o 4.6 Additional distribution . .. .. 735.5 687.1 633.7 16.1
IP\Jew J(Trsey ......................................... gg Other. oo 103.9 112.9 151.2 2.3
eNNSYIVANIQ . ... . o
Al Others' V) L., 40 oMl $4,575.0 $4.1079 $38128 100.0%
TotGl 100.0%

"' No other single state accounted for 3.0% or more of the total
direct written premiums written in 2002 by the Company.

PERSONAL LINES

Personal Lines writes virtually all types of property and
casualty insurance covering personal risks. The primary
coverages in Personal lines are personal automobile and
homeowners insurance sold to individuals. These products
are distributed through independent agents, sponsoring
organizations such as employee and affinity groups, and
joint marketing arrangements with other insurers. In 2002,
Personal Lines generated net written premiums of approxi-
mately $4.575 billion.

Selected Product and Distribution Channel
Information

The accompanying table sets forth net written premiums for
Personal lines by product line and distribution channel for

the periods indicated. For a description of the product lines
and distribution channels referred to in the accompanying
table, see ‘‘— Product Lines'’ and ‘‘= Principal Markets and

Product Lines

The Company writes most types of property and casualty
insurance covering personal risks. Personal Lines had
approximately 5.5 million policies in force at December 31,
2002. The primary coverages in Personal lines are
personal automobile and homeowners insurance sold to
individuals.

Personal Automobile provides coverage for liability to
others for both bodily injury and property damage and for
physical damage to an insured’s own vehicle from collision
and various other perils. In addition, many states require
policies to provide first-party personal injury protection,
frequently referred to as no-fault coverage.

Hemeowners and Other provides protection against
losses to dwellings and contents from a wide variety of
perils, as well as coverage for liability arising from
ownership or occupancy. The Company writes homeowners
insurance for dwellings, condominiums and rental property
contents. The Company also writes coverage for personal
watercraft, personal articles such as jewelry, and umbrella
liability protection.

Principal Markets and Methods of Distribution

The Company's Personal Lines products are distributed
primarily through approximately 7,200 independent agen-
cies located throughout the United States, supported by
personnel in 12 marketing regions and six customer service
centers. In selecting new independent agencies to distribute
the Company's products, the Company considers each
agency’s profitability, financial stability, staff experience
and strategic fit with the Company's operating and
marketing plans. Once an agency is appointed, the
Company carefully monitors its performance. While the
Company's principal markets for Personal Lines insurance




are in states along the East Coast, in the South and Texas,
Personal Lines is expanding its geographical presence
across the United States.

The Company provides technological alternatives to agents
to maximize their ease of doing business. Personal Lines
agents quote and issue 93% of the Company's Personal
Lines policies directly from their agencies by leveraging
either their own agency management system or using the
Company’s proprietary quote and issuance systems which
facilitate and make it possible for agents to rate, quote
and issue policies on line. All of these quote and issue
platforms interface with the Company’s underwriting and
rating systems, which edit transactions for compliance with
the Company's underwriting and pricing programs. Business
processed by agents on these platforms is subjected to
consultative review by the Company's in-house underwrit-
ers. In the past year, the Company continued to introduce
new Internet-based proprietary systems, and agents have
transitioned approximately 90% of the Company's new
business to these platforms. The Company also provides an
industry-leading download capability that refreshes the
individual agency system databases of approximately
3,000 agents each day with updated new and existing
policy information.

The Company continues to develop functionality 1o provide
its agents with a comprehensive array of online service
capabilities packaged together in an easy-fo-use agency
service portal, including customer service, marketing and
claim functionality. Agencies can also choose to shift the
on-going core service responsibility for the Company's
customers to one of the Company's four Customer Care
Centers, where the Company functions as an extension of
an agency's servicing operation by providing a comprehen-
sive array of direct customer service needs, including
response to billing and coverage inquiries, and policy
changes. More than 800 agents take advantage of this
service alternative.

Personal Lines operates single state companies in Massa-
chusetts, New Jersey and Florida with products marketed
primarily through independent agents. These states repre-
sented 20.6% of Personal Lines direct written premiums in
2002. The companies were established to manage
complex markets in Massachusetts and New Jersey and
property catastrophe exposure in Florida. Each company
hos dedicated resources in underwriting, claim, finance,
legal and service functions. The establishment of these
separate companies limits capital at risk in these markets.

Personal Lines also markets through additional distribution
channels, including sponsoring organizations such as
employers and consumer associations, and joint marketing
arrangements with other insurers. The Company handles
the sales and service for these programs either through a
sponsoring independent agent or through two of the
Company's call center locations. The Company is one of

the leading providers of personal lines products to mem-
bers of affinity groups. A number of well-known corpora-
tions endorse the Company’s product offerings to their
employees primarily through a payroll deduction payment
process. The Company has significant relationships with the
majority of the American Automobile Association (AAA)
clubs in the United States and other affinity groups that
endorse the Company's tailored offerings to their members.
Since 1995, the Company has had a marketing agreement
with GEICO to write the majority of GEICO’s homeowners
business and to receive referrals from GEICO for new
homeowners business. This agreement has added profitable
business and heiped to geographically diversify the home-
owners line of business.

Pricing and Underwriting

Pricing levels for Personal Lines property and casualty
insurance products are generally developed based upon
the frequency and severity of incurred and estimated
losses, the expenses of producing business and administer-
ing cloims, and a reasonable allowance for profit. The
Company has a disciplined approach to underwriting and
risk management that emphasizes a profit orientation rather
than premium volume or market share.

The Company has developed a product management
methodology that incorporates underwriting, claims, actua-
rial and product development disciplines. This approach is
designed to maintain high quality underwriting and pricing
discipline. Proprietary data is gathered and analyzed with
respect to the Company’s Personal lines business over
many years. The Company uses a variety of proprietary
and vendor produced risk differentiation models to facilitate
its underwriting segmentation. These models use customer
supplied and third-party data sources, including credit
bureau data. The Company’s Personal Lines product
managers establish strict underwriting guidelines integrated
with its filed pricing and rating plans, which enable the
Company to streamline its risk selection and pricing.

Pricing for personal automobile insurance is driven by
changes in the frequency of claims and by inflation in the
cost of automobile repairs, medical care and litigation of
liability claims. As a result, the profitakility of the business is
largely dependent on promptly identitying and rectifying
disparities between premium levels and expected claim
costs, and obtaining approval of the state regulatory
authorities for indicated rate changes.

Pricing in the homeowners business is also driven by
changes in the frequency of claims and by inflation in the
cost of building supplies, labor and household possessions.
Most homeowners policies offer, but do not require,
automatic increases in coverage to reflect growth in
replacement costs and property values. In addition to the
normal risks associated with any multiple peril coverage,




the profitability and pricing of homeowners insurance is
affected by the incidence of natural disasters, particularly
hurricanes, winter storms, wind and hail, earthquakes and
tornadoes. In order to reduce the Company's exposure to
catastrophe losses, the Company has limited the writing of
new homeowners business and selectively non-renewed
existing homeowners business in some markets, tightened
underwriting standards and implemented price increases in
some catastrophe-prone areas, and instituted deductibles in
hurricane and wind and hail prone areas. In California, the
Company has an endorsement that reduces its exposure to
catastrophic earthquake claims by increasing the deductible
and limiting other policy coverages in the event of an
earthquake loss. The Company uses computer-modeling
techniques to assess its level of exposure to loss in
hurricane and earthquake catastrophe-prone areas.
Changes to methods of marketing and underwriting in
California and in coastal areas of New York are subject to
state-imposed restrictions, which makes it more difficult for
an insurer to significantly reduce exposures.

Insurers writing personal lines property casualty policies are
generally unable fo increase prices until some time after the
costs associated with coverage have increased, primarily
because of state insurance rate regulation. The pace at
which an insurer can change rates in response to competi-
tion or to increased costs depends, in part, on whether the
applicable state law requires prior approval of rate
increases or notification to the regulator either before or
after a rate change is imposed. In states with prior
approval laws, rates must be approved by the regulator
before being used by the insurer. In states having ‘‘file-
and-use’’ laws, the insurer must file rate changes with the
regulator, but does not need to wait for approval before
using the new rates. A “'use-and-file’ law requires an
insurer to file rates within a period of time after the insurer
begins using the new rate. Approximately one-half of the
states require prior approval of most rate changes.

Independent agents either submit applications to the Com-
pany's service centers for underwriting review, quote, and
issuance or they utilize one of its automated quote and
issue systems. Automated transactions are edited by the
Company's systems and issued if they conform to estab-
lished guidelines. Exceptions are reviewed by underwriters
in the Company’s business centers or agency managers.
Audits are conducted by business center underwriters and
agency managers, on a systematic sampling basis, across
all of the Company's independent agency generated
business. Each agent is assigned to a specific employee or
team of employees responsible for working with the agent
on business plan development, marketing, and overall
growth and profitability. The Company uses agency level
management information to analyze and understand results
and to identify problems and cpportunities.

The Personal Lines products sold through additional market-
ing channels are underwritten by the Company’s employ-

ees. Underwriters work with the Company management on
business plan development, marketing, and overall growth
and profitability. Channel-specific production and claim
information is used to analyze results and identify problems
and opportunities.

Geographic Distribution

The following table shows the distribution of Personal Lines’
direct written premiums for the states that accounted for the

majority of premium volume for the year ended
December 31, 2002:

% of
State Total
New York ..o e 19.4%
=T 2 - O 2.3
Massachusetts ... ... . 8.1
New Jersey ... 7.4
Pennsylvania . ..o 7.1
T aTe o T 5.1
(@Yo T2 =Tt [o( ) S 4.6
GEOrgIa <o 4.4
Virginia ..o 4.
North Caroling ... i 3.1
AllOthers ™ L 27.4
Total o 100.0%

"' No other single state accounted for 3.0% or more of the total
direct written premiums written in 2002 by the Company.

CLAIMS MANAGEMENT

The Company's claims management strategy and its execu-
tion are critical to operating results and business retention.
Claim payout and expense represent a substantial portion
of every premium doliar the Company earns. The Com-
pany's claims management strategy is based on four core
tenets:

o fair, efficient, fact-based claims management controls
losses for the Company and its customers;

¢ use of advanced technology provides front-line claims
professionals with necessary information and facilitates
prompt claim resolution;

s specialization of claims professionals and segmentation
of claims by complexity, as indicated by severity and
causation, allow the Company to focus its resources
effectively; and

> excellent customer service enhances customer retention.
Claims Services includes field claims management teams,

located in 39 offices in 32 states, with appropriate
authority and access to resources to address the claim




needs of customers and their agents or brokers, as well as
the Company's underwriters. In addition to the field teams,
claim staffs are dedicated to each of the Personal Lines
single state companies in Florida, Massachusetts and New
Jersey as well as to the Commercial Lines’ Bond and Gulf
markets and the construction business within Commercial
Accounts. Specialized investigative, technical and legol
resources are used. This structure permits the Company to
maintain the economies of scale of a larger, established
company while retaining the agility to respond promptly to
the needs of customers, brokers, agents and underwriters.
The Company's home office operations provide additional
support in the form of work flow design, quality manage-
ment, information technology, advanced management infor-
mation and datc analysis, training, financial reporting and
control, and human resources strategy.

Claim Services employs diverse professionals, including
claim adjusters, appraisers, investigators, staff attorneys,
system specialists and training, management and support
personnel. Approved external service providers, such as
independent adjusters and appraisers, investigators and
attorneys, are available for use as appropriate.

An infegral part of the Company's strategy for the benefit
of customers and shareholders is its leadership position in
the continuing fight against insurance fraud.

Claim Services uses advanced management information and
data analysis for more effective claim results. This assists
the Company in reviewing its claim practices and results to
evaluate and improve its performance. The Company's
claim management strategy is focused on segmentation of
claims, technical specialization, and effective claim resoclu-
tion. In recent years, the Company has dedicated claim
professionals to its construction market, invested significant
additional resources in its Major Case organization and
expanded its “'catastrophe van'' fleet. The Company's
proven catastrophe response strategy and its catastrophe
claim handling teams were instrumental in its industry-
leading response to the terrorist attack on September 11th.
The Company is a leading user of digital and wireless
technology and Internet-based claim notification. Addition-
ally, TravGlass™, the Company’s Internet-based claims
application, includes a network of pre-approved and
customer or agent selected glass repair providers, to more
effectively meet its customers’ automobile glass repair
needs.

Another strategic advantage is TravComp®™, a workers’
compensation claim resolution and medical management
program that assists adjusters in the prompt investigation
and effective management of workers’ compensation
claims. Innovative medical and claims management technol-
ogies permit nurse, medical and claims professionals to

share appropriate vital information that supports prompt
investigation, effective return to work and claim resolution
strategies. These new technologies, together with effective
matching of professional skills and authority to specific
claim issues, have resulted in more efficient management of
workers’ compensation claims with improved medical, wage
replocement costs, and loss adjustment expenses.

Asbestos, environmental and other cumulative injury claims
are separately managed by the Company's Special Liabil-
ity Group. See ''— Asbestos, Environmental and Other
Cumulative Injury Claims.”

REINSURANCE

The Company reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites
in order to control its exposure to losses, stabilize earnings
and protect capital resources. The Company cedes to
reinsurers a portion of these risks and pays premiums
based upon the risk and exposure of the policies subject to
such reinsurance. Reinsurance involves credit risk and is
generally subject to aggregate loss limits. Although the
reinsurer is liable to the Company to the extent of the
reinsurance ceded, the Company remains liable as the
direct insurer on all risks reinsured. Reinsurance recover-
ables are reported after reductions for known insolvencies
and after allowances for uncollectible amounts. The Com-
pany alsc holds collateral, including trust agreements,
escrow funds and letters of credit, under certain reinsur-
ance agreements. The Company monitors the financial
condition of reinsurers on an ongoing basis and reviews its
reinsurance arrangements periodically. Reinsurers are se-
lected based on their financial condition, business practices
and the price of their product offerings. For additional
information concerning reinsurance, see note 5 of the notes
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company utilizes a variety of reinsurance agreements
to control its exposure to large property and casualty
losses, including:

o facultative reinsurance, in which reinsurance is provided
for all or a portion of the insurance provided by a single
policy and each policy reinsured is separately
negotiated;

o treaty reinsurance, in which reinsurance is provided for a
specified type or category of risks; and

o catastrophe reinsurance, in which the Company is
indemnified for an amount of loss in excess of a specified
retention with respect to losses resulting from a cata-
strophic event.



The following presents the Company’s top five reinsurers,
except Lloyd's of Londen {Lloyd's), which is discussed in
more detail below, by reinsurance recoverable at
December 31, 2002 (in millions):

A.M. Best
Rating of Reinsurer

Reinsurance

Reinsurer Recoverable

American Re-Insurance

Company .....oovvvunn.. $865.2 A+ second highest
of 16 ratings
General Reinsurance
Corporation. ............ 625.4 A++ highest of 16
ratings
Employers Reinsurance
Corporation............. 338.4 A+  second highest
of 16 ratings
Swiss Reinsurance America
Corporation............. 287.5 A++ highest of 16
ratings
Trensatlontic Reinsurance
Company ............... 235.8 A++ highest of 16
ratings

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had reinsurance
recoverables from Lloyd's of $573.4 million. In 1996,
Lloyd's restructured its operations with respect to claims for
years prior to 1993 and reinsured these into Equitas
Limited, which is currently unrated. Approximately

$296.5 million of the Company's Lloyd's reinsurance
recoverable at December 31, 2002 relates to Equitas
liabilities. The remaining recoverables of $276.9 million are
from the continuing market of Lloyd's, which is rated A-
{4th highest of 16 ratings) by A.M. Best.

The impact of Lloyd's restructuring on the collectibility of
amounts recoverable by the Company from Lloyd's cannot
be quantified at this time. The Company believes that it is
possible that an unfavorable impact on collectibility could
have a material adverse effect on its operating results in a
future period. However, the Company believes that it is not
likely that the outcome of these matters would have a
material adverse effect on its financial condition or liquidity.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had $10.978 billion
in reinsurance recoverables. Of this amount, $2.095 billion
is for mandatory pools and associations that relate
primarily to workers' compensation service business and
have the obligation of the participating insurance compa-
nies on a joint and sevaral basis supporting these cessions.
Also, $2.482 billion is attributable to structured settlements
relating primarily to personal injury claims, for which the
Company has purchased annuities and remains contingently
liable in the event of any defaults by the companies issuing
the annuities. Of the remaining $6.401 billion ceded to
reinsurers at December 31, 2002, $1.357 billion is
attributable to environmental, asbestos and other cumula-
tive injury claims and the remainder principally reflects

reinsurance in support of ongoing business. At Decem-
ber 31, 2002, $765.6 million of reinsurance recoverables
were collateralized by letters of credit, trust agreements
and escrow funds. Also at December 31, 2002, the
allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance recover-
ables was $329.1 million.

Current Net Retention Policy

The descriptions below relate to the Company’s reinsur-
ance arrangements in effect at January 1, 2003. Most
casualty and property reinsurance agreements that re-
newed on or after January 1, 2002 and subsequent now
have terrorism sublimits or exclusions. For third-party liabil-
ity, including automobile no-fault, the reinsurance agree-
ment used by Commercial Lines limits the net retention to a
maximum of $8.0 million per insured, per occurrence.
Reinsurance is also used to limit net retained policy limits to
$10.0 million for commercial property. For executive liability
coverages such as errors and omissions liability, directors’
and officers’ liability, employment practices liability and
blended insurance, the Company generally retains up to
$5.0 million per risk. For surety protection, the Company
generally retains up to $28.5 million per principal but may
retain higher amounts based on the type of obligation,
credit quality and other credit risk factors. Personal Lines
retains the first $5.0 million of umbrella policies and
purchases facultative reinsurance for limits over $5.0
million. For personal property insurance, there is a $6.0
million maximum retention per risk.

Catastrophe Reinsurance

The Company utilizes reinsurance agreements with nonaf-
filiated reinsurers to control its exposure to losses resulting
from one occurrence. For the accumulation of net property
losses arising out of one occurrence, a reinsurance ogree-
ment covers 67% of total losses between $450.0 million
and $750.0 million. This agreement excludes nuclear,
chemical, and biochemical terrorism losses for Personal
Lines and all terrorism losses for Commercial Lines.

For multiple workers’ compensation losses arising from a
single occurrence, a reinsurance agreement covers 100%
of losses between $20.0 million and $250.0 million.
Effective May 1, 2002, this agreement is in run-off.
Coverage is provided for all policies in effect at April 30,
2002 until expiration.

The Company conducts an ongoing review of its risk and
catastrophe coverages and makes changes it deems
appropriate.




Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002

On November 26, 2002, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act
of 2002 (the Terrorism Act) was enacted into Federal law
and established a temporary Federal program in the
Department of the Treasury that provides for a system of
shared public and private compensation for insured losses
resulting from acts of terrorism committed by or on behalf
of a foreign interest. In order for a loss to be covered
under the Terrorism Act {i.e., subject losses), the loss must
be the result of an event that is certified as an act of
terrorism by the U.S. Secretary of Treasury. In the case of
a war declared by Congress, only workers' compensation
losses are covered by the Terrorism Act. The Terrorism
(nsurance Program (the Program) generally requires that
all commercial property casualty insurers licensed in the
U.S. participate in the Program. The Program became
effective upon enactment and terminates on December 31,
2005. The amount of compensation paid o participating
insurers under the Program is 90% of subject losses, after
an insurer deductible, subject to an annual cap. The
deductible under the Program is 7% for 2003, 10% for
2004, and 15% for 2005. In each case, the deductible
percentage is applied 1o the insurer’s direct earned
premiums from the calendar year immediately preceding
the applicable year. The Program also contains an annual
cap that limits the amount of subject losses to $100 billion
aggregate per program year. Once subject losses have
reached the $100 billion aggregate during a program
year, there is no additional reimbursement from the U.S.
Treasury and an insurer that has met its deductible for the
program year is not liable for any losses (or portion
thereof) that exceed the $100 billion cap. The Company’s
deductible under this federal program is $570.0 million for
2003 subject to final rules to be established by the U.S.
Treasury.

Florida Reinsurance Fund

The Company also participates in the Florida Hurricane
Catastrophe Fund (FHCF), which is a state-mandated
catastrophe reinsurance fund that will provide reimburse-
ment to insurers for a portion of their future catastrophic
hurricane losses. FHCF is primarily funded by premiums from
insurance companies that write residential property business
in Florida and, if insufficient, assessments on insurance
companies that write other property and casualty insur-
ance, excluding workers’ compensation. FHCF's resources
are limited to these contributions and to its borrowing
capacity ot the time of a significant catastrophe in Florida.
There can be no assurance that these resources will be
sufficient to meet the obligations of FHCF.

The Company's recovery of less than contracted amounts
from FHCF could have a material adverse effect on the
Compony'’s results of operations in the event of a signifi-
cant catastrophe in Florida. However, the Company

believes that it is not likely that its recovery of less than
contracted amounts from FHCF would have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition or liquidity.

RESERVES

Property and casualty loss reserves are established to
account for the estimated ultimate unpaid costs of loss and
loss adjustment expenses for claims that have been
reported but not yet settled and claims that have been
incurred but not reported. The Company establishes
reserves by major product line, coverage and yecr.

The process of estimating loss reserves is imprecise due to
a number of variables. These variables are affected by
both internal and external events such as changes in claims
handling procedures, inflation, judicial trends and legislative
changes. Many of these items are not directly quantifiable,
particularly on a prospective basis. Additionally, there may
be significant reporting lags between the occurrence of the
insured event and the time it is actually reported to the
insurer. The Company continually refines reserve estimates
in a regular ongoing process as historical loss experience
develops and additional claims are reported and settled.
The Company reflects adjustments to reserves in the results
of operations in the periods in which the estimates are
changed. In establishing reserves, the Company takes into
account estimated recoveries for reinsurance, salvage and
subrogation. The reserves are also reviewed periodically
by a gualified actuary employed by the Company.

The Company derives estimates for unreported claims and
development on reported claims principally from actuarial
analyses of historical patterns of loss development by
accident year for each type of exposure and market
segment. Similarly, the Company derives estimates of
unpaid loss adjustment expenses principally from actuarial
analyses of historical development patterns of the relation-
ship of loss adjustment expenses to losses for each line of
business and type of exposure. For a description of the
Company’s reserving methods for asbestos and environ-
mental claims, see ''— Asbestos, Environmental and Other
Cumulative Injury Claims.”

Discounting

The liability for losses for some long-term disability pay-
ments under workers' compensation insurance and workers'
compensation excess insurance has been discounted using
an interest rate of 5%. The liability for losses for certain
fixed and determinable asbestos-related settlements, where
all payment amounts and their timing are known, has also
been discounted using various interest rates ranging from
1.56% to 5.50%. At December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, the combined amounts of discount on the consoli-
dated balance sheet were $802.9 million, $792.4 million



and $799.6 million, respectively, of which 5%, 100% and
100%, respectively, related to workers’ compensation.

Other Factors

The table on page 13 sets forth the year-end reserves
from 1992 through 2002 and the subsequent changes in
those reserves, presented on a historical basis. The original
estimates, cumulative amounts paid and reestimated
reserves in the table for the years 1992 to 2001 and
1992 to 1995 have not been restated to reflect the
acquisition of the Northland and Associates insurance
companies and of Aetna’s property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries, respectively. Beginning in 2002 and 1996, the
table includes the reserve activity of Northland and
Associates and of Aetna, respectively. The data in the
table is presented in accordance with reporting require-
ments of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Care
must be taken to avoid misinterpretation by those unfamiliar
with this information or familiar with other data commonly
reported by the insurance industry. The accompanying data
is not accident year data, but rather a display of 1992 to
2002 year-end reserves and the subsequent changes in
those reserves.

For instance, the *‘cumulative deficiency or redundancy”
shown in the accompanving table for each year represents
the aggregate amount by which original estimates of
reserves as of that year-end have changed in subsequent
years. Accordingly, the cumulative deficiency for a year
relates only to reserves at that year-end and those
amounts are not additive. Expressed another way, if the
original reserves af the end of 1992 included $4.0 million
for a loss that is finally paid in 2002 for $5.0 million, the
$1.0 million deficiency (the excess of the actual payment
of $5.0 million over the original estimate of $4.0 million)
would be included in the cumulative deficiencies in each of
the years 1992 to 2001 shown in the accompanying table.

Various factors may distort the re-estimated reserves and
cumulative deficiency or redundancy shown in the accom-
panying table. For example, a substantial portion of the
cumulative deficiencies shown in the accompanying table
arise from claims on policies written prior to the mid-1970s

involving liability exposures such as asbestos, environmental
and other cumulative injury claims. in the post-1984 period,
the Company has developed more stringent underwriting
standards and policy exclusions and has significantly
contracted or terminated the writing of these risks. See

"'~ Asbestos, Environmental and Other Cumulative Injury
Claims." General conditions and trends that have offected
the development of these liabilities in the past will not
necessarily recur in the future.

Other factors that affect the data in the accompanying
table include the discounting of certain reserves, as
discussed above, and the use of retrospectively rated
insurance policies. For example, workers’ compensation
indemnity reserves (tabulor reserves) are discounted to
reflect the time value of money. Apparent deficiencies will
continue to occur as the discount on these workers’
compensation reserves is accreted at the appropriate
interest rates. Also, o portion of National Accounts business
is underwritten with retrospectively rated insurance policies
in which the ultimate loss experience is primarily borne by
the insured. For this business, increases in loss experience
result in an increase in reserves, and an offsetting increase
in amounts recoverable from insureds. Likewise, decreases
in loss experience result in a decrease in reserves, and an
offsetting decrease in amounts recoverable from these
insureds. The amounts recoverable on these retrospectively
rated policies mitigate the impact of the cumulative deficien-
cies or redundancies on the Company’s earnings but are
not reflected in the accompanying table.

Because of these and other factors, it is difficult to develop
a meaningful extrapolation of estimated future redundan-
cies or deficiencies in loss reserves from the data in the
accompanying table.

The differences between the reserves for loss and loss
adjustment expenses shown in the accompanying table,
which is prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and
those reported in the Company's annual reports filed with
state insurance departments, which are prepared in accor-
dance with statutory accounting practices, were $(12.1)
million, ${17.2) million and $9.2 million for 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively.



At December 31,
{in millions 1992/ 1993/°1  1994!°1 (995! 199s'°) 1997!°! 199g!¢! 199971 2000'°! 20019t} 2002!0! k!
Reserves for loss and

loss adjustment
expense originally

estimated: .......... $ 8955 $ 9,319 $ 9,712 $10,090 $21,816 $21,406 $20,763 $19983 $19,435 $20,197 $23,268
Cumulative amounts

paoid as of

One year later .. .. .. 2,005 1,706 1,595 1,521 3,704 4,025 4,159 4,082 4,374 5,018

Two years later. ... .. 3,199 2,843 2,631 2,809 6,600 6,882 6,879 6,957 7.517

Three years later .... 4,063 3,610 3,798 3,903 8,841 8,850 9,006 9,324

Four years later. . .... 4,662 4,563 4,676 4,761 10,355 10,480 10,809

Five years later ... ... 5,465 5,274 5,388 5,322 11,649 11,915

Six years later. . ..... 6,078 5,882 5,855 5,842 12,893

Seven years fater .... 6,618 6,289 6,324 6,146

Eight years later ... .. 6,983 6,718 6,485

Nine years loter .. ... 7,383 6,879

Ten years later ...... 7.541

Reserves reestimated

as of

One year later ...... 9,058 2,270 2,486 9,848 21,345 21,083 20,521 19,736 19,394 23,228

Two years later. .. ... 9,139 9,234 2,310 9,785 21,160 20,697 20,172 19,600 22,233

Three years loter .... 9,183 2,108 9,395 9,789 20,816 20,417 19,975 22,302

Four years later. ... .. 9,189 9,271 9,427 9,735 20,664 20,168 22,489

Five years later ... ... 9,405 9,298 9,463 @711 20,427 22,570

Six years fater....... 9,440 9,349 9,441 3,661 22,851

Seven years later .... 2,508 9,370 9,445 10,562

Eight years later . . . .. 9,555 2,374 10,286

Nine yeors later ... .. 2,569 10,280

Ten years later ... .. 10,536
Cumulative

deficiency'® ..., ... 1,581 961 574 472 1,035 1,164 1,726 2,319 2,798 3,031
Gross liability - end of

YEAr .. $14,638 $15013 $15,213 $30,969 $30,138 $29,411 $28,854 $28,312 $30,617 $33,628
Reinsurance

recoverables ........ 5,319 5,301 5123 9,153 8,732 8,648 8,871 8,877 10,420 10,360
Net liability — end of

year ............... $ 9,319 $ 9,712 $10,090 $21,816 $21,406 $20,763 $19983 $19,435 $20,197 $23,268

Gross reestimated

liability - latest. .. .. .. $15,935 $16,149 $15,797 $32,417 $31,638 331,677 $31,879 $32,180 $34,071
Reestimated reinsurance

recoverables - latest . . 5,655 5,863 5,235 9,566 9,068 2,188 9,577 9,947 10,843
Net reestimated

liability — latest. ... ... $10,280 310,286 $10,562 $22,851 $22,570 $22,489 $22,302 $22,233 $23,228
Gross cumulative

deficiency........... $1,207 $1,13¢ $ 584 $ 1,448 $ 1,500 $ 2,266 $ 3,025 $ 3,868 § 3,454

"o For years prior to 1996, excludes Aetna P&C reserves, which were acquired on April 2, 1996. Accordingly, the reserve development
(net reserves for loss and loss adjustment expense recorded at the end of the year, as originally estimated, less net reserves re-
estimated as of subsequent years] for years prior to 1996 relates only to losses recorded by Travelers P&C and does not include
reserve development recorded by Aetna P&C. For 1996 and subsequent years, includes Aetna P&C reserves and subsequent
development recorded by Aetna P&C. At December 31, 1996 Aetna P&C gross reserves were $16,775 million and net reserves
were $11,752 million. Included in the cumulative deficiency by year is the impact of unfavorable prior year reserve development, net
of reinsurance, related to asbestos claims and litigation, primarily due to $2,945 million of unfavorable development in 2002, as
follows, in millions:

1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
$1,888 $1,656 $1,605 $1,562 $3,376 $3,307 $3,241 $3,184 $3,134 $2,945

Includes reserves of The Northland Company and its subsidiaries and Associates Lloyds Insurance Company which were acquired
from Citigroup on October 1, 2001. Also includes reserves of Associates Insurance Company, which was contributed to TPC by
Citigroup on October 3, 2001. These net reserves were $623 million at December 31, 2001.




Asbestos, Environmental and Other Cumulative
Injury Claims

Asbestos, environmental and other cumulative injury claims
are segregated from other claims and are handled
separately by the Company’s Special Liability Group, a
separate unit staffed by dedicated legal, claim, finance and
engineering professionals. For additional information on
asbestos, environmental and other cumulative injury claims,
see ‘'Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations.”

INTERCOMPANY REINSURANCE POOLS

Most of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries are members
of intercompany property and casualty reinsurance pooling
arrangements. As of December 31, 2002, there were three
intercompany pools, the Travelers Property Casualty pool,
the Gulf pool and the Northland pool. Each of these pools
permits the participating companies to rely on the capacity
of the entire pool’s capital and surplus rather than just on
its own capital and surplus. Under the arrangements of
each poal, the members share substantially all insurance
business that is written, and allocate the combined premi-
ums, losses and expenses. Travelers Casualty and Surety

Company of America (Travelers C&S of Americal, which is
dedicated to the Bond business, does not participate in
any of the pools. The Personal Lines single state companies
and Associates and affliates (see Ratings below) are also
not included in any of the pools.

In connection with the sale of a 24% ownership interest, on
a fully diluted basis, in CIRI to certain outside investors on
August 1, 2002, Travelers Indemnity Company provided
certain members of the Gulf pool with three reinsurance
agreements and one retrocession agreement. These quota
share and excess of loss agreements indemnify the Gulf
pool from adverse development on certain lines of business
written prior to January 1, 2002.

RATINGS

The following table summarizes the current claims-paying
and financial strength ratings of the Company's property
casualty insurance pools, Travelers C&S of America and
the Company's Personal Lines single state companies, by
A.M. Best, Fitch, Moody's and Standard & Poor’s. The
table also presents the position of each rating in the
applicable agency's rating scale.

Standard &
A.M. Best Moody's Poor’s Fitch
Travelers Property Casualty pool'® ... A4+ {Ist of 16) Aa3 (4thof 21)  AA— (4thof 21  AA (3rd of 24)
Travelers C&S of America ............ A++ (1st of 16)  Aa3 (4th of 21)  AA— (4th of 21)  AA (3rd of 24)
Gulf pool™ ..o A+  (2nd of 16) A2 (6thof 21} AA— (4th of 21) -
Northland pool* ... ................ A+  (2nd of 16) - - -
First Floridian Auto and Home ins. Co... A {3rd of 16) - - AA (3rd of 24)
First Trenton Indemnity Company ...... A (3rd of 16) - - AA (3rd of 24)
The Premier Insurance Co. of MA ... ... A {3rd of 16) - - AA (3rd of 24)

‘) The Travelers Property Casualty pool consists of The Travelers Indemnity Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, The
Phoenix Insurance Company, The Standard Fire Insurance Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of lllinois, Farmington
Casualty Company, The Travelers Indemnity Company of Connecticut, The Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut,
The Charter Oak Fire Insurance Company, The Travelers Indemnity Company of America, Travelers Commercial Casualty Company,
Travelers Casualty Company of Connecticut, Travelers Commercial Insurance Company, The Travelers Indemnity Company of lllinois,
Travelers Property Casualty Insurance Company, TravCo Insurance Company, The Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company,
Travelers Personal Security Insurance Company, Travelers Property Casualty Insurance Company of lllinois and Travelers Excess and

Surplus Lines Company.

! The Gulf pool consists of Gulf Insurance Company, Gulf Underwriters Insurance Company, Select Insurance Company and Atlantic

Insurance Company.

! The Northland pool consists of Northland Insurance Company, Northfield Insurance Company, Northland Casualty Company,
Mendota Insurance Company, Mendakota Insurance Company, American Equity Insurance Company, and American Equity Specialty

Insurance Company.

Associates and affiliates consists of Associates Insurance all of their business to Associates Insurance Company.
Company, Commercial Guaranty Insurance Company and Since these entities are no longer writing new business,
Associates Lloyds Insurance Company. Commercial Guar- A.M. Best no longer rates them. Previously these entities

anty Insurance Company and Associates Lloyds had ceded were rated A+ by A.M. Best.




INVESTMENTS

Insurance company investments must comply with applicable
lows and regulations which prescribe the kind, quality and
concentration of investments. In general, these laws and
regulations permit investments in federal, state and munici-
pal obligations, corporate bonds, preferred and common
equity securities, mortgage loans, real estate and certain
other investments, subject to specified limits and certain
other qudlifications.

At December 31, 2002, the carrying value of the Com-
pany's investment portfolio was $38.425 billion, of which
@1% was invested in fixed maturity investments and short-
term investments (of which 38% was invested in federal,
state or municipal government obligations), 1% in mort-
gage loans and real estate held for sale, 2% in common
stocks and other equity securities and 6% in other
investments. Adjusting for the effect of securities in the
process of settlement, invested assets were $34.826 billion
at December 31, 2002, of which 90% was invested in
fixed maturity investments and short-term investments {of
which 42% was invested in federal, state or municipal
government obligations), 1% in mortgage loans and real
estate held for sale, 2% in common stocks and other equity
securities and 7% in other investments. The average
duration of the fixed maturity portfolio, including short-term
investments, was 5.0 years at December 31, 2002, The
average duration of the fixed maturity portfolio excluding
short-term investments was 5.8 years. Non-investment
grade securities totaled approximately $1.945 billion,
representing approximately 6% of the Company's fixed
maturity investment portfolio as of December 31, 2002.

The following table sets forth information regarding the
Company's investments. It reflects the average amount of
investments, net investment income earned and the yield
thereon. See note 4 to the Company's notes to consoli-
dated financial statements for information regarding the
Company’s investment portfolio.

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Average investments'®! .|| $32,505.0 $30,434.9 $29,599.0
Net investment income ...... $ 1,880.5 $ 20340 $ 2161.6
Average prefox yield'™ . ... 6.0% 6.9% 7.6%
Average pretax equivalent

yielg e 6.8% 7.7% 8.4%
Average aftertax yield™ .. .. 4.4% 5.0% 5.5%

‘o) Reduced by securities lending and adjusted for the impact of
unrealized investment gains and losses, receivables for invest-
ment sales and payables on investment purchases.

®) Excluding realized and unrealized investment gains and losses.

DERIVATIVES

See note 14 of the Company's consolidated financial
statements for a discussion of the policies and transactions
related to the Company’s derivative financial instruments.

COMPETITION

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly
competitive in the areas of price, service, product offerings,
agent relationships and, in the case of personal property
and casualty business, method of distribution, i.e., use of
independent agents, exclusive agents and/or salaried
employees. According to A.M. Best, there are approxi-
mately 950 property casualty organizations in the United
States, comprising approximately 2,400 property casualty
companies. Of those organizations, the top 150 accounted
for approximately 91% of the consolidated industry's total
net written premiums in 2001. Several property and
casualty insurers writing commercial lines of business,
including the Company, offer products for alternative forms
of risk protection in addition to traditional insurance
products. These products, including lorge deductible pro-
grams and various forms of self-insurance that utilize
captive insurance companies and risk retention groups,
have been instituted in reaction to the escalating cost of
insurance caused in part by increased costs from workers'
compensation cases and jury awards in third-party licbility
cases.

Commercial Lines. The insurance industry is represented
in the commercial lines marketplace by many insurance
companies of varying size as well as other entities offering
risk alternatives such as self-insured retentions or captive
programs. Market competition works to set the price
charged for insurance products and the level of service
provided within the insurance regulatory framework.
Growth is driven by a company's ability to provide
insurance and services at a price that is reasonable and
acceptable to the customer. In addition, the marketplace is
affected by available capacity of the insurance industry as
measured by policyholders’ surplus. Surplus expands and
contracts primarily in conjunction with profit levels gener-
ated by the industry. Growth in premium and service
business is also measured by a company’s ability to retain
existing customers and to attract new customers.

National Accounts business is typically written through
national brokers and, to a lesser extent, regional brokers.
Insurance companies compete in this market based on
price, product offerings, claim and loss prevention services,
managed care cost containment and risk monagement
information systems. National Accounts also offers a large
nationwide network of localized claim service centers which
provide greater flexibility in claims adjusting and allows the
Company to more quickly respond to the needs of its
customers. The Company's residual market business also




competes for state contracts to provide claims and policy
management services. These contracts, which generally
have three-year terms, are selected by state agencies
through a bid process based on the quality of service and
price. The Company services approximately 35% of the
total workers’ compensation assigned risk market, making
the Company one of the largest servicing insurers in the
industry.

Commercial Accounts business has historically been written
through independent agents and brokers, although some
companies use direct writing. Competitors in this market are
primarily national property casualty insurance companies
willing to write most classes of business using traditional
products and pricing and, to a lesser extent, regional
insurance companies and companies that have developed
niche programs for specific industry segments. Companies
compete on price, product offerings, response time in
policy issuance and claim and loss prevention services.
Additionally, improved efficiency through automation and
response time to customer needs are key to success in this
market. The construction business has become a focused
industry market for several large insurance companies.
Construction market business is written through agents and
brokers. Insurance companies compete in this market based
upon price, product offerings and claim and risk manage-
ment service. The Company utilizes its specialized under-
writers, engineers, and ciaim handlers, who have extensive
experience and knowledge of the construction industry, to
work with customers, agents and brokers to compete
effectively in this market. The Company also utilizes other
dedicated units to tailor insurance programs to unique
insurance needs. These units are boiler and machinery,
commercial agribusiness, inland and ocean marine, trucking
industry and national lorge commercial property.

Select Accounts business is typically written through inde-
pendent agents and, to a lesser extent, regional brokers,
Both national and regional property casualty insurance
companies compete in the Select Accounts market which
generally comprises lower hazard, ““main street’” business
customers. Risks are underwritten and priced using standard
industry practices and a combination of proprietary and
standard industry product offerings. Competition in this
market is primarily based on price, product offerings and
response time in policy services. The Company has
established a strong marketing relationship with its distribu-
tion network and has provided it with defined underwriting
policies, a broad array of products, competitive prices and
one of the most efficient automated environments in the
industry. In addition, the Company has established a
centralized service center to help agents perform many
back-office functions, in return for a fee. The Company'’s
overall service platform is one of the strongest in the small
business commercial market.

Bond competes in the highly competitive surety and
executive liability marketplaces. Bond's reputation for timely
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and consistent decision-making, a nationwide network of
local underwriting, claims and industry experts and strong
producer and customer relationships as well as its ability to
offer its customers a full range of financial services
products, enable it to compete effectively. Bond's ability to
cross-sell its products to customers of Commercial Lines and
Personal lines provides further competitive advantages for
the Company.

The market in which Gulf competes includes small to mid-
size niche companies that target specific lines of insurance
and larger, multi-line companies that focus on various
segments of the specialty accounts market. Gulf's business
is generally written through wholesale brokers and retail
agents and brokers throughout the United States. it derives
o competitive advantage through its underwriting practices,
claim-handling expertise and broad product offering base.

Personal Lines. Personal lines insurance is written by
hundreds of insurance companies of varying sizes. Although
national companies write the majority of the business, the
Company also faces competition from local or regional
companies which often have a competitive advantage
because of their knowledge of the local marketplace and
their relationship with local agents. The Company believes
that the principal competitive factors are price, service,
perceived stability of the insurer and name recognition. The
Company competes for business within each independent
agency since these agencies also offer policies of compet-
ing companies. At the agency level, competition is primarily
based on price and the level of service, including claims
handling, as well as the level of automation and the
development of long-term relationships with individual
agents. The Company also competes with insurance com-
panies that use exclusive agents or salaried employees to
sell their products. In addition to its traditional independent
agency distribution, Personal lines has broadened its
distribution of Personal Lines products by marketing to
sponsoring organizations, including employee and affinity
groups, and through joint marketing arrangements with
other insurers. The Company beligves that its continued
focus on expense management practices and its underwrit-
ing segmentation abilities enable the Company to price its
products competitively in all of its distribution channels.

REGULATION

State Regulation

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to regu-
lation in the various states and jurisdictions in which they
transact business. The extent of regulation varies, but
generally derives from statutes that delegate regulatory,
supervisory and administrative authority to a department of
insurance in each state. The regulation, supervision and
odministration relate, among other things, to standards of
solvency that must be met and maintained, the licensing of




insurers and their agents, the nature of and limitations on
investments, premium rates, restrictions on the size of risks
that may be insured under a single policy, reserves and
provisions for unearned premiums, losses and other obliga-
tions, deposits of securities for the benefit of policyholders,
approval of policy forms and the regulation of market
conduct, including the use of credit information in underwrit-
ing as well as other underwriting and claims practices. In
addition, many states have enacted variations of competi-
tive rate-making laws, which allow insurers to set certain
premium rates for certain classes of insurance without
having to obtain the prior approval of the state insurance
department. State insurance departments also conduct
periodic examinations of the affairs of insurance companies
and require the filing of annual and other reports relating
to the financial condition of companies and other matters.
Financial examinations completed in the past three years
have not resulted in any adjustments to statutory surplus,
and pending financial and market conduct examinations
have not identified any material findings to date. At the
present time, the Company's insurance subsidiaries are
collectively licensed to transact insurance business in all
states, the District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto Rico,
Bermuda, and the U.S. Virgin islands, as well as Australia,
Canada, New Zealand, the Philippines, the United Kingdom
and Central and South America.

insurance Holding Company Statutes

Although as a holding company, the Company is not
regulated as an insurance company, the Company owns
capital stock in insurance subsidiaries and therefore is
subject to state insurance holding company statutes, as well
as certain other laws, of each of the states of domicile of
the Company's insurance subsidiaries. All holding company
statutes, as well as other laws, require disclosure and, in
some instances, prior approval of material transactions
between an insurance company and an affiliate. The
holding company statutes as well as other laws also
require, among other things, prior approval of an acquisi-
tion of control of a domestic insurer, some transactions
between affiliates and the payment of extraordinary divi-
dends or distributions.

Insuronce Regulotion Concerning Dividends

The Company’s principal insurance subsidiaries are domi-
ciled in the State of Connecticut. The insurance holding
company law of Connecticut applicable to the Company's
subsidiaries requires notice to, and approval by, the state
insurance commissioner for the declaration or payment of
any dividend, that together with other distributions made
within the preceding twelve months exceeds the greater of
10% of the insurer's surplus as of the preceding Decem-
ber 31, or the insurer's net income for the twelve-month
period ending the preceding December 31, in each case

determined in accordance with statutory accounting prac-
tices. This declaration or payment is further limited by
adjusted unassigned surplus, as determined in accordonce
with statutory accounting practices. The insurance holding
company laws of other states in which the Company’s
insurance subsidiaries are domiciled generally contain
similar, although in some instances somewhat more restric-
tive, limitations on the payment of dividends. During 2003,
a portion of dividends from the Company's insurance
subsidiaries is likely to be subject to approval from the
Connecticut Insurance Department, depending upon the
amount and timing of the payments.

Assessmenis for Guaranty Funds and Second-
Injury Funds and Other Mandatory Pooling
Arrangements

Virtually all states require insurers licensed to do business in
their state to bear a portion of the loss suffered by some
insureds as a result of the insolvency of other insurers.
Depending upon state law, insurers can be assessed an
amount that is generally equal to between 1% and 2% of
premiums written for the relevant lines of insurance in that
state each year fo pay the claims of an insolvent insurer.
Part of these payments are recoverable through premium
rates, premium tax credits or policy surcharges. Significant
increases in assessments could limit the ability of the
Company's insurance subsidiories to recover such assess-
ments through tax credits or other means. In addition, there
have been some legislative efforts to limit or repeal the tax
offset provisions, which efforts, to date, have been gener-
ally unsuccessful. These assessments are expected to
increase in the future as a result of recent insolvencies.

Many states have laws that established second-injury funds
to provide compensation to injured employees for aggravo-
tion of a prior condition or injury. Insurers writing workers'
compensation in those states having second-injury funds are
subject to the laws creating the funds, including the various
funding mechanisms that those states have adopted to fund
the second-injury funds. Several of the states having larger
second-injury funds utilize a premium surcharge that effec-
tively passes the cost of the fund to policyholders. Other
states assess the insurer based on paid losses and allow
the insurer to recoup the assessment through future
premium rates.

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are also required to
participate in various involuntary assigned risk pools,
principally involving workers' compensation and automobile
insurance, which provide various insurance coverages to
individuals or other entities that otherwise are unable to
purchase that coverage in the voluntary market. Participa-
tion in these pools in most states is generally in proportion
to voluntary writings of related lines of business in that
state. In the event that a member of that pool becomes



insolvent, the remaining members assume an additional pro
rata share of the liabilities of the pool. The underwriting
results of these pools traditionally have been unprofitable.
Combined earned premiums related to such pools and
assigned risks for the Company were $147.6 million,
$143.9 million and $117.1 millicn in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The related combined underwriting
losses for the Company were $38.5 million, $47.8 million
and $53.4 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Proposed legislation and regulatory changes have been
introduced in the states from time to time that would modify
some of the laws and regulations affecting the financial
services industry, including the use of information. The
potential impact of that legislation on the Company's
businesses cannot be predicted at this time.

Insurance Regulations Concerning Change of
Control

Many state insurance regulatory laws intended primarily for
the protection of policyholders contain provisions that
require advance approval by state agencies of any change
in control of an insurance company that is domiciled, or, in
some cases, having substantial business that it is deemed to
be commercially domiciled, in that state. The Company
owns, directly or indirectly, all of the shares of stock of
property and casualty insurance companies domiciled in the
states of Arizona, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Flor-
ida, Mllinois, Indiana, lowa, Massachusetts, Minnesoia, New
Jersey and Texas. “'Control’ is generally presumed to exist
through the ownership of 10% (5% in the case of Florida)
or more of the voting securities of a domestic insurance
company or of any company that controls a domestic
insurance company. Any purchaser of shares of common
stock representing 10% (5% in the case of Florida) or
more of the voting power of the Company's capital stock
will be presumed to have acquired control of the Com-
pany’s domestic insurance subsidiaries unless, following
application by that purchaser in each insurance subsidiary's
state of domicile, the relevant insurance commissioner
determines otherwise.

In addition to these filings, the laws of many states contain
provisions requiring pre-notification to state agencies prior to
any change in control of a non-domestic insurance company
admitted to transact business in that state. While these pre-
notification statutes do nct authorize the state agency to
disapprove the change of control, they do authorize issuance
of cease and desist orders with respect to the non-domestic
insurer if it is determined that some conditions, such as undue
market concentration, would result from the acquisition.

Any future transactions that would constitute a change in
control of any of the Company's insurer subsidiaries would
generally require prior approval by the insurance departments
of the states in which the Company’s insurance subsidiaries

are domiciled or commercially domiciled and may require
preacquisition notification in those states that have adopted
preacquisition notification provisions and in which such insur-
ance subsidiaries are admitted to transact business.

One of the Company's insurance subsidiaries is domiciled in
the United Kingdom. Insurers in the United Kingdom are
subject to change of control restrictions in the Insurance
Companies Act of 1982 including approval of the Financial
Services Authority.

Some of the Company’s other insurance subsidiaries are
domiciled in, or authorized to conduct insurance business in,
Canada. Authorized insurers in Canada are subject to
change of conirol restrictions in Section 407 of the Insurance
Companies Act, including approval of the Office of the
Superintendent of Financial Institutions.

These requirements may deter, delay or prevent transac-
tions affecting the control of or the cwnership of common
stock, including transactions that could be advantageous to
the Company's shareholders.

Insurance Regulatory Information System

The NAIC Insurance Regulatory information System (IRIS)
was developed to help state regulators identify companies
that may require special attention. The IRIS system consists
of a statistical phase and an analytical phase whereby
financial examiners review annual statements and financial
ratios. The statistical phase consists of 12 key financial
ratios based on year-end data that are generated from the
NAIC database annually; each ratic has an established
“usual range"’ of results. These ratios assist state insurance
departments in executing their statutory mandate to over-
see the financial condition of insurance companies.

A ratio result falling outside the usual range of IRIS ratios is
not considered a failing result; rather, unusual values are
viewed as part of the regulatory early monitoring system.
Furthermore, in some years, it may not be unusual for
financially sound companies to have several ratios with
results outside the usual ranges. Generdlly, an insurance
company will become subject to regulatory scrutiny if it falls
outside the usual ranges of four or more of the ratios. As
published by the NAIC, approximately 14.9% of the
companies included in the IRIS system have reported results
outside the usual range on four or more ratios.

In 2002, most of the Company's insurance subsidiaries in
the Travelers Property Casualty pool had results outside the
usual range for the one year reserve development to
surplus ratio, the two year reserve development to surplus
ratio and the estimated current reserve deficiency to surplus
ratio ranging from 21% to 44%, which exceeded the usual
range of 20% to 25%, primarily because of the pretax
statutory income statement charges for additions to asbes-



tos reserves in 2002. In addition, three of the Company's
principal insurance companies had other ratios outside the
usual range. The Travelers Indemnity Company and The
Standard Fire Insurance Company had investment yield
ratios of 3.8% and 4.2%, respectively, which were less
than the usual results of 4.5%, reflecting the decline in
interest rates on new investments and lower dividends from
subsidiary equity investments. The Travelers Indemnity Com-
pany and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company had
liabilities to liquid assets ratios of 120% and 107%,
respectively, which exceeded the usual result of 105% due
primarily to sizable subsidiary investments that are ex-
cluded from the calculation of liquid assets and an increase
in asbestos reserves that are included in liabilities. The
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company and The Standard
Fire Insurance Company each had a change in surplus ratio
of -12%, which exceeded the usual result of -10% due to
a net loss resulting primarily from charges for additions to
asbestos reserves in 2002. Also in 2002, the insurance
companies in the Gulf pool had results outside the usual
range for the two year reserve development to surplus
ratio ranging from 32% to 44%, which exceeded the usual
result of 20% because of reserve additions related to a
run-off product line. In addition, the Gulf pool companies
had an estimated current reserve deficiency to surplus ratio
ranging from 46% to 84%, which exceeded the usual result
of 25% and a change in net writings ratio ranging from
223% to 403%, which exceeded the usual result of 33%
primarily due to the effect of their removal from the
Travelers Property Casualty pool and the reestablishment
of the Gulf pool. Gulf Insurance Company and Gulf
Underwriters [nsurance Company had investment yield
ratios of 4.3% and 3.9%, respectively, which were less
than the usual result of 4.5% reflecting a shortening of the
duration of the portfolio and a decline in interest rates on
new investments. Gulf Underwriters Insurance Company
also had a gross written premiums to surplus ratio of
1235%, which exceeded the usual result of 200% due to
increases in premiums written on core specialty lines and
the effect of the companies’ removal from the Travelers
Property Casualty pool and the reestablishment of the Gulf
pool.

In 2001 and 2000, two of the Company's principal
subsidiaries had ratios outside the usual ranges. In 2001,
The Travelers indemnity Company had a liagbilities to liquid
asset ratio of 110%, which exceeded the usual result of
105%. This resulted from The Travelers Indemnity Com-
pany’s acquisition of The Northland Company and the
contribution of Associates Insurance Company and affili-
ates, because these entities are not liquid assets for the
purposes of calculating this ratio. Travelers Casualty and
Surety Company has an estimated current reserve defi-
ciency to policyholders’ surplus ratio of 26% which
exceeded the usual result of 25%. The two factors which
contributed to this result were the combining of the
Travelers Property Casualty and Gulf Insurance intercom-

pany reinsurance pools in 2001 and the decline in workers’
compensation business volume in previous years. For 2000,
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America had a
change in net writings that was 138%, compared to the
usual range of 33% to (33%). Travelers Casualty and
Surety Company had a change in surplus ratio that was
unusual (13%) compared to the usual range of 50% to
(10%).

For 2000, the change in net writings ratio for the Travelers
Casualty and Surety Company of America was outside of
the usual range due to the acquisition of the surety business
of Reliance Group Holdings, Inc. by Travelers Casualty and
Surety Company. Simultaneous with the recording of the
business acquired, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company
recognized the effects of the cross-business reinsurance
agreement with Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of
America. Travelers Casualty and Surety Company capital-
ized and nonadmitted costs to recognize the acquisition
which, together with dividends paid to TIGHI, caused the
change in surplus ratio for Travelers Casualty and Surety
Company to be outside the usual range.

In all of these instances in prior years, regulators have
been satisfied upon follow-up that no regulatory action was
required. It is possible that similar results could occur in the
future. Management does not anticipate regulatory action
as a result of the 2002 IRIS ratio results. No regulatory
action has been token by any state insurance department
or the NAIC with respect to IRIS ratios of any of the

Company's insurance subsidiaries for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000.

Risk-Based Capital {RBC) Requirements

In order to enhance the regulation of insurer solvency, the
NAIC has adopted a formula and model law to implement
RBC requirements for most property and casualty insurance
companies, which is designed to determine minimum capital
requirements and to raise the level of protection that
statutory surplus provides for policyholder obligations. The
RBC formula for property and casualty insurance compa-
nies measures three major areas of risk facing property
and casualty insurers:

* underwriting, which encompasses the risk of adverse loss
developments and inadequate pricing;

» declines in asset values arising from market and/or credit
risk; and

o off-balance sheet risk arising from adverse experience
from non-controlled assets, guarantees for offliates or
other contingent liabilities and reserve and premium
growth,




Under laws adopted by individual states, insurers having
total adjusted capital less than that required by the RBC
calculation will be subject to varying degrees of regulatory
action, depending on the level of capital inadequacy.

The RBC law provides for four levels of regulatory action.
The extent of regulatory intervention and action increases
as the level of surplus to RBC falls. The first level, the
company action level as defined by the NAIC, requires an
insurer to submit a plan of corrective actions to the
regulator if surplus falls below 200% of the RBC amount.
The regulatory action level, as defined by the NAIC,
requires an insurer to submit a plan containing corrective
actions and requires the relevant insurance commissioner to
perform an examination or other analysis and issue a
corrective order if surplus falls below 150% of the RBC
amount. The authorized control level, as defined by the
NAIC, authorizes the relevant insurance commissioner to
take whatever regulatory actions considered necessary to
protect the best interest of the policyholders and creditors
of the insurer which may include the actions necessary to
cause the insurer to be placed under regulatory control,
i.e., rehabilitation or liquidation, if surplus falls below 100%
of the RBC amount. The fourth acticn level is the mandatory
control level as defined by the NAIC, which requires the
relevant insurance commissioner to place the insurer under
regulatory control if surplus falls below 70% of the RBC
amount.

The formulas have not been designed to differentiate
among adequately copitalized companies that operate with
higher levels of capital. Therefore, it is inappropriate and
ineffective to use the formulas to rate or to rank these
companies. At December 31, 2002, all of the Company’s
property and casualty insurance subsidiaries had total
adjusted capital in excess of amounts requiring company or
regulatory action at any prescribed RBC action level.

INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER

Interest Expense and Other consists primarily of interest
expense.

OTHER INFORMATION

General Business Factors

In the opinion of the Company's management, no material
part of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is
dependent upon a single customer or group of customers,
the loss of any one of which would have o materially
adverse effect on the Company, and no one customer or
group of affiiated customers accounts for as much as 10%
of the Company’s consolidated revenues.
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Employees

At December 31, 2002, the Company had 19,837 full-time
and 754 part-time employees. The Company believes that
its employee relations are satisfactory. None of the
Company's employees are subject to collective bargaining
agreements.

Source of Funds

For a discussion of the Company's sources of funds and
maturities of the long-term debt of the Company, see

ltem 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital
Resources,”’ and note 8 of notes to consolidated financial
statements.

Toxation

For a discussion of tax matters affecting the Company and
its operations, see note 9 of notes to consolidated financial
statements.

Financial iInformation about industry Segments

For financial information regarding industry segments of the
Company, see ltem 7, ““Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,”
and note 3 of notes to consolidated financial statements.

Recent Transcctions

For information regarding recent transactions of the Com-
pany, see ltem 7, ““Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,”” and
note 1 of notes to consolidated financial statements.

Company Website and Availability of SEC
Fitings

The Company’s Internet website is www.travelers.com.
information on the Company’s website is not a part of this
Form 10-K. The Company makes available free of charge
on its website, or provides a link to, all of the Company's
Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, and any amendments to these,
that are filed with the SEC. To access these filings, go to
the Company's website and click on “Investors,” then click
on “'SEC Filings.”" This links directly to the SEC's website
where all of the Company’s SEC filings that are made
electronically with the SEC may be viewed.




Executive Officers of the Company

Set forth below is information concerning the Company's
executive officers as of February 28, 2003.

Nome Age Cffice

Robert . Lipp. ...t 64 Chairman of the boord of
directors, chief executive
officer

Charles J. Clarke .......... 67  President and a director

frwin R. Ettinger ............ 64 Vice chairman

Douglas G. Elliot........... 42 Chief operating officer

Joy S.Benet ......... ... .. 50  Chief financial officer

James M. Michener ........ 50 General counsel, secretary

Diona €. Beecher .......... 57 Chief information officer

Stewart R. Morrison ........ 46  Chief investment officer

Maria Olive ............... 38 Executive vice president —
business and corporate
development and investor
relations

Peter N. Higgins ........... 55 Executive vice president —
Underwriting

Brian W. Maclean ......... 49 Executive vice president -
Claim Services

Joseph P. Llacher, Jr. ....... 33 Executive vice president —
Personal Lines

Douglas K. Russell.......... 45 Chief accounting officer and

treasurer

Robert I. lipp, 64, has been chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company since December 18, 2001. Mr. Lipp
served as chairman of the board of TIGH! from 1996 to
2000 and from January 2001 to October 2001, and was
the chief executive officer and president of TIGHI from
1996 to 1998. During 2000 he was a vice chairman and
member of the office of the chairman of Citigroup. He was
chairman and chief executive officer — Global Consumer
Business of Citigroup from 1999 to 2000. From October
1998 to April 1999, he was co-chairman — Global Con-
sumer Business of Citigroup. From 1993 to 2000, he was
chairman and chief executive officer of Travelers Insurance
Group, Inc., a TPC predecessor company. From 1991 to
1998, he was a vice chairman and director of Travelers
Group, Inc. and from 1991 to 1993, he was chairman and
chief executive officer of Citifinancial Credit Company. Prior
to joining Citigroup in 1986, Mr. Llipp spent 23 years with
Chemical New York Corporation. He is a director of
Accenture Ltd., president of the New York City Ballet, o
trustee of Carnegie Hall and the Massachusetts Museum of
Contemporary Art, chairman of the executive commitiee at
Williams College, and chairman of Dance-On Inc.

Charles J. Clarke, 67, is president and was chairman and
chief executive officer of TIGH! just prior to December 18,
2001. He has been a director of the Company since June
2000. Mr. Clarke was president from January 2001 to
October 2001. Prior to that time he had been vice
chairman from January 1998 to January 2001. Mr. Clarke
had been chief executive officer of Commercial lines from
January 1996 to January 1998 and was chairman of
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Commercial Lines from 1990 to january 1996. He has held
other executive and management positions with the Com-

pany for many years, and he has been with the Company
since 1958.

Irwin R. Ettinger, 64, joined the Company as vice chairman
in June 2002. Prior to this, Mr. Ettinger served as the chief
accounting and tax officer for Citigroup from 1998 to 2002
and held other positions of increasing responsibility since
joining Citigroup in 1987. He joined Citigroup from Arthur
Young & Co. (now Ernst and Young) where he was a
partner for 18 years. He serves as a member of the
Advisory Council of the Weissmen Center for International
Business of Baruch College of the City University of New
York and is a member of the executive committee of the
Baruch Coliege Fund.

Douglas G. Elliot, 42, is chief operating officer of the
Company, responsible for the business operations of the
Company. He was president and chief operating officer of
TIGHI just prior to December 18, 2001. Mr. Eliiot was
president and chief executive officer from October 2001 to
December 2001. He was chief opercting officer and
president of Commercial Lines from September 2000 to
October 2001, chief operating officer of Commercial Lines
from August 1999 to September 2000 and senior vice
president of Select Accounts from June 1996 to August
1999. He has held other executive and management
positions with the Company for several years, and he has
been with the Company since 1987. Mr. Elliot serves on
the Corporator’s Board of Hartford Hospital.

Jay S. Benet, 50, has been the chief financial officer of the
Company since February 2002, Before joining the Com-
pany, from March 2001 until January 2002, Mr. Benet was
the worldwide head of financial planning, analysis and
reporting at Citigroup and chief financial officer for Citi-
group’s Global Consumer Europe, Middle East and Africa
unit between April 2000 and March 2001. Prior to this,
Mr. Benet served 10 years in various executive positions
with Travelers Life & Annuity, including chief financial officer
and executive vice president, Group Annuity from Decem-
ber 1998 to April 2000 and senior vice president Group
Annuity from December 1996 to December 1998. Prior to
joining Travelers Life & Annuity in 1990, Mr. Benet was a
partner of Coopers & Lybrand (now Pricewaterhouse
Coopers).

James M. Michener, 50, is the general counsel and
secretary of the Company. From April 2001 to January
2002, Mr. Michener served as general counsel of Citi-
group’s Emerging Markets business. Prior to joining Citi-
group's Emerging Markets business, Mr. Michener was
general counsel of Travelers Insurance from April 2000 to
April 2001. He began his career as a lawyer with the
Company and held several positions, including general
counsel of the Managed Care and Employee Benefits
Division from March 1994 to December 1994. from




January 1995 to October 1995, Mr. Michener served as
general counsel of The MetraHealth Companies, Inc. In
May 1996, after the sale of MetraHealth to United
Healthcare Corporation, Mr. Michener rejoined the Com-
pany as the general counsel of TIGHL

Diana E. Beecher, 57, is senior vice president and chief
information officer for the Company. Ms. Beecher joined
the Company in 1995 as vice president for Technical
Engineering in the Information Systems Core Technology
area. She was promoted to her current position in July
1997. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Beecher served as
senior vice president of Brokeroge Operations for

S.G. Warburg & Co., Inc., and had previously spent

13 years at Morgan Stanley & Co., inc., serving in various
positions of increasing responsibility in the technology and
equity divisions. Ms. Beecher is a trustee of the Shippen-
sburg University Foundation, trustee of the New Canaan
Congregational Church, and the treasurer and director of
Nutmeg Big Brothers Big Sisters.

Stewart R. Morrison, 46, is the chief investment officer of
the Company. Mr. Morrison joined the Company in
November 2002 from Security Benefit Group in Topeka,
Kansas, where he served as chief investment officer. Prior
to his role there, Mr. Morrison spent more than 10 years
with Keyport Life Insurance Company in Boston in a variety
of strategic investment positions, including chief investment
officer. Before moving into the insurance field, Mr. Morrison
held positions of increasing responsibility in the banking
industry, beginning at Hartford National Bank.

Maria Olivo, 38, was appointed executive vice president,
Business and Corporate Development and Investor Rela-
tions of the Company in June 2002. Ms. Olivo, o certified
financial analyst, joined the Company from Swiss Re
Capital Partners where she was a managing director
involved in Strategic Investments and Corperate Develop-
ment from April 2000 to June 2002. Prior to that, she was
a director at Salomon Smith Barney where she worked on
numerous initial public offerings, mergers and acquisitions
and public debt offerings.
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Peter N. Higgins, 55, has been executive vice president,
Underwriting since 2000, and chief executive officer of
Commercial Accounts since 1996. In addition, he is the
chief executive officer of the Northland Companies.

Mr. Higgins began his career with the Company in 1969,
was promoted to senior vice president, Commercial Lines in
1992, and chief underwriting officer in 2000.

Brian W. Maclean, 49, is executive vice president, Claim
Services. Prior to this, Mr. Maclean served as president of
Select Accounts from July 1999 to January 2002. He also
served as chief financial officer of Claim Services from
March 1993 to June 1996. From June 1996 to July 1999,
Mr. Maclean was chief financial officer for Commercial
Lines. He joined the Company in 1988 and has served in
several other positions. Prior to joining the Company,

Mr. Maclean was an audit manager at the public account-
ing firm of Peat Marwick {now KPMG LLP).

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr., 33, is executive vice president -
Personal Lines. Prior to this position, Mr. Lacher served as
senior vice president, product and actuarial for Personal
Lines since April 2001. Immediately prior to this Mr. Lacher
was senior vice president of Strategic Distribution for
Personal Lines from April 1999 to April 2001, From April
1996 to April 1999, Mr. Lacher was chief financial officer
for Select Accounts. He has held other executive and
management positions with the Company for several years,
and he has been with the Company since 1991.

Douglas K. Russell, 45, is the chief accounting officer and
treasurer and has been controller and chief accounting
officer of the Company since July 1999. Mr. Russell has
also served in several other positions with the Company
since January 1997. Prior to joining the Company,

Mr. Russell was director of financial reporting of both The
MetraHealth Companies, Inc. from May 1995 to October
1995, and of United Healthcare Corporation, tfrom Octo-
ber 1995 to December 1996. From 1979 to May 1995,
Mr. Russell served in several positions at Ernst & Young,
LLP.




Accident year

Adjusted unassigned surplus .. ..

Admitted insurer

Assigned risk pools

Assumed reinsurance

Case reserves

Casualty insurance

Catastrophe

Catastrophe loss

Catastrophe reinsurance

Glossary of Selected Insurance Terms

The annual calendar accounting period in which loss events occurred, regardless of
when the losses are actually reported, booked or paid.

Unassigned surplus as of the most recent statutory annual report reduced by twenty-five
percent of that year's unrealized appreciation in value or revaluation of assets or
unrealized profits on investments, as defined in that report.

A company licensed to transact insurance business within a state.

A contract that pays a periodic benefit for the life of a person (the annuitant), the
lives of two or more persons or for a specified period of time.

Reinsurance pools which cover risks for those unable to purchase insurance in the
voluntary market. Possible reasons for this inability include the risk being too great or
the profit being too small under the required insurance rate structure. The costs of the
risks associated with these pools are charged back to insurance carriers in proportion
to their direct writings.

Insurance risks acquired from a ceding company.

One who negotiates contracts of insurance or reinsurance on behalf of an insured
party, receiving a commission from the insurer or reinsurer for placement and other
services rendered.

The percentage of surplus, or the dollar amount of exposure, that an insurer or
reinsurer is willing or able to place at risk. Capacity may apply to a single risk, a
program, a line of business or an entire book of business. Capacity may be
constrained by legal restrictions, corporate restrictions or indirect restrictions.

Loss reserves, established with respect to specific, individual reported claims.

Insurance which is primarily concerned with the losses caused by injuries to third
persons, i.e., not the insured, and the legal liability imposed on the insured resulting
therefrom. It includes, but is not limited to, employers’ liability, workers’ compensation,
public liability, automobile liability, personal liability and aviation liability insurance. It
excludes certain types of losses that by law or custom are considered as being
exclusively within the scope of other types of insurance, such as fire or marine.

A severe loss, resulting from natural and manmade events, including risks such as fire,
earthquake, windstorm, explosion, terrorism and other similar events.

Loss and directly identified loss adjustment expenses from catastrophes.

A form of excess of loss reinsurance which, subject 1o a specified limit, indemnifies the
ceding company for the amount of loss in excess of a specified retention with respect
to an accumulation of losses resulting from a catastrophic event. The actual reinsurance
document is called a “‘catastrophe cover.” These reinsurance contracts are typically
designed to cover property insurance losses but can be written to cover casualty
insurance losses such as from workers’ compensation policies.

When an insurer reinsures its liability with another insurer or a “‘cession,” it "‘cedes”’
business and is referred to as the *‘ceding company.”

Insurance risks transferred to another company as reinsurance. See “'Reinsurance.”

Request by an insured for indemnification by an insurance company for loss incurred
from an insured peril.
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Claim odjustment expenses . . ... See ‘‘Loss adjustment expenses.”

EXPENSES .\ vveee et See "'loss and Joss adjustment expenses.” |

Claims and claim adjustment
EXPEense reserves ........... See "'loss reserves.” i

Combined ratio . ......... ... The sum of the loss and LAE ratio, the underwriting expense ratio and, where
applicable, the ratio of dividends to policyholders to net premiums earned. A combined
ratio under 100% generally indicates an underwriting profit. A combined ratio over
100% generally indicates an underwriting loss.

Claims and claim adjustment
|
|
|
|
\

Commercial lines .............. The various kinds of property and casualty insurance that are written for businesses.
Commercial multi-peril policies... Refers to policies which cover both property and third-party liability exposures.
Commutation agreement........ An agreement between a reinsurer and a ceding company whereby the reinsurer pays

an agreed upon amount in exchange for a complete discharge of all obligations,
including future obligations, between the parties for reinsurance losses incurred.

Deductible ................... The amount of loss that an insured retains.

Deferred acquisition costs ...... Primarily commissions and premium taxes that vary with and are primarily related to the
production of new contracts and are deferred and amortized to achisve a matching of
revenues and expenses when reported in financial statements prepared in accordance
with GAAP.

Direct written premiums. ........ The amounts charged by an insurer to insureds in exchange for coverages provided in
accordance with the terms of an insurance contract. It excludes the impact of alt
reinsurance premiums, either assumed or ceded.

Earned premiums or premiums
earned ... i That portion of property casualty premiums written that applies to the expired portion
of the policy term. Earned premiums are recognized as revenues under both Statutory
Accounting Practices {SAP) and GAAP.

Excess liability ...... ... .. ... Additional casualty coverage above a layer of insurance exposures.

Excess of loss reinsurance ... ... Reinsurance that indemnifies the reinsured against all or a specified portion of losses
over a specified dollar amount or *‘retention.”

Excess SIPC ... ............... A type of surety protection provided for broker dealer firms, excess of primary
protection programs such as that provided by the Securities Investors Protection
Corporation (SIPC), which may respond in favor of broker dealer customers in the
event of missing customer property following a broker dealer’s liquidation.

Expense ratio.......... ... ... See “'Underwriting expense ratio.”

Facultative reinsurance ......... The reinsurance of all or a portion of the insurance provided by a single policy. Each
policy reinsured is separately negotiated.

Fidelity and surety programs .... Fidelity insurance coverage protects an insured for loss due to embezzlement or
misappropriation of funds by an employee. Surety is o three-party agreement in which
the insurer agrees to pay a second party or make complete an obligation in response
to the default, acts or omissions of an insured.

Guaranteed cost products . ... .. An insurance policy where the premiums charged will not be adjusted for actual loss
experience during the covered period.
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Guaranty fund ........... ...

Incurred but not reported (IBNR)
FESEIVES «vveeene e

Inlend marine .. ....... . ... ...

Loss

adjustment expenses

LLAE) oo

Loss

Loss

and LAEratio.............

FEServes ........covvevine

Losses incurred ...............

National Association of Insurance

Commissioners (NAIC) ......

Net written premiums ..........

Operating income {loss) .......

State-regulated mechanism which is financed by assessing insurers doing business in
those states. Should insolvencies occur, these funds are available to meet some or all
ot the insolvent insurer's obligations to policyholders.

Reserves for estimated losses and LAE that have been incurred but not yet reported to
the insurer.

A broad type of insurance generally covering articles that may be transported from
one place to another, as well as bridges, tunnels and other instrumentalities of
transportation. It includes goods in transit, generally other than fransoceanic, and may
include policies for movable objects such as personal effects, personal property,
jewelry, furs, fine art and others.

Financial ratios calculated by the NAIC to assist state insurance departments in
monitoring the financial condition of insurance companies.

An insurance policy where the customer assumes at least $25,000 or more of each
loss. Typically, the insurer is responsible for paying the entire loss under those policies
and then seeks reimbursement from the insured for the deductible amount.

An occurrence that is the basis for submission and/or payment of a claim. Losses may
be covered, limited or excluded from coverage, depending on the terms of the policy.

The expenses of settling claims, including legal and other fees and the portion of
general expenses allocated to claim settlement costs.

For SAP it is the ratio of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses to net earned
premiums. For GAAP it is the ratic of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses
reduced by an allocation of fee income to net earned premiums.

Liabilities established by insurers and reinsurers to reflect the estimated cost of claims
incurred that the insurer or reinsurer will ultimately be required to pay in respect of
insurance or reinsurance it has written. Reserves are established for losses and for LAE,
and consist of case reserves and IBNR reserves. As the term is used in this document,
“loss reserves’’ is meant to include reserves for both losses and LAE.

The total losses sustained by an insurance company under a policy or policies, whether
paid or unpaid. Incurred losses include a provision for IBNR.

An organization of the insurance commissioners or directors of all 50 states and the
District of Columbia organized to promote consistency of regulatory practice and
statutory accounting standards throughout the United States.

Direct written premiums plus assumed reinsurance premiums less premiums ceded to
reinsurers.

Net income (loss) excluding net realized investment gains (losses), restructuring
charges, the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles and TPC's minority
interest in 2000.

Types of property and casualty insurance written for individuals or families, rather than
for businesses.

An organization of insurers or reinsurers through which particular types of risks are

underwritten with premiums, losses and expenses being shared in agreed-upon
percentages.
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Premiums............. ... .....

Producer ...

Property insurance .., .........

Quota share reinsurance ... .. ..

Reinsurance agreement ........

Residual market (involuntary
business) ........... .. .

Retention........ ... ...

Retention ratio . ...............

Retrospective premiums ........

Retrospective rating ...........

Risk-based capital (RBC) .. ....

Risk retention group ...........

Run-off business ...............

Salvage ...

The amount charged during the year on policies and contracts issued, renewed or
reinsured by an insurance company.

Contractual entity which directs insureds to the insurer for coverage. This term includes
agents and brokers.

Insurance that provides coverage to o person with an insurable interest in tangible
property for that person’s property loss, damage or loss of use.

Reinsurance wherein the insurer cedes an agreed-upon fixed percentage of liabilities,
premiums and losses for each policy covered on a pro rata basis.

Amounts charged per unit of insurance.

The practice whereby one insurer, called the reinsurer, in consideration of a premium
paid to that insurer, agrees to indemnify another insurer, called the ceding company,
for part or all of the liability of the ceding company under cne or more policies or
contracts of insurance which it has issued.

A contract specifying the terms of a reinsurance transaction.

Insurance market which provides coverage for risks unable to purchase insurance in the
voluntary market. Possible reasons for this inability include the risk being too great or
the profit potential too small under the required insurance rate structure. Residual
markets are frequently created by state legislation either because of lack of available
coverage such as property coverage in a windstorm prone area or protection of the
accident victim as in the case of workers’ compensation. The costs of the residual
market are usually charged back to the direct insurance carriers in proportion fo the
carriers’ voluntary market shares for the type of coverage involved.

The amount of exposure a policyholder company retains on any one risk or group of
risks. The term may apply to an insurance policy, where the policyholder is an
individual, family or business, or a reinsurance policy, where the policyholder is an
insurance company.

Current period renewal accounts or policies as a percentage of total accounts or
policies available for renewal.

Premiums related to refrospectively rated policies.

A plan or method which permits adjustment of the final premium or commission on the
basis of actual loss experience, subject to certain minimum and maximum limits.

A measure adopted by the NAIC and enacted by states for determining the minimum
statutory capital and surplus requirements of insurers. Insurers having total adjusted
capital less than that required by the RBC calculation will be subject to varying degrees
of regulatory action depending on the level of capital inadequacy.

An dalternative form of insurance in which members of a similar profession or business
band together to self insure their risks.

An operation which has been determined to be nonstrategic; includes non-renewals of
inforce policies and a cessation of writing new business, where allowed by law.

The amount of money an insurer recovers through the sale of property transferred to
the insurer as a result of a loss payment.
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Second-injury fund

Self-insured retentions

Servicing carrier

Statutory accounting practices

Statutory surplus

Structured settlements

Subrogation

Third-party liability

Treaty reinsurance

Umbrello coverage

Unassigned surplus

Underwriter

Underwriting

Underwriting expense ratio

The employer of an injured, impaired worker is responsible only for the workers'
compensation benefit for the most recent injury; the second-injury fund would cover the
cost of any additional benefits for aggravation of a prior condition. The cost is shared
by the insurance industry and self-insureds, funded through assessments to insurance
companies and self-insureds based on either premiums or losses.

That portion of the risk retained by a person for its own account.

An insurance company that provides, for a fee, various services including policy
issuance, claims adjusting and customer service for insureds in a reinsurance pool.

The practices and procedures prescribed or permitted by domiciliary state insurance
regulatory authorities in the United States for recording transactions and preparing
financial statements. Statutory accounting practices generally reflect a modified going
concern basis of accounting.

As determined under SAP, the amount remaining after all liabilities, including loss
reserves, are subtracted from all admitted assets. Admitted assets are assets of an
insurer prescribed or permitted by a state to be recognized on the statutory balance
sheet. Statutory surplus is also referred to as “‘surplus’ or “'surplus as regards
policyholders’ for statutory accounting purposes.

Periodic payments to an injured person or survivor for a determined number of years or
for life, typically in setlement of a claim under a liability policy, usually funded through
the purchase of an annuity.

A principle of law incorporated in insurance policies, which enables an insurance
company, after paying a claim under a policy, to recover the amount of the loss from
another who is legally liable for it.

A liability owed to a claimant {third-party) who is not one of the two parties to the
insurance contract. Insured liability claims are referred to as third-party claims.

The reinsurance of a specified type or category of risks defined in a reinsurance
agreement (a “treaty”’) between a primary insurer or other reinsured and a reinsurer.
Typically, in treaty reinsurance, the primary insurer or reinsured is obligated to offer
and the reinsurer is obligated to accept a specified portion of all that type or category
of risks originally written by the primary insurer or reinsured.

A form of insurance protection against losses in excess of amounts covered by other
liability insurance policies or amounts not covered by the usual liability policies.

The undistributed and unappropriated amount of statutory surplus.

An employee of an insurance company who examines, accepts or rejects risks and
classifies accepted risks in order to charge an appropriate premium for each accepted
risk. The underwriter is expected to select business that will produce an average risk of
foss no greater than that anticipated for the class of business.

The insurer's or reinsurer's process of reviewing applications for insurance coverage,
and the decision whether to accept all or part of the coverage and determination of
the opplicable premiums; also refers to the acceptance of that coverage.

For SAP it is the ratio of underwriting expenses incurred to net written premiums. For

GAAP it is the ratio of underwriting expenses incurred reduced by an allocation of fee
income to net earned premiums.
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Workers' compensation

Unearned premium . ...

Voluntary market ... ...

Wholesale broker .. ...

Underwriting gain or underwriting
foss oo

The pre-tax profit or loss experienced by a property casualty insurance company after
deducting loss and loss adjustment expenses and operating expenses from net earned
premiums and fee income. This profit or loss calculation includes reinsurance assumed
and ceded but excludes investment income.

The portion of premiums written that is allocable to the unexpired portion of the policy
term.

The market in which a person seeking insurance obtains coverage without the
assistance of residual market mechanisms.

An independent or exclusive agent that represents both admitted and nonadmitted
insurers in market areas, which include standard, non-standard, specialty and excess
and surplus lines of insurance. The wholesaler does not deal directly with the insurance
consumer. The wholesaler deals with the retail agent or broker.

A system (established under state and federal laws) under which employers provide

insurance for benefit payments to their employees for work-related injuries, deaths and
diseases, regardless of fault.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

The Company currently owns six buildings in Hartford,
Connecticut, which comprises its headquarters. The Com-
pany currently occupies approximately 1,030,000 square
feet of office space in such buildings. The Company also
owns other real property in Connecticut, office buildings in
Fall River, Massachusetts and in Irving, Texas and a data
center located in Norcross, Georgia. In addition, the
Company leases 146 field and claim offices totaling
approximately 3,425,000 square feet throughout the
United States under leases or subleases with third parties.

The Company leases 284,225 square feet of office space
in its headguarters buildings to Citigroup. The Company
leases approximately 373,000 square feet of office space
at CityPlace, located in Hartford, Connecticut. The Com-
pany has agreed to exchange office space with Citigroup
and, as a result, will relocate its operations from the office
space at CityPlace to the six headquarters buildings and
assign the lease for CityPlace to Citigroup effective April
2003. The lease with Citigroup for office space in the
headquarters buildings will terminate at the same time that
the exchange of office space occurs.

On September 1, 2001, the Company vacated the

50 Prospect Street complex in Hartford, Connecticut in
order to undertake a complete renovation thereof, which is
expected to be completed by the end of 2003. Therefore,
the Company has entered into the following lease arrange-
ments in Hartford, Connecticut to temporarily house the
displaced operations: 93,500 square feet at 90 State
House Square, 82,000 square feet at 10 State House
Square, 79,400 square feet at 50/58 State House Square,
79,800 square feet at One Constitution Plaza, and
100,200 square feet at Connecticut River Plaza. By year-
end 2002, the Company completed its renovations to
seven floors, which were in turn, occupied by its employees
previously housed at CityPlace.

In the opinion of the Company's management, the Com-
pany's properties are adequate and suitable for its
business as presently conducted and are adequately
maintained.

item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

This section describes the major pending legal proceedings,
other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to the
business, to which the Company or its subsidiaries are a
party or to which any of the Company's property is
subject.

Beginning in Jonuary 1997, various plointiffs commenced a
series of purported class actions and one multi-party action
in various courts against some of the Company's subsidiar-
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ies, dozens of other insurers and the National Council on
Compensation Insurance, or the NCCI. The allegations in
the actions are substantially similar. The plaintiffs generally
allege that the defendants conspired to collect excessive or
improper premiums on loss-sensitive workers' compensation
insurance policies in violation of state insurance laws,
antitrust laws, and state unfair trade practices laws.
Plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages. After several
voluntary dismissals, refilings and consolidations, actions
are, or until recently were, pending in the following
jurisdictions: Georgia {Melvin Simon & Associates, Inc.,

et al. v. Standard Fire Insurance Company, et al.};
Tennessee (Bristol Hotel Asset Company, et al. v. The
Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, et al.); Florida
{Bristol Hotel Asset Company, et al. v. Allianz Insurance
Company, et al. and Bristol Hotel Management Corpora-
tion, et al. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Company, et al. /;
New Jersey (Foodarama Supermarkets, Inc., et al. v.
Allianz Insurance Company, et al. }; llinois (CR/PL Man-
agement Co., et al. v. Allianz Insurance Company Group,
et al.); Pennsylvania (Foodarama Supermarkets, Inc. v.
American Insurance Company, et al.); Missouri {American
Freightways Corporation, et al. v. American Insurance Co.,
et al. }; California (Bristol Hotels & Resorts, et al. v. NCCl,
et al. }; Texas (Sandwich Chef of Texas, Inc., et al. v.
Reliance National Indemnity Insurance Company, et al.);
Alabama (Alumax Inc., et al. v. Allianz Insurance Com-
pany, et al.}; Michigan (Alumax, Inc., et al. v. National
Surety Corp., et al.); Kentucky (Payless Cashways, Inc.,
et al. v. National Surety Corp. et al.); New York (Burnham
Service Corp. v. American Motorists Insurance Company,
et al.); and Arizona (Albany International Corp. v.
American Home Assurance Company, et al. /.

The frial courts ordered dismissal of the California, Penn-
sylvania and New York cases and, in February 2003, one
of the two Florida cases (Bristol Hotel Asset Company,

et al. v. Allianz Insurance Company, et al.). In addition,
the trial courts have ordered partial dismissals of six other
cases: those pending in Tennessee, New Jersey, lllinois,
Missouri, Alabama and Arizona. The trial courts in Georgia,
Kentucky, Texas, and Michigan denied defendants’ motions
to dismiss. The California appellate court reversed the trial
court in part and ordered reinstatement of most claims,
while the New York appellate court affirmed dismissal in
part and allowed plaintiffs to dismiss their remaining claims
voluntarily. The Michigan, Pennsylvania and New Jersey
courts denied class certification. Although the trial court in
Texas granted class certification, the appellate court
reversed that ruling in January 2003, holding that class
certification should not have been granted. The New Jersey
appellate court denied plaintifls’ request to appeal. After
the rulings described above, the plainiiffs withdrew the New
York and Michigan cases. The Company is vigorously
defending all of the pending cases and Company manage-
ment believes the Company has meritorious defenses;
however the outcome of these disputes is uncertain.



In litigation with JPMorgan Chase commenced in federal
district court in New York (JPMorgan Chase Bank v. liberty
Mutual Insurance Company, et ol., S.D.N.Y.), JPMorgan
Chase claimed that the Company and eight other sureties
were obligated to perform under certain surety bonds
issued with respect to performance obligations of two
subsidiaries of Enron. On January 2, 2003, the Company
and the other sureties settled with JPMorgan Chase
resolving all obligations under the bonds. The Company
paid $138.8 million, before reinsurance, and conveyed
related bankruptey rights to JPMorgan Chase.

The Company is increasingly becoming subject to more
aggressive asbestos-related litigation, and the Company
expects this trend to centinue. In October 2001 and April
2002, two purported class action suits { Wise v. Travelers,
and Meninger v. Travelers), were filed against the Com-
pany and other insurers in state court in West Virginia. The
plaintiffs in these cases, which were subsequently consoli-
dated into a single proceeding in Circuit Court of Kanawha
County, West Virginia, allege that the insurer defendants
violated unfair trade practices requirements and inappropri-
ately handled and settled asbestos claims. The plaintiffs
seek to reopen large numbers of seftled asbestos claims
and to impose liability for damages, including punitive
damages, directly on insurers. Lawsuits similar to Wise have
been filed in Massachusetts (2002} and Hawaii (2002,
not served). Also, in November 2001, plaintiffs in consoli-
dated asbestos actions pending before a mass tort panel
of judges in West Virginia state court moved to amend their
complaint to name the Company as a defendant, alleging
that the Company and other insurers breached alleged
duties to certain users of asbestos products. In March
2002, the court granted the motion to amend. Plaintiffs
seek damages, including punitive damages. Lawsuits seek-
ing similar relief and raising allegations similar to those
presented in the West Virginia amended complaint are also
pending against the Company in Louisiana and Texas state
courts.

All of the actions described in the preceding paragraph,
other than the Hawaii actions, are currently subject to a
temporary restraining order entered by the federal bank-
ruptcy court in New York, which had previously presided
over and approved the recrganization in bankruptcy of
former Travelers policyholder Johns Manville. In August
2002, the bankruptcy court conducted a hearing on
Travelers motion for a preliminary injunction prohibiting
further prosecution of the lawsuits pursuant to the reorgani-
zation plan and related orders. At the conclusion of this
hearing, the court ordered the parties to mediation,
appointed a mediator, and continued the temporary re-
straining order. In January 2003, the same bankruptcy
court extended the existing injunction to apply to an
additional set of cases filed in various state courts in Texas
as well as to the attorneys who are prosecuting these
cases. The order also enjoins these attorneys and their
respective law firms from commencing any further lawsuits
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against the Company based upon these allegations without
the prior approval of the court.

The Company is vigorously defending all of the direct
action cases and Company management believes the
Company has meritorious defenses. These defenses include
the fact that these novel theories have no basis in law; that
they are directly at odds with the well established law
pertaining to the insured/insurer relationship; that there is
no generalized duty to warn cs alleged by the plaintiffs;
that to the extent that they have not been released by
virtue of prior seftlement agreements by the claimants with
the Company's policyholders, all of these claims were
released by virtue of approved settlements and orders
entered by the Johns Manville bankruptcy court; and that
the applicable statute of limitation as to many of these
claims has long since expired.

In the ordinary course of its insurance business, the
Company receives claims for insurance arising under
policies issued by the Company asserting alleged injuries
and damages from asbestos and other hazardous waste
and toxic substances which are the subject of related
coverage litigation, including, among others, the litigation
described below. The conditions surrounding the final
resolution of these claims and the related litigation continue
to change.

The Company is involved in a number of proceedings
relating to ACandS, Inc. {ACandS), formerly a national
installer of products containing asbestos. ACandS filed for
bankruptcy in September 2002 (In re: ACandS, Inc.,
pending in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of
Delaware ). At the time of its filing, ACand$ asserted that it
had settled or was in the process of settling the large
number of asbestos-related claims pending against it by
negotiating with the claimants and assigning them ACandS'
rights to recover under insurance policies issued by the
Company. ACandS has asserted that the Company is
responsible for the financial obligations created by these
settlements as well as for any future claims brought against
it, and that insurance policy aggregate limits do not apply.
In August 2002, in a pending insurance coverage arbitra-
tion (commenced in January 2001), the panel of arbitra-
tors scheduled the presentation of the case to commence in
April 20083. In January 2003, ACandsS filed a proposed
Plan of Reorganization in its Bankruptcy proceeding. Pursu-
ant to that plan, ACandS seeks to establish a trust for the
handling and disposition of asbestos claims. That trust,
according to the proposed plan, will be assigned ACandS'
rights to its insurance policies issued by the Company. in
addition to the bankruptcy and the arbitration proceedings,
the Company and ACand$S are also involved in insurance
coverage litigation (ACandS, Inc. v. Travelers Casualty &
Surety Co., USDC, E.D.Pa, commenced in September
2000). No trial date has been set in this case. The
Company is vigorously defending these cases, and Com-
pany management believes the Company has meritorious




defenses. In the bankruptcy, arbitration and litigation pro-
ceedings, the Company has asserted or will assert numer-
ous defenses, including that the claims agaoinst ACand$ are
subject to aggregate limits which have already been
exhausted because the relevant policies were issued after
ACandS ceased installing asbestos-related materials; that
gven if not subject to aggregate limits, the occurrence limits
in the policies substantially reduce or eliminate the Com-
pany's obligations; that the settlements entered into be-
tween ACandS and the asbestos claimants are not binding
on the Company; and that any plan of reorganization
which ACandS files is defective to the extent it seeks to
accelerate any of the Company's obligations under policies
issued to ACandS or deprive the Company of its right to
litigate the claims against ACandS.

The Company is defending its asbestos and environmental-
related litigation vigorously and believes that it has meritori-
ous defenses; however the outcome of these disputes is
uncertain. In this regard, the Company employs dedicated
specialists and aggressive resolution strategies to manage
asbestos and environmental loss exposure, including settling
litigation under appropriate circumstances. For a discussion
of recent settlement activity and other information regard-
ing the Company's asbestos and environmental exposure,
see ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations ~ Asbestos Cloims and
Litigation”, *'~ Environmental Claims and Litigation'" and

"~ Uncertainty Regarding Adequacy of Asbestos and Envi-
ronmental Reserves."’

Currently, it is not possible to predict legal and legislative
outcomes and their impact on the future development of
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claims and litigation relating to asbestos and other hazard-
ous waste and toxic substances. Any such development will
be affected by future court decisions and interpretations, as
well as changes in applicable legislation. Because of these
uncertainties, additional liabilities may arise for amounts in
excess of the current reserves. In addition, the Company's
estimate of ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses
may change. These additional liabilities or increases in
estimates, or o range of either, cannot now be reasonably
estimated and could result in income statement charges that
could be material to the Company’s results of operations
and financial condition in future periods.

The Company is involved in numerous lawsuits, other than
asbestos and environmental claims, arising mostly in the
ordinary course of business operations either as a liability
insurer defending third-party claims brought against in-
sureds or as an insurer defending coverage claims brought
against it. While the ultimate resolution of these legal
proceedings could be significant to the Company's results
of operations in a future quarter, in the opinion of the
Company's management it would not be likely to have a
material adverse effect on the Company's results of
operations for a calendar year or on the Company’s
financial condition.

ltem 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A
VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

NONE




PART Hi

ltem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'’S
COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

In connection with the IPO, on March 22, 2002, the
Company's class A common stock began trading on the
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol
“TAP.A"". Prior to March 22, 2002, there was no estab-
lished public trading market for the Company's class A
common stock as Citigroup was the sole holder of record
of the Company’s class A common stock. In connection with
the Citigroup Distribution, the Company's class B common

stock began ‘‘regular way" trading on the NYSE on
August 21, 2002 under the symbol "“TAP.B". Prior to
August 21, 2002, there was no established public trading
market for the Company's class B common stock as
Citigroup was the sole holder of record of the Company’s
closs B common stock.

The following table presents the high and low closing prices
on the NYSE of the class A common stock and the class B
common stock for each quarter in 2002 in which each class
of common stock was trading:

2002

1st Quarter'!'’  2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter'?!  4th Quarter

Class A Common Stock Price

High e e $20.00 $20.97 $17.25 $15.95

oW vt $19.56 $16.04 $12.38 $12.78
Class B Common Stock Price

High oo N/A N/A $17.59 $16.00

oW v et N/A N/A $12.50 $13.09

"' Since March 22, 2002.
2 Since August 21, 2002 for class B common stock.

As of February 21, 2003, the Company had approximately
122 thousand and 13% thousand holders of record of its
class A common stock and class B common stock, respec-
tively. These figures do not represent the actual number of
beneficial owners of common stock because shares are
frequently held in “‘street name’ by securities brokers and
others for the benefit of individual owners who may vote or
dispose of the shares.

During 2001, the Company paid dividends of $526.0 mil-
lion to Citigroup, its then sole shareholder. During the first
quarter of 2002, the Company paid dividends of

$5.253 billion to Citigroup, its then sole shareholder,
primarily in the form of notes payable. On January 23,
2003, the Company declared its first quarterly dividend of
$0.06 per share on the class A and class B common stock

payable February 28, 2003 to shareholders of record on
February 5, 2003. In 2003, the Company expects to
continue to pay quarterly cash dividends on the class A
and class B common stock of $0.06 per share. However,
dividend decisions will be based on and affected by a
number of factors, including the operating results and
financial requirements of the Company and the impact of
dividend restrictions. For information on dividends, including
dividend restrictions in certain long-term loan or credit
agreements of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as
restrictions on the ability of certain of the Company's
subsidiaries to transfer funds to the Company in the form of
cash dividends or otherwise, see Item 7, “"Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
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ltem 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

At and for the year ended December 31 S0

{in millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Total revenues. . ... oo $14,269.7 $12,230.5 $11,071.0 $10,573.0 $10,454.1
Income before cumulative effect of changes in

accounting principles ... i $ 2156 $ 11,0622 $ 13122 $ 11,1364 % 1,104
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting

principles, net of tax (242.6) 3.2 - (112.1) -
Net income (loss) ... .. ....................... $ (27.0) $ 10654 $ 13122 $1,0243 $ 1,104
Total investments. .. ... i $38,425.2 $32,618.6 3$30,754.3 $29,842.6 $31,900.6
Total @ssets . ... 64,137.5 57,777 .8 53,850.4 50,795.1 51,751.0
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves ... .. 33,736.0 30,736.6 28,442 .4 29.002.9 29,588.9
Notes payable to former affliates . ............... 700.0 1,697.7 2,155.5 1,298.0 1,942.7
longtermdebt ... ..o i 926.2 379.8 849.8 849.8 1,249.6
Convertible junior subordinated notes payable ... .. 867.8 - - - -
Convertible notes payable ...................... 49.7 - - - -
Total liabilities'™® ... .. 53,100.2  46,191.5 43,7364 43,4555  45,080.0
TIGHI-obligated mandaterily redeemable securities

of subsidiary trusts holding solely junior

subordinated debt securities of TIGHI ........ ... ©00.0 900.0 900.0 900.0 900.0
Shareholders’ equity . ........ .. 10,137.3 10,686.3 9.214.0 6,439.6 5,771.0
Basic and diluted earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of changes in

accounting principles ..o i $ 0.23 % 1.38 % .71 % 1.48 % 1.44
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting :

principles, net of tax ..o {0.26) 0.01 - (0.15) -
Reported net income (loss) ........... ... ... (0.03) 1.39 1.71 1.33 1.44
Goodwill amortization ......... ... .. . 0 ... - 0.09 0.08 0.06 0.05
Adjusted earnings (loss) pershare............... $ (0.03) 3% 148 % 179 % 1.39 % 1.49
Year-end common shares outstanding'® ... ... .. 1,003.9 76%.0 769.0 769.0 769.0
Per common share date:
Cash dividends' .. ... oo $ 523 $ 053 §$ - % - % -
Book value. ..ot $ 1010 $ 1390 § 1198 % 837 % 7.50

7 On October 1, 2001, the Company purchased The Northland Company and its subsidiaries {Northiand} from Citigroup. On
October 3, 2001, Citigroup contributed the capital stock of Associates Insurance Company (Associates) to the Company. During

April 2000, TPC completed a cash tender offer and merger and acquired all of Travelers Insurance Group Holdings Inc.’s outstanding

shares of common stock that were not already owned by TPC for approximately $2.413 billion in cash financed by a loan from

Citigroup. On May 31, 2000, the Company acquired the surety business of Reliance Group Holdings, Inc. (Reliance Surety). Includes

amounts related to Northland, Associates, the remainder of TIGH! and Reliance Surety from their dates of acquisition.
2

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, net of tax (1) for the year ended December 31, 2002 consists of a loss of

w

$242.6 million as a result of a change in accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets; (2] for the year ended December 31,

2001 includes a gain of $4.5 million as a result of a change in accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities and a loss

of $1.3 million as a result of a change in accounting for securitized financiat assets; and {3} for the year ended December 31, 1999
includes o loss of $(135.0) mitlion as a result of a change in accounting for insurance-related assessments and a gain of

$22.9 million as o result of o change in accounting for insurance and reinsurance contracts that do not transfer insurance risk.

Total liabilities include o mincrity interest liability of $87.0 million, $1.368 billion and $1.487 billion at December 31, 2002, 1999 and
1998, respectively.

in March 2002, the Company issued common stock through its Initial Public Offering (IPO). See note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Dividends per common share reflect the recapitalization effected as part of the Company’s corporate reorganization. See note 1 to
the Consclidated Financial Statements.
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of Travelers Property
Casualty Corp. {TPC) and subsidiaries {collectively, the
Company) financial condition and results of operations
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and related notes included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. These financial statements
retroactively reflect TPC's corporate reorganization for all
periods presented.

TPC Corporate Reorganization, initial Public
Offering and Concurrent Convertible Junior
Subordinated Notes Offering

In connection with the 2002 offerings described below, TPC
effected a corporate reorganization under which:

o TPC transferred substantially all of its assets to affiliates
of Citigroup Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiar-
ies, Citigroup), other than the capital stock of Travelers
Insurance Group Holdings Inc. (TIGHI);

o Citigroup assumed all of TPC's third-party liabilities, other
than liabilities relating to TIGHI and TIGH!'s active
employees;

o

TPC effected a recapitalization whereby the previously
outstanding shares of its common stock (1,500 shares),
all of which were owned by Citigroup, were changed
into 269.0 million shares of class A common stock and
500.0 million shares of class B common stock;

o TPC amended and restated its certificate of incorporation
and bylaws.

As a result of these transactions, TIGH! and its property
and casualty insurance subsidiaries became TPC’s principal
asset.

On March 21, 2002, TPC issued 231.0 million shares of its
class A common stock in an initial public offering (IPO),
representing approximately 23% of TPC's common equity.
After the IPO, Citigroup beneficially owned all of the
500.0 million shares of TPC's outstanding class B common
stock, each share of which is entitled to seven votes, and
269.0 million shares of TPC's class A common stock, each
share of which is entitled to one vote, representing at the
time 94%, of the combined voting power of all classes of
TPC's voting securities and 77% of the equity interest in
TPC. Concurrent with the IPO, TPC issued $892.5 million
aggregate principal amount of 4.5% convertible junior

subordinated notes which mature on April 15, 2032, The
PO and the offering of the convertible notes are collec-
tively referred to as the offerings.

Citigroup Distribution of Ownership interest
in TPC

On August 20, 2002, Citigroup made a tax-free distribution
to its stockholders (the Citigroup Distribution), of a portion
of its ownership interest in TPC, which, together with the
shares issued in the IPO, represented more than 90% of
TPC's common equity and more than 90% of the combined
voting power of TPC’s outstanding voting securities. For
each 100 shares of Citigroup outstanding common stock,
approximately 4.32 shares of TPC class A common stock
and 8.88 shares of TPC class B common stock were
distributed. At December 31, 2002, Citigroup held 9.95%

. of TPC’s common equity and 9.98% of the combined

voting power of TPC's outstanding voting securities.
Citigroup received a private letter ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service that the Citigroup Distribution is tax-free to
Citigroup, its stockholders and TPC. As part of the ruling
process, Citigroup agreed to vote the shares it continues to
hold following the Citigroup Distribution pro rata with the
shares held by the public and to divest the remaining
shares it holds within five years following the Citigroup
Distribution.

On August 20, 2002, in connection with the Citigroup
Distribution, stock-based awards held by Company employ-
ges on that date under Citigroup's various incentive plans
were cancelled and replaoced by awards under the
Company’s own incentive programs (see note 11 of notes
to the Company's consolidated financial statements for o
further discussion), which awards were granted on substan-
tially the same terms, including vesting, as the former
Citigroup awards. In the case of Citigroup Capital Accumu-
lation Plan awards of restricted stock and deferred shares,
the unvested outstanding awards were cancelled and
replaced by awards comprising 3.1 million of newly issued
shares of TPC class A common stock at a total market
value of $53.3 million based on the closing price of TPC
class A common stock on August 20, 2002. The volue of
these newly issued shares along with TPC class A and

class B common stock received in the Citigroup Distribution
on the Citigroup restricted shares, were equal o the value
of the cancelled Citigroup restricted share awards. in the
case of Citigroup stock option awards, all outstanding
vested and unvested awards held by Company employees
were cancelled and replaced with options to purchase TPC
closs A common stock. The total number of TPC class A
common stock subject to the replacement option awards
was 56.9 million shares of which 24.6 million shares were
then exercisable. The number of shares of TPC class A
common stock to which the replacement options relates and




the per share exercise price of the replacement options
were determined so that:

« the intrinsic value of each Citigroup option, which was
the difference between the closing price of Citigroup's
common stock on August 20, 2002 and the exercise
price of the Citigroup options, was preserved in each
replacement option for TPC class A common stock, and

s the ratio of the exercise price of the replacement option
to the closing price of TPC class A common stock on
August 20, 2002, immediately after the Citigroup Distri-
bution, was the same as the ratio of the exercise price of
the Citigroup option to the price of Citigroup common
stock immediately before the Citigroup Distribution.

Other TPC Corporate Reorganization, Oferings
and Citigroup Distribution Transactions

The following transactions were completed in conjunction
with the corporate reorganization, offerings and Citigroup
Distribution:

In February 2002, the Company paid a dividend of
$1.000 billion to Citigroup in the form of a non-interest
bearing note payable on December 31, 2002. The
Company repaid this note on December 31, 2002.

In February 2002, the Company also paid a dividend of
$3.700 billion to Citigroup in the form of a note payable in
two installments. This note was substantially prepaid follow-
ing the offerings. The balance of $150.0 million was dve
on May 9, 2004. This note was prepaid on May 8, 2002.

in March 2002, the Company poid a dividend of $395.0
million to Citigroup in the form of a note. This note was
prepaid following the offerings.

At December 31, 2001, TPC had @ note payable to
Citigroup in the amount of $1.198 billion, in conjunction
with its purchase of TIGHI's outstanding shares in April
2000. On February 7, 2002, this note agreement was
replaced by a new note agreement. Under the terms of the
new note agreement, inferest accrued on the aggregate
principal amount outstanding at the commercial paper rate
{the then current short-term rate) plus 10 basis points per
annum. Interest was compounded monthly. This note was
prepaid following the offerings.

During March 2002, the Company entered into an agree-
ment with Citigroup (the Citigroup indemnification agree-
ment) which provided that in any year in which the
Company recorded additional asbestos-related income
statement charges in excess of $150.0 million, net of any
reinsurance, Citigroup would pay to the Company the
amount of any such excess up to a cumulative aggregate
of $800.0 million, reduced by the tax effect of the highest
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applicable federal income tax rate. During 2002 the
Company recorded $2.945 billion of asbestos incurred
losses, net of reinsurance, and accordingly fully utilized in
2002 the total benefit available under the agreement. For
the year ended December 31, 2002, revenues include
$520.0 million from Citigroup under this agreement.
Included in federal income taxes in the consolidated state-
ment of income is a tax benefit of $280.0 million related to
the asbestos charge covered by the agreement. For
additional information see '‘— Asbestos Claims and
Litigation.”

On February 28, 2002, the Company sold Citilnsurance to
other Citigroup affiliated companies for $402.6 million, its
net book value. The Company applied $137.8 million of
the proceeds from this sale to repay intercompany indebt-
edness to Citigroup. In addition, the Company purchased
from Citigroup offliated companies the premises located at
One Tower Square, Hartford, Connecticut and other
properties for $68.2 million. Additionally, certain liabilities
relating to employee benefit plans and lease obligations
were assigned and assumed by Citigroup affiliated compa-
nies. In connection with these assignments, the Company
transferred $172.4 million and $87.8 million, respectively,
to Citigroup affiliated companies.

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, the Company provided
and purchased services to and from Citigroup offiliated
companies, including facilities management, banking and
financial functions, benefit coverages, data processing
services and short-term investment pool management ser-
vices. Charges for these shared services were allocated at
cost. In connection with the Citigroup Distribution, the
Company and Citigroup and its affiliates entered into a
transition services agreement for the provision of certain of
these services, tradename and trademark and similar
agreements related to the use of trademarks, logos and
tradenames in an amendment 1o the March 26, 2002
Intercompany Agreement with Citigroup. During the first
quarter of 2002, Citigroup provided investment advisory
services on an allocated cost basis, consistent with prior
years. On August 6, 2002, the Company entered into an
investment management agreement, which has been
applied retroactive to April 1, 2002, with an offiliate of
Citigroup whereby the affiliate of Citigroup is providing
investment advisory and administrative services to the
Company with respect to its entire investment portfolio for
a period of two years and at fees mutually agreed upon,
including a component based on performance. Charges
incurred related to this agreement were $47.2 million for
the period from April 1, 2002 through December 31,
2002. Either party may terminate the agreement effective
on the end of a month upon 90 days prior notice. The
Company and Citigroup also agreed upon the allocation or
transfer of certain other liabilities and assets, and rights
and obligations in furtherance of the separation of opera-
tions and ownership as a result of the Citigroup Distribution.
The net effect of these allocations and transters, in the




opinion of management, were not significant to the Com-
pany’s results of operations or financial condition.

Cther Transactions

On August 1, 2002, Commercial Insurance Resources, Inc.
(CIRI), a subsidiary of the Company and the holding
company for the Gulf Insurance Group {Gulf), completed
its previously announced transaction with a group of
outside investors and senior employees of Gulf. Capital
investments made by the investors and employees included
$85.9 million of mandatory convertible preferred stock,
$49.7 million of convertible notes and $3.6 million of
common equity, representing a 24% ownership interest of
CIRI, on a fully diluted basis. The dividend rate on the
preferred stock is 6.0%. The interest rate on the notes is
6.0% payable on an interest-only baosis. The notes mature
on December 31, 2032. Trident I, L.P., Marsh & Mclennan
Capital Professionals Fund, L.P., Marsh & Mclennan Em-
ployees’ Securities Company, L.P. and Trident Gulf Holding,
LLC (collectively Trident) invested $125.0 million, and a
group of approximately 75 senior employees of Gulf
invested $14.2 million. Fifty percent of the CIRI senior
employees investment was financed by CIRIl. This financing
is collateralized by the CIRI securities purchased and is
forgivable if Trident achieves certain investment returns. The
applicable agreements provide for registration rights and
transfer rights and restrictions and other matters customarily
addressed in agreements with mincrity investors. Gulf's
results, net of minority interest, are included in the
Commercial Lines segment.

On Cctober 1, 2001, the Company paid $329.5 million to
Citigroup for The Northland Company and its subsidiaries
{Northland) and Associates Lloyds Insurance Company. In
addition, on October 3, 2001, the capital stock of
Associates Insurance Company (Associates), with a net
book value of $354.5 million, was contributed to the
Company by Citigroup. These companies are principally
engoged in Commercial Lines specialty and transportation
business.

In the third quarter of 2000, the Company purchased the
renewal rights to a portion of Reliance Surety’'s commercial
lines middle-market bock of business (Reliance Middle
Market}. The Company also acquired the renewal rights to
Frontier Insurance Group, Inc.’s environmental, excess and
surplus lines casualty businesses and some classes of surety
business.

On May 31, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition
of the surety business of Reliance Group Holdings, Inc.
{Reliance Surety ), for $580.0 million. In connection with
the acquisition, the Company entered into a reinsurance
arrangement for pre-existing business, and the resulting net
cash outlay for this trarsaction was approximately $278.4
million. This transaction included the acquisition of an
infangible asset of approximately $450.0 million, which is
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being amortized over 15 years. Accordingly, the results of
operations and the assets and liabilities acquired from
Reliance Surety are included in the financial statements
beginning June 1, 2000. This acquisition was accounted for
as a purchase.

During April 2000, TPC completed a cash tender offer and
merger, as a result of which TIGHI became TPC’s wholly-
owned subsidiary. In the tender offer and merger, TPC
acquired all of TIGH!'s outstanding shares of common stock
that were not already owned by TPC, representing
approximately 14.8% of TIGHI's outstanding common
stock, for approximately $2.413 billicn in cash financed by
a loan from Citigroup.

CONSOLIDATED OVERVIEW

The Company provides a wide range of commercial and
personal property and casualty insurance products and
services to businesses, government units, associations and
individuals, primarily in the United States.

Consolidated Results of Operations

{for the year ended
December 31, in millions,

except per share data) 2002

$14,269.7

2001
$12,230.5

2000
$11,071.0

Revenues

income before minority
interest and cumulative
effect of changes in
accounting principles . . .

Minerity interest, net of
tax

Cumdlative effect of
changes in accounting
principles, net of tax ...

$ 2167

$ 10622 $ 1,3723

1.1 - 60.1

(242.6)
(27.0)

3.2 -
$ 10654 $ 1,312.2

Net income (loss) $

Basic and diluted earnings
per share:

Income before minority
interest and cumulative
effect of changes in
accounting principles . . .

Minority interest, net of
tax

Cumulative effect of
changes in accounting
principles, net of tax . ..

1.78

$ 0.23 %

1.38 %
0.07

(0.26)
(0.03) $

0.01 -
1.39 % 1.71

Net income (loss]

Weighted average number
of common shares
outstanding (basic) ... $49.5

769.0 769.0

Weighted average number
of common shares
outstanding and
common stock
equivalents {diluted) . .. 951.2

76%.0 769.0




The Company's discussions related to net income (loss)
and operating income (loss) are presented on an after tax
basis. All other discussions are presented on a pretax
basis, unless otherwise noted.

Net income {loss) was $(27.0) million in 2002, $1.065
billion in 2001 and $1.312 billicn in 2000 or ${0.03) per
share in 2002, $1.39 per share in 2001 and $1.71 per
share in 2000 (basic and diluted}. Net loss for 2002
includes a $1.394 billion charge for strengthening asbestos
reserves, net of the benefit from the Citigroup indemnifica-
tion agreement. Net loss for 2002 also includes a charge
of $242.6 million due to the adoption of Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” {FAS 142), which has been accounted
for as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle. Net income for 2001 includes losses of $489.5
million related to the terrorist attack on September 11,
2001. Included in 2000 was minority interest of $60.1 mil-
lion related to the January through Aprit 2000 period when
approximately 14.8% of TIGH!'s outstanding common stock
was not owned by TPC. During April 2000, TPC completed
a caosh tender offer and merger, as a result of which TIGH!
became TPC's wholly-owned subsidiary. Net income

(loss) also includes net realized investment gains of

$29.0 million, $209.9 million and $30.6 million in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Included in net realized
investment gains were impairment charges related to other
than temporary declines in value of $184.7 million,

$25.0 million and $20.2 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Operating income is defined by the Company as net
income (loss) excluding net realized investment gains
{losses), restructuring charges, the cumulative effect of the
changes in accounting principles and TPC minority interest
in 2000. Operating income is considered o more appropri-
ate indicator of underwriting results and results of opera-
tions. Net redlized investment gains (losses) are
significantly impacted by both discretionary and other
economic factors and are not necessarily indicative of
operating trends. The major components of operating

income and a reconciliation of operating income to net
income are as follows:

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Underwriting gain {loss),
excluding catastrophes,
prior year reserve
development and

goodwill amortization.. $ 317.1 $ 481 $ (14.9)
Catastrophes:

Natural ... ... oL (54.7) (67.1) {53.6)

September 11 ........... - (489.5) -
Prior year reserve

development:

Asbestos'" ...l (1,394.3) (122.7) (32.5)

Allother................ (121.7) 1321 81.9
Goodwill amortization ... ... - (68.8) (57.9)

Underwriting loss......... {1,253.6) (567.9) (77.0)
Net investment income . ... .. 1,402.5 1,491.9 1,571.4
Other, including interest

EXPENSE . . i (30.7) (68.3) (152.7)
Operating income. .. ..... 118.2 855.7 1,341.7
Realized investment gains .. . 99.0 209.9 30.6
Restructuring charge .. ... ... (1.6) {3.4) -
Cumulative effect of changes

in accounting principles . .. {242.6) 3.2 -
Minority interest ........... - - 601
Net income (loss) ....... $  (27.0) $1.,0654 $1.,312.2

Y Net of benefit of $520.0 million related to asbestos incurrals
subject to the Citigroup indemnification agreement in 2002.

Operating income of $118.2 million for 2002 decreased
$737.5 million compared to $855.7 million for 2001.
Operating income for 2002 reflects the impact of the fourth
quarter asbestos charge taken by the Company while
2001 reflects the impact of the effects of the terrorist
attack on September 11th. Operating income in 2002
reflects unfavorable prior yvear reserve development of
$1.516 billion, which included $1.394 billion related to
asbestos, net of the benefit from the Citigroup indemnifica-
tion agreement, versus $9.4 million of favorable prior year
reserve development in 2001, which included $122.7 mil-
lion of unfavorable development related to asbestos. On
January 14, 2003, the Company reported the results of its
asbestos reserve study and the strengthening of its asbes-
tos reserves to $3.404 billion, after reinsurance recover-
ables. The study involved an extensive review and
assessment of the Company’s exposure to asbestos losses,
particularly in light of the Company's recent claims experi-
ence and industry-wide trends. The Company has now fully
utilized the $800.0 million pretax benefit under the Citi-
group indemnification agreement. For additional information
see "'~ Asbestos Claims and litigation."" Separately, the
Company strengthened its environmental reserves in the
fourth quarter by $100.0 million, bringing the total to
$385.5 million, and reduced its reserves for cumulative
injuries other than asbestos by $94.8 million to $553.6




million. These actions were taken as a result of recent
payment and settlement experience. In addition, the Com-
pany strengthened prior year reserves for certain run-oft
lines of business including assumed reinsurance, and exper-
ienced favorable development in certain ongoing busi-
nesses including Personal Lines Auto. Run-off lines of
business are those determined to be non-strategic which
includes non-renewals of inforce policies and a cessation of
writing new business, where allowed by law. Despite the
benefit of higher average invested assets resulting from
strong cash flows from underwriting, 2002 net investment
income of $1.403 billion was down $89.4 million compared
to $1.492 billion in 2031, reflecting reduced returns in the
Company's public equity investments and the lower interest
rate environment. Operating income in 2002 was favorably
impacted by lower weather-related catastrophe losses of
$54.7 million in 2002 compared to $67.1 million of
weather-related catastrophe losses in 2001. Also favorably
impacting 2002 was the elimination of goodwill amortiza-
tion and lower interest expense. Underwriting gain (loss),
excluding catastrophes, prior year reserve development
and goodwill amortization increased $269.0 million to
$317.1 million in 2002. The 2002 underwriting results
reflect the continuing favorable rate environment signifi-
cantly in excess of loss cost trends, higher retention and
selective growth in new business.

Operating income of $855.7 million for 2001 decreased
$486.0 million compared to $1.342 billion for 2000. The
decrease in operating income in 2001 from 2000 primarily
reflects the impact of catastrophe losses of $489.5 million
associated with the terrorist attack on September 11th. The
2001 operating decrease reflects unfavorable asbestos
prior year reserve development in 2001 of $122.7 million
versus $32.5 million in 2000. This was offset by $132.1
million of other favorable prior year reserve development in
2001 compared to $81.9 million of other favorabie prior
year reserve development in 2000. Also contributing to the
2001 decrease in operating income was a $79.5 million
decrease in net investment income from 2000 which largely
reflects the increase in dividends and debt repayments to
Citigroup, lower fixed income interest rates and lower
returns for private equity investments. Partially offsetting this
was lower interest expense in 2001. Underwriting gain
{loss), excluding catastrophes, prior year reserve develop-
ment and goodwill amortization included in operating
income, increased $63.0 million to $48.1 million in 2001.
The 2001 underwriting results reflect the benefit of premium
rate increases, partiofly offset by increased loss cost
trends, including increased medical costs and auto repair
costs and reinsurance costs.

Revenues of $14.270 billion in 2002 increased $2.039 bil-
lion from 2001. The increase was primarily attributable to
higher earned premiums due to premium rate increases, the
inclusion of Northland and Associates for the full year
2002 versus the fourth quarter of 2001 and the $520.0
million benefit of the Citigroup indemnification agreement,

offset by a decrease in net realized investment gains and
lower net investment income. Total revenues for Northland
and Associotes were $1.070 billion in 2002, an increase of
$815.3 million over 2001. The increase in 2002 revenue
reflects o $1.744 billion increase in earned premiums,
offset by a $175.8 million decrease in net realized
investment gains and a $153.5 million decrease in net
investment income. Net realized investment gains include
$284.1 million of impairments in 2002, compared to
$146.2 million in 2001. The 2002 and 2001 impairments
relate primarily to corporate bonds in the energy and
communications sectors. Revenues of $12.231 billion in
2001 increased $1.160 billion from 2000. The increase in
revenue in 2001 from 2000 was primarily atfributable to
higher earned premiums, higher fee income and higher net
realized investment gains, and one quarter of Northland
and Associates, partially offset by a $127.6 million
decrease in net investment income. The increase in 2001
revenue reflects a $948.7 million increase in earned
premiums and a $275.5 million increase in net realized
investment gains offset by a $127.6 million decrease in net
investment income. Net realized investment gains include
$20.2 million of impairments in 2000. The inclusion of
Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001
added $254.4 million to full year 2001 revenues.

Earned premiums increased $1.744 billion to $11.155 bil-
lion in 2002 from $2.411 billion in 2001. The increase in
earned premiums in 2002 was due to rate increases on
renewal business in both Commercial Lines and Personal “
Lines and the full-year inclusion of Northiand and Associ-

ates in 2002. Earned premiums for Northland and Associ-

ates were $958.2 million in 2002, an increase of

$734.1 million over 2001 which only includes the fourth

quarter of 2001. Earned premiums increased $948.7 million

to $9.411 billion in 2001 primarily due to rate increases,

the full-year impact of the acquisitions in 2000 of Reliance
Surety and the renewal rights for the Reliance Middle

Market and Frontier businesses, combined with the inclusion

of Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001.

The inclusion of Northland and Associates in the fourth

quarter of 2001 added $224.1 million to full-year 2001

earned premiums.

Net investment income was $1.881 billion in 2002, a
decrease of $153.5 million from 2001. The decline resulted
from a reduction in investment yields to 6.0% in 2002 from
6.9% in 2001. The decrease in yields reflected reduced
returns in the Company's public equity investments and the
lower interest rate environment. The impact of lower yields
was partially offset by the rise in average invested assets
due to the Northland and Associates acquisitions and
increased cash flow from operations. Net investment
income for Northland and Associates was $91.5 million in
2002, an increase of $68.4 million over 2001 which only
includes the fourth quarter of 2001. Net investment income
was $2.034 billion in 2001, a decrease of $127.6 million
from 2000. This decrease largely reflects the increase in
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dividends and debt repayments to Citigroup, lower fixed
income interest rates and lower returns from private equity
investments. Investment yields declined to 6.9% in 2001
from 7.6% in 2000. The inclusion of Northland and
Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001 added $23.1 mil-
lion to full year 2001 net investment income.

Fee income was $454.9 million in 2002, a $107.5 million
increase from 2001. Fee income was $347.4 million in
2001, a $35.0 million increase from 2000. National
Accounts within Commercial lines is the primary source of
fee income due to its service businesses, which include
cloim and loss prevention services to large companies that
choose to self insure a portion of their insurance risks and
claims and policy management services to workers' com-
pensation and automobile assigned risk plans and to self
insurance pools. The increases in fee income were primarily
due to the favorable rate environment and the repopulation
of the involuntary pools. Claim volume under administration
increased to $2.656 billion for 2002, compared to

$2.252 billion for 2001 and $2.024 billion in 2000.

Recoveries of $520.0 million under the Citigroup indemnifi-
cation agreement have been included in revenues as
Recoveries from former affiliate.

Other revenues decreased to $112.3 miliion in 2002 from
$115.7 million in 2001. Other revenues increased to
$115.7 million in 2001 from $87.8 million in 2000. Cther
revenues principally include premium installment charges.

Claims and expenses were $14.530 billion in 2002
compared to $10.842 billion in 2001 and $9.207 billion in
2000. The 2002 increase was primarily due to prior year
reserve development principally related to the asbestos
charge taken in the fourth quarter of 2002 upon comple-
tion of the Company's asbestos study, the inclusion in 2002
of Northland and Associates, and increased loss cost
trends, partiolly offset by the $704.0 million impact in 2001
of the terrorist attack on September 11th. Unfaverable
prior year reserve development in 2002 was $3.132 bil-
lion, compared to favorable prior year reserve develop-
ment of $14.4 million in 2001. The most significant
component of prior year reserve development in 2002 was
asbestos-related incurrals of $2.945 billion, which in-
creased $2.756 billion, over 2001. For additional informa-
tion see ''— Asbestos Cloims and Litigation.”” Separately,
the Company strengthened its environmental reserves in the
fourth quarter by $100.0 million, bringing the total to
$385.5 million, and reduced its reserves for cumulative
injuries other than asbestos by $94.8 million to $553.6
million. These actions were taken as a result of recent
payment and settlement experience. In addition, the Com-
pany strengthened prior year reserves for certain run-off
lines of business including assumed reinsurance, and exper-
ienced favorable development in certain ongoing busi-
nesses including Personal Lines Auto. Claims and expenses
for Northland and Associates were $1.090 billion in 2002,
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an increase of $858.2 million over 2001 which only
includes the fourth quarter of 2001. These increases were
also partially offset by the benefit of lower interest
expense, the elimination of goodwill amortization and
natural catastrophe losses of $84.1 million in 2002
compared to $103.3 million in 2001. The increase in claims
and expenses in 2001 was primarily the result of higher
catastrophe losses of $856.3 million primarily associated
with the terrorist attack on September 11th compared to
$82.5 million in 2000, increased loss cost trends, lower
favorable prior year reserve development of $14.4 million
compared to $76.1 million in 2000 and increased claims
and operating expenses related to the growth in premiums,
including the full-year impact of the Reliance Surety
acquisition and the acquisition of the renewal rights for the
Reliance Middle Market and Frontier businesses, and the
inclusion of Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter
of 2001, partially offset by lower interest expense due to
lower outstanding debt and lower interest rates. Results for
2000 also reflect benefits resulting from legislative actions
that changed the manner in which some states finance their
workers' compensation second-injury funds, principally in
New York. The inclusion of Northland and Associates in the
fourth quarter of 2001 added $231.3 million to full year
2001 claims and expenses.

The Company’s effective tax {benefit) rate was (183.4) %,
23.5% and 26.4% in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The effective tax rate for 2002 reflects the impact of non-
taxable recoveries of $520.0 million related to the Ci-
tigroup indemnification agreement and non-taxable invest-
ment income. The decrease in the 2001 effective tax rate
from 2000 was primarily due to the impact of the losses
associated with the terrorist attack on September 11th,
which changed the mix of taxable and non-taxable income
or loss.

Consolidated net written premiums were as follows:

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions} 2002 2001 2000

Commercial Lines .......... $ 7,369.5 $5,737.6 $5,030.5
Personal lines ............. 4,575.0 4,107.9 3,812.8
Total net written premiums ... $11,944.5 $9,8455 $8,843.3

Net written premiums increased $2.099 billion to

$11.945 billion in 2002 from $9.846 billion in 2001. The
increase in net written premiums in 2002 was due to rate
increases and strong retention in both Commercial Lines
and Personal Lines and the full year inclusion of Northland
and Associates in 2002. Net written premiums for North-
land and Associates were $935.8 million in 2002, an
increase of $743.1 million over 2001 which only includes
the fourth quarter of 2001. Net written premiums increased
$1.002 billion to $9.846 billion in 2001 from $8.843 billion
in 2000 primarily due to rate increases, the full year impact
of the acquisitions in 2000 of Reliance Surety and the



renewal rights for the Reliance Middle Market and Frontier
businesses, combined with the inclusion of Northland and
Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001. The inclusion of
Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001
added $192.7 million to full year 2001 net written
premiums.

The GAAP combined ratios before policyholder dividends
were as follows:

(for the year ended December 31,) 2002 2001 2000
GAAP combined ratio, excluding

catastrephes, prior year reserve

development, and goodwill

omortization:
Loss and loss adjustment expense {LAE)

FAHO e e 68.8% 71.5% 74.1%
Underwriting expense ratio ............ 26.9 27.8 26.0

Total oo 95.7 99.3  100.1
Catastrophes:

Natural o 0.8 1.1 1.0

September 11 ... ... . oot - 8.0 -
Prior year reserve development:

Asbestos'™ L 19.2 2.0 0.6

Allother ... ... o oo i 1.7 (2.2} (1.5)
Goodwill amertization ................ - 0.7 0.7

GAAP combined ratio .............. 117.4% 108.9% 100.9%

""" Excludes losses recovered under the Citigroup indemnification
agreement.

Commencing in 2002, the GAAP underwriting expense ratio
has been computed using net earned premiums to provide
more consistency in the underlying components of the
computation. Previously, this ratio for GAAP purposes was
computed using net written premiums. Prior periods have
been restated to conform to this new presentation.

The deterioration in the 2002 GAAP combined ratio
includes the impact of higher prior year reserve develop-
ment, primarily due to asbestos-related incurrals, partially
offset by lower catastrophe losses in 2002, especially the
impact of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attack, and the
elimination of goodwill amortization. The improvement in the
GAAP combined ratios, excluding catastrophes, prior year
reserve development, and goodwill amortization, from
2001 to 2002, reflects an improvement in the loss and LAE
ratio and an improvement in the underwriting expense ratio.
The improvement in the loss and LAE ratio is primarily
attributed to the continued disciplined underwriting that
achieved rate increases in excess of loss cost frends in
both Commercical Lines and Personal Lines. The improvement
in the underwriting expense ratio is primarily attributed to
the benefit of premium rate increases.

The deterioration in the 2001 GAAP combined ratio
includes the impact of the terrorist attack on Septem-

ber 11th and higher asbestos prior year reserve develop-
ment, partially offset by higher favorable other prior year
reserve development. The improvement in the GAAP com-
bined ratio, excluding catastrophes, prior year reserve
development, and goodwill amortization, from 2000 to
2001, reflects an improvement in the loss and LAE ratio
and a deterioration in the underwriting expense ratio. The
improvement in the loss and LAE ratio is primarily due to
premium growth related to rate increases and the impact of
the increase in the Commercial Lines Bond business,
primarily associated with the ongoing business associated
with the Reliance Surety acquisition, which generally has a
lower loss and LAE ratio.

RESULTS OF CPERATIONS BY SEGMENT

Commercial Lines

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Revenues ........coouiiinn. $9,493.6 $7,771.2 $6,835.6
Income (loss} before minority

interest and cumulative

effect of changes in

accounting principles. ... .. $ (25) $ 9598 $1,220.1
Minority interest, net of tax ... 1.1 - 48.2
Cumulative effect of changes

in accounting principles, net

oftax ... ... {242.6) 2.7 -
Net income (loss) .......... $(246.2) $ 9625 $1,171.9

Net income (loss) was $(246.2) million, $962.5 million
and $1.172 billion in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Net loss for 2002 includes a $1.394 billion charge for
strengthening asbestos reserves, net of the benefit from the
Citigroup indemnification agreement. Net loss for 2002 also
includes a charge of $242.6 million related to the initial
adoption of FAS 142, which has been accounted for cs a
cumulative effect of o change in accounting principle. Net
income for 2001 includes losses of $447.9 million related
to the terrorist attack on September 11, 2001. Included in
2000 was minority interest of $48.2 million related to the
January through April 2000 period when approximately
14.8% of TIGHI's outstanding common stock was not
owned by TPC. During April 2000, TPC completed a cash
tender offer and merger, as a result of which TIGHI
became TPC’s wholly-owned subsidiary. Commercial Lines
net income (loss) also includes net realized investment
gains of $122.2 million, $207.6 million and $30.8 million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.




The major components of operating income and a reconcili-
ation of operating income to net income is as follows:

{for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Underwriting gain {loss),

excluding catasirophes,

prior year reserve

development and

goodwill amortization.. $ 2655 % 647 % (11.7}
Catastrophes:

Natural . .............. .. - (22.6) -

September 11 ......... .. - (447.9) -
Prior year reserve

development:

Asbestos'! ... (1,394.3) (122.7) (32.5)

Allother ................ (141.1) 111.9 9.7
Goodwill amortization .. .. .. - (50.3) (41.8)

Underwriting loss......... (1,269.92) (466.9) (76.3)
Net investment income . ... .. 1,123.3 1,192.8 1,254.8
Other .....vovvvii i 20.8 26.3 10.8
Operating income (loss) .. (125.8) 752.2 1,189.3
Realized invesiment gains .. . 122.2 207.6 30.8
Cumulative effect of changes

in accounting principles . . . (242.6) 2.7 -
Minority interest ........... - - 48.2
Net income (loss) ....... $ (246.2) § 9625 $1.171.9

11 Net of benefit of $520.0 million related to asbestos incurrals
subject to the Citigroup indemnification agreement in 2002,

Operating loss of $125.8 million for 2002 decreased
$878.0 million compared to operating income of

$752.2 million for 2001. The decrease in 2002 operating
income reflects unfavorable prior year reserve development
in 2002 of $1.535 billion, net of the benefit from the
Citigroup indemnification agreement, versus $10.8 million of
unfaverable prior year reserve development in 2001. The
2002 prior year reserve development includes @

$1.394 billion charge related to asbestos, net of the
benefit from the Citigroup indemnification agreement, versus
a charge of $122.7 million in 2001. On January 14, 2003,
the Company reported the results of its asbestos reserve
study and the strengthening of its asbestos reserves to
$3.404 billion, after reinsurance recoverables. The study
involved an extensive review and assessment of the
Company’s exposure to asbestos losses, particularly in light
of the Company’s recent claims experience and industry-
wide trends. The Company has now fully utilized the
$800.0 million pretax benefit under the Citigroup indemnifi-
cation agreement. For additional information see ''— Asbes-
tos Claims and Litigation.”" Separately, the Company
strengthened its environmental reserves in the fourth quarter
by $100.0 million, bringing the total to $385.5 million, and
reduced its reserves for cumulative injuries other than
asbestos by $94.8 million to $553.6 million. These actions
were taken as a result of recent payment and settlement
experience. In addition, the Company strengthened prior
year reserves for certain run-off lines of business including

assumed reinsurance, and experienced favorable current
year development in certain ongoing businesses. Despite
the benefit of higher average invested assets resulting from
strong cash flows from underwriting, net investment income
of $1.123 billion was $69.5 million lower than 2001 due to
reduced returns in the Company’s public equity investments
and the lower interest rate environment. Operating income
in 2002 was favorably impacted by no catastrophe losses
compared to $470.5 million of catastrophe losses in 2001,
including $447.9 million related to the terrorist attack on
September 11, 2001. The elimination of goodwill amortiza-
tion also benefited 2002 operating income. Underwriting
gain {loss), excluding catastrophes, prior year reserve
development and goodwill amortization increased

$200.8 million to $265.5 million in 2002. The 2002
underwriting results reflect the benefit of the fovorable
premium rate environment in excess of loss cost trends,
higher production levels, higher retention and selective
growth in new business.

Operating income of $752.2 milfion for 2001 was down
$437.1 million compared to operating income of

$1.189 billion in 2000. The 2001 decrease in operating
income compared to 2000 reflects the impact of catastro-
phe losses of $447.9 million associated with the terrorist
ottack on September 11th. Operating income in 2001 was
also unfavorably impacted by weather-related catastrophe
losses of $22.6 million compared to no catastrophe losses
in 2000. The decrease in 2001 operating income reflects
unfavorable asbestos prior year reserve development in
2001 of $122.7 million versus $32.5 million in 2000. This
was partially offset by $111.9 million of favorable other
prior year reserve development in 2001 compared to
$9.7 million of favorable other prior year reserve develop-
ment in 2000. Also contributing to the 2001 decrease in
operating income was a $62.0 million decrease in net
investment income from 2000, which largely reflects the
increase in dividends and debt repayments to Citigroup,
lower fixed income interest rates and lower returns from
private equity investments. Underwriting gain {loss), ex-
cluding catastrophes, prior year reserve development and
goodwill amortization increased $76.4 million to $64.7
million in 2001. The 2001 underwriting results reflect the
benefit of premium rate increases and higher fee income,
partially offset by increased loss cost trends, including
increased medical costs, auto repair costs and reinsurance
costs.

Revenues of $9.494 billion in 2002 increased $1.722 bil-
lion from 2001. The increase is primarily attributable to
premium rate increases, higher fee income, the inclusion of
the full-year of Northland and Associates in 2002 and the
benefit of the Citigroup indemnification agreement. Total
revenues for Northland and Associates were $946.7 million
in 2002, an increase of $715.4 million over 2001 which
only includes the fourth quarter of 2001. The increase in
revenue for 2002 was partially offset by lower net
investment income combined with lower realized investment




gains compared to 2001. Revenues of $7.771 billion in
2001 increased $935.6 million from 2000. The increase in
2001 reflected higher earned premiums, higher fee income
and higher realized investment gains and one guarter of
Northland and Associates, partially offset by a decrease in
net investment income. The inclusion of Northland and
Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001 added $231.3
million to full year 2001 revenues.

Earned premiums were $6.801 billion in 2002 compared to
$5.447 billion in 2001 and $4.747 billion in 2000. The
increase in earned premiums in 2002 was primarily due to
premium rate increases and the full-year inclusion of
Northland and Associates in 2002. Earned premiums
related to Northland and Associates were $846.1 million in
2002, an increase of $642.9 million over 2001 which only
includes the fourth quarter of 2001. The 2001 increase in
earned premiums was primarily due to rate increases, the
full-year impact of the ongoing business associated with the
Reliance Surety acquisition and the renewal rights for the
Reliance Middle Market and Frontier businesses, and the
inclusion of Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter
of 2001. The inclusion of Northland and Associates in the
fourth quarter of 2001 added $203.2 million to full year
2001 earned premiums.

Net investment income was $1.495 billion for 2002, a
decrease of $121.0 million from $1.616 billion in 2001.
Lower average investment yields reflected reduced returns
in the Company’s public equity investments and the lower
interest rate environment, particlly offset by an increase in
average invested assets due to the inclusion of Northland
and Associates and increased cash flow from operations.
Net investment income related to Northland and Associates
was $88.2 million in 2002, an increase of $65.8 million
over 2001 which only includes the fourth quarter of 2001.
Net investment income was $1.616 billion in 2001, a
decrease of $96.9 million from $1.713 billion in 2000. This
decrease largely reflects the increase in dividends and
debt repayments to Citigroup, lower fixed income interest
rates and lower returns from private equity investments. The
inclusion of Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter
of 2001 added $22.4 million to full year 2001 net

investment income.

Fee income was $454.9 million in 2002, a $107.5 million
increase from 2001. Fee income was $347.4 million in
2001, a $35.0 million increase from 2000. National
Accounts is the primary source of fee income due to its
service businesses, which include claim and loss prevention
services to large companies that choose to self insure a
portion of their insurance risks and claims and policy
management services to workers' compensation and auto-
mobile assigned risk plans and to self-insurance poals. The
increases in fee income were primarily due to the favorable
rate environment and the repopulation of the involuntary
pools. Claim volume under administration increased to

$2.656 hillion for 2002, compared to $2.252 billion in
2001 and $2.024 billion in 2000.

Recoveries of $520.0 million under the Citigroup indemnifi-
cation agreement have been included in revenues as
Recoveries from former offiliate.

Other revenues decreased to $32.1 million in 2002, from
$41.4 million in 2001. Other revenues increased $25.3 mil-
lion to $41.4 million in 2001 from $16.1 million in 2000.

Net written premiums by market were as follows:

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2007 2000
Core
National Accounts . ........ $ 7346 $ 4189 $ 3523
Commercial Accounts ...... 3,556.1 2,407 .1 2,098.9
Select Accounts ........... 1,869.5 1,713.2 1,575.4
Total Core .ottt 6,160.2 4,539.2 4,026.6
Specialty
Bond ..ovvei 629.9 590.2 486.5
Gulf.... oo 579.4 608.2 517.4
Total Specialty ... ....... 1,209.3 1,198.4 1,003.9
Total net written premiums .... $7,369.5 $5,737.6 $5,030.5

Commercial Lines net written premiums were $7.370 billion
in 2002 compared to $5.738 billion in 2001 and

$5.031 billion in 2000. The 2002 increase reflects premium
rate increases and the full-year inclusion of Northland and
Associates. The inclusion of Northiand and Associctes
contributed $657.4 million to the increase, including
approximately $115.0 million relating to the termination of
certain reinsurance contracts in 2002. Net written premiums
related to Northland and Associates were $824.8 million in
2002, compared to $167.4 million in 2001 which only
includes the fourth quarter of 2001. The Commercial Lines
business of Northland and Associafes is included with
Commercial Accounts. The 2001 increase reflected the
impact of the improving rate environment. The 2001
increase also includes the full-year impact of the acquisition
in 2000 of the renewal rights for the Reliance Middle
Market business, the acquisition in 2000 of the renewal
rights for the Frontier business in Gulf, the impact of the
ongoing business associated with the Reliance Surety
acquisition in Bond combined with net written premiums
related to the fourth quarter inclusion of Northland and
Associates in 2001. The inclusion of Northland and
Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001 added $167.4 mil-
lion to full year 2001 net written premiums. Included in
Bond net written premiums in 2000 is an increase of
$130.7 million due to a reinsurance transaction associated
with the acquisition of the Reliance Surety business.

In addition to fee based products, National Accounts works
with national and regional brokers to provide tailored
insurance coverages and programs, mainly to large corpo-
rations. National Accounts also includes participation in
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state mandated residual market workers’ compensation and
automobile assigned risk plans. National Accounts net
written premiums were $734.6 million in 2002 compared fo
$418.9 million in 2001. This increase in net written
premiums was due to renewal price increases, higher new
business levels and the repopulation of residual market
pools. National Accounts net written premiums were $418.9
million in 2001 compared to $352.3 million in 2000. This
increase was primarily due to the purchase of less
reinsurance, reflecting the shift in business mix from guaran-
teed cost products to loss-sensitive products, combined with
the repopulation of the involuntary pools.

Commercial Accounts serves primarily mid-sized businesses
for casualty products and large, mid-sized and small
businesses for property products through a network of
independent agents and brokers. Commercial Accounts net
written premiums increased 48% to $3.556 billion in 2002.
The increase was significantly impacted by the inclusion in
2002 of the full year results of Northland and Associates.
Net written premiums related to Northland and Associates
were $824.8 million and $167.4 million in 2002 and 20017,
respectively. Northland and Associates net written premi-
ums include an increase of approximately $115.0 million
related to the termination of certain reinsurance contracts,
Excluding the impact of Northland and Associates, net
written premiums increased 22% or $491.6 million for
2002, primarily driven by renewal price changes averaging
22% for 2002 and strong growth in new business. All
major product lines — commercial automobile, property and
general liability - contributed to the rise in renewal pricing.
Renewal price change represents the estimated average
change in premium on policies that renew, including rate
and exposure changes, versus the average premium on
those same policies for their prior term. The one area not
showing adequate rate improvement, however, is the
workers' compensation line and, accordingly, Commercial
Accounts has not grown this business. New business
premiums in Commercial Accounts for 2002 were

$733.0 million compared to $507.0 million in 2001. The
business retention ratio for 2002 was 75%, up from 71%
for 2001. For Commercial Lines, retention represents the
estimated percentage of premium available for renewal
which renewed in the current period. This renewal price
change, new business and retention information excludes
Northland and Associates for comparison purposes. Com-
mercial Accounts net written premiums of $2.407 billion in
2001 were $308.2 milion above 2000 premium levels. This
increase reflected renewal price changes of 19%,
favorable new business in national property and the
inclusion of Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter
of 2001.

Select Accounts serves small businesses through a network
of independent agents. Select Accounts net written premi-
ums were $1.870 billion in 2002 compared to $1.713 bil-

lion in 2001 and $1.575 billion in 2000. The increase in
Select Accounts net written premiums primarily reflected
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renewal price changes averaging 17% for 2002. New
business premiums in Select Accounts for 2002 were
$306.5 million compared to $275.8 million in 2001. The
business retention ratio for 2002, which was 80%, re-
mained strong and consistent with 2001, Select's retention
remains strongest for small commercial business handled
through the Company's Service Centers, while premium
growth has been greatest in the commercial multiperil and
property lines of business. The 2001 increase in Select
Accounts net written premiums primarily reflected price
increases. This increase was partially offset by the Com-
pany’s continved disciplined approach to underwriting and
risk management. Renewal price changes averaged 14%
for 2001 and retention levels were favorable and
averaged 80%.

Bond provides a variety of fidelity and surety bonds and
executive liability coverages to clients of all sizes through
independent agents and brokers. Bond net written premi-
ums of $629.9 million in 2002 was $39.7 million higher
than 2001. The 2002 amount is reduced by $17.5 million
due to a change in the Bond Executive Liability excess of
loss reinsurance treoty that was effective January 1, 2002.
In addition, the 2001 amount is increased by $34.1 million
due to the termination of the Master Bond Liability
reinsurance treaty effective January 1, 2001. Excluding
these two reinsurance adjustments, Bond net written premi-
ums increased $91.3 million during 2002 compared to
2001. This increase reflects a favorable premium rate
environment and strong production growth in executive
liability product lines, which target middle and small market
private accounts. In addition, the surety product lines
benefited from higher premium rates in 2002. Bond net
written premiums of $590.2 million in 2001 were

$234.4 million above 2000, after an adjustment of
$130.7 million in 2000 due to a reinsurance transaction
associated with the acquisition of the Reliance Surety
business. The $234.4 million increase was primarily due to
the full-year impact of the ongoing business associated with
the Reliance Surety acquisition and production growth in
Bond’s Executive Liability product line group, specifically its
fidelity, directors’ and officers’ liability and packaged
product lines. The packaged product lines combine fidelity
insurance, employment practices liability insurance, direc-
tors' and officers’ liability insurance, other related profes-
sional liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance into
one product with either individual or aggregate limits.
Bond'’s Executive Liability product lines target middle and
small market private accounts as well as not-for-profit
accounts. The growth in these product lines is reflective of
Bond's strategy to further enhance its product and cus-
tomer diversification through the faster growing and larger
executive liability market.

Gulf markets products to national, mid-sized and small
customers and distributes them through both wholesale
brokers and retail agents and brokers throughout the
United States with particular emphasis on executive and




professional liability products. Gulf net written premiums
were $579.4 million in 2002, compared to $608.2 million
in 2001. Gulf's decision to exit non-core businesses,
including assumed reinsurance, transportation, residual
value and property, offset increases in Gulf’s core specialty
lines, resulting in an overall decrease in Gulf net written
premiums. Gulf net written premiums were $608.2 million in
2001, compared to $517.4 million in 2000. This increase
primarity reflected the full-year impact of the renewal rights
for the Frontier business and participation in the London
market.

Commercial Lines claims and expenses of $10.039 billion in
2002 increased $3.531 billion from 2001 and increased
$1.338 billion in 2001 compared to 2000. The 2002
increase was primarily related to asbestos prior year
reserve development, the inclusion in 2002 of the full-year
results of Northland and Associates, and increased loss
cost trends, partially offset by the $644.0 million of losses
attributed to the effect of the terrorist attack in 2001.
Included in claims and expenses in 2002 is unfavorable
prior year reserve development of $3.162 billion compared
to 2001 unfavorable prior year reserve development of
$16.6 million. The most significant component in 2002 prior
year reserve development was asbestos incurred losses
which increased $2.756 billion over 2001. For additional
information see ‘'— Asbestos Claims and Litigation™. Sepa-
rately, the Company strengthened its environmental
reserves in the fourth quarter by $100.0 million, bringing
the total to $385.5 million, and reduced its reserves for
cumulative injuries other than asbestos by $94.8 million to
$553.6 million. These actions were taken as a result of
recent payment and settlement experience. In addition, the
Company strengthened prior year reserves for certain
run-off lines of business, including assumed reinsurance, and
experienced favorable development in certain ongoing
businesses. Claims and expenses for Northland and Associ-
ates were $967.7 million in 2002, an increase of

$761.1 million over 2001 which only includes the fourth
quarter of 2001. The increase was also partially offset by
the elimination of goodwill amortization and by reduced
catastrophe losses. The 2001 increase was primarily due
to higher catastrophe losses primarily associated with the
terrorist attack on September 11th, increased loss cost
trends, including increased medical costs, auto repair costs,
higher losses and operating expenses associated with the
growth in premium and claims volume including the full-year
impact of the Reliance Surety acquisition and the acquisition
of the renewal rights for the Reliance Middle Market and
Frontier businesses, and the inclusion of Northland and
Associates in the fourth quarter of 2001, partially offset by
higher favorable prior year reserve development. The
inclusion of Northland and Associates in the fourth quarter
of 2001 added $206.6 million to full year 2001 claims and
expenses.
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There were no catastrophe losses in 2002 or 2000.
Catastrophe losses, net of taxes and reinsurance, were
$470.5 million in 2001. Catastrophe losses in 2001 were
primarily due to the terrorist attack on September 11th, the
Seattle earthquake and Tropical Storm Allison.

GAAP combined ratios before policyholder dividends for
Commercial Lines were as follows:

(for the year ended December 31, ) 2002 2001 2000
GAAP combined ratic, excluding

catastrophes, prior year reserve

development, and goodwill

amortization:
loss and LAEratio. ...l 66.6% 69.3% 73.9%
Underwriting expense ratio ............ 27.6 28.8 26.1

Total oo 94.2 98.1  100.0
Catastrophes:

Natural ..o - 0.6 -

September 11 ............. ... ... .. - 12.7 -
Prior year reserve development:

Asbestos'! L 31.5 3.5 1

Al other ....... ... o L. 3.2 (3.2) (0.3}
Goodwill amortization ................ - 0.9 0.9

128.9% 112.6% 101.7%

" Excludes losses recovered under the Citigroup indemnification
agreement.

Commencing in 2002, the GAAP underwriting expense ratio
has been computed using net earned premiums. Previously,
this ratio for GAAP purposes was computed using net
written premiums. Prior periods have been restated to
conform to this new presentation.

The deterioration in the 2002 GAAP combined ratio
includes the impact of higher prior year reserve develop-
ment, primarily due to asbestos, partially offset by no
catastrophe losses in 2002 compared to the impact of the
terrorist attack on September 11th on 2001, and the
elimination of goodwill amortization. The improvement in the
GAAP combined ratio, excluding catastrophes, prior year
reserve development and goodwill amortization, from 2001
to 2002, reflects an improvement in the loss and LAE ratio
and an improvement in the underwriting expense ratio. The
improvement in the loss and LAE ratic is primarily due to
the benefit of the favorable rate environment and improved
profitability from the Company’s continued effort to adjust
business mix to areas generating rate adequacy. The
improvement in the underwriting expense ratio is primarily
attributed to the benefit of premium rate increases.

The deterioration in the 2001 GAAP combined ratio
resulted primarily from the impact of the terrorist attack on
September 11th. The improvement in the GAAP combined
ratio, excluding catastrophes, prior year reserve develop-
ment and goodwill amortization, from 2000 to 2001,
reflects an improvement in the loss and LAE ratio, partially



offset by a deterioration in the underwriting expense ratio.
The improvement in the loss and LAE ratio is primarily due
to premium growth related to rate increases, the full-year
impact of the ongoing business associated with the Reliance
Surety acquisition, the purchase of the renewal rights for
the Reliance Middle Market and Frontier businesses par-
fially offset by increased loss cost frends. The deterioration
in the underwriting expense ratio is primarily due to the
impact of the Bond business acquisition of the Reliance
Surety business, which generally has a higher underwriting
expense ratio.

Personal Lines

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002

$4,775.1

2001
$4,453.7

2000
$4,231.7

Revenues

Net income before minority
interest and cumulative
effect of change in
accounting principle

$ 3168 $ 2419 §$ 360.2

Minority interest, net of tax ... 16.6
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle, net of

FOX . e - 0.5 -
Netincome.........ccoou... $ 316.8 $ 2424 § 3434

Net income in 2002 was $314.8 million compared to-
$242.4 million in 2001 and $343.6 million in 2000.
Included in 2001 was a net loss of $41.6 million related to
the terrorist attack on September 11, 2001. Included in
2000 was minority interest of $16.6 million related to the
January through April 2000 period when approximately
14.8% of TIGHI's outstanding common stock was not
owned by TPC. During April 2000, TPC completed a cash
tender offer and merger, as a result of which TIGHI
become TPC's wholly-owned subsidiary. Personal Lines net
income also includes net realized investment gains
(losses) of $(28.5) million, $4.3 million and ${0.3) mil-
lion in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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The major components of operating income and a reconcili-
ation of operating income to net income is as follows:

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Underwriting gain (loss),

excluding catastrophes, prior

year reserve development

and goodwill amortization... $ 51.6 $ (16.6) $ (3.2)
Catastrophes:

Natural «..oovi i {54.7 ) (44.5)  (53.6}

September 11 ... ... ... - (41.6) -
Prior year reserve development. ... 19.4 20.2 72.2
Goodwill amortization. . .......... - (18.5) {16.1)

Underwriting gain {loss) ....... 16.3 (101.0) (0.7)
Net investment income ........... 278.8 294.2 3151
Other. . ... .. 51.8 47.8 46.1
Operating income ............. 346.9 241.0 360.5
Realized investment gains {losses) .. (28.5) 4.3 (0.3)
Restructuring charge ............. (1.6) (3.4) ~
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle. ........... - 0.5 -
Minority interest ... ... ... ... .. - - 16.6
Netincome ................... $316.8 $ 242.4 $343.6

Operating income of $346.9 million for 2002 was

$105.9 million higher than $241.0 million for 2001.
Operating income in 2002 increased primarily due to
premium rate increases in excess of loss cost trends and
the $41.6 million impact of the terrorist attack on Septem-
ber 11th on 2001 operating income. This was partially
offset by natural catastrophe losses of $54.7 million
compared to $44.5 million of natural catastrophe losses in
2001. Favorable reserve development was recognized,
primarily in automobile, due to the moderation in loss cost
trends. The elimination of goodwill amortization also con-
tributed to the increase in 2002 operating income. Despite
the benefit of higher average invested assets resulting from
strong cash flows from underwriting, 2002 net investment
income of $278.8 million was $15.4 million lower than
2001 reflecting reduced returns in the Company's public
equity investments and the lower interest rate environment.
Underwriting gain (loss), excluding catastrophes, prior
year reserve development and goodwill amortization in-
creased $68.2 million to $51.6 million in 2002. The 2002
underwriting results reflect an improved premium rate
environment in both auto and property and a moderation in
the increase in loss cost trends.

Operating income of $241.0 million for 2001 was down
$119.5 million compared to operating income of

$360.5 million in 2000. The decrease in operating income
in 2001 reflects a net loss of $41.6 million related to the
impact of the terrorist attack on September 11th. Operat-
ing income in 2001 was favorably impacted by natural
catastrophe losses of $44.5 million compared to $53.6
million of natural catastrophe losses in 2000. Operating
income in 2001 was also impacted by lower favorable




prior year reserve development of $20.2 million compared
to $72.2 million in 20C0. Also contributing to the 2001
decrease in operating income was a $20.9 million de-
crease in net investment income from 2000, which largely
reflects the increase in dividends and debt repayments to
Citigroup and lower fixed income interest rates. Underwrit-
ing loss, excluding catastrophes, prior year reserve devel-
opment and goodwill amortization decreased $13.4 million
to $16.6 million in 2001. The 2001 underwriting results
reflect the effects of increased loss cost trends, including
increased medical costs and auto repair costs, partially
offset by rate increases.

Revenues of $4.775 billion in 2002 increased $321.4 mil-
lion from 2001. The increase in revenues reflected growth
in earned premiums due to premium rate increases and the
full-yecar inclusion of Northland in 2002, partially offset by
redlized investment losses in 2002 compared to realized
investment gains in 2001 and o decrease in net investment
income. Total revenues for Northland were $123.0 million
in 2002, an increase of $99.9 million over 2001 which only
includes the fourth quarter of 2007, Revenues in 2001
were $4.454 billion, an increase of $222.0 million
compared to $4.232 billion in 2000. The increase was
primarily atftributable to a $248.5 million growth in earned
premiums primarily due to rate increases and $6.3 million
of realized investment gains in 2001, compared to

$0.6 million realized irvestment losses in 2000. This was
partially offset by a $35.9 million decrease in net invest-
ment income from 2000, which largely reflects the increase
in dividends and debt repayments to Citigroup and lower
fixed income interest rates. The inclusion of Northland in the
fourth quorter of 2001 added $23.1 million to full-year
2001 revenues.

Earned premiums increased $390.2 million to $4.354 billion
in 2002 from $3.964 billion in 2001. The increase in
earned premiums in 2002 was primarily due to rate
increases in all product lines and the full-year inclusion of
Northland in 2002. Earned premiums for Northland were
$112.1 million in 2002, an increase of $91.2 million over
2001 which only includes the fourth quarter of 2001.
Earned premiums increased $248.5 million to $3.964 billion
in 2001 from $3.715 billion in 2000 primarily due to rate
increases. The inclusion of Northland in the fourth quarter
of 2001 added $20.9 million to full-year 2001 earned
premiums.

Net investment income was $384.7 million in 2002, a
decrease of $25.5 million from 2001. The decline resulted
from reduced returns in the Company’s public equity
investments and the lower interest rate environment, mostly
offset by the benefit of higher average invested assets
resulting from strong cash flows from operations. Net
investment income was $410.2 million in 2001, a decrease
of $35.9 million from 2000. This decrease largely reflects
the increase in dividends and debt repayments to Citigroup
and lower fixed income interest rates.
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Other revenues were $80.1 million in 2002, a $6.8 million
increase from 2001. Premium installment charges are the
primary source of Personal Lines other income. The in-
crease in other revenues was primarily due to the full-year
inclusion of Northland in 2002. Cther revenues increased
$2.5 million to $73.3 million in 2001.

Personal Lines had approximately 5.5 million, 5.4 million
and 5.4 million policies in force at December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Net written premiums by product line were as follows:

{for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2007 2000

Personal automobile ......... $2,842.9 $2,590.7 $2,366.3
Homeowners and other ...... 1,732.1 1,517.2 1,446.5
Total net written premiums .... $4,575.0 $4,107.9 $3,8128

Personal Lines net written premiums in 2002 were \
$4.575 billion, compared to $4.108 billion in 2001. The ‘
increase in net written premiums of $467.1 million in 2002
was principally a result of renewal price increases in both
the Automobile and Homeowners and Other lines of
business and the full-year inclusion of Northland in 2002.
Net written premiums for Northland were $111.0 million in
2002, an increase of $85.7 million over 2001 which only
includes the fourth quarter of 2001. Personal Lines net
written premiums in 2001 were $4.108 billion, a

$295.1 million increase compared to $3.813 billion in
2000. The increase in 2001 reflects growth in target
markets served by independent agents and growth in
affinity group marketing and joint marketing arrangements,
partially offset by continued emphasis on disciplined under-
writing and risk management. Rate increases implemented in
both the automobile and homeowners product lines were
the primary contributors to the growth in net written
premiums in 2001. The inclusion of Northland in the fourth
quarter of 2001 added $25.3 million to full-year 2001 net
written premiums.

Automobile net written premiums increased 10% to

$2.843 billion in 2002. Excluding the impact of Northland,
which contributed $97.5 million and $23.7 million to 2002
and 2001, respectively, Automobile net written premiums
increased 7% to $2.745 billion. Renewal price changes for
standard voluntary business averaged 8% for 2002.
Renewal price change for Personal Lines products repre-
sents the estimated average change in premium on policies
that renew, including rate and exposure changes, versus
the average premium on those same policies for their prior
term. Policy retention levels for standard voluntary business
remained favorable and averaged 80%. Retention for
Personal Lines products represents the estimated percent-
age of policies from the prior year period renewed in the
current period. Automobile net written premiums increased
9% to $2.591 billion in 2001, 8% excluding the impact of



Northland. Renewal price changes for standard voluntary
business averaged 7% for 2001. Policy retention levels for
2001 standard voluntary business were comparable to
2000 and averaged 79%.

Homeowners and Other net written premiums increased
14% to $1.732 billion in 2002. Excluding the impact of
Northland, which contributed $13.5 million and $1.6 million
to 2002 and 2001, respectively, Homeowners and Other
net written premiums increased 13% to $1.719 billion.
Renewal price changes averaged 15% for 2002. Retention
levels also remained favorable and averaged 80%. Home-
owners and Other net written premiums increased 5% to
$1.517 billion in 2001. Renewal price changes averaged
10% for 2001 and retention levels were favorable and
averaged 80%.

Production through the Company’s independent agents in
Personal Lines, which represents over 81% of Personal
Lines total net written premiums, was up 13% to $3.736
billion for 2002, including the impact of Northland. Net
written premiums through channels other than independent
agents was up 5% to $839.4 million for 2002 as the
favorable impact of renewal price changes was offset in
part by a reduction in policies in force due to underwriting
actions taken to eliminate marginally profitable businesses.
Production through the Company's independent agents in
Personal Lines was up 9% to $3.308 billion in 2001, Net
written premiums through channels other than independent
agents was up 2% to $800.0 million in 2001.

Personal Lines claims and expenses were $4.331 billion in
2002 compared to $4.115 billion in 2001 and $3.715 bil-
lion in 2000. The 2002 increase was primarily attributed to
the inclusion in 2002 of the full-year results of Northland
and increased loss cost trends partially offset by the effects
of the terrorist attack on September 11th in 2001. Claims
and expenses for Northland were $121.8 million in 2002,
an increase of $97.1 million over 2001 which only includes
the fourth quarter of 2001. During 2002, Perscnal Lines
experienced a moderation in the rise in auto loss costs. The
2002 amount includes $29.9 million of favorakle prior year
reserve development versus $31.0 million in 2001. Also
impacting year over year results were higher natural
catastrophe losses and the benefit of the elimination of
goodwill amortization. The increase in claims and expenses
in 2001 reflects $60.0 million of catastrophe losses
associated with the terrorist attack on September 11th. The
increase also reflects the impact of increased loss cost
trends and lower favorable prior year reserve develop-
ment. The inclusion of Northland in the fourth quarter of
2001 added $24.7 million to full-year 2001 claims and

expenses.

Catastrophe losses, net of taxes and reinsurance, were
$54.7 million, $86.1 million and $53.6 million in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Catastrophe losses in 2002
were primarily due to winter storms in the Midwest and
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New York in the first quarter, wind and hailstorms in the mid
Atlantic region in the second and third quarters, and
Tropical Storm Lili and wind, hail and icestorms in the
Southeast in the fourth quarter. Catastrophe losses in 2001
were primarily due to the terrorist attack on Septem-

ber 11th, Tropical Storm Allison and wind and hailstorms in
the Midwest and Texas in the second quarter. Catastrophe
losses in 2000 were primarily due to Texas, Midwest and
Northeast wind and hailstorms in the second quarter and
hailstorms in Louisiana and Texas in the first quarter.

GAAP combined ratios for Personal Lines were as follows:

{for the year ended December 31,) 2002 2001 2000
GAAP combined ratio, excluding

catastrophes, prior year reserve

development, and goodwill

amortization:
loss and LAE ratio .................. 72.4% 74.5% 74.4%
Underwriting expense rafio . .......... 25.8 26.3 26.0

Total .o 98.2 100.8 100.4
Catastrophes:

Natural ... 1.9 1.7 2.2
September 11.................... - 1.6 -
Prior year reserve development ....... (0.7) (0.8) (3.0)
Goodwill amortization ............... - 0.5 0.4

GAAP combined ratio 99.4% 103.8% 100.0%

Commencing in 2002, the GAAP underwriting expense ratio
has been computed using net earned premiums. Previously,
this ratio for GAAP purposes was computed using net
written premiums. Prior periods have been restated to
conform to this new presentation.

The improvement in the 2002 GAAP combined ratic
includes the impact of slightly higher natural catastrophes in
2002, the impact of the terrorist attack on September 11th
on 2001, slightly lower favorable prior year reserve
development and the elimination of goodwill amortization.
The improvement in the GAAP combined ratio excluding
catastrophes, prior year reserve development and goodwill
amortization, from 2001 to 2002, reflects an improvement
in both the loss and LAE ratio and the underwriting expense
ratio. The improvement in the loss and LAE ratio is primarily
attributed to rate increases and the moderation in loss cost
trends. The improvement in the underwriting expense ratio
is primarily attributed to the benefit of premium rate
increases. An increase in contingent commissions, resulting
from the improved underwriting results, offset an overall
reduction in other expenses.

The deterioration in the 2001 GAAP combined ratio
includes the impact of September 11th, and lower
favorable prior year reserve development partially offset
by lower natural catastrophes in 2001. The deterioration in
the GAAP combined ratio, excluding catastrophes, prior
year reserve development and goodwill amortization, from
2000 to 2001, reflects a deterioration in both the loss and




LAE ratio and in the underwriting expense ratio. The
deterioration in the loss and LAE ratio reflects increased
loss cost trends partially offset by the growth in premiums
due to rate increases. The deterioration in the underwriting
expense ratio is due to higher commission expense
associated with the mix of business.

Interest Expense and Cther

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2007 2000

Revenues. ...........coovvui.. $ 1.0 $ 56 $ 37
Net loss before minority interest .. ${97.6) $(139.5) $(208.0}
Minority interest, net of tax ...... - - (4.7}
Netloss .........cccooo .. $(97.6) $1139.5) ${203.3)

The primary component of net loss before minority interest
for 2002, 2001 and 2000 was after-tax interest expense
of $99.6 million, $133.2 million and $192.1 million,
respectively. Net loss in 2000 reflects minority interest of
$4.7 million related to the January through April 2000
period when approximately 14.8% of TIGHI's outstanding
common stock was not owned by TPC. During April 2000,
TPC completed a cash tender offer and merger, as a result
of which TIGHI became TPC’s wholly owned subsidiary.
The reduction in interest expense in 2002 is due to lower
average interest-bearing debt levels primarily related to the
repayment of debt obligations to Citigroup in the 2002 first
quarter. The decrease in interest expense in 2001 is due to
lower outstanding debt and lower interest rates. Included in
2001 net loss was the after tax benefit of a $5.7 million
dividend from an investment that was sold to Citigroup in
2002.

ASBESTOS CLAIMS AND LITIGATION

The Company believes that the property and casualty
insurance industry has suffered from judicial interpretations
and other trends that have attempted to maximize insur-
ance availability for asbestos claims, from both a coverage
and liability standpoint, far beyond the intent of the
contracting parties. These policies generally were issued
prior to 1980. As a result, the Company continues to
experience an increase in the number of asbestos claims
being tendered to the Company by the Company’s
policyholders (which includes others seeking coverage
under a policy) including claims against the Company’s
policyholders by individuals who do not appear to be
impaired by asbestos exposure. Factors underlying these
increases include more intensive advertising by lawyers
seeking asbestos claimants, the increasing focus by plain-
tiffs on new and previously peripheral defendants and an
increase in the number of entities seeking bankruptcy
protection as a result of asbestos-related liabilities. In
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addition to contributing to the increase in claims, bank-
ruptcy proceedings may increase the volatility of asbestos-
related losses by initiclly delaying the reporting of claims
and later by significontly accelerating and increasing loss
payments by insurers, including the Company. The Com-
pany is currently involved in coverage litigation concerning
a number of policyholders who have filed for bankruptcy,
including, among others, ACandS, Inc., and who have
asserted that all or a portion of their asbestos-related
claims are not subject to aggregate limits on coverage as
described generally in the next paragraph. See ‘'~ Legal
Proceedings." Particularly during the last few months of
2001 and continuing through 2002, the trends described
above both accelerated and became more visible. Accord-
ingly, there is a high degree of uncertainty with respect to
future exposure from asbestos claims.

Increasingly, policyholders have been asserting that their
claims for asbestos-related insurance are not subject to
aggregate limits on coverage and that each individual
bodily injury claim should be treated as a separate
occurrence under the policy. The Company expects this
trend to continue. It is difficult to predict whether these
policyholders will be successful on both issues or whether
the Company will be successful in asserting additional
defenses. To the extent both issues are resolved in
policyholders’ favor and other additional Company de-
fenses are not successtul, the Company’s coverage obliga-
tions under the policies at issue would be materially
increased and bounded only by the applicable per
occurrence limits and the number of asbestos bodily injury
claims against the policyholders. Accordingly, it is difficult
to predict the ultimate size of the claims for coverage not
subject to aggregate limits.

Many coverage disputes with policyholders are only
resolved through settlement agreements. Because many
policyholders make exaggerated demands, it is difficult to
predict the outcome of settlement negotiations. Settlements
involving bankrupt policyholders may include extensive
releases which are favorable to the Company and which
could result in settlements for larger amounts than originally
anticipated. As in the past, the Company will continue to

pursue settlement opportunities.

In addition, proceedings have been launched directly
against insurers, including the Company, challenging insur-
ers’ conduct in respect of asbestos claims, including in
some cases with respect to previous settlements. The
Company anticipates the filing of other direct actions
against insurers, including the Company, in the future.
Particularly in light of jurisdictional issues, it is difficult to
predict the outcome of these proceedings, including
whether the plaintiffs will be able to sustain these actions
against insurers based on novel legal theories of liability.
See - legal Proceedings."”




Because each policyholder presents different liability and
coverage issues, the Company generally evaluates the
exposure presented by each policyholder on a policy-
holder-by-policyholder basis. In the course of this evalua-
tion, the Company considers: available insurance coveroge,
including the role of any umbrella or excess insurance the
Company has issued to the policyholder; limits and deduct-
ibles; an analysis of each policyholder’s potential liability;
the jurisdictions involved; past ond anticipated future claim
activity and loss development on pending claims; past
settlement values of similar claims; allocated claim adjust-
ment expense; potential role of other insurance; the role, if
any, of non-asbestos claims or potential non-asbestos
claims in any resolution process; and applicable coverage
defenses or determinations, if any, including the determina-
tion as to whether or not an asbestos claim is @
products/completed operation claim subject to an aggre-
gate limit and the available coverage, if any, for that claim.
Once the gross ultimate exposure for indemnity and related
claim adjustment expense is determined for each policy-
holder by each policy year, the Company calculates a
ceded reinsurance projection based on any applicable
facultative and treaty reinsurance, as well as past ceded
experience. Adjustments to the ceded projections also
occur due to actual ceded claim experience and reinsur-
ance coliections. Conventional actuarial methods are not
utilized to establish asbestos reserves. The Company's
evaluations have not resulted in any meaningful data from
which an average asbestos defense or indemnity payment
may be determined.

The Company also compares its historical direct and net
loss and expense paid experience, year-by-year, to assess
any emerging trends, fluctuations or characteristics sug-
gested by the oggregate poid activity. Losses poid have
increased in 2002 compared to prior years. There has
been an acceleration in recent quarters in the amount of
payments, including those from prior settlements of cover-
age disputes entered into between the Company and
certain of its policyholders. For 2002, approximately 54%
of totol paid losses relate to policyholders with whom the
Company previously entered into settlement agreements
that limit the Company's liability. Net losses paid were
$361.1 million for 2002 compared to $174.8 million for
2001 reflective of the items described above.

At December 31, 2002, asbestos reserves were
$3.404 billion, an increase of $2.584 billion compared to
$820.4 million as of December 31, 2001. Net incurred
losses and loss adjustment expenses were $2.945 billion
for 2002 compared to $188.8 million for 2001. This
charge was partially offset by an after tax benefit of
$520.0 million, included in revenues, related to recoveries
from full utilization of the Citigroup indemnification agree-
ment. The increase in reserves is based on the Company’s
analysis of asbestos claim and litigation trends. As part of
a periodic, ground-up study of asbestos reserves, the
Company studied the implications of these and other
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significant developments, with special attention to major
asbestos defendants and non-products claims alleging that
the Company's coverage obligations are not subject to
aggregate limits. In addition, Company management
expanded its historical methodology in response to recent
trends. This included further categorization of policyholders,
conducting an examination of recent claim activity from
policyholders reporting claims for the first time, and a
review of past seftlements.

The Company's asbestos study segmenied asbestos expo-
sures into the following categories: policyholders with
settlement agreements, other policyholders with active
claims, assumed reinsurance and reserves for unallocated
incurred but not reported (IBNR} claims. The following
table displays asbestos reserves by policyholder category:

(at and for the year ended

December 31, 2002 Number of Total Asbestos

$ in millions) Policyholders Paid'''! Reserves'?
Policyholders with setlement

agreements . ...... ... ... 26 $196.1 $ 9421
Other policyholders with

active claims:

Home office review ...... 264 143.6 809.4

Field office review ....... 807 49 110.0
Assumed reinsurance ... .. .. 16.5 242.8
Unallocated IBNR .. ........ 1,300.0
Total ..o 1,097 $361.1  $3,404.3

"' Net of reinsurance recoveries.

'2} Net of reinsurance recoverable.

Policyholders with settlement agreements include structured
agreements, coverage in place arrangements and Welling-
ton accounts. Reserves are based on the expected payout
for each policyholder under the applicable agreements.
Structured agreements are arrangements under which poli-
cyholders and/or plaintiffs agree to fixed financial amounts
to be paid at scheduled times. In August 2002, the
Company entered into a settlement agreement with

Shook & Fletcher Insulation Co. (Shook) setiling coverage
litigation under insurance policies which the Company
issued to Shook. After payments made in the fourth quarter
of 2002 under this settlement, the remaining obligations are
valued at approximately $99.2 million [after reinsurance
and discounting). In May 2002, the Company agreed with
approximately three dozen other insurers and PPG indus-
tries, Inc. (PPG) on key terms to settle asbestos-related
coverage litigation under insurance policies issued to PPG.
While there remain a number of contingencies, including the
final execution of documents, court approval and possible
appeals, the Company believes that the completion of the
settlement pursuant to the terms announced in May 2002 is
likely based upon substantial progress in negotiations
during the fourth quarter of 2002. The Company's single
payment contribution to the propcsed settlement, expected
in June 2004, is approximately $388.8 million after




reinsurance. Coverage in place arrangements represent
agreements with major policyholders on specified amounts
of coverage to be provided. Payments may include annual
maximums and are only made when valid claims are
presented. Wellington accounts refer to the 35 remaining
defendants that were parties to a 1985 settlement agree-
ment settling their asbestos claims. This agreement is similar
to a coverage in place arrangement in which the parties
have agreed on specific amounts of coverage and the
terms on which the coverage can be accessed.

Other policyholders with active claims are annually identi-
fied as Home Office Review or Field Office Review
policyholders. Policyholders are identified for Home Office
Review based upon, among other factors: aggregate
payments in excess of a specified threshold (currently
$100,000), perceived level of exposure, number of
reported claims, products/completed operations and po-
tential ‘‘non-product’’ exposures, size of policyholder and
geographic distribution of products or services sold by the
policyholder.

Assumed reinsurance exposure primarily consists of reinsur-
ance of excess coverage, including various pool participa-
tions. In addition to amounts in reserve for specific
policyholders or groups of policyholders, as described
above, the Company has established an unallocated IBNR
reserve to respond to adverse development for existing
policyholders, new claims from policyholders reporting
claims for the first time and for policyholders for which
there is, or may be litigation.

The following table displays activity for asbestos losses and
loss expenses and reserves:

{at and for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Beginning reserves:

Direct vovvviieii i $1,046.0 $1,0054 $1,049.9

Ceded .................. (225.6) {199.0) (223.0)

Net oo 820.4 806.4 826.9
Incurred losses and loss

expenses:

Direct vvvvv e 3,660.2 282.7 187.4

Ceded .. ...t (715.2) (93.9) {137.4}
Losses paid:

Direct ..ot 419.1 2421 231.9

Ceded .................. (58.0) (67.3) {161.4)
Ending reserves:

Direct «ovvvviieieen 4,287.1 1,046.0 1,005.4

Ceded .................. (882.8) {225.6) (199.0)

Net oo $3,404.3 $ 8204 §$ 806.4
See ‘'~ Uncertainty Regarding Adeguacy of Asbestos and

Environmental Reserves.”
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ENVIRONMENTAL CLAIMS AND LITIGATION

The Company continues fo receive claims from policyhold-
ers which allege that they are liable for injury or damage
arising out of their alleged disposition of toxic substances.
Mostly, these claims are due to various legislative as well
as regulatory efforts aimed at environmental remediation.
For instance, the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, or CERCLA, enacted in
1980 and later modified, enables private parties as well as
federal and state governments to take action with respect
to releases and threatened releases of hazardous
substances. This federal statute permits the recovery of
response costs from some liable parties and may require
liable parties to undertake their own remedial action.
Liability under CERCLA may be joint and several with other
responsible parties.

The Company has been, and continues to be, involved in
litigation involving insurance coverage issues pertaining to
environmental claims. The Company belisves that some
court decisions have interpreted the insurance coverage to
be broader than the original intent of the insurers and
policyholders. These decisions often pertain to insurance
policies that were issued by the Company prior to the mid-
1970s. These decisions continue to be inconsistent and
vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Environmental claims
when submitted rarely indicate the monetary amount being
sought by the claimant from the policyholder, and the
Company does nof keep track of the monetary amount
being sought in those few claims which indicate a monetary
amount.

The Company's reserves for environmental claims are not
established on a claim-by-claim basis. The Company carries
an aggregate bulk reserve for all of the Company's
environmental claims that are in dispute until the dispute is
resolved. This bulk reserve is established and adjusted
based upon the aggregate volume of in-process environ-
mental claims and the Company's experience in resolving
those claims. At December 31, 2002, approximately 81%
of the net environmental reserve {approximately

$311.8 million) is carried in a bulk reserve and includes
unresolved and incurred but not reported environmental
claims for which the Company has not received any
specific claims as well as for the anticipated cost of
coverage litigation disputes relating to these claims. The
balance, approximately 19% of the net environmental
reserve {approximately $73.7 million), consists of case
reserves for resolved claims.

The Company's reserving methodology is preferable to one
based on “'identified claims'” because the resolution of
environmental exposures by the Company generally occurs
by settlement on a policyholder-by-policyholder basis as
opposed to a claim-by-claim basis. Generally, the settle-
ment between the Company and the policyholder extin-
guishes any obligation the Company may have under any




policy issued to the policyholder for past, present and
future environmental liabilities as well as extinguishes any
pending coverage litigation dispute with the policyholder.
This form of settlement is commonly referred to as a ‘‘buy-
back™ of policies for future environmental liability. In
addition, many of the agreements have also extinguished
any insurance obligation which the Company may have for
other claims, including but not limited to asbestos and other
cumulative injury claims. Provisions of these agreements also
include appropriate indemnities and hold harmless provi-
sions to protect the Company. The Company's general
purpose in executing these agreements is to reduce the
Company's potential environmental exposure and eliminate
the risks presented by coverage litigation with the policy-
holder and related costs.

In establishing environmental reserves, the Company evalu-
ates the exposure presented by each policyholder and the
anticipated cost of resolution, if any, for each policyholder
on a quarterly basis. In the course of this analysis, the
Company considers the probable liability, available cover-
age, relevant judicial interpretations and historical value of
similar exposures. In addition, the Company considers the
many variables presented, such as the nature of the
alleged activities of the policyholder at each site; the
allegations of environmental harm at each site; the number
of sites; the total number of potentially responsible parties
at each site; the nature of environmental harm and the
corresponding remedy at each site; the nature of govern-
ment enforcement activities at each site; the ownership and
general use of each site; the overall nature of the
insurance relationship between the Company and the
policyholder, including the role of any umbrella or excess
insurance the Company has issued to the policyholder; the
involvement of other insurers; the potential for other
available coverage, including the number of years of
coverage; the role, if any, of non-environmental claims or
potential non-environmental claims, in any resolution pro-
cess; and the applicable law in each jurisdiction. Conven-
tional actuarial techniques are not used to estimate these
reserves.

The duration of the Company's investigation and review of
these claims and the extent of time necessary to determine
an appropriate estimate, if any, of the value of the claim to
the Company, vary significantly and are dependent upon a
number of factors. These factors include, but are not limited
to, the cooperation of the policyholder in providing claim

information, the pace of underlying litigation or claim

processes, the pace of coverage litigation between the
policyholder and the Company and the willingness of the
policyholder and the Company to negotiate, if appropriate,
a resolution of any dispute pertaining to these claims.
Because these factors vary from claim-to-claim and policy-
holder-by-policyholder, the Company cannot provide a
meaningful average of the duration of an environmental
claim. However, based upon the Company's experience in
resolving these claims, the duration may vary from months
to several years.

Over the past three years, the Company has experienced
a substantial reduction in the number of policyholders with
pending coverage litigation disputes, a continued reduction
in the number of policyholders tendering for the first time
an environmental remediation-type claim to the Company,
as well as a continued reduction in the number of
policyholders with active environmental claims.

As of December 31, 2002, the number of policyholders
with pending coverage litigation disputes pertaining to
environmental claims was 205, approximately 5% less than
the number pending as of December 31, 2001, and
approximately 16% less than the number pending as of
December 31, 2000. Also, in 2002, there were 110
policyholders tendering for the first time an environmental
remediation-type claim to the Company. This compares to
134 policyholders doing so in 2001 and 158 policyholders
in 2000. The Company’s review of policyholders tendering
claims for the first time has indicated that they are fewer in
number and lower in severity. More specifically, policyhold-
ers are smaller in size, have fewer sites per policyholder,
they are lower tier defendants, and regulatory agencies
are utilizing risk based analysis and more efficient clean-up
technologies.

The Company has resolved, for approximately $1.952 bil-
lion (before reinsurance), the environmental liabilities
presented by 5,807, or 92%, of the total 6,342 policy-
holders who have tendered environmental claims to the
Company through December 31, 2002. The Company
generally has been successful in resolving the Company's
coverage litigation disputes and continues to reduce the
Company’s potential exposure through settlements with
some policyholders. However, recent increases in settle-
ment amounts have led the Company to increase its
environmental reserves by $100.0 million in the fourth
quarter of 2002.




The following table displays activity for environmental
losses and loss expenses and reserves:

{at and for the yeor ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Beginning reserves:
Direct ... $ 478.8 $ 668.8 $ 801.0
Ceded .................... {(82.8}y (110.9) (125.4)
Net oo e 396.0 557.9 675.6
incurred losses and loss
expenses:
Direct «vvii i 153.9 57.8 74.9
Ceded ..oovvviiiiiiiiin, (3.8) {12.1) (10.5)
Losses paid:
Direct . ovve i 184.9 247.8 207.1
Ceded .................... {24.3) {40.2) (25.0)
Ending reserves:
Direct ... i 447.8 478.8 4668.8
Ceded .................... (62.3) (82.8) (110.9)
Net . o i $ 385.5 $ 3960 $ 557.9

UNCERTAINTY REGARDING ADEQUACY OF
ASBESTOS AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESERVES

As a result of the processes and procedures described
above, management believes that the reserves carried for
asbestos and environmental claims at December 31, 2002
are appropriately established based upon known facts,
current law and management's judgment. However, the
uncertainties surrounding the final resolution of these claims
continue, and it is presently not possible to estimate the
ultimate exposure for asbestos and environmental claims
and related litigation. As a result, the reserve is subject to
revision as new information becomes available. The continu-
ing uncertainties include without limitation, the risks and lack
of predictability inherent in major litigation, any impact from
the bankruptcy protection sought by various asbestos
producers and other asbestos defendants, a further in-
crease or decrease in asbestos and environmental claims
which cannot now be anticipated, the role of any umbrella
or excess policies the Company has issued, the resolution
or adjudication of some disputes pertaining to the amount
of available coverage for asbestos claims in a manner
inconsistent with the Company's previous assessment of
these claims, the number and outcome of direct actions
against the Company, and future developments pertaining
to the Company’s ability to recover reinsurance for
asbestos and environmental claims. It is also not possible to
predict changes in the legal ond legislative environment
and their impact on the future development of asbestos
and environmental claims. This development will be affected
by future court decisions and interpretations, as well as
changes in applicable legislation. It is also difficult to
predict the ultimate outcome of large coverage disputes
until settlement negotiations near completion and significant
legal questions are resolved or, failing settlement, until the
dispute is adjudicated. This is particularly the case with
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policyholders in bankruptcy where negotiations often in-
volve a large number of claimants and other parties and
require court approval to be effective. Also see '~ Legal
Proceedings."”

Because of the uncertainties set forth above, additional
liabilities may arise for amounts in excess of the current
related reserves. In addition, the Company's estimate of
ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses may change.
These additional liabilities or increases in estimates, or a
range of either, cannot now be reasonably estimated and
could result in income statement charges that could be
material to the Company's operating results and financial
condition in future periods.

CUMULATIVE INJURY OTHER THAN ASBESTOS
{CIOTA} CLAIMS

CIOTA claims are generally submitted to the Company
under general liobility policies and often involve an allega-
tion by @ claimant against a policyholder that the claimant
has suffered injuries as a result of long-term or continuous
exposure to potentially harmful products or substances.
These potentially harmful products or substances include,
but are not limited to, lead paint, pesticides, pharmaceuti-
cal products, silicone-based personal products, solvents,
latex gloves, silica and other potentially harmful
substances.

Due to claimants’ allegations of long-term bodily injury in
CIOTA claims, numerous complex issues regarding these
claims are presented. The claimants’ theories of liability
must be evaluated, the evidence pertaining to a causal link
between injury and exposure to a substance must be
reviewed, the potential role of other causes of injury must
be anclyzed, the liability of other defendants must be
explored, an assessment of a claimant’s damages must be
made and the law of the applicable jurisdiction must be
analyzed. in addition, the Company must review the
number of policies it has issued to the policyholder and
whether these policies are triggered by the allegations, the
terms and limits of liability of these policies, the obligations
of other insurers to respond to the claim and the role, if
any, of non-CIOTA claims or potential non-CIOTA claims in
any resolution process.

To the extent disputes exist between the Company and a
policyholder regarding the coverage available for CIOTA
claims, the Company resolves the disputes, where feasible,
through settlement with the policyholder or through cover-
age litigation. Historically, the Company’s experience has
indicated that policyholders with potentially significant
environmental and/or asbestos exposures, may often have
other CIOTA exposures or CIOTA claims pending with the
Company. Generally, the terms of a settlement agreement
set forth the nature of the Company's participation in
resolving CIOTA claims and the scope of coverage to be




provided by the Company, and contain the appropriate
indemnities and hold harmless provisions to protect the
Company. These settlements generally eliminate uncertain-
ties for the Company regarding the risks extinguished,
including the risk that losses would be greater than
anticipated due to evolving theories of tort liability or
unfavorable coverage determinations. The Company's
approach also has the effect of determining losses at
date earlier than would have occurred in the absence of
these settlement agreements. On the other hand, in cases
where future developments are favorable to insurers, this
approach could have the effect of resolving claims for
amounts in excess of those that the Company ultimately
would have paid had the claims not been settled in this
manner. The Company decreased CIOTA reserves by
$94.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 reflective of
lower levels of paid activity during recent periods.

At December 31, 2002, approximately 77% {approxi-
mately $425.0 million) of the net CIOTA reserve repre-
sents incurred but not reported losses for which the
Company has not received any specific claims. The
balance, approximotely 23% of the net aggregate reserve
{approximately $128.6 million), is for pending CIOTA
claims.

The following table displays activity for CIOTA losses and
loss expenses and reserves:

(ot ond for the year ended

ment, invested assets at December 31, 2002 totaled
$34.826 billion, of which 90% was invested in fixed
maturity and short-term investments, 2% in common stocks
and other equity securities, 1% in mortgage loans and real
estate held for sale and 7% in other investments. Excluding
the impact of securities lending, unrealized investment gains
and losses, receivables for investment sales and payables
on investment purchases, the pre-tax average yield was
6.0%, 6.9% and 7.6% for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and the after-tax
average vyield was 4.4%, 5.0% and 5.5% for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Because the primary purpose of the investment portfolio is
to fund future claims payments, the Company employs a
conservative investment philosophy. The Company's fixed
maturity portfolio at December 31, 2002 totaled $30.003
billion, comprising $29.462 billion of publicly traded fixed
maturities and $541.6 million of private fixed maturities.
The weighted average quality ratings of the Company's
publicly traded fixed maturity portfolio and private fixed
maturity portfolio at December 31, 2002 were Aa2 and
Boal, respectively. Included in the fixed maturity portfolio
at that date was approximately $1.945 billion of below
investment grade securities. The average duration of the
fixed maturity portfolio, including short-term investments,
was 5.0 years as of December 31, 2002, or 5.8 years
excluding short-term investments.

The following table sets forth the Company’s combined

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000 fixed maturity investment portfolio classified by Moody's
Beginning reserves: : Investor's Service Inc. ratings:
Direct ... v $ 893.4 $1,078.6 $1,184.3
Ceded ................... {183.4) {279.5) {312.9) (ot December 31, 2002, Carrying Percent of Total
Not 710.0 200 1 8714 in_millions) Value Carrying VYalue
Incurred losses and loss Quality Rating:
expenses: ‘ AQO oo $17,610.2 58.7%
Direct ..o (89.0) (114.4) 26.5 AQ. . oo 5,271.0 17.6
Ceded ..ot (11.1) 69.5 {10.6) A 2,299.3 7.6
losses po,d ’ Baa ... 2,8778 9.6
Direct ...t 60.9 70.8 132.2 Total investment grade. ... ... 28,058.3 @3.5
Ceded ................... (4.6) (26.6) (44.0) Non-investment grade ....... 1,944.9 6.5
Ending reserves: Total fixed maturity
DIFECt et 743.5 893.4  1,078.6 investment . .............. $30,003.2 100.0%
Ceded ................... {189.9) (183.4) (279.5)
Net.. .. ...o.ooooooieioss $ 553.6 % 7100 $ 7991  The Company makes investments in collateralized mortgage

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

The Company’s invested assets at December 31, 2002
totaled $38.425 billion, including $3.599 billion of securi-
ties in process of settlement, of which 1% was invested in
fixed maturity and short-term investments, 2% in common
stocks and other equity securities, 1% in mortgage loans
and real estate held for sale and 6% in other investments.
Adjusting for the effect of securities in process of settle-

obligations, or CMQOs. CMOs typically have high credit
quality, offer good liquidity, and provide a significant
advantage in yield and total refurn compared to

U.S. Treasury securities. The Company’s investment strat-
egy is to purchase CMO tranches which offer the most
favorable return given the risks involved. One significant
risk evaluated is prepayment sensitivity. This drives the
investment process to generally favor prepayment pro-
tected CMO tranches including planned amortization clas-
ses and last cash flow tranches. The Company does not
purchase residual interests in CMOs.
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At December 31, 2002, the Company held CMOs with a
fair value of $4.120 billion. Approximately 58% of CMO
holdings were fully coliateralized by GNMA, FNMA or
FHLMC securities at that date, and the balance was fully
collateralized by portfolios of individual mortgage loans. In
addition, the Company held $4.815 billion of GNMA,
FNMA, FHLMC or FHA mortgage-backed pass-through
securities at December 31, 2002. Virtually all of these
securities are rated Aaa.

The Company's equity investments are primarily through
private equity and arbitrage partnerships, which are subject
to more volatility than the Company’s fixed income invest-
ments, but historically have provided a higher return. At
December 31, 2002, the carrying value of the Company’s
investments in private equity and arbitrage partnerships
was $1.611 billion.

QUTLOOK

The 2002 year saw a significant increase in the number of
downgrodes by rating agencies for property casualty
insurance companies. Many competitors are experiencing
pressure on their capitalization levels due to underperform-
ing investment portfolios and the need to strengthen prior
year reserves, especially for asbestos liabilities. This
pressure has caused many competitors to sell, discontinue
or shrink certain books of business and has significantly
reduced the acquisition activity of the industry.

A variety of other factors continue to affect the property
and casualty insurance market and the Company's core
business outlook, including improvement in pricing in the
commercial lines marketplace, a continuing highly competi-
tive personal lines marketplace, inflationary pressures on
loss cost trends, including medical inflation and auto loss
costs, asbestos related developments and rising reinsur-
ance and litigation costs.

The Company’s strategic objective is to enhance the
Company's position as a consistently profitable market
leader and a cost-effective provider of property and
casualty insurance in the United States.

Changes in the general interest rate environment affect the
returns available on new investments. While a rising interest
rate environment enhances the returns available, it reduces
the market value of existing fixed maturity investments and
the availability of gains on disposition. A decline in interest
rates reduces the return available on new investments, but
creates the opportunity for realized investment gains on
disposition of fixed maturity investments. In 2002, interest
rates declined to their lowest levels since the 1950's, and
equity returns were negative for the second consecutive
year. These trends may continue into 2003, reducing the
return available on the investment of funds.
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As required by various state laws and regulations, the
Company's insurance subsidiaries are subject to assess-
ments from state-administered guaranty associations, sec-
ond-injury funds and similar associations. The Company
believes that these assessments will not have a material
impact on the Company’s results of operations.

Some social, economic, political and litigation issues have
led to an increased number of legislative and regulatory
proposals gimed at addressing the cost and availability of
some types of insurance as well as the claim and coverage
obligations of insurers. While most of these provisions have
failed to become law, these initiatives may continue as
legislators and regulators try to respond to public availabil-
ity, affordability and claim concerns and the resulting laws,
if any, could adversely affect the Company’s ability to
write business with appropriate returns.

On November 26, 2002, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act
of 2002 (the Terrorism Act) was enacted into Federal law
and established o temporary Federal program in the
Department of the Treasury that provides for a system of
shared public and private compensation for insured losses
resulting from acts of terrorism committed by or on behalf
of a foreign interest. In order for a loss to be covered
under the Terrorism Act (i.e., subject losses), the loss must
be the result of an event that is certified as an act of
terrorism by the U.S. Secretary of Treasury. In the case of
a war declared by Congress, only workers’ compensation
losses are covered by the Terrorism Act. The Terrorism
Insurance Program {the Program) generally requires that
all commercial property/casualty insurers licensed in the
U.S. participate in the Program. The Program became
effective upon enactment and terminates on December 31,
2005. The amount of compensation paid to participating
insurers under the Program is 90% of subject losses, after
an insurer deductible, subject to an annual cap. The
deductible under the Program is 7% for 2003, 10% for
2004, and 15% for 2005. In each case, the deductibie
percentage is applied to the insurer’s direct earned
premiums from the calendar year immediately preceding
the applicable year. The Program also contains an annual
cap that limits the amount of subject losses to $100 billion
aggregate during a program year. Once subject losses
have reached the $100 billion aggregate during a pro-
gram year, there is no additional reimbursement from the
U.S. Treasury and on insurer that has met its deductible for
the program year is not liable for any losses {or portion
thereof) that exceed the $100 billion cap. The Company's
deductible under this Federal program is $570.0 million for
2003 subject to final rules to be established by the

U.S. Treasury. Due to the high level of the deductible, the
Company believes that the bill will have litle impact on the
price or availability of terrorism coverage in the
marketplace.




While the Terrorism Act provides a Federally-funded “‘back-
stop' for commercial property casualty insurers, it also
requires that insurers immediately begin offering coverage
for insured losses caused by acts of terrorism. The majority
of the Company’s Commercial Lines policies already
included such coverage, although exclusions were added
to higher-risk policyholders after September 11, 2001. For
those risks considered higher-risk, such as landmark build-
ings or high concentrations of employees in one location,
the Company will continue to either decline to offer a
renewal or will offer coverage for losses caused by acts of
terrorism on a limited basis, with an explicit charge for the
coverage.

Commercial Lines

In 2002, the trend of higher rates continued in Commercial
Lines. Prices generally rose throughout the year, although
some of the increases varied significantly by region and
business segment. These increases were necessary to offset
the impact of rising loss cost trends, reduction in investment
yields and the decline in profitability from the competitive
pressures of the last decade. Since the terrorist attack on
September 11, 2001, there has been greater concern over
the availability, terms and conditions, and pricing of
reinsurance. As a result, the primary insurance market is
expected to continue to see significant rate increases and
more restrictive terms and conditions, for certain
coverages.

In National Accounts, where programs include risk manage-
ment services, such as claims settlement, loss control and
risk management information services, generally offered in
connection with a large deductible or self-insured program,
and risk transfer, typically provided through a guaranteed
cost or refrospectively rated insurance policy, pricing
improved during 2002 and 2001. The Company has
benefited from higher rates and believes that pricing will
continue to stay firm into 2003. However, the Company will
still continue to selectively reject business that is not
expected to produce acceptable returns. The Company
onficipates that the premium and fee income growth
experienced in 2002 will continue into 2003. Included in
Naticnal Accounts is service fee income for policy and
claim administration of various states’ Workers' Compensa-
tion Residual Market pools. After several years of depopu-
lation, these pools began to repopulate in 2000 and
continue to grow significantly as the primary market is
firming. Premium that the Company services for these pools
grew 91% in 2002 compared to 2001 and is expected to
continue to grow.

Commercial Accounts achieved double-digit price increases
on renewal business during 2002 and 2001, improving the
overall profit margin in this business, more than offsetting
the impacts of rising loss cost and medical inflation,
reinsurance costs and lower investment yields. New busi-
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ness levels also increased during 2002 across most
products but especially for property coverages where
Commercial Accounts benefited from the Company's prop-
erty underwriting specialization, financial strength and limits
capacity. The Company will continue to seek significant rate
increases in 2003, as pricing in some areas and business
segments, such as workers’ compensation, still has not
improved to the point of producing acceptable returns.
However, the rate of increase may decline modestly as
compared to the past two years.

Also in Commercial Accounts, during 2002 the operations
of American Equity and Associates were determined to be
non-strategic. Accordingly, these operations were placed in
run-off during the first and fourth quarters of 2002,
respectively, which included non-renewals of inforce poli-
cies and a cessation of writing new business, where
allowed by low. These operations were acquired in the
fourth quarter of 2001 from Citigroup as part of the
Northland and Associates acquisitions discussed above.
Net written premium for these combined operations was

$84.8 million in 2002.

In Select Accounts, the trend toward increcsed pricing on
renewal business that started in late 1999 gained momen-
tum in 2000 and 2001 and continued to improve during
2002. Prices generally rose during this time frame while
customer retention remained consistent with prior periods.
Price increases varied significantly by region, industry and
product. However, the ability of Select Accounts to achieve
future rate increases is subject to regulatory constraints in
some jurisdictions. Select will continue to seek rate in-
creases in 2003, however the rate of increase may decline
modestly as compared to the past year. Loss cost trends in
Select Accounts improved across major lines in 2002 due
to the Company's continued disciplined approach to
underwriting and risk selection. The Company will continue
to pursue business based on the Company's ability fo
achieve acceptable returns.

Bond achieved significant growth in 2002 in both the surety
and executive liability markets. A decrease in capacity in
the surety industry, driven by an increase in claim fre-
quency and severity in accident years 1999 through 2001
for the surety industry, enabled Bond to increase prices for
alf surety products. The decrease in capacity in the surety
marketplace is expected to continue to create opportunities
for further price increases for all surety products in 2003,
although the increased cost of reinsurance will offset some
of the positive impact. In the executive liability market for
middle and small private accounts and not-for-profit
accounts, Bond’s expanding array of products and recag-
nized local expertise enabled it to further enhance its
product and customer diversification, as well as profit
opportunities, while realizing significant price increases. In
addition, a decrease in reinsurance capacity will allow
further price increases for all executive liability products in
2003. Bond's focus remains on selective underwriting,




selling its products to customers that provide the greatest
opportunities for profit. Bond is also focused on the
Company's efforts to cross-sell its expanding array of
products to existing cusiomers of Commercial Lines and
Personal Lines.

In Gulf, rate increases began in most lines of business in
2001 and accelerated significantly in 2002. Although
specific increases varied by region, industry and product,
improvement was most evident in the directors’ and
officers’, professional liability and umbrella lines of busi-
ness, with lesser increases achieved in the excess and
surplus lines of business. The favorable impact from rate
improvement contfinues to be partially offset by rising loss
cost trends. At the end of February 2003, Gulf resolved a
claims coverage dispute with a policyholder relating to a

run-off product line. The settlement will result in a charge by

the Company of approximately $68.0 million after reinsur-
ance, tax and minority interest.

There are currently various state and federal legislative and

judicial proposals to require asbestos claimants to demon-
strate an asbestos illness. At this time it is not possible to
predict the likelihood or timing of such proposals being
enacted or the effect if they are enacted. The Company’s
asbestos study did not assume the adoption of any
asbestos reforms.

For information about the outlook with respect fo asbestos-
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related claims and liabilities see ‘'~ Asbestos Claims and
Litigation’" and *'— Uncertainty Regarding Adequacy of
Asbestos and Environmental Reserves."

Personal Lines

Personal Lines strategy is to profitably grow its customer
base in the independent agent and additional distribution

channels, control operating expenses, keep prices competi-

tive and dligned with loss trend, and manage its exposure
to catastrophe losses.

During 2002, the personal auto market ploce experienced
widespread rate increcses, as companies attempted to
restore profitability after years of unacceptable underwrit-
ing and investment yields. As a result, premium growth is
expected to outpace growth in losses and expenses in
2003. Personal lines will continue to maintain its underwrit-
ing discipline and will continue to increase auto rates as
needed to achieve acceptable returns and to offset
inflationary pressures.

Market conditions for property insurance changed in 2002,

as the industry experienced significant rate increases,
scaled back coverages, and reduced new business initia-
tives to improve profitability. Personal Lines had imple-
mented these actions in the past several years, and has
achieved significantly improved profit results relative to the
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industry. Personal Lines will maintain its underwriting disci-
pline and will continve to increase property rates as
needed to achieve acceptable returns and to offset
inflationary pressures.

TRANSACTIONS WITH FORMER AFFILIATES

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, the Company provided
and purchased services to and from Citigroup afflliated
companies, including faciliies management, banking and
financial functions, benefit coverages, data processing
services, and short-term investment pool management ser-
vices. Charges for these shared services were allocated at
cost. In connection with the Citigroup Distribution, the
Company and Citigroup and its affiliates entered info a
transition services agreement for the provision of certain of
these services, tradename and trademark and similar
agreements related to the use of frademarks, logos and
tradenames and an omendment to the March 26, 2002
Intercompany Agreement with Citigroup. During the first
quarter of 2002, Citigroup provided investment advisory
services on an allocated cost basis, consistent with prior
years. On August 6, 2002, the Company entered into an
investment management agreement, which has been
applied retroactive to April 1, 2002, with an aoffiliate of
Citigroup whereby the affiliate of Citigroup is providing |
investment advisory and administrative services to the |
Company with respect to its entire investment portfolio for

a period of two years and at fees mutually agreed upon,
including o component based on performance. Charges

incurred related to this agreement were $47.2 million for

the period from April 1, 2002 through December 31,

2002. Either party may terminate the agreement effective

on the end of a month upon 90 days prior notice. The

Company and Citigroup also agreed upon the allocation or
transfer of certain other liabilities and assets, and rights

and obligations in furtherance of the separation of opera-

tions and ownership as a result of the Citigroup Distribution.

The net effect of these allocations and transfers, in the

opinion of management, were not significant to the Com-

pany's resulis of operations or financial condition.

See note 16 to the Company's consolidated financial
statements for a description of these and other intercom-
pany arrangements and transactions between the Company
and Citigroup.

LIGUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s principal asset is the capital stock of TIGHI
and its insurance subsidiaries.

The liquidity requirements of the Company's business have
been met primarily by funds generated from operations,
asset maturities and income received on investments. Cash
provided from these sources is used primarily for claims




and claim adjustment expense payments and operating
expenses. Catastrophe claims, the timing and amount of
which are inherently unpredictable, may create increased
liquidity requirements. Additionally, recent increases in
asbestos-related claim payments, as well as potential
judgments and seftlements arising out of litigation, may also
result in increased liquidity requirements. Additional sources
of cash flow include the sale of invested assets and
financing activities. It is the opinion of the Company's
management that the Company’s future liquidity needs will
be met from all of the above sources.

Net cash flows are generally invested in marketable
securities. The Company closely monitors the duration of
these investments, and investment purchases and sales are
executed with the objective of having adequate funds
available to satisfy its maturing liabilities. As the Company's
investment strategy focuses on asset and liability durations,
and not specific cash flows, asset sales may be required to
satisfy obligations and/or rebalance asset portfolics. The
Company's invested assets at December 31, 2002 totaled
$38.425 billion, including $3.599 billion of securities in
process of settlement, of which 91% was invested in fixed
maturity and short-term investments, 2% in common stocks
and other equity securities, 1% in mortgage loans and real
estate held for sale and 6% in other investments. Adjusting
for the effect of securities in process of settlement, invested
assets at December 31, 2002 totaled $34.826 billion, of
which 90% was invested in fixed maturity and short-term
investments, 2% in common stocks and other equity
securities, 1% in mortgage loans and redl estate held for
sale and 7% in other investments.

Notes payable to former offiliates at December 31, 2002
was as follows:

{in millions)
3.60% Note due 2003 under line of credit ............ $500.0
Floating rate loan under line of credit ................. 200.0
Total o $700.0
Long-term debt and convertible notes outstanding at
December 31, 2002 was as follows:
{in millions)
Promissory Note due 2004 ............ ..., $ 550.0
6.75% Notes due 2006. . ... 150.0
7.81% Note various due dates through 2011 .......... 27.0
7.75% Notes due 2026 . ... ccovvt i 200.0
Convertible junior subordinated notes payable due 2032. .. 892.5
Convertible notes payable due 2032 ............. .... 49.7
1,869.2
Debt issuanCe CoStS. .ot 25.5
Total .o $1,843.7
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The Company’s cash flow needs include shareholder
dividends and debt service. TPC and TIGHI are holding
companies and have no direct operations. Accordingly,
TPC and TIGHI meet cash flow needs primarily through
dividends from operating subsidiaries. In addition, TIGHI
has available to it a $250.0 million revolving line of credit
from Citigroup. TIGHI pays a commitment fee to Citigroup
for that line of credit, which expires in 2006. Borrowings
under this line of credit carry a variable interest rate based
upon LIBOR plus 50 basis points. At December 31, 2002,
borrowings under this revolving line of credit were

$200.0 million. The Company expects to repay all of this
debt by the end of the first quarter of 2003. TIGHI also
has an additional $500.0 million revolving line of credit
agreement from Citigroup, which expires in December
2006. At December 31, 2002, current borrowings under
this line of credit, which mature on November 7, 2003 and
carry a fixed interest rate of 3.60%, were $500.0 million.

At December 31, 2001, TPC had a note payable to
Citigroup in the amount of $1.198 billion. In conjunction
with the purchase of TIGHI's outstanding shares in April
2000, TPC entered into a note agreement with Citigroup.
On February 7, 2002, this note agreement was replaced
by a new note agreement. Under the terms of the new
note agreement, interest accrued on the aggregate princi-
pal amount outstanding at the commercial paper rate (the
then current short-term rate) plus 10 basis points per
annum. Interest was compounded monthly. This note was
repaid following the offerings.

In February 2002, TPC paid a dividend of $1.000 billion
to Citigroup in the form of a non-interest bearing note
payable on December 31, 2002. On December 31, 2002,
this note was repaid in its entirety.

In February 2002, TPC also paid a dividend of $3.700
billion to Citigroup in the form of a note payable in two
installments. This note was substantially prepaid following
the offerings. The balance of $150.0 million was due on
May @, 2004. This note was prepaid on May 8, 2002,

In March 2002, TPC paid a dividend of $395.0 million to
Citigroup in the form of a note. This note was prepaid
following the offerings.

In March 2002, TPC issued $892.5 million aggregate
principal amount of 4.5% convertible junior subordinated
notes which will mature on April 15, 2032, unless earlier
redeemed, repurchased or converted. Interest is payable
quarterly in arrears. See note 8 of notes to the Company's
consolidated financial statements for a further discussion.

In August 2002, CiR! issued $49.7 million aggregate
principal amount of 6.0% convertible notes which will
mature on December 31, 2032 unless earlier redeemed or
repurchased. See note 8 of notes to the Company's
consolidated financial statements for a further discussion.




In December 2002, TPC entered into a loan agreement
with an unaffilicted lender and borrowed $550.0 million
under a promissory note due in January 2004. The
Promissory Note carried a variable interest rate of LIBOR
plus 25 basis points per annum, On February 5, 2003, TPC
issued $550.0 million of Floating Rate Notes due in

Contractual obligations at December 31, 2002 were as foliows:

February 2004. The proceeds from these notes were used
to repay the promissory note. The Floating Rate Notes also
carry a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 25 basis points
per annum and are callable by the Company after

August 5, 2003. The Company expects to repay substan-
tially all of this new debt by the end of 2003.

Payments Due by Period Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5
{in millions) Total 1 Year Years Years Yaars
Notes payable to former offliates ...................... $ 700.0 $700.0 $ - $ - -
Long-term debt ... .. 927.0 3.0 712.0 6.0 206.0
Convertible junior subordinated notes payable ........... 8§92.5 - - - 892.5
Convertible notes payable ... ... oo 49.7 - - - 49,7
TIGHI-obligated mandatorily redeemable securities of

subsidiary trusts holding solely junior subordinated debt

securities of TIGHI ... ... oo ¢00.0 - - - 900.0
Operating leases . ..o 301.4 84.5 150.5 39.6 26.8

$3,770.6 $787.5 $862.5 $45.6 $2,075.0

In the normal course of business, the Company has
unfunded commitments fo partnerships in which it invests.
These commitments were $864.3 million and $1.025 billion
at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Cn January 23, 2003, the Company’s board of directors
declared a quarterly dividend of $0.06 per share on class
A and class B common stock, payable on February 28,
2003, to shareholders of record on February 5, 2003. The
declaration and payment of future dividends to holders of
the Company’s common stock will be at the discretion of
the Company's board of directors and will depend upon
many factors, including the Compaony’s financial condition,
earnings, capital requirements of TPC's operating subsidiar-
ies, legal requirements, regulatory constraints and other
factors as the board of directors deems relevant.

The Company’s principal insurance subsidiaries are domi-
ciled in the State of Connecticut. The insurance holding
company law of Connecticut applicable to the Company’s
subsidiaries requires nofice to, and approval by, the state
insurance commissioner for the declaration or payment of
any dividend that together with other distributions made
within the preceding twelve months exceeds the greater of
10% of the insurer’s surplus as of the preceding Decem-
ber 31, or the insurer's net income for the twelve-month
period ended the preceding December 31, in each case
determined in accordance with statutory accounting prac-
tices. This declaration or payment is further limited by
adjusted unassigned surplus, as determined in accordance
with statutory accounting practices. The insurance holding
company laws of other states in which the Company’s
subsidiaries are domiciled generally contain similar, al-
though in some instances somewhat more restrictive, limita-
tions on the payment of dividends. A maximum of
$727.7 million is available by the end of 2003 for such
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dividends without prior approval of the Connecticut Insur-
ance Department. However, the payment of a portion of
this amount is likely to be subject to approval by the
Connecticut Insurance Department in accordance with the
formula described above, depending upon the amount and
timing of the payments.

On September 25, 2002, the Board of Directors approved
a $500.0 million share repurchase program. Purchases of
class A and class B common stock may be made from time
to time through September 2004 in the open market, and it
is expected that funding for the program will principally ‘
come from operating cash flow. When shores ore repur- !
chased, such shares will be reported as authorized and

unissued freasury stock in the consolidated balance sheet.

There were no shares repurchased under this plan in 2002.

TPC has the option to defer interest payments on its
convertible junicr subordinated notes for a period not
exceeding 20 consecutive quarterly interest periods. If TPC
elects to defer interest payments on the notes, it will not be
permitted, with limited exceptions, to pay dividends on its
common stock during a deferral period. In addition, the
ability of TIGHI to pay dividends to TPC is subject io the
terms of the TIGH! trust mandatorily redeemable securities
which prohibit TIGH! from paying dividends in the event it
has failed to pay or has deferred dividends or is in default
under the frust mandatorily redeemable securities.

Under the terms of the Tax Allocation Agreement between
TPC and Citigroup, TPC is financially responsible for
adverse fax consequences on the tax-free status of the
Citigroup Distribution as a result of actions taken by TPC.
One of the potential post Citigroup Distribution actions by
TPC, which could adversely impact the tax status of the
Citigroup Distribution, is the issuance of additional common



stock within two years of the Citigroup Distribution. On
April 23, 2002, the Internal Revenue Service issued
temporary regulations governing certain aspects of spin-off
distributions occurring after April 26, 2002. In these
temporary regulations, safe harbor rules are provided
under which certain post spin-off transactions involving
common stock do not adversely impact the tax stotus of the
spin-off. In certain circumstances, these rules provide TPC
with additional flexibility to issue additional common stock in
corporate transactions as compared to the rules that were
in place at the time of the TPC IPO.

In May 2002, the Company guaranteed certain debt
obligations of TIGHI. If the Company or TIGHI defaults on
certain of their obligations related to the TIGHI Securities,
the Company may not declare or pay dividends on its
capital stock or take certain other actions related to its
copital stock.

The NAIC adopted RBC requirements for property casualty
companies to be used as minimum capital requirements by
the NAIC and states to identify companies that merit further
regulatory action. The formulas have not been designed to
differentiate among adequately capitalized companies that
operate with levels of capital higher than RBC requirements.
Therefore, it is inappropriate and ineffective to use the
formulas to rate or to rank these companies. At Decem-
ber 31, 2002, all of the Company's insurance subsidiaries
had adiusted capital in excess of amounts requiring any
company or regulatory action.

In the opinion of Company’'s management, realization of
the recognized deferred tax asset of $1.447 billion is more
likely than not based on expectations as to the Company’s
future taxable income. Excluding the effect of the asbestos
reserve increase in 2002 (see note 6 of notes to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for a further
discussion) , the Company has reported pretax financial
statement income of $1.848 billion on average over the
last three years and has generated federal taxable income
exceeding $1.071 billion on average in each year during
this same period. The Company has a net operating loss
carryforward of $1.390 billion ot December 31, 2002.
Projections of taxable income for 2003 are in excess of the
loss carryforward. See note 9 of notes to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for a further discussion.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company censiders its most significant accounting
policies to be those applied to unpaid claim and claim
adjustment liabilities and reloted reinsurance recoverables.

Total claims and claim adjustment expense reserves were
$33.736 billion at December 31, 2002. The Company
maintains property and casualty loss reserves to cover
estimated ultimate unpoid liability for losses and loss
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adjustment expenses with respect to reported and unre-
ported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting
period. Reserves do not represent an exact calculation of
liability, but instead represent estimates, generally utilizing
actuarial projection techniques at a given accounting date.
These reserve estimates are expectations of what the
ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost
based on the Company’s assessment of facts and circum-
stances then known, review of historical settlement patterns,
estimates of trends in claims severity, frequency, legal
theories of liability and other factors. Variables in the
reserve estimation process can be affected by both internal
and external events, such as changes in claims handling
procedures, economic inflation, legal trends and legislative
changes. Many of these items are not directly quantifiable,
particularly on a prospective basis. Additionally, there may
be significant reporting lags between the occurrence of the
policyholder event and the time it is actually reported to
the insurer. Reserve estimates are continually refined in a
regular ongoing process as historical loss experience
develops and additional claims are reported and settled.
Adjustments to reserves are reflected in the results of the
periods in which the estimates are changed. Because
establishment of reserves is an inherently uncertain process
involving estimates, currently established reserves may not
be sufficient. If estimated reserves are insufficient, the
Company will incur additional income statement chorges.

During 2001, the Company recorded o charge of
$489.5 million representing the estimated loss for both
reported and unreported claims incurred and related claim
adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance recoverables and
taxes, related to the terrorist attack on September 11th.
The associated reserves and related reinsuronce recover-
ables represent the estimated ultimate net costs of dll
incurred claims and claim adjustment expenses related to
the attack. Since the reserves and related reinsurance
recoverables are based on estimates, the ultimate net
liability may be more or less than such amounts.

Some of the Company's loss reserves are for asbestos and
environmental claims and related litigation. While the study
of asbestos claims and associated liabilities and the
analysis of environmental claims considered the inconsisten-
cies of court decisions as to coverage, plaintiffs’ expanded
theories of liability, and the risks inherent in major litigation
and other uncertainties, in the opinion of the Company's
management in future periods it is possible that the
outcome of the continued uncertainties regarding asbestos-
related claims could result in liability that differ from current
reserves by an amaunt that could be material to the
Company’s future operating results and financial condition.
See the preceding discussion of Asbestos Claims and
Litigation and Environmental Claims and Litigation.

Total reinsurance recoverables were $10.978 billion at
December 31, 2002. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers
are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability




associated with the reinsured business. The Company
evaluates and monitors the financial condition of its
reinsurers under voluntary reinsurance arrangements to
minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer
insolvencies. The Company reports its reinsurance recover-
ables net of an allowance for estimated uncollectible
reinsurance recoverables. The allowance is based upon the
Company's ongoing review of amounts outstanding, length
of collection periods, changes in reinsurer credit standing,
and other relevant factors. Accordingly, the establishment
of reinsurance recovercbles and the related allowance for
uncollectible reinsurance recoverables is also an inherently
uncertain process involving estimates. Changes in these
estimates could result in additional income statement
charges.

OTHER MATTERS

Reserves for losses ana loss adjustment expenses on a
statutory basis were $23.280 billion, $20.215 billion and
$19.428 billion at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The increase from December 31, 2001 to
December 31, 2002 is primarily due to the increase in
asbestos reserves of $2.584 billion during the year. The
increase from December 31, 2000 to December 31, 2001
includes the impact of the terrorist attack on Septem-

ber 11th and the inclusion of Northland and Associates as
of October 2001. These increases were particlly offset by
net payments of $578.0 million and $426.6 million for
asbestos, environmental and other cumulative injury claims
during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

During April 2000, the Company completed a cash tender
offer and merger, as a result of which TIGHI became TPC's
wholly-owned subsidiary. In the tender offer and merger,
TPC acquired all of TIGH!'s outstanding shares that were
not already owned by TPC, representing approximately
14.8% of TIGHI's outstanding common stock, for

$2.413 billion in cash financed by a loan from Citigroup.

Prior to the IPO, the Company participated in Citigroup’s
Capital Accumulation Plan (CAP) thot provided for the
issuance of shares of Citigroup common stock in the form
of restricted stock awards to eligible officers and other key
employees. On August 20, 2002, in connection with the
Citigroup Distribution, the unvested outstanding awards of
restricted stock and deferred shares held by Company
employees on that date under Citigroup CAP awards, were
cancelled and replaced by awards comprised primarily of
3.1 million newly issued shares of class A common stock at
a total market value of $53.3 million based on the closing
price of the class A common stock on August 20, 2002.
These replacement awards were granted on substantially
the same terms, including vesting, as the former Citigroup
awards. The value of these newly issued shares along with
class A and class B common stock received in the Citigroup

Distribution on the Citigroup restricted shares, were equal
to the value of the cancelled Citigroup restricted share
awards. In addition, the Board of Directors plan allows
deferred receipt of shares of class A common stock
{deferred stock) to a future distribution date or upon
termination of their service.

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution on August 20, 2002,
unearned compensation expense associated with the Ci-
tigroup restricted common stock grants is included in other
assefs in the consolidated balance sheet. Following the
Citigroup Distribution and the issuance of replacement stock
awards in the Company's class A and class B shares on
August 20, 2002, the unamortized unearned compensation
expense associated with these awards is included as
unearned compensation in the consolidated balance sheet.
Unearned compensation expense is recognized as @
charge to income ratably over the vesting period. The
after-tax compensation cost charged to earnings for these
restricted stock and deferred stock awards was $17.0 mil-
lion, $19.4 million and $16.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. See
note 11 of notes to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for a discussion of restricted common stock
awards.

Under agreements with Citigroup, TPC assumed liabilities
for nonqualified pension, post-retirement health care and
life insurance benefit liabilities related to active Company
plan participants as of August 20, 2002. Because Citigroup
assumed liabilities for the same benefits for retired or
inactive plan participants, the Company transferred short-
term securities of $171.1 milion and recorded a payable
of $13.5 million in 2002 to Citigroup affiliated companies,
and reduced other liabilities and deferred taxes by
$284.0 million and $99.4 million, respectively, related to
refired or inactive employees, pending final agreements on
the amounts. Final agreement on settlement amounts was
reached and an additional $2.2 million is expected to be
paid to Citigroup during the first quarter of 2003.

In addition, the Company assumed liabilities for qualified
pension plan benefits for active Company employees. As a
result, assets ond liabilities for qualified pension plan
benefits relating to active, but not retired or inactive, plan
participants were transferred from the Citigroup qualified
pension plan to the Company's newly established qualified
pension plan. The initial projected benefit obligation of the
Company's qualified pension plan at August 20, 2002 was
$445.0 million. Assets of $390.0 million were transferred
from the Citigroup pension plan to the Company's pension
plan in 2002 and were invested primarily in a Standard &
Poors stock index fund and in a Lehman Brothers Aggre-
gate bond index fund at December 31, 2002. A final asset
transfer is expected in the first quarter of 2003.

Accordingly, beginning August 20, 2002, TPC sponsors
qualified and nonqualified non-contributory defined benefit




pension plans covering substantially all employees. These
plans provide benefits under a cash balance formula,
except that employees sotisfying certain age and service
requirements remain covered by a prior final pay formula.
TPC also provides postretirement health and life insurance
benefits for employees satisfying certain age and service
requirements who retire after the Citigroup Distribution. The
Company's net expense related to these plans was

$9.2 million for the period from August 20, 2002 through
December 31, 2002. Prior to the Citigroup Distribution,
substantially similar benefits were provided to TPC employ-
ees through plans sponsored by Citigroup. The Company's
share of net expense {credit) related to these plans was
${3.9}) million for January 1, 2002 through August 20,
2002, $11.7 million for 2001, and $14.5 million for 2000.

The principal assumptions used in determining pension and
postretirement benefit obligation are as follows:

(at December 31, 2002)

DisCOUNt FOE . ..t e 6.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets .............. 8.0%
Future compensation increase rate ........... ..o 4.5%
Health care cost increase rate (ultimate rate):
Following year ... 10.0%
Decreasing to the year 2008. ... ... .................. 5.0%

The principal assumptions are considered appropriate given
the underlying investment portfolio asset mix, nature of
liabilities which are primarily for active employees,
expected compensation and health care cost trends. The
expected long-term rate of return on assets of 8% is based
on the current and expected asset mix which is approxi-
mately 60% in equity investments and 40% in fixed income
investments. The discount rate of 6.75% was based on an
analysis of current and historical interest rates and the
duration of plan obligations.

FUTURE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

See note 1 of notes to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for o discussion of recently issued
accounting pronouncements,

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains, and oral statements by management
of the Company may contain, certain ‘‘forward-looking
statements’” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, All statements, other than
statements of historical facts, may be forward-looking
statements. Specifically, the Company has forward-looking
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statements about the Company's results of operations,
financial condition, liquidity, and the sufficiency of the
Company's asbestos reserves under the heading "*Out-
look™ and elsewhere.

Many risks and uncertainties may impact the matters
addressed in these forward-looking statements. Actual
results may differ materially from those expressed or
implied. In particular, the sufficiency of the Company's
asbestos reserves, as well as the Company's results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity, to the extent
impacted by the sufficiency of the Company's asbestos
reserves, is subject to a number of potential adverse
developments including, among others, adverse develop-
ments involving asbestos claims and related litigation, the
willingness of parties, including the Company, to settle
disputes, the impact of aggregate policy coverage limits,
and the impact of bankruptcies of various asbestos
producers and related businesses.

Some of the other factors that could cause actual results to
differ include, but are not limited to, the following: the
Company's inability to obtain price increases due to
competition or otherwise; the performance of the Com-
pany’s investment portfolios, which could be adversely
impacted by adverse developments in U.S. and global
financial markets, interest rates and rates of inflation;
weakening U.S. and global economic conditions; insuffi-
ciency of, or changes in, loss reserves; the occurrence of
catastrophic events, both natural and man-made, including
terrorist acts, with a severity or frequency exceeding the
Company's expectations; exposure to, and adverse devel-
opments involving, environmental claims and related litiga-
tion; adverse changes in loss cost trends, including
inflationary pressures in medical costs and auto and home
repair costs; developments relating to coverage and
liability for mold claims; the effects of corporate bankrupt-
cies on surety bond claims; adverse developments in the
cost, availability and/or ability to collect reinsurance; the
ability of the Company's subsidiaries to pay dividends to
the Company; adverse outcomes in legal proceedings;
judicial expansion of policy coverage and the impact of
new theories of liability; larger than expected assessments
for guaranty funds and mandatery pooling arrangements; a
downgrade in the Company's claims-paying and financial
strength ratings; the loss or significant restriction on the
Company’s ability to use credit scoring in the pricing and
underwriting of Personal Lines policies; and amendments to,
and changes to the risk-based capital requirements. The
Company’s forward-looking statements speak only as of
the date of this report or as of the date they are made,
and the Company undertakes no obligation to update
these forward-looking statements.



item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

MARKET RiISK

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes
in market rates and prices, such as interest rates, foreign
currency exchange rates, and other relevant market rate or
price changes. Market risk is directly influenced by the
volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the related
underlying assets are traded. The following is a discussion
of the Company's primary market risk exposures and how
those exposures are currently managed as of Decem-

ber 31, 2002. The Company’s market risk sensitive
instruments, including derivatives, are primarily entered into
for purposes other than trading.

The carrying value of the Company’s investment portfolio
as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $38.425 billion
and $32.619 billion, respectively, of which 78% and 79%
was invested in fixed maturity securities, respectively. The
primary market risk to the investment portfolio is interest
rate risk associated with investments in fixed maturity
securities. The Company's exposure to equity price risk and
foreign exchange risk is not significant. The Company has
no direct commodity risk.

For fixed maturity securities, short-term liquidity needs and
the potential liquidity needs of the business are key factors
in managing the portfolio. The portfolio duration relative to
the liabilities” duration is primarily managed through cash
market transactions.

For the Company’s investment portfolio, there were no
significant changes in the Company’s primary market risk
exposures or in how those exposures are managed
compared to the year ended December 31, 2001. The
Company does not currently anticipate significant changes
in its primary market risk exposures or in how those
exposures are managed in future reporting periods based
upon what is known or expected to be in effect in future
reporting periods.

The primary market risk for all of the Company’s debt and
mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts (trust
securities ) is interest rate risk at the time of refinancing.
The Company monitors the interest rate environment and
evaluates refinancing opportunities as maturity dates ap-
proach. For additional information regarding the Com-
pany's debt and trust securities see notes 8 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements as well as the Liquidity
and Capital Resources section of Management's Discussion
and Analysis.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Sensitivity analysis is defined as the measurement of
potential loss in future earnings, fair values or cash flows of
market sensitive instruments resulting from one or more
selected hypothetical changes in interest rates and other
market rates or prices over a selected time. In the
Company's sensitivity analysis model, a hypothetical
change in market rates is selected that is expected to
reflect reasonably possible near-term changes in those
rates. "'Near-term'” means a period of time going forward
up to one year from the date of the consolidated financial
statements. Actual results may differ from the hypothetical
change in market rates assumed in this disclosure, espe-
cially since this sensitivity analysis does not reflect the
results of any actions that would be taken by the Company
to mitigate such hypothetical losses in fair value.

In this sensitivity analysis model, the Company uses fair
values to measure its potential loss. The sensitivity analysis
model includes the following financial instruments entered
info for purposes other than trading: fixed maturities,
interest-bearing non-redeemable preferred stocks, mort-
gage loans, short-term securities, cash, investment income
accrued, fixed rate trust securities and derivative financial
instruments. The primary market risk to the Company's
market sensitive instruments is interest rate risk. The
sensitivity analysis model uses a 100 basis point change in
interest rates to measure the hypothetical change in fair
value of financial instruments included in the model.

For invested assets, duration modeling is used to calculate
changes in fair values. Durations on invested assets are
adjusted for call, put and interest rate reset features.
Duration on tax-exempt securities is adjusted for the fact
that the yield on such securities is less sensitive to changes
in interest rates compared to Treasury securities. Invested
asset portfolio durations are calculated on a market value
weighted basis, including accrued investment income, using
holdings as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.

For debt and fixed rate trust securities, the change in fair
value is determined by calculating hypothetical Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001 ending prices based on vyields
adjusted to reflect a 100 basis point change, comparing
such hypothetical ending prices to actual ending prices,
and multiplying the difference by the par or securities
outstanding.

The sensitivity analysis model used by the Company
produces a loss in fair value of market sensitive instruments
of approximately $1.5 billion based on a 100 basis point
increase in interest rates as of December 31, 2002 and
2001. This loss value only reflects the impact of an interest
rate increase on the fair value of the Company’s financial
instruments, which constitute approximately 57% of total
assets and approximately 6% of total liabilities as of
December 31, 2002 and approximately 52% of total




assets and approximately 9% of total liabilities as of
December 31, 2001. As a result, the loss value excludes a
significant portion of the Company's consolidated balance
sheet which would materially mitigate the impact of the loss
in fair value associated with a 100 basis point increase in
interest rates.

For example, some non-financial instruments, primarily
insurance accounts for which the fixed maturity portfolic’s
primary purpose is to fund future claims payments, are not
reflected in the development of the above loss value. These
non-financial instruments include premium balances receiva-
ble, reinsurance recoverables, claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves and unearned premium reserves, The
Company's sensitivity model also calculates a potential loss
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in fair value with the inclusion of these non-financial
instruments. For non-financial instruments, changes in fair
value are determined by calculating the present value of
the estimated cash flows associated with such instruments
using risk-free rates as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
caleulating the resulting duration, then using that duration to
determine the change in value for a 100 basis point
change.

Based on the sensitivity analysis model the Company uses,
the loss in fair value of market sensitive instruments,
including these non-financial instruments, as a result of @
100 basis point increase in interest rates as of Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001 is not material.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Travelers Property Casualty Corp.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Travelers Property Casualty Corp. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. These consolidated
financial siatements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Travelers Property Casualty Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
goodwill and other intangible assets in 2002 and its methods of accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities
ond for securitized financial assets in 2001.

/s/ KPMG tLP

Hartford, Connecticut
January 23, 2003
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TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)

(in millions, except per share datal

For the year ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Revenues
PrEMIUMS « o v v e ettt e e e e e e e e $11,1535.3 §$ 9,4109 $ 8,462.2
Net INVESIMENt INCOME o .ttt e e e e e e e e e 1,880.5 2,034.0 2,161.6
P MCOME L ittt it it e et et e e e e 454.9 347.4 312.4
Realized investment gains. .. ..o vttt e 146.7 322.5 47.0
Recoveries from former affiliate ... i 520.0 - -
Other FBVENUES . . ettt ettt et e et e e e 112.3 115.7 87.8

Total revemUes . .. .o e 14,269.7 12,230.5 11,071.0
Claims and expenses
Claims and claim adjustment expenses. .. ..o 11,138.8 7.764.7 6,472.9
Amortization of deferred acquisition Costs ... ..o ov e 1,810.2 1,538.7 1,298.4
INEErESt BXPEBMSE vttt e 156.8 204.9 295.5
General and administrative expenses. .. ... i i 1,424.0 1,333.2 1,140.6

Total cloims and exXpenses. . .. ... .. i 14,529.5 10,841.5 9,207 .4
Income (loss) before federal income taxes, minority interest and

cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles ................ {259.8) 1,389.0 1,863.6
Federal income taxes (benefit) ... .. . (476.5) 326.8 491.3
Minority interest, net of tax . ... it i e .3 - 60.1
Income before cumulative effect of changes in sccounting principles ... 215.% 1,062.2 1,312.2
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles for:

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net of tax .................... ... .. (242.6) - -

Derivative instrumenis and hedging activities, net of tax .................... - 4.5 -

Securitized financial assets, net of tax ... - (1.3) -
Net income (1oss) ... $ (27.0) 31,0654 % 1,312.2
Basic and diluted eamm%s per shore
Income before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles ........... $ 023 §$ 1.38 % 1.71
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles ........................ {0.26) 0.01 -
Net income (10SS) .ottt e e e % (0.03) % 1.39 % 1.71
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding.................... 949.5 769.0 769.0
Weighted overage number of common shares outstanding and common stock

BQUIVABNTS L e 951.2 769.0 769.0

See notes to consolidated financia! statements.
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TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in millions, except shares and per share data)

At December 31, 2002 2001
Assets
Fixed maturities, available for sale at fair value (including $580.5 and $975.7 at

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, subject to securities lending agreements)

{amortized cost $28,877.8 and $25,460.5) . . . $30,003.2 $25,850.7
Equity securities, at fair value (cost $861.9 and $980.4) . ... ... . i i, 851.5 984.0
Mortgage oans . ..o 237.9 274.4
Real estate held for sale. .. ... 12.5 38.3
SR Ot IM SECUM S o . vttt e et e e e 4,853.6 2,798.3
Trading SECUMHES . . .. vttt 40.7 628.1
Other INVESIMENIS . . oottt e e 2,405.8 2,044.8

Total INVESIMENIS L 38,425.2 32,618.6
Cash o 92.2 236.9
Investment income accrued .. ... . 339.3 359.5
Premium balances receivable . ... 3,861.4 3,657.0
Reinsurance recoverables . ... o 10,9277.5 11,047.3
Deferred acquisition COStS . ... o et 873.0 768.1
Deferred federal income 1axXes .. ..ot 1,447.1 1,182.4
Contractholder receivables . ... . 2,544.1 2,197.8
GoodWill .o 2,411.5 2,576.5
Receivables for investment sales . ... . 138.7 129.7
Ol ASSEES o ot ottt e 3,027.5 3,004.0

Total ASSETS . . o $64,137.5 $57,777.8
Liabilities
Claims and claim adjustment eXpense reserves . ... ...t $33,736.0 $30,736.6
Unearned premiUm reServes .. ...ttt e et e e 6,459.9 5,666.9
Contractholder payables ... . 2,544.7 2,197.8
Notes payable to former affiliates . . ... e 700.0 1,697.7
Long-term debt ..o o 926.2 379.8
Convertible junior subordinated notes payable ... . 867.8 -
Convertible notes payable .. ... .. 49.7 -
Payables for investment purchases ... ... it 3,737.9 485.2
Securities lending payable .. .. e 597.9 1,001.7
Other liabilities . ..o 3,480.7 4,025.8

Total liabilities. ... ... .. . e 53,100.2 46,191.5
TIGH!-obligated mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts holding solely junior

subordinated debt securities of TIGHI . ... .. ... ... . . . . 9200.0 200.0
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock:

Class A, $.01 par value, 1.5 billion shares authorized, 504.2 million and 26%.0 million

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively . ................ 5.0 2.7

Class B, $.01 par value, 1.5 billion shares authorized, 500.0 million issued and outstanding .. 5.0 50
Additional paid-in capital ... 8,618.4 4,433.0
Retained @amiNgsS. . .ottt e 880.5 6,004.2
Accumulated other changes in equity from nonowner sources. ..o ... 656.6 241.4
Treasury stock, at cost (shares 338,068 and O) ... .. ... . (£4.9) -
Unearned compensation ... ... ...ttt (23.3) -

Total shareholders’ equity ... ... i e 10,137.3 10,686.3

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. ... .. . . . s $64,137.5 $57,777.8

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in millions)

For the year ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Commeon stock and additional paid-in capital
Balance, beginning of year. .. .. e $ 4,440.7 $ 3,823.4 $ 3,792.1
Net proceeds from initial public offering ... ... 4,089.5 - -
Employee stock-based compensation plans ... ... .. o 64.7 - -
Acquisition of affliates .. ... .o i - 578.0 -
(@ 1= 33.5 39.3 31.3
Balance, end of year. ..o 8,628.4 4,440.7 3,823.4
Retained carnings
Balance, beginning of year. ... .. 6,004.2 4,989.9 2,818.5
Net income (oSS ) ..ot e e (27.0) 1,065.4 1,312.2
Receipts from former subsidiaries . ... i 157.5 474.9 859.2
DIVIdEeNdS . .\ (5,254.2) (526.0) -
Balance, end of year. ... ..o 880.5 6,004.2 4,989.9
Accumulated other changes in equity from nonowner sources, net of tax
Balance, beginning of year. ... e 241 .4 400.7 {171.0)
Net unreclized gains on investment securities obtained as part of offiliate acquisition. . - 21.1 -
Net unrealized geain (loss) on investment securities, net of reclassification adjustment
(see note 10} ..... e e e e e e e e e e 475.4 (172.0) 577.8
Minimum pension liability adjustment (see note 12) ... .. .. oo i .. (68.3) - -
Other T 8.1 (8.4) (6.1)
Balance, end of year. .. v e 656.6 241.4 400.7
Treasury stock {at cos?)
Balance, beginning of year. .. .. i - - -
Net employee stock based compensation plans ... ..., {4.9) - -
Balance, end of vear. ... ... {4.9) - -
Unearned compensation
Balance, beginning of year. . ... e - - -
Net issuance of restricted stock under employee stock based compensation plans . ... (29.3) - -
Restricted stock amortization. . ... ... 6.0 - -
Balance, end of year. ... ... . {23.3) - -
Total shareholders’ equity ... ..o\t $10,137.3  $10,686.3 $ 9,214.0
Common shares outsianding
Balonce, beginning of year. ... ... . e 76%9.0 769.0 769.0
Shares issued in Initial Public Offering ... ..o oo i 231.0 - -
Net shares issued for employee stock based compensation plans .................. 4.2 - -
Shares reacquired . ... .. e {(.3) - -
Balance, end of year. ... . 1,003.9 769.0 769.0
Summary of changes in equity from nonowner sources
Net income (loss) ... i $  (27.0) $ 10654 §$ 1,312.2
Other changes in equity from nonowner sources, netof tax ... ..., 415.2 (180.4) 571.7
Total changes in equity from NONOWNEr SOUrces .................couuuiu oo ... $ 3882 $ 8850 $ 1.,883.9

“"Includes foreign currency translation adjustments, hedged futures contracts and the cumulative effect of the change in
accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions}

For the year ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net INCOME 11088 ) L.t e e $ {27.0) $ 10654 $ 13122
Adiustments to reconcile net income to net cosh provided by operating activities
Realized iMvestment Gains . .« ..ot e e (146.7) {322.5) {47.0)
Cumuiative effect of changes in accounting principles, netof tax. ... ... ... i 242.6 (3.2} -
Depreciation and amortizalion. ... .ot e 41.8 121.9 90.4
Deferred federal iNnCome tax@s .. ..t t ({588.8) 1.1 166.7
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs ... .o 1,810.2 1,538.7 1,298.4
Premium balonces receivable . ... o {204.4) {174.1) {179.1}
ReinsUrance TeCoverables . . ... .. 69.8 (1,386.2) {168.4)
Deferred policy GequisSiion COSES . ...ttt ottt e e e {1,915.1) (1,619.8) {1,355.0)
SN NCE TS BIVES « ottt ittt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e 3,792.4 1,886.6 {102.0)
Trading aeecount GCtiVIfIES ... oo e e 115.6 {73.8) -
M . (264.8) 175.1 1352.7)
Net cash provided by operating activities .. ................ ... ... ... . i i 2,925.6 1,219.2 663.5
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of investments
BB MU S .+« st ettt e e 3,013.3 2,081.4 1,805.6
Mortgage [oaNSs . . o e 21.6 15.8 288.6
Proceeds from sales of investments
Y 1ot (¥ =1 14,699.0 14,469.2 12,506.6
EQUItY SBCUMIHES oo ottt e et e e e e e e 127.2 469.7 2,354.7
Redl estate held for sale. ... ... i 23.3 - 18.7
Purchases of investments
Fixed MOIURI S . o ottt e e e {20,861.4) (16,008.7) {12,802.8)
BQUITY SBCUTIIIBS oot ittt e ettt e e e e {99.6) (67.4) {2,331.8)
Mortgage loans ... {5.2) (4.1) (40.4)
REAl B . . oo (1.2) (6.2) -
Tender offer of minority interest shareholders . ... ... .. . i - - (2,398.6)
Short-term securities, (purchases] sales, Net. .. .. .. . (2,055.3) (106.1) (1,086.5)
Other INVE S MENTS, Nt L o it e et e e 244.7 (647.9) (5905.9)
Securities transactions in course of settlement . ... ... . L 2,623.4 58.3 491.4
BUSINESS QCQUISTHONS Lot e - (329.5) (298.0)
Net cash used in investing activities .. .......... ... .. ... . . i i (2,270.2) (95.5) (2,088.4)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of convertible NOtes, NEt . .. .. .ttt e 917.3 - -
Issuance of short-term debt .. ... . - 211.8 -
Payment of short-term debt .. ... e - (211.8) -
Issuance of long-term debt. .. ..o e 54%.4 - -
Payment of long-term debt ... ..o e {3.0) (500.0) -
Issuance of note payable to former affiliate ... ... . 250.0 500.0 2,391.3
Payments of notes payable to former affiliate . . ... (6,349.0) (1,040.0) (1,687.7)
Issuance of long-term debt to former affliate . ... .. . 275.0 -
Payment of long-term debt to former offliate ... ... .. L - (275.0) -
Proceeds from initial public offering ... ... e 4,089.5 - -
Issuance of common stock ~ employee stock OpHions . . ..ottt e 10.1 - -
Treasury stock QCQUIrEd . ..o e (3.7} -
Receipts from former affiligtes . ... o P 157.5 474.9 859.2
Dividends to former affliate . ... .. (157.5) (526.0)
Payment of dividend of preferred stock of subsidiary .......... ..o (2.2) - -
Purchase of real estate from former affiliate .. .. . . i e e (68.2) ~ -
Transfer of employee benefit obligations to former ofﬂlates .......................................... (172.4) - -
Transfer of lease obligations to former affiliate. ... ... (87.8) - -
Return of capital from former subsidiaries .. ... ... ot e - 8.0 3.0
Proceeds from minority investment in subsidiary . ....... .. e 89.5 - -
OHhET .+ e et e e e (19.6) - -
Net cash provided by {used in} financing activities. .................................... {800.1) (1,083.1) 1,565.8
Net increase (decrease) in Cash ... ..ottt e e {144.7) 40.6 140.9
Cash at beginning of period ... ... i 236.9 196.3 55.4
Cashatendof pericd ... ... ... . . . . . . . % 922 % 2369 % 196.3
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
INCOME FAXES PAI L ittt e e e e $ 83.4 % 3256 % 310.2
R T - I T T TRy $ 140.6 § 1207  $ 155.3

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Travelers Property Casualty Corp. {(TPC) and its
subsidiaries {collectively, the Company ). Certain reclassifi-
cations have been made to prior years' financial statements
to conform to the current year's presentation. Significant
intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
claims and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

TPC was reorganized in connection with its initial public
offering (IPO) on March 21, 2002. Pursuant to the
reorganization, which was completed on March 19, 2002,
TPC's consolidated financial statements have been adjusted
to exclude the accounts of certain formerly wholly-owned
TPC subsidiaries, principally The Travelers Insurance Com-
pany {TIC} and its subsidiaries (U.S. life insurance
operations), certain other wholly-owned non-insurance sub-
sidiaries of TPC and substantially all of TPC's assets and
certain liabllities not reloted to the property casualty
business.

On March 21, 2002, TPC issued 231 million shares of its
class A common stock in an IPO, representing approxi-
mately 23% of TPC's common equity. After the IPO,
Citigroup Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries,
Citigroup) beneficially owned all of the 500 million shares
of TPC's outstanding class B common stock, each share of
which is entitled to seven votes, and 269 million shares of
TPC's class A common stock, each share of which is
entitled to one vote, representing at the time 94% of the
combined voting power of all classes of TPC’s voting
securities and 77% of the equity interest in TPC. Concurrent
with the 1PO, TPC issued $892.5 million aggregate principal
amount of 4.5% convertible junior subordinated notes,
which mature on April 15, 2032. The IPO and the offering
of the convertible notes are collectively referred to as the
offerings. During the first quarter of 2002, TPC paid three
dividends of $1.000 billion, $3.700 billion and $395.0 mil-
lion, aggregating $5.095 billion, which were each in the
form of notes payable to Citigroup. The proceeds of the
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offerings were used to prepay the $395.0 million note and
substantially prepay the $3.700 billion note. On Decem-
ber 31, 2002, the $1.000 billion note payable was repaid
in its entirety.

In conjunction with the corporate reorganization and the
offerings described above, during March 2002, the Com-
pany entered into an agreement with Citigroup (the
Citigroup indemnification agreement) which provided that in
any year in which the Company recorded odditional
asbestos-related income statement charges in excess of
$150.0 million, net of any reinsurance, Citigroup would pay
to the Company the amount of any such excess up to a
cumulative aggregate of $800.0 million, reduced by the
tax effect of the highest applicable federal income tax
rate. During 2002, the Company recorded $2.945 billion
of asbestos incurred losses, net of reinsurance, and
accordingly has fully utilized the total benefit available
under the agreement. For the year ended December 31,
2002, revenues include $520.0 million from Citigroup under
this agreement. At December 31, 2002, other assets
include a $360.6 million receivable from Citigroup under
this agreement. Included in federal income taxes in the
consolidated statement of income is a tax benefit of
$280.0 million related to the asbestos charge covered by
the agreement. See note 6.

On August 20, 2002, Citigroup made a tax-free distribution
to its stockholders (the Citigroup Distribution), of a portion
of its ownership interest in TPC, which, together with the
shares issued in the IPO, represented more than 90% of
TPC's common equity and more than 0% of the combined
voting power of TPC’s outstanding voting securities. For
each 100 shares of Citigroup outstanding common stock,
approximately 4.32 shares of TPC class A common stock
and 8.88 shares of TPC class B common stock were
distributed. At December 31, 2002, Citigroup held 9.95%
of TPC's common equity and 9.98% of the combined
voting power of TPC's outstanding voting securities. Citi-
group received o private letter ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service that the Citigroup Distribution is tax-free to
Citigroup, its stockholders and TPC. As part of the ruling
process, Citigroup agreed to vote the shares it continues to
hold following the Citigroup Distribution pro rata with the
shares held by the public and to divest the remaining
shares it holds within five years following the Citigroup
Distribution.

On August 20, 2002, in connection with the Citigroup
Distribution, stock-based awards held by Company employ-
ees on that date under Citigroup’s various incentive plans
were cancelled and replaced by awards under the
Company's own incentive programs. See note 11.




of its primary subsidiary, Travelers Insurance Group Hold-
ings Inc. (TIGHI), o property casualty insurance holding
company. Also included are the accounts of Citilnsurance
International Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries (Citi-
Insurance ), the principal assets of which are investments in
the property casualty and life operations of Fubon Insur-
ance Co., ltd. and Fubon Assurance Co., Ltd., with respect
to results prior to March 1, 2002. On February 28, 2002,
the Company sold Citilnsurance to other Citigroup affiliated
companies for $402.6 million, its net book value. The
Company has applied $137.8 million of the proceeds from
this sale to repay intercompany indebtedness to Citigroup.
In addition, the Company has purchased from Citigroup
affiliated companies the premises located at One Tower
Square, Hartford, Connecticut and other properties for
$68.2 million. Additionally, certain liabilities relating to
employee benefit plans and lease obligations were os-
signed and assumed by Citigroup offiliated companies. In
connection with these assignments, the Company trans-
ferred $172.4 million and $87.8 million, respectively, to
Citigroup aoffiliated companies.

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, the Company provided
and purchased services to and from Citigroup affliated
companies, including facilities management, banking and
financial functions, benefit coverages, data processing
services and short-term investment pool management ser-
vices. Charges for these shared services were allocated at
cost. In connection with the Citigroup Distribution, the
Company and Citigroup and its aoffiliates entered into @
transition services agreement for the provision of certain of
these services, tradenome and trademark and similar
agreements related to the use of trademarks, logos and
tradenames and an amendment to the March 26, 2002
Intercompany Agreement with Citigroup. See note 16.

Certain equity securities with readily determinable fair
values in the amount of $361.2 million and owned directly
by the Company were reported in trading securities at
December 31, 2001. As part of the Citigroup Distribution,
these investments have been restructured such that the
Company no longer controls the investments. As a result,
these investments are now equity securities accounted for
under the equity method. There is no impact on earnings
related to this change. These investments have been
reclassified to other investments. In addition, similar invest-
ments included in equity securities at December 31, 2001,
in the amount of $96.4 million and $%8.3 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, have been
reclassified to other investments.

During April 2000, TPC completed a cash tender offer to
purchase all of the outstanding shares of Class A Common

TPC’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts

Stock of TIGHI at a price of $41.95 per share. See note 2.
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Accounting Changes

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure

in December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board {FASB} issued Statement of Financial Standards

No. 148 “‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ~
Transition and Disclosure’ {FAS 148), an amendment to
FASB Statement No. 123 *'Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (FAS 123). Provisions of this Statement
provide two additional alternative transition methods: modi-
fied prospective method and retroactive restatement
method, for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair
value based method of accounting for stock-based em-
ployee compensation. The Statement eliminates the use of
the original FAS 123 prospective method of transition
olternative for those entities that change to the fair value
based method in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2003. It also amends the disclosure provisions of FAS 123
to require prominent annual disclosure about the effects on
reported net income in the Summary of Significant Account-
ing Policies and also requires disclosure about these effects
in interim financial statements. These provisions are effective
for financial statements for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2002. Accordingly, the Company has
adopted the applicable disclosure requirements of this
statement for year-end reporting. The transition provisions
of this statement apply upon adoption of the FAS 123 fair
value based method. See Stock-Based Compensation in
note 1 for discussion of adoption of FAS 123 and transition
alternative.

Business Combinations, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FASB
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (FAS 141} and No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets' (FAS 142). These
standards change the accounting for business combinations
by, among other things, prohibiting the prospective use of
pooling-of-interests accounting and requiring companies to
stop amortizing goodwill and certain intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life created by business combinations
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
Instead, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have an
indefinite useful life will be subject to an annual review for
impairment. Other intangible assets that are not deemed to
have an indefinite useful life will continue to be amortized
over their useful lives.

The Company stopped amortizing goodwill on January 1,
2002. Net income and earnings per share adjusted to



exclude goodwill amortization expense for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows:

{for the year ended December 31,

in millions, except per share data) 2001 2000
Net income

Reported net income..................... $1,065.4  $1,312.2
Goodwill amortization ................... 71.8 63.1
Adjusted net income ... L .. e $1,137.2 $1,375.3
Basic and diluted sarnings per share

Reported earnings per share.............. $ 13 $ 1.7
Goodwill amortization ... .. ... .. ... ..... 0.09 0.08
Adjusted earnings per share .............. $ 148 $ 179

During the quarter ended March 31, 2002, the Company
performed the transitional impairment tests using the fair
value approach required by FAS 142. Based on these
tests, the Company impaired $220.0 million after tax of
goodwill and $22.6 million after tax of indefinite-lived
intangible assets representing the value of insurance oper-
ating licenses, all attributable to The Northland Company
and subsidiaries (Northland), as a cumulative effect
adjustment as of January 1, 2002, The fair value of the
Northland reporting unit was based on the use of o multiple
of earnings model. The fair value of Northland’s indefinite-
lived intangible assets was based on the present volue of
estimated net cash flows. The Northland reporting unit is a
component of the Commercial Lines operating segment.

The Company had customer-related intangible assets with @
gross carrying amount of $470.6 million as of both
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and with accumulated
amortization of $90.8 million and $55.4 million as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which are
included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
Amortization expense was $35.4 million, $34.5 million and
$20.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Intangible assets amortiza-
tion expense is estimated to be $35.4 million, $34.2 mil-
lion, $31.3 million, $29.6 million and $29.6 million in 2003,
2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Standords No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived
Assets’’ (FAS 144). FAS 144 establishes a single account-
ing model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale.
A long-lived asset classifled as held for sale is to be
measured at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value
less cost to sell and depreciation (amortization of the
asset) ceases. Impairment is recognized only if the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable
from its undiscounted cash flows and is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount and fair value of
the asset. Llong-lived assets to be abandoned, exchanged

for a similar productive asset, or distributed to owners in a
spin-oft are considered held and used until disposed of.
Accordingly, discontinued operations are no longer to be
measured on a net realizable value basis, and future
operating losses are no longer recognized before they
occur. The provisions of the new standard are to be
applied prospectively. The adoption of FAS 144 did not
have a significant effect on results of operations, financial
condition or liquidity.

Accounting by Certain Entities (Including Entities
With Trade Receivables) That Lend to or Finance
the Activities of Others

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Accounting Stan-
dards Executive Committee Statement of Position 01-06,
“Accounting by Certain Entities {Including Entities With
Trade Receivables) That Lend to or Finance the Activities of
Others’ (SOP 01-06). This SOP applies to any entity that
lends to or finances the activities of others. SOP 01-06
clarifies that accounting and financial reporting practices for
lending and financing activities should be the same regard-
less of the type of entity engaging in those activities.

SOP 01-06 provides certain presentation and disclosure
changes for entities with trade receivables as part of the
objective of requiring consistent accounting and reporting
for like transactions. This SOP also provides specific
guidance for other types of transactions specific to certain
financial institutions. To the extent an entity is not consid-
ered such a financial institution, the other guidance pro-
vided is not applicable. The adoption of this SOP did not
have a significant impact on the Company's results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“*Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties” (FAS 133). FAS 133 establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments, including
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts
{collectively referred to as derivatives), and for hedging
activities. It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives
as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet and measure those instruments at fair value. If certain
conditions are met, a derivative may be specifically
designated as (a) a hedge of the exposure to changes in
the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an
unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a hedge of the
exposure to variable cash flows of a recognized asset or
liability or a forecasted transaction, or [c) a hedge of the
foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign
operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an available
for sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated fore-
casted transaction. The accounting for changes in the fair




value of a derivative (that is, gains and losses) depends
on the intended use of the derivative and the resuiting
designation. See note 14.

As a result of adopting FAS 133, the Company recorded a
benefit of $4.5 million after tax, reflected as a cumulative
effect adjustment in the consolidated statement of income
and a charge of $4.0 million after tax, reflected as a
cumulative effect adjustment in the accumulated other
changes in equity from nonowner sources section of
shareholder’s equity. In addition, the Company redesig-
nated certain investments as trading from available for sale
in accordance with the transition provisions of FAS 133
resulting in a gross gain of $8.0 million after tax, reflected
in realized investment gains (losses).

Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on
Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in
Securitized Financial Assets

Effective April 1, 2001, the Company adopted FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 99-20, “‘Recognition of
Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained
Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets”

(EITF 99-20). EITF 99-20 provides new guidance on the
recognition and measurement of interest income and
impairment on certain investments, e.g., certain asset-
backed securities. The recognition of impairment resulting
from the adoption of EITF 99-20 is to be recorded as a
cumulative effect adjustment as of the beginning of the
fiscal quarter in which it is adopted. Interest income on
beneficial interests falling within the scope of EITF 99-20 is
to be recognized prospectively. As a result of adopting
EITF 99-20, the Company recorded a charge of $1.3 mil-
lion after tax, reflected as a cumulative effect adjustment.
The implementation of this EITF did not have a significant
impact on results of operations, financial condition or
liquidity.

Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Licbilities

In September 2000, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 140, “‘Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities, a replacement of FASB Statement No. 125"
{FAS 140}. Provisions of FAS 140 primarily relating to
transfers of financial assets and securitizations that differ
from provisions of “‘Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”

{FAS 125} are effective for transfers taking place after
March 31, 2001. Special purpose entities (SPEs) used in
securitizations that are currently qualifying SPEs under

FAS 125 will continue to be treated as qualifying SPEs as
long as they issue no new beneficial interests and accept
no new asset transfers after March 31, 2001, other than
transfers committed to prior to that date. Under FAS 140,
qualifying SPEs are not consolidated by the transferor.
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FAS 140 also amends the accounting for collateral and
requires new disclosures for collateral, securitizations and
retained interests in securitizations. These provisions were
effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2000. The accounting for collateral, as
amended, requires {a) certain assets pledged as collateral
to be separately reported in the consolidated balance
sheet from assets not so encumbered and (b) disclosure
of assets pledged as collateral that have not been
reclassified and separately reported. The adoption of

FAS 140 did not have a significant effect on results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity. See note 4.

Accounting Policies

Investments

Fixed maturities include bonds, notes and redeemable
preferred stocks. Fixed maturities are valued based upon
quoted market prices or dealer quotes, or if quoted market
prices or dealer quotes are not available, discounted
expected cash flows using market rates commensurate with
the credit quality and maturity of the investment. Also
included in fixed maturities are loan-backed and structured
securities, which are amortized using the retrospective
method. The effective yield used to determine amortization
is calculated based upon actual historical and projected
future cash flows, which are obtained from a widely-
accepted securities data provider. Fixed maturities, includ-
ing instruments subject to securities lending agreements
(see note 4), are classified as “available for sale” and
are reported at fair value, with unrealized investment gains
and losses, net of income taxes, charged or credited
directly to shareholders’ equity.

Equity securities, which include common and nonredeem-
able preferred stocks, are classified as available for sale
and carried at fair value based on quoted market prices.
Changes in fair values of equity securities are charged or
credited directly to shareholders’ equity, net of income
taxes.

Mortgage loans are carried at amortized cost. A mortgage
loan is considered impaired when it is probable that the
Company will be unable to collect principal and interest
amounts due. For morigage loans that are determined to
be impaired, a reserve is established for the difference
between the amortized cost and fair market value of the
underlying collateral. In estimating fair value, the Company
uses interest rates reflecting the current real estate financ-
ing market returns. Impaired loans were not significant at
December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Real estate held for sale is carried at the lower of cost or
fair value less estimated costs to sell. Fair value is
established at the time of acquisition by internal analysis or
external appraisers, using discounted cash flow analyses
and other acceptable techniques. Thereatfter, an impairment



is taken if the carrying value of the property exceeds its
current fair value less estimated costs to sell.

Accrual of income is suspended on fixed maturities or
mortgage loans that are in default, or on which it is likely
that future payments will not be made as scheduled.
Interest income on investments in default is recognized only
as payment is received. Investments included in the consoli-
dated balance sheet that were not income-producing for
the preceding 12 months were not significant.

Trading securities and related liabilities are normally held
for periods of less than six months. These investiments are
marked to market with the change recognized in net
investment income during the current period.

Short-term securities, consisting primarily of money market
instruments and other debt issues purchased with a maturity
of less than one year, are carried at amortized cost, which
approximates fair value.

Other invested assets include certain private equity securi-
ties along with partnership investments and real estate joint
ventures accounted for on the equity method of accounting.
Undistributed income is reported in net investment income.

Investment Gains and Losses

Realized investment gains and losses are included as @
component of pretax revenues based upon specific identifi-
cation of the investments sold on the trade date. An
investment in a debt or equity security is impaired if its fair
value falls below its book value and the decline is
considered other than temporary. Factors considered in
determining whether a loss is other than temporary include
the length of time and extent to which fair value has been
below cost; the financial condition and near term prospects
of the issuer; and, the Company’s ability and intent to hold
the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for
any anficipated recovery. A debt security is impaired if it is
probable that the Company will not be able to collect all
amounts due under the security’s contractual terms. Equity
investments are impaired when it becomes apparent thot
the Company will not recover its cost over the expected
holding period. Other-than-temporary declines in fair value
of investments are included in realized investment gains and
losses.

Reinsurance Recoverables

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a
manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the
reinsured business. Such recoverables are reported net of
an allowence for estimated uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables and amounts due from known reinsurer
insolvencies. The Company evaluates and monitors the
financial condition of its reinsurers under voluntary reinsur-

ance arrangement to minimize its exposure to significant
losses from reinsurer insolvencies. See note 5.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Amounts which vary with and are primarily related to the
production of new insurance contracts, primarily commis-
sions and premium taxes, are deferred and amortized pro
rata over the contract periods in which the related
premiums are earned. Deferred acquisition costs are
reviewed to determine if they are recoverable from future
income, and if not, are charged to expense. Future
investment income attributable to related premiums is taken
into account in measuring the recoverability of the carrying
value of this asset. All other acquisition expenses are
charged to operations as incurred.

Contracthclder Receivables and Payables

Under certain workers’ compensation insurance contracts
with deductible features, the Company is obligated to pay
the claimant for the full amount of the claim. The Company
is subsequently reimbursed by the policyholder for the
deductible amount. These amounts are included on o gross
basis in the consolidated balance sheet in contractholder
payables and contractholder receivables, respectively.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company adopted FAS 141 and FAS 142 effective
January 1, 2002. See note 1, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, Accounting Changes. Upon adoption of
FAS 141 and FAS 142, the Company stopped amortizing
goodwill. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually using a two-step process. The first step is
performed to identify potential impairment and, if neces-
sary, the second step is performed for the purpose of
measuring the amount of impairment, if any. Other intangi-
ble assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite useful
life continue to be amortized over their useful lives. The
Company does not have indefinite-lived intangible assets as
of December 31, 2002.

The carrying amount of intangible assets that are not
deemed to have an indefinite useful life is regularly
reviewed for indicators of impairments in value in accor-
dance with FAS 144. Impairment is recognized only if the
carrying amount of the intangible asset is not recoverable
from its undiscounted cash flows and is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of the asset.

Prior to the adoption of FAS 141 and FAS 142, goodwill
was generally being amortized on a straight-line basis over
a 40-year period. TPC's purchase of the outstanding
shares of Class A Common Stock of TIGHI (see note 2)
generated goodwill of $984.5 million, which was amortized
on a straight-line basis over a 36-year period. The




Company's acquisition of The Northland Company and its
subsidiaries (see note 2) included goodwill and intangible
assets of $242.6 million, which were amortized on a
straight-line basis over a 20-year period for goodwill and
periods of 15 to 20 years for the intangible assets. The
Company's acquisition of the surety business of Reliance
Group Holdings, Inc. (Reliance Surety) (see note 2)
included an intangible asset of $450.0 million, which is
being amortized on a straight-line basis over a 15-year
period.

Receivables for investment Sales

Receivables for investment sales represent amounts due the
Company from investment brokers for securities sold, which
are recorded as of trade date, for which the Company, in
the normal course of securities seftlement, has not yet
received the proceeds.

Claims and Claim Adjustment Expense Reserves
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves represent
estimated provisions for both reported and unreported
claims incurred and related expenses. The reserves are
adjusted regularly based upon experience. Included in the
claims and claim adjustment expense reserves in the
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002 and
2001 are $1.370 billion and $1.358 billion, respectively,
of reserves related to workers' compensation that have
been discounted using an interest rate of 5%. Also included
at December 31, 2002, are $456.1 million of reserves
related to certain fixed and determinable asbestos-related
settlements, where all payment amounts and their timing are
known [see note &), that have been discounted using a
range of interest rates of 1.56% to 5.50%.

In determining claims and claim adjustment expense
reserves, the Company carries on a continuing review of its
overall position, its reserving technigues and its reinsurance.
The reserves are also reviewed periodically by a qualified
actuary employed by the Company. These reserves repre-
sent the estimated ultimate cost of all incurred claims and
claim adjustment expenses. Since the reserves are based
on sstimates, the ultimate liability may be more or less than
such reserves. The effects of chonges in such estimaied
reserves are included in the results of operations in the
period in which the estimates are changed. Such changes
may be material to the results of operations and financial
condition and could occur in a future period.

Payables for Investment Purchases

Payables for investment purchases represent amounts owed
by the Company to investment brokers for securities
purchased, which are recorded as of trade date, for which
the Company, in the normal course of securities settlement,
has not yet settled the purchase.

Securities Lending Payaoble
The Company engages in securities lending whereby
certain securities from its portfolio are loaned to other
institutions for short periods of time. The Company gener-
ally maintains cash collateral received from the borrower,
equal to at least the market value of the loaned securities
plus accrued interest, and reinvests it in a short-term
investment pool. The loaned securities remain a recorded
asset of the Company; however, the Company records a
liability for the amount of the collateral held, representing
its obligation to return the collateral related to these loaned
securifies.

Other Licbilities

Included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet is the Company's estimate of its liability for guaranty
fund and other insurance-related assessments. The liability
for expected state guaranty fund and other premium-based
assessments is recognized as the Company writes or
becomes obligated to write or renew the premiums on
which the assessments are expected to be based. The
liability for loss-based assessments is recognized as the
related losses are incurred. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Company had a liability of $171.1 million and
$200.3 million, respectively, for guaranty-fund and other
assessments and related recoveries of $14.3 million and
$23.4 million, respectively. The liability for such assess-
ments and their related recoveries are not discounted for
the time value of money. The assessments are expected to
be paid over a period ranging from one year to the life
expectancy of certain workers’ compensation claimants and
the recoveries are expected to occur over the same period
of time.

Also included in other liabilities is an accrual for policy-
holder dividends. Certain insurance contracts, primarily
workers’ compensation, are participating whereby divi-
dends are paid to policyhelders in accordance with
contract provisions. Net written premiums for participating
dividend policies were approximately 2%, 2% and 4% of
total Company net written premiums for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Policy-
holder dividends are accrued against earnings using best
available estimates of amounts to be paid. Policyholder
dividends were $14.4 million, $28.3 million and $31.5 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

Statutory Accounting Practices

The Company's insurance subsidiaries, domiciled principally
in the State of Connecticut, prepare statutory financial
statements in accordance with the accounting practices
prescribed or permitted by the insurance departments of
the states of domicile. Prescribed statutory accounting
practices are those practices that are incorporated directly
or by reference in state laws, regulations, and general




administrative rules applicable to all insurance enterprises
domiciled in a particular state. Permitted statutory account-
ing practices include practices not prescribed by the
domiciliary state, but allowed by the domiciliary state
regulatory authority. The impact of any permitted account-
ing practices on statutory surplus of the Company is not
material.

Premiums and Unearned Premium Reserves

Premiums are recognized as revenues pro rata over the
policy period. Unearned premium reserves represent the
unexpired portion of policy premiums. Accrued retrospec-
tive premiums are included in premium balances receivable.
Premium balances receivable are reported net of an
allowance for estimated uncollectible premium amounts.

Ceded premiums are charged to income over the applica-
ble term of the various reinsurance contracts with third
party reinsurers. Prepaid reinsurance premiums represent
the unexpired portion of premiums ceded to reinsurers and
are reported as part of other assets.

Fee Income

Fee income includes servicing fees from carriers and
revenues from large deductible policies and service con-
tracts and is recognized pro rata over the contract or
policy periods.

Recoveries From Former Afllicte
Recoveries from former affiliate consist of the recoveries
under the Citigroup indemnification agreement. See note 6.

Other Revenues

Other revenues include revenues from premium installment
charges, which are recognized as collected, revenues of

noninsurance subsidiaries other than fee income and gains
and losses on dispositions of assets and operations other
than reclized investment gains and losses.

Federal Income Taxes

The provision for federal income taxes comprises two
components, current income taxes and deferred income
taxes. Deferred federal income taxes arise from changes
during the year in cumulative temporary differences be-

tween the tax basis and book basis of assets and liabilities.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has an employee stock incentive compensa-
tion plan that includes stock option programs and restricted
stock progroms. See note 11.

The Company accounts for these programs under the
recognition and measurement principles of Accounting
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Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB 25}, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees™, and related interpretations.
Under APB 25 the restricted stock awards are valued
based upon fair value at the date of issuance and charged
to compensation expense ratably over the vesting period.
Prior 1o the Citigroup Distribution, the restricted stock
awards were in Citigroup common stock. The after-tax
compensation cost charged to earnings for these restricted
stock awards was $17.0 million, $19.4 million and

$16.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, respectively.

The stock option programs provide for the issuing of stock
option awards at an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of the
grant. Additionally, the Company replacement awards for
Citigroup awards issued in conjunction with the Citigroup
Distribution were at the intrinsic value of each Citigroup
option and the ratio of exercise price per share to the
market value per share was not reduced. Accordingly,
there has been no employee compensation cost recog-
nized in earnings for the stock option programs.

FAS 123 provides an alternative to APB 25 whereby fair
values may be ascribed to options using @ valuation model
and amortized to compensation cost over the vesting
period of the options. In 2002, in conjunction with the IPO
in March and the Citigroup Distribution in August, the
Company's stock option awards provide for the purchase
of the Company’s class A common shares. Prior to 2002
the stock option awards provided for the purchase of
Citigroup common stock. The following tables illustrate the
pro forma effect on net income (loss) and earnings per
share for each period indicated as if the Company opplied
the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123 to its
employee stock option incentive compensation programs.
See note 11 for a description of the method and fair value
assumptions used in estimoting the fair value of options.

The 2002 pro forma fair value of stock-based employee
compensation in the Company's class A common shares is
as follows:

(for the year ended December 31, 2002, in millions)

Net loss, as reported ............................. $ (27.0)
Add:  Stock-based employee compensction expense
included in reported net loss, net of related tax
effects'! ) L 17.0
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method, net of
related tax effects'? ... . . {96.1)
Net loss, pro forma...... ... ... o $(106.1)
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted ~as reported . ... ... $ (0.03)
Basic and diluted -proforma. ........... . oL {0.11)

‘1 Restricted stock compensation expense.
2! Includes restricted stock compensation expense.




The 2001 and 2000 pro forma fair value of stock—based
employee compensation in Citigroup’s common stock is as
follows:

The following is a reconciliation of the income and share
data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share
computations:

2001
$1,065.4

2000
$1,312.2

{for the year ended December 31, in miflions)

Net income, as reported
Add:  Stock-based employee compensation
expense included in reported net
income, net of related tax effects
Stock-based employee

compensation expense determined
under fair value based method, net
of related tax effects'?

(1]

19.4 16.3

Deduct:

{68.1}
$1,016.7

(66.9}
$1.261.6

Net income, pro forma

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted ~ as reported
Basic and diluted - pro forma

11 Restricted stock compensation expense.
2 Includes restricted stock compensation expense.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair
value based method of accounting for its employee stock-
based compensation plans as defined in FAS 123. FAS 123
indicates that the fair value based method is the preferred
method of accounting. The Company has elected to use
the prospective recognition transition alternative of FAS 148,
Under this alternative only the awards granted, modified or
settled after January 1, 2003 will be accounted for in
accordance with the fair value method. The Company does
not expect the impact of adopting the FAS 123 fair value
based method to be significant in 2003.

Earnings per Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to
common sharehclders by the weighted average number of
common shares available during the period. The computa-
tion of diluted EPS reflects the effect of potentially dilutive
securities, principally the incremental shares which are
assumed to be issued under the Company’s 2002 Incentive
Plan (see note 11). Excluded from the computation of
diluted EPS were 38.6 million of potentially dilutive shares
related to convertible junior subordinated notes {see

note 8) because the contingency conditions for their
issuance have not been satisfied. Shares have been
adjusted for all periods to give effect to the recapitalization
in March 2002, prior to the IPO, whereby the outstanding
shares of common stock (1,500 shares) were changed
into 269.0 million shares of class A common stock and
500.0 million shares of class B common stock.
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{for the year ended December 31, in

miilions, except per share amounts | 2002 2001 2000

Income before cumulative effect
of accounting changes
Cumulative effect of accounting
changes

$ 215.6 $1,062.2 $1,312.2

{242.6) 3.2

Net income (loss} available to
common shareholders for basic
EPS (numerator)

Effect of dilutive securities

(27.0) 1,0654 13122

Net income (loss) available to
common shareholders for

diluted EPS {numerator) $ (27.0) $1,065.4 $1,312.2

Weighted average common
shares outstanding applicable

to basic EPS (denominator) . .. 949.5 769.0 769.0
Effect of dilutive shares ......... 1.7 - -
Adjusted weighted average

common shares outstanding

applicable to diluted EPS

{denominator) .............. ©51.2 769.0 769.0
Basic and diluted earnings

per share
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting changes........ $ 023 $ 138 % 1.7V
Cumulative effect of accounting

changes .................... {0.26) 0.01 -
Net income {loss) ............. $ (0.03)% 139 § .71

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments, including
interest rate swaps, equity swaps, credit derivatives,
options, forward contracts and financial futures, as a means
of hedging exposure to interest rate, equity price change
and foreign currency risk. The Company’s insurance subsid-
iaries do not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading
purposes. Beginning January 1, 2001, the Company
adopted FAS 133 which establishes accounting and report-
ing standards for derivative instruments, including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for
hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognize all
derivatives as either assets or ligbilities in the consolidated
balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair value.
Where applicable, hedge accounting is used to account for
derivatives. To qualify for hedge accounting, the changes
in value of the derivative must be expected to substantially
offset the changes in value of the hedged item. Hedges
are monitored to ensure that there is a high correlation
between the derivative instruments and the hedged invest-
ment. Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are marked to market with the changes in market value
reflected in the consolidated statement of income.




Interest rate swaps, equity swaps, credit derivatives,
options, forward contracts and financial futures were not
significant at December 31, 2002 and 2001. See note 14.

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
““Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities’” (FIN 46).

FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounfing Research
Bulletin No. 51, “‘Consolidated Financial Statements'*, to
certain entities in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not
hove sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support
from other parties. It separates entities into two groups:
(1) those for which voting interests are used to determine
consolidation and (2} those for which variable interests
are used to determine consolidation (the subject of

FIN 46). FIN 46 clarifies how to identify a variable interest
entity and how to determine when a business enterprise
should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests
and results of activities of a variable interest entity in its
consolidated financial statements. FIN 46 is effective imme-
diately for variable interest entities created after Janu-
ary 31, 2003, It also applies to interim periods beginning
after June 15, 2003 and to variable interest entities
acquired before February 1, 2003. If it is reasonably
possible that an enterprise will consolidate or disclose
information about a variable interest entity when FIN 46
becomes effective, the enterprise is required to disclose in
all financial statements issued after January 31, 2003, the
nature, purpose, size and activities of the variable interest
entity and the enterprise’s maximum exposure to loss as a
result of its involvement with the variable interest entity.

At December 31, 2002, the Company held the following
investments that, for purposes of FIN 46, will need to be
evaluated to determine whether such investments should be
consolidated or disclosed as a variable interest entity in the
Company’s future financial statements:

* Real estate partnerships and joint ventures that are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting
and have a total carrying value of $250.8 million on the
consolidated balance sheet; the Company’s unfunded
commitments associated with real estate partnerships and
joint ventures were $192.2 million.

* Investment partnerships that are accounted for under the
equity method of accounting and have a carrying value
of $1.022 billion on the consolidated balance sheet; the
Company's unfunded commitments associated with invest-
ment partnerships were $662.4 million.

* Below investment grade asset-backed securities and
commercial mortgage-backed securities that are reported

78

e

ot fair value and have a carrying value of $128.1 million
on the consolidated balance sheet.

+ Equity investments that are reported at fair value and
have a carrying value of $39.1 million on the balance
sheet and private equity investments that are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting and have a
carrying value of $483.3 million on the balance sheet.
The Company's unfunded commitments associated with
private equity investments were $9.7 million.

The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, that
the consolidation provisions of FIN 46 may have on the
consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair
value method of accounting for its employee stock-based
compensation plans as defined in Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, ““Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation'” (FAS 123). FAS 123 indicates that
the fair value method is the preferable method of account-
ing. The Company adopted the fair value method prospec-
tively fo awards granted or modified after lanuary 1, 2003
as currently required by FAS 123. The Company does not
expect the impact of adopting FAS 123 to be significant in
2003.

Asset Retirement Obligations

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 143, "“Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations’™ (FAS 143). FAS 143 changes the
measurement of an asset retirement obligation from a cost-
accumulation approach to a fair value approach, where the
fair value {discounted value) of an asset retirement
obligation is recognized as a liability in the period in which
it is incurred and accretion expense is recognized using the
credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate in effect when the
liability was initially recognized. The associated asset
retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying
amount of the long-lived asset and subsequently amortized
into expense. The pre-FAS 143 prescribed practice of
reporting a retirement obligation as a contra-asset will no
longer be allowed. The Company does not expect the
impact of this new standard, which will take effect on
January 1, 2003, to be significant.

Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities

In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 146, "Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (FAS 146).
FAS 146 requires that a liability for costs associated with
exit or disposal activities be recognized when the liability is
incurred. Existing generally accepted accounting principles




provide for the recognition of such costs at the date of
management’s commitment to an exit plan. In addition,
FAS 146 requires that the liability be measured at fair value
ond be adjusted for changes in estimated cash flows. The
provisions of the new standard are effective for exit or
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The
Company does not expect the impact of this new standard
to be significant.

Nature of Operations
The Company comprises two business segments:  Commer-
cial Llines and Personal lines. See note 3.

Commercial Lines

Commercial Llines offers a broad array of property and
casualty insurance and insurance-related services. Protec-
tion is afforded to customers of Commercial Lines for the
risks of property loss such as fire and windstorm, financial
loss such as business interruption from property damage,
liability claims arising from operations and workers’ com-
pensation benefits through insurance products where risk is
transferred from the customer to Commercial Lines. Cover-
ages include workers' compensaticn, general liability, com-
mercial multi-peril, commercial automobile, property, fidelity
and surety, professional liability, and several miscellaneous
coverages.

Commercial Lines is organized into five marketing and
underwriting groups, each of which focuses on a particular
client base or product grouping to provide products and
services that specifically address customers’ needs. The
Core marketing and underwriting groups include National
Accounts, Commercial Accounts and Select Accounts, and
Specialty includes Bond and Gulf.

National Accounts provides casualty products to large
companies, with particular emphasis on workers' compensa-
tion, general liability and automobile liability. Products are
marketed through national and regional brokers. Programs
offered by National Accounts include risk management
services, such as claims settlement, loss control and risk
management information services, which are generally
offered in connection with a large deductible or self-insured
program, and risk transfer, which is typically provided
through a guaranteed cost or retrospectively rated insur-
ance policy. National Accounts clso includes the Com-
pany's residual market business, which primarily offers
workers’ compensation products and services fo the invol-
untary market.

Commercial Accounts serves primarily mid-sized businesses
for casualty products and large, mid-sized and small
businesses for property products. Commercial Accounts
sells a broad range of property and casualty insurance
products, with an emphasis on guaranteed cost products,
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through a large network of independent agents and
brokers. Within Commercial Accounts the Company has a
specialty unit which primarily writes coverages for the
trucking industry and has dedicated operations that exclu-
sively target the construction industry, providing insurance
and risk management services for virtually all areas of
construction. These dedicated operations reflect the Com-
pany's focus on industry specialization.

Select Accounts serves small businesses. Select Accounts’
products are generally guaranteed cost policies, often a
packaged product covering property and liability expo-
sures. The products are sold through independent agents.

Bond markets its products to national, mid-sized and small
customers as well as individuals, and distributes them
through both national and wholesale brokers, and retail
agents and regional brokers. Bond's range of products
includes fidelity and surety bonds, excess SIPC, directors’
and officers’ liability insurance, errors and omissions insur-
ance, professional liability insurance, employment practices
liability insurance, fiduciary liability insurance, and other
related coverages.

Gulf markets products to national, mid-sized and small
customers, and distributes them through both wholesale
brokers and retail agents. Gulf provides a diverse product
and program portfolio of specialty insurance lines, with
particular emphasis on management and professional liabil-
ity insurance. Products include various types of directors’
and officers’ insurance, fiduciary, employment practices
Iiobility insurance, errors and omissions coverages, and
fidelity and commercial crime coverages.

Net written premiums by market were as follows:

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Core
National Accounts ... ...... $ 7346 $ 4189 § 3523
Commercial Accounts . ... .. 3,556.1 2,407.1 2,098.9
Select Accounts ........... 1,869.5 1,713.2 1,575.4
TotalCore ............... 6,160.2 4,539.2 4,026.6
Specialty
Bond ..o 629.9 590.2 486.5
Guf.......oo '579.4 608.2 517.4
Total Specialty . ........... 1,209.3 1,198.4 1,003.9
Total net written premiums . ... $7,369.5 $5737.6 $5.030.5

Personal Lines

Personal Lines writes virtually all types of property and
casualty insurance covering personal risks. The primary
coverages in Personal Lines are personal automobile and
homeowners insurance sold to individuals. These products
are distributed through independent agents, sponsoring




organizations such as employee and affinity groups, and
joint marketing arrangements with other insurers.

Personal automobile policies provide coverage for ligbility
to others for both bodily injury and property damage, and
for physical damage to an insured’s own vehicle from
collision and various other perils. In addition, many states
require policies to provide first-party personal injury protec-
tion, frequently referred to as no-foult coverage.

Homeowners policies are available for dwellings, condo-
miniums, mobile homes and rental property contents.
Protection against losses to dwellings and contents from a
wide variety of perils is included in these policies, as well
as coverage for liability arising from ownership or
occupancy.

Net written premiums by product line were as follows:

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Personal automobile ...... ... $2,842.9 $2,590.7 $2,366.3
Homeowners and other ... ... 1,732.1 1,517.2 1,446.5
Total net written premiums .... $4,575.0 $4,107.9 $3,812.8

Catastrophe Exposure

The Company has geographic exposure to catastrophe
losses in certain areas of the country. Catastrophes can be
caused by various natural and man-made events including
hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter
weather, explosions and fires. The incidence and severity
of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. The extent of
losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total
amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the
event and the severity of the event. Most catastrophes are
restricted to small geographic areas; however, hurricanes
and earthquakes may produce significant damage in larger
areas, especially those that are heavily populated. The
Company generally seeks to reduce its exposure to
catastrophes through individual risk selection and the
purchase of catastrophe reinsurance.

The Company also has exposure to significant losses from
terrorism, primarily in the commercial property and workers'
compensation lines of business. On November 26, 2002,
the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (the Terrorism
Act) was enacted into Federal law and established a
temporary Federal program in the Department of the
Treasury that provides for a system of shared public and
private compensation for insured losses resulting from acts
of terrorism, committed by or on behalf of a foreign
interest. In order for a loss to be covered under the
Terrorism Act (i.e., subject losses), the loss must be the
result of an event that is certified as an act of terrorism by
the U.S. Secretary of Treasury. In the case of a war

declared by Congress, only workers’ compensation losses
are covered by the Terrorism Act. The Terrorism Insurance
Program (the Program} generally requires that ail commer-
cial property/casualty insurers licensed in the U.S. partici-
pate in the Program. The Program became effective upon
enactment and terminates on December 31, 2005. The
amount of compensation paid to participating insurers
under the Program is 0% of subject losses, after an
insurer deductible, subject to an annual cop. The deductible
under the Program is 7% for 2003, 10% for 2004, and
15% for 2005. In each case, the deductible percentage is
applied to the insurer’s direct earned premiums from the
colendar year immediately preceding the applicable year.
The Program also contains an annual cap that limits the
amount of subject losses to $100 billion aggregate per
program year. Once subject losses have reached the
$100 billion aggregate during a program year, there is no
additional reimbursement from the U.S. Treasury and an
insurer that has met its deductible for the program year is
not liable for any losses (or portion thereof) that exceed
the $100 billion cap. The Company’s deductible under this
federal program is $570.0 million for 2003 subject to final
rules to be established by the U.S. Treasury.

2. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On August 1, 2002, Commercial Insurance Resources, Inc.
{CIRI), a subsidiary of the Company and the holding
company for the Gulf Insurance Group (Gulf), completed
its previously announced transaction with a group of
outside investors and senior employees of Gulf. Capital
investments made by the investors and employees included
$85.9 million of mandatory convertible preferred stock,
$49.7 million of convertible notes and $3.6 million of
common equity, representing a 24% ownership interest, on
a fully diluted basis. The dividend rate on the preferred
stock is 6.0%. The interest rate on the notes is 6.0%
payable on an interest-only basis. The notes mature on
December 31, 2032. Trident Il, L.P., Marsh & Mclennan
Capital Professionals Fund, L.P., Marsh & Mclennan Em-
ployees’ Securities Company, L.P. and Trident Gulf Holding,
LLC (collectively, Trident) invested $125.0 million, and a
group of approximately 75 senior employees of Gulf
invested $14.2 million. Fifty percent of the CIRI senior
employees’ investment was financed by CIRI. This financing
is colloteralized by the CIR! securities purchased and is
forgivable if Trident achieves certain investment returns. The
applicable agreements provide for registration rights and
transfer rights and restrictions and other matters customarily
addressed in agreements with minority investors. Gulf's
results, net of minority interest, are included in the
Commercial lines segment.

On October 1, 2001, the Company paid $329.5 million to
Citigroup for The Northland Company and its subsidiaries
and Associates Lloyds Insurance Company. These entities




had a combined net book value of $572.1 million. The
excess of this net book value over the purchase price was
reflected as a contribution to the Company. In addition, on
October 3, 2001, the capital stock of Associates Insurance
Company, with a net book value of $356.5 million, was
contributed to the Company. These acquisitions were
accounted for as transfers of net assets between entities
under common control. The prior period financial statements
were not restated due to immateriality.

In the third quarter of 2000, the Company purchased the
renewal rights to a portion of Reliance Group Holdings,
Inc.'s commercial lines middle-market book of business. The
Company also acquired the renewal rights to Frontier
insurance Group, Inc.’s environmental, excess and surplus
lines casualty businesses and certain classes of surety
business. The final purchase price for these transactions,
which was dependent on the level of business renewed by
the Company, was approximately $26.2 million.

On May 31, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition
of the surety business of Reliance Group Holdings, Inc.
{Reliance Surety) for $580.0 million. In connection with the
acquisition, the Company entered into a reinsurance ar-
rangement for pre-existing business, and the resulting net
cash outlay for this transaction was approximately

$278.4 million. This transaction included the acquisition of
an intangible asset of approximately $450.0 million, which
is being amortized over 15 years. The results of operations
and the assets and liabilities acquired from Reliance Surety
are included in the financial statements beginning June 1,
2000. This acquisition was accounted for as a purchase.

During April 2000, TPC completed o cash tender offer to
purchase all of the outstanding shares of TIGHI that it did
not already own at a price of $41.95 per share. The total
cost of the shares acquired was approximately $2.413 bil-
lion and generated goodwill of approximately $1.006 bil-
lion. The goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the
acquired shares over the minority interest liability recorded
by TPC. in conjunction with the purchase of TIGHI's
outstanding shares, TPC entered into a note agreement
with Citigroup to borrow up to @ maximum of

$2.600 billion.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company comprises two reportable business segments:
Commercial Lines and Personal Lines. See note 1 — Nature
of Operations for a discussion of the Commercial Lines and
Personal Lines segments.

The accounting policies used to generate the following
segment data are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies in note 1. The
amount of investments in equity method investees and total
expenditures for additions to long-lived assets other than
financial instruments were not significant.
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Total
(ot and for the year ended Commercial Personal Reportable
December 31, in miflions) Lines Lines Segments
2002
Revenues
Premiums .......... $ 6,801.2 $ 4,354.1 $11,155.3
Net investment
income . ......... 1,495.3 384.7 1.880.C
Fee income ........ 454.9 - 454.9
Realized investment
gains (losses) ... 190.1 (43.8) 146.3
Recoveries from
former aoffliate ... 520.0 - 520.0
Other revenues .. .. 32.1 80.1 112.2
Total revenues ... $ 9,493.6 $ 4,775.1 $14,268.7
Amortization and
depreciation . .. .... $ 1,112.2 $ 7394 $ 1,851.6
Federal income taxes
{(benefit).......... (543.3) 127.0 (416.3)
Operating income
{loss) ............ (125.8) 346.9 221.1
ASSEIS . i 54,782.8 8,842.5 63,625.3
2001
Revenues
Premiums .......... $ 5,447.0 $ 39639 $ 9,4109
Net investment
income.......... 1,616.3 410.2 2,026.5
Fee income ........ 347.4 - 347 .4
Redlized investment
gains ... 319.1 6.3 325.4
Other revenues .. .. 41.4 73.3 114.7
Total revenves ... $ 7,77v.2  $ 44537 $ 12,2249
Amortization and
depreciation .. ..... % 9540 % 6953 $ 1,649.3
Federal income taxes . . 302.6 @7.0 399.6
Operating income ... . 752.2 241.0 993.2
Assets .............. 48,234.7 8,369.3 56,604.0
2000
Revenues
Premiums .......... $ 47468 $ 3, 7154 $ 8,462.2
Net investment
income.......... 1,713.2 446.1 2,159.3
Fee income ........ 3124 - 312.4
Realized investment
gains (losses) ... 47.1 (0.6} 46.5
Other revenues . ... 16.1 70.8 86.9
Total revenves ... $ 6,835.6 $ 4,231.7 $ 11,0673
Amortization and
depreciation .. ..... $ 749.5 $ 637.3 $ 1,384.8
Federal income taxes . . 4443 156.6 600.9
Operating income . ... 1,189.3 360.5 1,549.8
Assefs ... ... 45,166.2 7,961.1 53,127.3

Operating income is reflected net of tax and excludes realized
investment gains (losses), restructuring charges, the cumulative
effect of changes in accounting principles and TPC minority
interest in 2000.




Business Segment Reconciliations

(at and for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Revenve reconciliation
Total revenues for
reportable segments.... $14,268.7 $12,2249 $11,067.3
Other revenues . ......... 1.0 5.6 3.7
Total consolidated
revenues............ $14,269.7 $12,230.5 $11,071.0
Income reconciliation,
net of tax
Total operating income for
reportable segments.... $ 221.1 $§ 993.2 $ 1,549.8
Other operating loss't ... ({102.9) (137.5) (208.1)
Realized investment gains . . 99.0 209.9 30.6
Cumulative effect of
changes in accounting
principles ............. (242.6) 3.2 -
Restructuring charge . ... .. (1.6) (3.4) -
Minority interest.......... - — (60.1)
Total consolidated net
income (loss) ....... $ (27.08) % 1,0654 $ 1,312.2
Asset reconciliation
Total assets for reportable
segments ............. $63,625.3 $56,604.0 $53,127.3
Other assets'® .......... 512.2 1,173.8 723.1
Total consolidated
assets ... $64,137.5 $57,777.8 $53,850.4

"' The primary component of the other operating loss is after-tax
interest expense of $99.6 million, $133.2 million and
$192.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

'2) Other assets consists primarily of @ receivable under the
Citigroup indemnification agreement in 2002, goodwill in
2002, 2001 and 2000 and the investment in Citilnsurance in
2001 and 2000.

Enterprise-Wide Disclosures

The Company generally does not accumulate revenues by
product; therefore, it would be impracticable to provide
revenues from external customers for each product.

Revenues from internal customers, foreign revenues and
foreign assets are not significant. The Company does not
have revenue from transactions with a single customer
amounting to 10 percent or more of its revenues.

4. INVESTMENTS

Fixed Maturities

The amortized cost and fair value of investments in fixed
maturities classified as available for sale were as follows:

{at December 2002,
in millions

Ameortize
Cost

4 _Gross Unrealized

Fair

Gains

Losses Value

Mortgage-backed
securities - CMOs
and pass-through
securities ...........

U.S. Treasury securities
and obligations of
U.S. Government and
government agencies
and authorities

Obligations of states,
municipalities and
political subdivisions . .

Debt securities issued
by foreign
governments ........

All other corporate
bonds

Redeemable preferred
stock

$ 85954 $ 3466 $

1,034.8

12,664.4

258.2
6,093.9

231.1

62.0

631.9

19.9
342.8

3.6

1.5 $ 8,940.5

- 1,096.8

10.3 13,286.0

1.7 276.4

245.8 6,190.9

24.1 212.6

$28,877.8 $1,408.8 $ 283.4 $30,003.2

(at December 2001,
in millions )

Ameortized
Cost

Gross Unrealized

Fair

Gains

Losses VYalue

Mortgage-backed
securities - CMOs
ond pass-through
securities .. ... ...

U.S. Treasury securities
and obligations of
U.S. Government and
government agencies
and authorities ... ...

Obligations of states,
municipalities and
political subdivisions . .

Debt securities issued
by foreign
governments .. ......

All other corporate
bonds

Redeemable preferred
stock

1,361.4

10,842.6

5927
6,917.4

187.5

106.5

36.9

240.7

29.7
256.0

6.8

$ 566 % 56088

15.2 1,383.1

73.6 11,009.7

4.4 618.0

125.1

7,048.3

11.5 182.8

$ 25,460.5

676.6

$ 2864 $ 25850.7
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The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities by
contractual maturity follow. Actual maturities will differ from
contractual maturities because borrowers may have the
right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties.

Amortized Fair

(at December 31, 2002, in millions} Cost Value
Due inone year or 1ess ................... $ 5806 % 591.8
Due after 1 year through S years........... 3,355.4 3,458.6
Due after 5 yeors through 10 years......... 6,090.7 6,299.1
Due after 10 years ....................... 10,255.7 10,713.2
20,282.4 21,062.7
Mortgage-backed securities .. .............. 8,595.4 8,940.5
Total ... $28,877.8  $30,003.2

The Company maokes investments in collateralized mortgage
obligations (CMOs). CMOs typically have high credit
quality, offer good liquidity, and provide a significant
advantage in yield and total return compared to

U.S. Treasury securities. The Company’s investment strat-
egy is to purchase CMO tranches which offer the most
favorable return given the risks involved. One significant
risk evaluated is prepayment sensitivity. This drives the
investment process to generally favor prepayment pro-
tected CMO tranches including planned amortization clas-
ses and last cash flow tranches. The Company does invest
in other types of CMO tranches if a careful assessment
indicates a favorable risk/return tradeoff. The Company
does not purchase residual interests in CMOs.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company held
CMOs classified as availakble for sale with a fair value of
$4.120 billion and $3.345 billion, respectively. Approxi-
mately 58% and 54% of the Company’'s CMO holdings
are fully collateralized by GNMA, FNMA or FHLMC
securities at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
In addition, the Company held $4.815 billion and
$2.273 billion of GNMA, FNMA, FHLMC or FHA mortgage-
backed pass-through securities classified as available for
sale at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Virtually all of these securities are rated Aca.

The Company engages in securities lending agreements
whereby certain securities from its portfolio are loaned to
other institutions for short periods of time. The Company
generally receives cash collateral from the borrower, equal
to at least the market value of the loaned securities plus
accrued interest, and reinvests it in a short-term investment
pool. See note 14. The loaned securities remain a
recorded asset of the Company, however, the Company
records a liability for the amount of the collateral held,
representing its obligation to return the collateral related to
these loaned securities, and reports that liability as part of
other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company held
collateral of $597.9 million and $1.002 billion,
respectively.
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At December 31, 2002 and 2001, TPC's insurance
subsidiaries had $2.052 billion and $1.668 billion, respec-
tively, of securities on deposit at financial institutions in
certain states pursuant to the respective states’ insurance
regulatory authorities.

Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities classified as
available for sale were $14.699 billion, $14.469 billion
and $12.507 billion in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. Gross gains of $570.9 million, $599.3 million and
$267.2 million and gross losses of $148.4 million,
$158.6 million and $273.4 million, respectively, were
realized on those sales.

Equity Securities

The cost and fair value of investments in equity securities
were as follows:

Gross
(at December 31, 2002, M‘L Fair
in millions) Cost Gains Llosses Value
Common stocks . ................ $ 574 $ 4.0 3%$11.3 $ 50.1
Nonredeemable preferred stocks 804.5 24.6 27.7 801.4
Total .o i $861.9 $28.6 $39.0 $851.5
{at December 31, 2001,
in millions)
Common stocks................. $ 657 % 50 $159 $ 548
Nonredeemable preferred stocks 2147 290 14.5 929.2
Total ... o o $980.4 $340 $304 $984.0

Proceeds from sales of equity securities were $127.2 mil-
lion, $469.7 million and $2.355 billion in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively, resulting in gross realized gains of
$18.1 million, $61.1 million and $154.3 million and gross
realized losses of $13.7 million, $33.4 million and

$74.1 million, respectively.

Mortgage Loans

Aggregate annual maturities on mortgage loans are
$35.8 million, $28.3 million, $2.0 million, $15.8 million,
$40.0 million and $129.0 million for 2003, 2004, 2005,
2006, 2007 and 2008 and thereafter, respectively. There
are no mortgage loans that are past due.

Underperforming mortgage loans, which include delinguent
loans, loans in the process of foreclosure and loans
modified at interest rates below market, were not significant
at December 31, 2002 and 2001.




Concentrations

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had
concentrations of credit risk in tax-exempt investments of
the State of Texas of $1.386 billion and $1.187 billion,
respectively, and of the State of New York of $1.269 bil-
lion and $1.027 billion, respectively.

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, the Company partici-
pated in a short-term investment pool maintained by a
former affiliate. See note 16.

Included in fixed maturities are below investment grade
assets totaling $1.945 billion and $1.748 billion at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company
defines its below investment grade assets as those securi-
ties rated ""Bal’’ or lower by external rating agencies, or
the equivalent by internal analysts when a public rating
does not exist. Such assets include publicly traded below
investment grade bonds and certain other privately issued
bonds that are classified as below investment grade loans.

The Company monitors creditwaorthiness of counterparties
to all financial instruments by using controls that include
credit approvals, limits and other monitoring procedures.
Coliateral for fixed maturities often includes pledges of
assets, including stock and other assets, guarantees and
letters of credit.

Net Investment income

(for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Gross investment income
Fixed maturities ............. $1,629.8 $1,657.3 $1,708.3
Mortgage loans............. 26.8 28.3 57.9
Other, including trading ...... 280.6 394.6 435.9
1,937.2 2,080.2 2,202.1
Investment expenses . . ....... 56.7 46.2 40.5
Net investment income ....... $1,880.5 $2,034.0 $2,161.6
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Reglized and Unredlized investment Gains
{Losses)

Net realized investment gains (losses) for the periods
were as follows:

{for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Realized investment gains
(losses)

Fixed maturities . . ....covuuunnnnn.. $167.5 3$331.0 $(16.8)

Equity securities .. ..., (4.%) {8.1) 50.9

Mortgage loons . ........... . . - - 9.8

Real estate held for sale........... - - 12,6

Other ... i i (16.7) {.4) (18.5)
146.7 322.5 47.0

Related taxes ...............0o.v.. 47.7 112.6 16.4

Net redlized investment goins ...... $ 99.0 $2099 $ 30.6

Included in net redlized investment gains were impairment
charges related to other than temporary declines in value
of $284.1 million, $146.2 million and $30.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,

respectively.

Changes in net unrealized gains {losses) on investment
securities that are included as a separate component of
accumulated other changes in equity from nonowner
sources were as follows:

{at and for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Change in unreafized

investments gains (losses)
Fixed maturities .. ............ $ 7356 $(279.0) 3$1,074.8
Equity securities. .. ........... {14.0) 47.0 (138.4}

721.6 (232.0) 936.4

Reloted taxes ............... 249.4 {81.1) 327.8
Change in minority interest . ... 3.2 - {30.8)
Change in unrealized gains

{losses) on investment

securities .. ... 475.4 {150.9) 577.8
Balance, beginning of year. ... 256.2 407.1 {170.7)
Balance, end of year......... $ 731.6 $ 2562 % 407,

5. REINSURANCE

The Company participates in reinsurance in order to limit
losses, minimize exposure to large risks, provide additional
capacity for future growth and to effect business-sharing
arrangements. In addition, the Company assumes 100% of
the workers' compensation premiums written by the Acci-
dent Department of its former affiliate, The Travelers
insurance Company (TIC). The Company is also a member
of and participates as a servicing carrier for several pools
and associations.




Reinsurance is placed on both a quota-share and excess of
loss basis. Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not dis-
charge the Company as the primary insurer, except for
cases involving a novation.

A summary of reinsurance financial data reflected within the
consolidated statement of income is presented below:

(for the year ended
December 31, in millions)

2002 2001 2000

Written premiums

Direct

Assumed from:
Formerly offllicted

$13,468.3 $10,995.3 § 9.762.5

componies. . .......... 82.9 143.7 196.9
Non-offilioted companies. . 524.0 529.4 689.0
Ceded to:
Formerly afflliated
companies............ (118.4) (120.0) (105.0)
Non-affliated companies. . (2,012.3) (1,702.9) (1,700.1)

$11,944.5 $ 98455 % 8,843.3

Total net written premiums . .

Earned premiums

Direct . .o.vivii e $12,525.1 $10,460.1 $ 9,356.9
Assumed from:
Formerly offiliated
companies. ........... 109.3 181.1 218.2
Non-affiliated companies. . 562.1 596.0 646.7
Ceded to:
Formerly affliated
companies. ........... (116.1) (113.0) (100.2)
Non-affilioted companies. . (1,925.1) (1,713.3) [(1,659.4)

Total net earned premiums .. $311,155.3 $ 9,410.9 $ 8,462.2

Percentage of amount
assumed to net earned . . .

Ceded cloims incurred

6.0% 8.3%
$ 2,111.6 $ 1,844.5 $ 1,248.0

Reinsurance recoverables, net of valuation allowance,
include amounts recoverable on unpaid and paid claims
and were as follows:

{at December 31, in millions) 2002 2001
Pools and associations. . ..ot .. $ 2,0949 $ 2,0820
Structured settlements:
Non-afflliated companies............ 1,563.9 1,573.8
Formerly affiiated companies:
Property-casualty business ........ 810.4 824.7
Accident and health business ... ... 107.6 120.1
Other:
Non-affliated companies ............ 6,398.8 6,445.5
Formerly affliated companies . ....... 1.9 1.2
Total reinsurance recoverables......... $10,977.5 $11,047.3

10.2%
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In 1996, Loyd’s of London (lloyd’s) restructured its
operations with respect to claims for years prior to 1993
and reinsured these into Equitas Limited (Equitas). Amounts
recoverable from unaffiliated insurers at December 31,
2002 and 2001 include $296.5 million and $247.9 million,
respectively, recoverable from Equitas. The outcome of the
restructuring of Lloyd’s is uncertain and the impact, if ony,
on collectibility of amounts recoverable by the Company
from Equitas cannot be quantified af this time. It is possible
that an unfavorable impact on collectibility could have a
material adverse effect on the Company's results of
operations in a future period. However, in the opinion of
the Company's management, it is not likely that the
outcome could have o material adverse effect on the
Company's financial condition or liguidity.

The Company reports its reinsurance recoverables net of
an allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables. The allowance is based upon the Company's
ongoing review of amounts outstanding, length of collection
periods, changes in reinsurer credit standing, and other
relevant factors. Amounts deemed to be uncollectible,
including amounts due from known insolvent reinsurers, are
written off and charged agcinst the allowance for esti-
mated uncollectible reinsurance recoverables. Any subse-
quent collections of amounts previously written off are
reported as port of underwriting results.

The allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance

recoverables was $329.1 million and $286.2 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

6. INSURANCE CLAIMS RESERVES

Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves were as
follows:

(at December 31, in millions) 2002 " 2001
Property-casualty ... ..o, $33,628.4 $30,618.5
Accident and health .................. 107.6 120.1

$33,736.0  $30,736.6




The table below is a reconciliation of beginning and ending
property casualty reserve balances for claims and claim
adjustment expenses.

(at and for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 20017 2000

Claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves af
beginning of year.........

Less reinsurance recoverables

$30,616.5 $28,312.0 $28,853.3

on unpaid losses ......... 10,419.2 8,878.1 8,870.6
Net balance at beginning of

YEOM v, 20,197.3 19,4339 199827
Provision for claims and claim

adjustment expenses for

claims orising in the current

YEOF et 7,872.% 7,600.6 6,508.9
Estimated claims and claim

adjustment expenses for

claims arising in prior

YEArS oot 3,031.0 (41.0) (247.0)
Acquisitions .. ... . ... ... - 622.7 -

Total increases ........ 10,903.1 8,182.3 6,261.9

Claims and claim adjustment

expense payments for

claims arising in:

Currentyear . ........... 2,814.3 3,0449 2,728.7

Prior years .............. 5,018.0 4,374.0 4,082.0

Total payments ........ 7,832.3 7,418.9 6,810.7

Net balance at end of year.. 23,268.1 20,197.3 19,433.9
Plus reinsurance recoverables

on unpaid losses ... ...... 10,360.3 10,4192 8,878.1

Claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves at end of

YEAr . $33,628.4 330,616.5 $28,312.0

The increase in the claims and claim adjustment expense
reserves in 2002 from 2001 was primarily due to the
strengthening of the Company’s asbestos reserves, princi-
pally in connection with the Company’s asbestos reserve
study completed in fourth quarter 2002, Partially offsetting
the above were net payments of $578.0 million in 2002
for asbestos, environmental and cumulative injury claims.

The increase in the claims and claim adjustment expense
reserves in 2001 from 2000 was primarily due fo the
additional reserves recorded as part of the acquisition and
contribution of certain affiliates (see note 2), and the
impact of the terrorist attack on September 11th, 2001.
Partially offsetting the above were net payments of
$426.6 million in 2001 for asbestos, environmental and
cumulative injury claims.

In 2002, estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses
for claims arising in prior years was a net unfavorable
development of $3.031 billion. This included $3.132 billion
of net unfavorable development which impacted results of
operations primarily due to unfavorable development of
$2.945 billion related to asbestos. Claims arising in prior

years for 2002 dlso included unfavorable development of
$150.1 million related to environmental claims and
favorable development of $100.1 million related to CIOTA
claims. In addition, estimated claims and claim adjustment
expenses for claims arising in prior years included net
unfavorable development, primarily related to certain Com-
mercial Lines coverages, predominantly in assumed reinsur-
ance specialty businesses, partially offset by favorable
development in Commercial Lines workers’ compensation
and Personal lines automobile. In 2002, estimated claims
and claim adjustment expenses for claims arising in prior
years included $71.2 million of net favorable toss develop-
ment on Commercial Lines loss sensitive policies in various
lines; however, since the business to which it relates is
subject to premium adjustments, there is no impact on
results of operations. For each of the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, changes in alloca-
tions between policy years of unallocated loss adjustment
expenses, pursuant to regulatory reporting requirements,
are included in claims and claim adjustment expenses for
claims arising in prior years and did not impact results of
operations.

tn 2001, estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses
for claims arising in prior years was a net favorable
development of $41.0 million which included $14.4 million
of net favorable development which impacied results of
operations, primarily related to certain Commercial lines
coverages. The $14.4 million includes favorable develop-
ment in commercial multi-peril and other claim adjustment
expenses partially offset by unfavorable development in
general liability, commercial auto liability and specialty
businesses. Included in the net unfavorable development in
Commercial Lines general liability was $188.8 million for
asbestos claims and $45.7 million for environmental claims
partly reduced by favorable development of $44.9 million
for CIOTA claims. In addition, estimated claims and claim
adjustment expenses for claims arising in prior years
included net favorable loss development of $43.0 million
on Commercial Lines loss sensitive policies in various lines;
however, since the business to which it relates is subject to
premium adjustments, there is noc impact on results of
operations.

In 2000, estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses
for cloims arising in prior years was o net favorable
development of $247.0 million which included $76.1 million
of net favorable development which impacted results of
operations, primarily relating to certain Commercial lines
coverages, predominantly in the commercial multi-peril line
of business, and in certain Personal lines coverages,
predominantly personal umbrella coverages. Included in the
$76.1 million net favorable development was the impact of
unfavorable development of $50.0 million for asbestos
claims, $64.4 million for environmental claims and

$15.9 million for CIOTA claims. in 2000, Commercical lines
experienced favorable loss development of $53.4 million
on loss sensitive policies in various lines; however, since the




business to which it relates is subject to premium adjust-
ments, there is no impact on results of operations.

The claims and claim adjustment expense reserves included
$3.790 billion and $1.216 billion for asbestos and environ-
mental-related claims, net of reinsurance, at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

It is difficult to estimate the reserves for asbestos and
environmental-related claims due to the vagaries of court
coverage decisions, plaintiffs’ expanded theories of liabil-
ity, the risks inherent in major litigation and other uncertain-
ties, including without limitation, those which are set forth
below.

Because each policyholder presents different liability and
coverage issues, the Company generclly evcluates the
exposure presented by each policyholder on policyholder-
by-policyholder basis. In the course of this evaluation, the
Company considers: available insurance coverage, includ-
ing the role any umbrella or excess insurance the Company
has issued to the policyholder; limits and deductibles; an
analysis of each policyholder’s potential liability; the
jurisdictions involved; past and anticipated future claim
activity and loss development on pending claims; past
settlement values of similar claims; allocated claim adjust-
ment expense; potential role of other insurance; the role, if
any, of non-asbestos claims or potential non-asbestos
claims in any resolution process; and applicable coverage
defenses or determinations, if any, including the determina-
tion as to whether or not an asbestos claim is a
products/completed operation claim subject to an aggre-
gate limit and the available coverage, if any, for that claim.
Once the gross ultimate exposure for indemnity and related
claim adjustment expense is determined for each policy-
holder by each policy year, the Company calculates a
ceded reinsurance projection based on any applicable
facultative and treaty reinsurance, as well as past ceded
experience. Adjustments to the ceded projections also
occur due to actual ceded claim experience and reinsur-
ance collections. Conventional actuarial methods are not
utilized to establish asbestos reserves. The Company’s
evaluations have not resulted in any meaningful data from
which an average asbestos defense or indemnity payment
may be determined.

With respect to its asbestos exposures, the Company also
compares its historical direct and net loss and expense
paid experience, year-by-year, to assess any emerging
trends, fluctuations or characteristics suggested by the
aggregate paid activity. Losses paid have increased in
2002 compared to prior years. There has been an
acceleration in recent quarters in the amount of payments,
including those from prior settlements of coverage disputes
entered into between the Company and certain of its
policyholders. For 2002, approximately 54% of total paid
losses relate to policyholders with whom the Company
previously entered into settlement agreements that limit the

87

Company’s liability. Net losses paid were $361.1 million
for 2002 compared to $174.8 million for 2001 reflective of
the items described above.

At December 31, 2002, asbestos reserves were

$3.404 billion, an increase of $2.584 billion compared to
$820.4 million as of December 31, 2001. Net incurred
losses and loss adjustment expenses were $2.945 hillion
for 2002 compared to $188.8 million for 2001. This
charge was partially offset by an after tax benefit of
$520.0 million, included in revenues, related to recoveries
from full utilization of the Citigroup indemnification agree-
ment. The increase in reserves is based on the Company’s
analysis of asbestos claims and litigation trends. As part of
a periodic, ground-up study of asbestos reserves, the
Company studied the implications of these and other
significant developments, with special attention to major
asbestos defendants and non-products claims alleging that
the Company's coverage obligations are not subject to
aggregate limits. In addition, Company management ex-
panded its historical methodology in response to recent
trends. This included further categorization of policyholders,
conducting a detailed examination of recent claim activity
from policyholders reporting claims for the first time, and
conducting a detailed review of past settlemens.

In establishing environmental reserves, the Company evalu-
ates the exposure presented by each policyholder and the
anticipated cost of resolution, if any, for each policyholder
on a quarterly basis. In the course of this analysis, the
Company considers the probable liability, available cover-
age, relevant judicial interpretations and historical value of
similar exposures. In addition, the Company considers the
many variables presented, such as the nature of the
alleged activities of the policyholder at each site; the
allegations of environmental harm at each site; the number
of sites; the total number of potentially responsible parties
at each site; the nature of environmental harm and the
corresponding remedy at each site; the nature of govern-
ment enforcement activities at each site; the ownership and
general use of each site; the overall nature of the
insurance relationship between the Company and the
policyholder, including the role of any umbrella or excess
insurance the Company has issued to the policyholder; the
involvement of other insurers; the potential for other
available coverage, including the number of years of
coverage; the role, if any, of non-environmental claims or
potential non-environmental claims, in any resolution pro-
cess; and the applicable law in each jurisdiction. Conven-
tional actuarial techniques are not used to estimate these
reserves.

As a result of the processes and procedures described
above, management believes that the reserves carried for
asbestos and environmental claims at December 31, 2002
are approprictely established based upon known facts,
current law and management's judgment. However, the
uncertainties surrounding the final resolution of these claims




continue, which may result in the estimates being subject to
revision as new information becomes available. These
include, without limitation, the risks and lack of predictability
inherent in major litigation, any impact from the bankruptcy
protection sought by various asbestos producers and other
asbestos defendants, a further increase or decrease in
asbestos and environmental claims which cannot now be
anticipated, the role of any umbrella or excess policies the
Company has issved, the resolution or adjudication of some
disputes pertaining to the amount of available coverage for
asbestos claims in a manner inconsistent with the Com-
pany's previous assessment of these claims, the number
and outcome of direct actions against the Company, and
future developments pertaining to the Company's ablility to
recover reinsurance for asbestos and environmental claims.
It is also not possible to predict changes in the legal and
legislative environment and their impact on the future
development of asbestos and environmental claims. This
development will be affected by future court decisions and
interpretations, as well as changes in applicable legislation.
it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome of large
coverage disputes uniil settlement negotiations near com-
pletion and significant legal questions are resolved or,
failing settlement, until the dispute is adjudicated. This is
particularly the case with policyholders in bankruptcy where
negotiations often involve a large number of claimants and
other parties and require court approval to be effective.

In March 2002, Citigroup entered into an agreement under
which it provided the Company with financial support for
asbestos claims and related litigation, in any year that the
Company's insurance subsidiaries record asbestos-related
income statement charges in excess of $150.0 million, net
of any reinsurance, up to a cumulative aggregate of
$800.0 million, reduced by the tax effect of the highest
applicable federal income tax rate. During 2002, the
Company recorded $2.945 billion of asbestos incurred
losses, net of reinsurance, and accordingly has fully utilized
the total benefit available under the agreement.

Because of the uncertainties set forth above, additional
liabilities may arise for amounts in excess of the current
related reserves. In addition, the Company's estimate of
ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses may change.
These additional liabilities or increases in estimates, or a
range of either, cannot now be reasonably estimated and
could result in income statement charges that could be
material to the Company's results of operations and
financial condition in future periods.

In August 2002, the Company entered into ¢ settlement
agreement with Shook & Fletcher Insulation Co. (Shook)
settling coverage litigaiion under insurance policies, which
the Company issued tc Shook. After payments made in the
fourth quarter of 2002 under this settlement, the remaining
obligations are valued at approximately $99.2 million
{after reinsurance and discounting ).

In May 2002, the Company agreed with approximately
three dozen other insurers and PPG Industries, Inc.
(PPG) on key terms to settle asbestos-related coverage
litigation under insurance policies issued to PPG. While
there remain a number of contingencies, including the final
execution of documents, court approval and possible
appeals, the Company believes that the completion of the
settlement pursuant to the terms announced in May 2002 is
likely based upon substantial progress in negotiations
during the fourth quarter of 2002. The Company's single
payment contribution to the proposed settlement, expected
in June 2004, is approximately $388.8 million after
reinsurance.

7. TERRORIST ATTACK ON SEPTEMBER 11TH

During 2001, the Company recorded a charge of
$489.5 million representing the estimated loss for both
reported and unreported claims incurred and related claim
adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance recoverables and
taxes, related to the terrorist attack on September 11th,
The associated reserves and related reinsurance recover-
ables represent the estimated ultimate net costs of all
incurred claims and claim adjustment expenses related to
the attack. Since the reserves and related reinsurance
recoverables are based on estimates, the ultimate net
liability may be more or less than such amounts.

8. DEBT

Notes payable to former affiliates were as follows:

(at December 31, in millions) 2002 2001
3.60% Note due 2003 under line of credit .. $500.0 $ 500.0
Floating rate loan under line of credit ....... 200.0 -
Floating rate note payable ................ - 1,197.7
Total oo $700.0 $1,697.7

On April 13, 2001, TIGHI entered into a $500.C million
revolving line of credit agreement (the line of credit) with
Citigroup, which expires in December 2006. On April 16,
2001, TIGHI borrowed $275.0 million on the line of credit.
Proceeds from this borrowing together with $225.0 million
of commercial paper proceeds were used to pay the
$500.0 million 6.75% long-term note payacble, which was
due on April 16, 2001. On November 8, 2001, TIGH!
borrowed another $225.0 million under the line of credit.
The proceeds were used to pay off maturing commercial
paper. The maturity for all $500.0 million borrowed under
this line was extended to November 7, 2003, and the
interest rate was fixed at 3.60%. The weighted average
interest rate for the line of credit was 3.60% and 3.82%
for 2002 and 2001, respectively.




TIGHI has an additional $250.0 million revolving line of
credit from Citigroup. TIGHI pays a commitment fee to
Citigroup for this line of credit, which expires in 2006. This
agreement became effective on December 19, 2001 and
replaced a previous facility with a syndicate of banks.
Borrowings under this line of credit carry a variable interest
rate based upon LIBOR plus 50 basis points. During
December 2002, the Company borrowed $250.0 million
and subsequently repaid $50.0 million under this line of
credit. At December 31, 2002, borrowings outstanding
under this line of credit were $200.0 million, and the
weighted average interest rate for these borrowings was
1.92% for 2002.

At December 31, 2001, TPC had a note payable to
Citigroup in the amount of $1.198 billion, in conjunction
with the purchase of TIGHI's outstanding shares in April
2000 (see note 2). On February 7, 2002, this note
payable was replaced by a new note agreement. Under
the terms of the new note agreement, interest accrued on
the aggregate principal amount outstanding at the commer-
cial paper rate {the then current short-term rate) plus

10 basis points per annum. Interest was compounded
monthly. This note was prepaid following the offerings.

Long-term debt and convertible notes payable outstanding
were as follows:

{at December 31, in millions) 2002 2001
Promissory Note due 2004 ................ $ 5500 $ -
6.75% Notes due 2006 .............cut. 150.0 150.0

7.81% Note various due dates through 2011. . 27.0 30.0

7.75% Notes due 2026 .................. 200.0 200.0
Convertible junior subordinated notes

payable due 2032 ...... ... ... .. ... 892.5 -

Convertible notes paycble due 2032 ....... 49.7 -

1,869.2 380.0

Debt issuance costs . ... L 25.5 .2

Total o $1,843.7 $379.8

At December 31, 2000, TPC had a note payable to
Citigroup, which had a principal balance outstanding of
$287.0 million. Interest accrued ot a rate of 5.06%,
compounded semi-annually. On March 29, 2001, this note
was repaid in its entirety, plus accrued interest.

In February 2002, TPC paid a dividend of $1.000 billion to
Citigroup in the form of a non-interest bearing note
payable on December 31, 2002. This note would have
begun to accrue interest from December 31, 2002 on any
outstanding balance at the floating rate of the base rate of
Citibank, N.A., New York City plus 2.0%. On Decem-

ber 31, 2002, this note was repaid in its entirety.

In February 2002, TPC also paid a dividend of $3.700
billion to Citigroup in the form of a note payabile in

two installments. This note was substantially prepaid follow-
ing the offerings. The balance of $150.0 million was due

on May 9, 2004. This note would have begun to bear
interest from May 9, 2002 at a rate of 7.25% per annum.
This note was prepaid on May 8, 2002.

in March 2002, TPC paid a dividend of $395.0 million to
Citigroup in the form of a note payable, which would have
begun to bear interest after May @, 2002 at a rate of
6.0% per annum. This note was prepaid following the
offerings.

In March 2002, TPC issued $892.5 million aggregate
principal amount of 4.5% convertible junior subordinated
notes, which will mature on April 15, 2032, unless earlier
redeemed, repurchased or converted. Interest is payable
quarterly in arrears. TPC has the option to defer interest
payments on the notes for a period not exceeding 20
consecutive interest periods nor beyond the maturity of the
notes. During o deferral period, the amount of interest due
to holders of the notes will continue to accumulate, and
such deferred interest payments will themselves accrue
interest. Deferral of any interest can create certain restric-
tions for TPC.

Unless previously redeemed or repurchased, the notes are
convertible into shares of class A common stock at the
option of the holders at any time after March 27, 2003
and prior to April 15, 2032 if at any time (1) the average
of the daily closing prices of class A common stock for the
20 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the
conversion date is at least 20% above the then applicable
conversion price on the conversion date, (2) the notes
have been called for redemption, (3) specified corporate
transactions have occurred, or (4) specified credit rating
events with respect to the notes have occurred. The notes
will be convertible into shares of class A common stock at
a conversion rate of 1.0808 shares of class A common
stock for each $25 principal amount of notes (equivalent
to an initial conversion price of $23.13 per share of

class A common stock), subject to adjustment in certain
events.

On or after April 18, 2007, the notes may be redeemed
at TPC's option. TPC is not required to make mandatory
redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the
notes,

The notes are general unsecured obligations and are
subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future
Senior Indebtedness. The notes are also effectively subordi-
nated to all existing and future indebtedness and other
liabilities of any of TPC's current or future subsidiaries.

During May 2002, TPC fully and unconditionally guaran-
teed the payment of all principal, premiums, if any, and
interest on certain debt obligations of its wholly-owned
subsidiary TIGHI. TPC is deemed to have no independent
assets or operations except for its wholly-owned subsidiary
TIGHI. Consolidated financial statements of TIGH! have not




been presented herein or in any separate reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission because manage-
ment has determined that such financial statements would
not be material to holders of TIGHI debt. The guorantees
pertain to the $150.0 million 6.75% Notes due 2006 and
the $200.0 million 7.75% Notes due 2026 included in
long-term debt and the $900.0 million of TIGHI-obligated
mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts hold-
ing solely junior subordinated debt securities of TIGHI
{TIGHI Securities). TIGHI has the right, at any time, to
defer distributions on the TIGHI Securities for a period not
exceeding 20 consecutive quarterly interest periods
{though such distributions would continue to accrue interest
during any such extended payment period). TIGHI cannot
pay dividends during such deferments,

In August 2002, Commercicl Insurance Resources, Inc.
(CIRl), a subsidiary of the Company, issued $49.7 million
aggregete principal amount of 6.0% convertible notes (the
CIRI Notes) which will mature on December 31, 2032
unless earlier redeemed or repurchased (see note 2).
Interest on the CIRI Notes is payable quarterly in arrears.
The CIRI Notes are convertible as a whole and not in part
into shares of CIRl common stock at the option of the
holders of 66%:% of the aggregate principal amount of the
notes, in the event of an Initial Public Offering (IPO) or
change of control of CIRI. At any time after the earlier of
{a) December 31, 2010 or (b) an IPO by CIRI, the notes
may be redeemed by CIRL

CIRI also issued $85.9 million of mandatory convertible
preferred stock during August 2002 (see note 2). The
declaration and payment of dividends to holders of CiRI's
convertible preferred stock will be at the discretion of the
CIRI Board of Directors and if declared, paid on a
cumulative basis for each share of convertible preferred
stock at an annual rate of 6% of the stated value per
share of the convertible preferred stock. Dividends of
$2.2 million were declared and paid during 2002.

In December 2002, TPC entered into a loan agreement
with an unaffiliated lender and beorrowed $550.0 million
under a promissory note due in January 2004. The
Promissory Note carried a variable interest rate of LIBOR
plus 25 basis points per annum. On February 5, 2003, TPC
issued $550.0 million of Floating Rate Notes due in
Februory 2004. The proceeds from these notes were used
to repay the Promissory Note. The Floating Rate Notes also
carry o variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 25 basis points
per annum and are callable by the Company after

August 5, 2003.

Q0

TPC's primary source of funds for debt service is dividends
from subsidiaries, which are subject to various restrictions.
See note 10.

©. FEDERAL INCOME TAXES

{for the year ended

December 31, in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Effective tax rate
Income (loss) before federal
income taxes, minority
interest and cumulative effect
of changes in accounting
principles ... oo $(259.8) $1,389.0 $1,863.6
Statutory tax rate . ......... .. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Expected federal income taxes
(benefit) ................. {90.9) 486.2 652.3
Tax effect of:
Nontaxable investment
ncome ... .iiiiiia (180.1) (169.2} 1166.3}
Recoveries under Citigroup
Indemnification Agreement . (182.0) - -
Other, net .ooovvvivoo. .. (23.5) 0.8 5.3
Federal income taxes (benefit) .. $(476.5) $ 326.8 $ 491.3
Effective taxrate . ........... (183.4)% 23.5% 26.4%
Composition of federal
income taxes
Current expense:
United States . . ............ $109.0 $ 3106 $ 3073
Foreign................... 3.3 5.1 17.3
Total......ooooiiii . 112.3 315.7 324.6
Deferred expense:
United States . ... ..o in . (588.5) 11.0 167.2
Foreign................... (.3) | (.5}
Total. .o {588.8) (R 166.7
Federal income tax expense
(benefit) ................. $(476.5) $ 3268 $ 491.3

Additional tax benefits attributable to employee stock plans
allocated directly to shareholders’ equity were $2.6 million,
$.3 million and $.4 million for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The current federal income tax payable at December 31,
2002 and 2001 was $179.5 million and $155.3 million,
respectively.




The net deferred tax assets comprise the tax effects of
temporary differences related to the following assets and
liabilities:

{at December 31, in millions) 2002 2001
Deferred tax assets
Claims and claim adjustment expense
TESEIVES L\t e et $ 9234 $ 9446
Net operating foss carryforward.......... 486.5 -
Unearned premium reserves. ............. 388.2 323.4
Employee benefits ........... ... ... ... 74.6 135.7
Insurance-related assessments . ......... .. 45.1 51.6
Acquisition-related reserves . ............. - 32.6
Other ... i 145.4 173.2
Total oo 2,063.2 1,661.1
Deferred fax fiobilities
Deferred acquisition costs ............... 304.4 268.4
Investments . . ... .o i 261.0 144.7
Other ... ... .. i 50.7 65.6
Total ... o 616.1 478.7
Net deferred tax asset.................. $1,447.1 $1,1824

For the period ending March 27, 2002, the Company is
included in the consolidated federal income tax return filed
by Citigroup. Citigroup allocates federal income taxes to its
subsidiaries on a separate return basis adjusted for credits
and other amounts required by the consolidation process.
Any resulting liability is paid currently to Citigroup. Any
credits for losses will be paid by Citigroup currently to the
extent that such credits are for tax benefits that have been
utilized in the consolidated federal income tax return.

In the event that the consolidated return develops an
alternative minimum tax {AMT), each company with an
AMT on a separate company basis will be allocated a
portion of the consolidated AMT. Settlement of the AMT
will be made in the same manner and timing as the regular
tax.

As of March 28, 2002, as a result of the IPO, the
Company is no longer included in the Citigroup consoli-
dated federal income tax return. As of that date, the
Company began filing its own consolidated federal income
tax return.

The Company has a net operating loss carryforward of
$1.390 billion as of December 31, 2002, which expires
December 31, 2022. Under terms of the tax sharing
agreement with Citigroup, the Company is entitled to carry
operating losses back to prior years upon receiving
Citigroup's consent. These years have sufficient taxable
income to utilize the entire operating loss carryback. If the
carryback is approved, the Company's deferred tox asset
would be reduced by $486.5 million with an offset to the
current federal income tax payable.

In the opinion of the Company's management, realization
of the recognized deferred tax asset of $1.447 billion is

o1

more likely than not based on expectations as to the
Company's future taxable income. Excluding the effect of
the asbestos reserve increase in 2002 (see note 6), the
Company has reported pretax financial statement income
of $1.848 billion on average over the iast three years and
has generated federal taxable income exceeding

$1.071 billion on average in each year during the same
period. Projections of taxable income for 2003 are in
excess of the December 31, 2002 net operating loss
carryforward of $1.390 billion.

10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND DIVIDEND
AVAILABILITY

Mandatorily Redeemable Securities of
Subsidiary Trusts

TIGHI formed statutory business trusts under the laws of the
state of Delaware, which exist for the exclusive purpcses of
(i) issuing Trust Securities representing undivided beneficial
interests in the assets of the Trust; (ii) investing the gross
proceeds of the Trust Securities in Junior Subordinated
Deferrable Interest Debentures (Junior Subordinated De-
bentures) of its parent; and Lliii) engaging in only those
activities necessary or incidental thereto. These Junior
Subordinated Debentures and the related income effects
are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The
financial structure of each of Travelers P&C Capital | and
Travelers P&C Capital I (the subsidiary trusts) at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001 was as follows:

Travelers P&C Travelers P&C

Capital | Capital Il

Trust Securities (TIGH!

Securities )
lssuance date ... ... L. April 1996 May 1996
Securities issued ... ....... ... 32,000,000 4,000,000
Liquidation preference per

SECUMItY .ottt $25 $25
Liquidation value (in millions) .. $800.0 $100.0
Couponrate ....oovvvvvenn.. 8.08% 8.00%
Distributions payable ......... Quorterly Quarterly
Distributions guaranteed by'" .. TIGHI TIGHI
Common Securities issued to

TIGH ... 989,720 123,720
Junior Subordinated Debentures

(TIGHI Debentures)
Amount owned (in millions) ... $825.0 $103.0
Couponrate ................ 8.08% 8.00%
Interest payable ............. Quarterly Quarterly
Maturity date.......... .. ..., April 30, 2036 May 15, 2036
Redeemable by issuer on or

after ... April 30, 2001 May 15, 2001

" Under the arrangements, taken as a whole, payments due are
fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a subordinated basis.




The subsidiary trusts wili use the proceeds from any
redemption of TIGHI Securities to redeem a like amount of
TIGHI Debentures.

The obligations of TIGHI with respect to the TIGHI
Debentures, when considered together with certain under-
takings of TIGH! with respect to the subsidiary trusts,
constitute full and unconditional guarantees by TIGH! of the
subsidiary trusts’ obligations under the respective TIGHI
Securities. The TIGHI Securities are classified in the consoli-
dated balance sheet as “TIGHI-obligated mandatory re-
deemable securities of subsidiary trusts holding solely junior
subordinated debt securities of TIGHI" at their liquidation
value of $900.0 million. TIGHI has the right, at any time, to
defer payments of interest on the TIGHI Debentures and
consequently the distributions on the TIGH! Securities and

common securities would be deferred (though such distribu-

tions would continue to accrue with interest thereon since
interest would accrue on the TIGHI Debentures during any
such extended interest payment period). TIGHI cannot pay
dividends on its common stock during such deferments.
Distributions on the TIGHI Securities have been classified as
interest expense in the consolidated statement of income.

Common Stock

TPC’s common stock consists of class A and class B
common stock. On all matters submitted to vote of the TPC
shareholders, holders of class A and class B common stock
ore entitled to one and seven votes per share,
respectively.

On March 21, 2002, TPC sold approximately 231.0 million
shares of its class A cammon stock in a public offering for
net proceeds of $4.090 billion. See note 1.

On January 23, 2003, the Company, through its Capital
Accumulation Program (CAP), issued 1,943,627 shares of
class A common stock in the form of restricted stock to
participating officers and other key employees. The fair
market value per share of the class A common stock was
$16.18. The restricted stock generally vests after a three-
year period. See note 11.

Rights Plan

In 2002, prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company's
Board of Directors adopted a shareholder rights plan as a
result of which each outstanding share of the Company's
class A common stock and class B common stock carries
with it the right to acquire one-thousandth of @ share in a
new series of the Company’s preferred stock designated
as series A junior participating preferred stock. These
Rights trade with the Company’s common stock and will
expire on March 20, 2012, unless the Rights are earlier
redeemed. Such Rights are not presently exercisable and
have no voting power.

92

Ten business days after the announcement that a person is
making a tender or exchange offer for 15% or more of the
Company’s general voting power or acquires 15% or more
of the Company's general voting power (other than as a
result of repurchases of stock by the Company or through
inadvertence by certain shareholders that subsequently
divest all excess shares as set forth in the rights agree-
ment), the Rights detach from the common stock and
become freely tradable and exercisable, entitling a holder
to purchase one-thousandth of a share in the Company's
series A junior participating preferred stock at $77.50,
subject fo adjustment.

If o person becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more
of the Company’s general voting power, each Right will
entitle its holder to purchase $155 market value of the
Company's common stock for $77.50. If the Company
subsequently merges with another entity or transfers 50%
or more of its assets, cash flow or earnings power to
another entity, each Right will entitle its holder to purchase
$155 market value of such other entity’s common stock for
$77.50. The Company may redeem the Rights, at its
option, at $0.01 per Right, prior to any person acquiring
beneficial ownership of at least 15% of the Company’s
common stock. The shareholder rights plan is designed
primarily to encourage anyone seeking fo acquire the
Company to negotiate with the Board of Directors.

Treosury Stock

During September 2002, the Board of Directors approved
a $500.0 million share repurchase program. Purchases of
class A and class B common stock may be made from time
to time through September 2004 in the open market, and it
is expected that funding for the program will principally
come from operating cash flow. There were no shares
repurchased under this plan in 2002.

The Company’s stock incentive plan provides settlement
alternatives to employees in which the Company repur-
chases shares to cover tax withholding costs and exercise
costs. At December 31, 2002, TPC had purchased

$3.7 million of its common stock under this plan.

The Company also has a commitment in conjunction with
the Citigroup Distribution, for which it prepaid $15.1 million,
to acquire class A and class B common stock Distribution
shares held by the Citigroup Capital Accumulation Program
{CAP} upon forfeiture of plan participanss. See note 11.
This commitment expires over three years upon vesting of
the Citigroup CAP participants. At December 31, 2002,
TPC had acquired $1.3 million of its common stock pursuant
to this arrangement.

Shares acquired under these plans are authorized and
unissued and are reported as treasury stock in the
consolidated balance sheet.




Dividends

TPC’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to various regula-
tory restrictions that limit the maximum amount of dividends
available to be paid to their parent without prior approval
of insurance regulatory authorities, A maximum of

$727.7 million will be available by the end of 2003 for
such dividends without prior approval of the Connecticut
Insurance Department. However, the payment of a portion
of this amount is fikely to be subject to approval by the
Connecticut Insurance Department, depending upon the
amount and timing of the payments. See note 1.

Statutory Net income and Surplus
Statutory net income (loss) of TPC's insurance subsidiaries

was ($973.6) million, $1.090 billion and $1.368 billion for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
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respectively. Statutory capital and surplus of TPC's insur-
ance subsidiaries was $7.287 billion and $7.687 billion at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Effective
January 1, 2001, the Company began preparing its
statutory basis financial statements in accordance with the
NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual subject
to any deviations prescribed or permitted by its domiciliary
insurance commissioner (see note 1, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, Permitted Statutory Accounting Prac-
tices). The impact of this change was an increase to the
statutory capital and surplus of the TPC's insurance
subsidiaries of approximately $350.0 million. In addition,
the acquisition of The Northland Company and Associates
Lloyds Insurance Company and the contribution of Associ-
ates Insurance Company (see note 2) increased the
statutory capital and surplus of TPC's insurance subsidiaries
by approximately $340.0 million as of December 31,
2001.




Accumulated Other Changes in Equity from Nonowner Sources, Net of Tax

Changes in each component of Accumulated Other Changes in Equity from Nonowner Sources were as follows:

Net Accumulated
Unrealized Other
Gains Minimum Changes in
(Losses) on Pension Equity from
Investment Liability Nonowner
(at and for the year ended December 31, in millions) Securities  Adjustment  Other'" Sources
Balance, December 31, 1999 . ... .. ... ... ... ...... $ (170.7) $ - $ (.3) $(171.0)
Net unrealized gains on investment securities, net of tax of
37 2.7 e 606.8 - - 606.8
Lless: Reclassification adjustment for net realized gains
included in net income, net of tax of ($14.1) ... .. {29.0) - - (29.0)
Other, net of tax of ($1.1) ... . .. ... . ......... - - (6.1) (6.1)
Current pericd change . . ... ..o 577.8 - {6.1) 571.7
Balonce, December 31, 2000................... ... 407.1 - (6.4) 400.7
Net unrealized gains on investment securities obtained as
part of affiliote acquisition, net of tax of $11.7 ........ 21.1 - - 21.1
Net unreclized gains on investment securities, net of tax of
320, 2 . 37.9 - - 37.9
Less: Reclassification adjustment for net realized gains
included in net income, net of tax of ($113.0) ..... (209.9) - - (209.9)
Other, netof tax of {$6.7) ... .. . . - - (8.4) (8.4)
Current period change . . ... oo (150.9) - (8.4) (159.3)
Balance, December 37, 2001 ............. ... ...... 256.2 - {14.8) 241.4
Net unrealized gains on investment securities, net of tax of
B 207, T 574.4 - - 574.4
Less: Reclassification adjustment for net realized gaing
included in net income, net of tax of ($47.7)'% .... {99.0) - - {99.0)
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax of {$36.7) .. - (68.3) - (68.3)
Other, netof tax of $9.7 ... ... ... ... ... ... . . ... ... - - 8.1 8.1
Current period change . ... ... ool 475.4 {68.3) 8.1 415.2
Balance, December 31,2002...................... $ 731.6 $(68.3) $ (6.7) $ 656.6

" Includes foreign currency translation adjustments, hedged futures contracts and the cumulative effect of the change in accounting for

derivative instruments and hedging activities.

‘21 Certain equity investments were reclassified to other investments at December 31, 2002. See note 1. As a result of this change, the
realized gains/ (losses) from these investments are reported in net income beginning in 2002.

11. INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company's Board of Directors, in connection with the
IPO, adopted the Travelers Property Casualty Corp. 2002
Stock Incentive Plan (the 2002 Incentive Plan). The 2002
Incentive Plan permits grants of stock options, restricted
stock and other stock-based awards. The purposes of the
2002 Incentive Plan are to attract and retain employees by
providing compensation opportunities that are competitive
with other companies, provide incentives to those employ-
ees who contribute significantly to the Company’s long-term
performance and growth, and align employees’ long-term
financial interest with those of the Company's shareholders.
The maximum number of shares of class A common stock
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that may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the
2002 Incentive Plan is 120.0 million shares.

The Company's Board of Directors, in connection with the
IPO, also cdopted the Travelers Property Casualty Corp.
Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the Direc-
tors Plan). Under the Directors Plan, the directors receive
their annual fees in the form of Company common stock.
Each director may choose to receive a portion of their fees
in cash to pay taxes. Directors may also defer receipt of
shares of class A common stock to a future distribution date
or upon termination of their service. The shares of class A
common stock issued under the Directors Plan come from
the 2002 Incentive Plan.




Stock Optior Programs

The Company has established stock option programs
pursuant to the 2002 Incentive Plan: the Management stock
option program and the Wealthbuilder stock option pro-
gram {see also Restricted Stock Program below}. The
Management stock option program provides for the grant-
ing of stock options to officers and key employees of the
Company and its participating subsidiaries. The
Wealthbuilder stock option program provides for the
granting of stock options to all employses meeting certain
requirements. The exercise price of options is equal to the
fair market value of the Company’s class A common stock
at the time of grant. Generally, options may be exercised
for a pericd of ten years from the date of grant, vest 20%
each year over a five-year period and are exercisable
only if the optionee is employed by the Company, and for
certain periods after employment termination, depending on
the cause of termination. The Management stock option
program also permits an employee exercising an option to
be granted a new option (a reload option} in an amount
equal to the number of shares of class A common stock
used to satisfy both the exercise price and withholding
taxes due upon exercise of an option. The reload options
are granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market
value of the class A common stock on the date of grant,
are exercisable for the remaining term of the related
original option, and vest six months after the grant date.
The reload feature is not available for initial option grants
after January 23, 2003. The Wealthbuilder stock option
program does not contain a reload feature.

Prior to the [PO, the Company participated in various stock
option plans sponsored by its former afflliate, Citigroup,
that provided for the granting of stock options in Citigroup
common stock to officers and key employees, and, in the
case of certain stock option programs, to all employees
meeting specific requirements,

On August 20, 2002, in connection with the Citigroup
Distribution, Citigroup stock option awards held by Com-
pany employees on that date under Citigroup’s various
stock option plans were cancelled and replaced with stock
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option awards [replacement awards) to purchase the
Company’s class A common stock under the Company's
own incentive plan. These replacement awards were
granted on substantially the same terms, including vesting,
as the former Citigroup awards. The total number of the
Company’s class A common stock subject to the replace-
ment awards was 56.9 million shares of which 24.6 million
shares were then exercisable. The number of shares of the
Company's class A common stock to which the replacement
options relate and the per share exercise price of the
replacement options were determined so that:

= the intrinsic value of each Citigroup option, which was the
difference between the closing price of Citigroup’s
common stock on August 20, 2002 and the exercise
price of the Citigroup options, was preserved in each
replacement option for the Company's class A common
stock; and

° the ratio of the exercise price of the replacement option
to the closing price of the Company's class A common
stock on August 20, 2002, immediately after the
Citigroup Distribution, was the same as the ratio of the
exercise price of the Citigroup option to the price of
Citigroup common stock immediately before the Citigroup
Distribution.

Information with respect to stock option activity under the
Company's stock option plans for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Options Exercise Price
Outstanding, January 1, 2002...... - $ -
Granted:
Replacement awards . .......... 56,894,116 17.29
Original ... 21,643,341 18.22
Reload ................. ... ... 264,595 13.77
Exercised......... ... ... ....... (1,186,383} 8.54
Forfeited ....................... (1,500,419) 19.84
Outstanding, December 31, 2002.. 76,115,250 $17.63




The following table summarizes the information about stock options outstanding under the Company's stock option plans at
December 31, 2002:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Exercise Prices Qutstanding Life Remaining Price Exercisable Price

$ 001 -% 499 2,279,909 2.7 years $ 3.99 2,277,419 $ 3.99
$ 500-% 9.99 26,489 3.4 years 7.90 25,659 7.85
$10.00 - $14.99 23,240,238 5.4 years 11.72 14,980,804 11.63
$15.00 - $19.99 24,085,515 8.9 years 18.09 1,980,742 16.87
$20.00 - $24.99 15,978,375 6.6 years 22.15 8,648,533 22.52
$25.00 - $29.99 10,504,724 7.0 years 25.75 4,054,375 26.03

76,115,250 6.9 years $17.63 31,967,532 $16.18 -

Restricted Stock Program

The Company, through its Capital Accumulation Program
(CAP) established pursuant to the 2002 Incentive Plan,
issues shares of the Company’s common stock in the form
of restricted stock awards to eligible officers and key
employees. Certain CAP participants may elect to receive
part of their awards in restricted stock and part in stock
options. The number of shares included in the restricted
stock award is calculated at @ 25% discount from the
market price at the time of the award and generally vest in
full after a three-year period. Except under limited circum-
stances, during this period the stock cannot be sold or
transferred by the participant, who is required to render
service to the Company during the restricted period.

Prior to the IPO, the Company participated in Citigroup's
Capital Accumulation Plan (Citigroup CAP) that provided
for the issuance of shares of Citigroup common stock in the
form of restricted stock awards to eligible officers and
other key employees with substantially the same terms as
the Company’s 2002 CAP.

On August 20, 2002, in connection with the Citigroup
Distribution, the unvested outstanding awards of restricted
stock and deferred shares held by Company employees on
that date under Citigroup CAP awards, were cancelled and
replaced by awards comprised primarily of 3.1 million
newly issued shares of class A common stock at a total
market value of $53.3 million based on the closing price of
the class A common stock on August 20, 2002. These
replacement awards were granted on substantially the
same terms, including vesting, as the former Citigroup
awards. The value of these newly issued shares along with
class A and class B common stock received in the Citigroup
Distribution on the Citigroup restricted shares, were equal
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to the value of the cancelled Citigroup restricted share
awards.

In addition, the Directors Plan allows deferred receipt of
shares of class A common stock (deferred stock) to a |
future distribution date or upon termination of their service.
The after-tax compensation cost associated with this plan i
was not significant in 2002.

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution on August 20, 2002,
unearned compensation expense associated with the
Citigroup restricted common stock grants was included in
other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Following
the Citigroup Distribution and the issuance of replacement
stock awards in the Company’s class A and class B shares
on August 20, 2002, the unamortized unearned compensa-
tion expense associated with these awards is included as
unearned compensation as a separate component of equity
in the consolidated balance sheet. Unearned compensation
expense is recognized as a charge to income ratably over
the vesting period.

The after-tax compensation cost charged to earnings for
these restricted stock awards was $17.0 million, $19.4 mil-
lion and $16.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Information with respect to restricted stock awards is as
follows:

2002
New shares granted in 2002 ......ooiiii i, -
Replacement grants at August 20, 2002............. 3,311,551
Weighted average fair market value per share at
August 20, 2002 .o $17.31




401 (k) Savings Plan

On August 20, 2002, in connection with the Citigroup
Distribution, the Company established a 401 {k) savings
plan under which substantially all employees are eligible to
participate. The Company matches employee contributions
up to 3% of eligible pay but not more than $1,500 annu-
ally. The expense related to this-plan was $17.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002, Prior to the IPO and
the Citigroup Distribution, substantially all the Company
employees were eligible to participate in a 401 (k) savings
plan sponsored by Citigroup, for which there was no
Company matching contribution for substantially all
employees.

Stock Option Fair Value Informction

The fair value effect of stock options reported in note 1,
Stock-Based Compensation, is derived by application of a
variation of the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The significant assumptions used during the year in estimat-
ing the fair value on the date of the grant for original
options and reload options granted in 2002 and for
replacement awards issued August 20, 2002 to Company
employees who held Citigroup stock option awards on that
date were as follows:

2002
Expected life of stock options. ............. ... .. 4 years
Expected volatility of TPC stock'" . ... ... .. ... ... .. 36.8%
Risk-free interestrate ... .. ... 3.17%
Expected annual dividend per TPC share . ............... $0.20
Expected annual forfeiture rate . ......... ... ... ... 5%

" The expected volatility is based on the average volatility of an
industry peer group of entities because the Company only
became publicly traded in March 2002.
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In accordance with FAS 123, the exchange of options in
conjunction with a spinoff is considered a modification and
therefore the modification guidance was applied to the
replacement awards issued on August 20, 2002. For
vested replacement options, any excess of the fair value of
the modified options issued over the fair value of the
original options at the date of exchange was recognized
as additional compensation cost. For nonvested replace-
ment options, any excess of the fair value of the modified
options issued over the fair value of the original options at
the date of exchange is added to the remaining unrecog-
nized compensation cost of the original option and recog-
nized over the remaining vesting period.

Also under FAS 123 reload options are treated as
separate grants from the original grants and as a result are
separately valued when granted. Reload options are
exercisable for the remaining term of the related original
option and therefore would generally have a shorter
estimated life. Shares received through option exercises
under the reload program are subject to restriction on sale.
Discounts (as measured by the estimated cost of protec-
tion) have been applied to the fair value of reload options
granted to reflect these sales restrictions.

Awards issued prior to 2002 were granted in Citigroup
stock options. The fair value effect of stock options
reported in note 1, Stock-Based Compensation, for 2001
and 2000 applied assumptions underlying the Citigroup
stock option plan. The significant assumptions used for prior
years in estimating the fair values for Citigroup stock
options were as follows:

2001 2000
Expected life of stock options ................ 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility of Citigroup stock .......... 38.6% 41.5%
Risk-free interest rate ......... ... . ... ... .. 4.52% 6.23%
Expected annual dividend per Citigroup share ..  $0.92 $0.78
Expected annual forfeiture rate ... ... oL 5% 5%

All original and reload stock options granted under the TPC
stock option programs had an exercise price equal to the
market value of the Company's class A common stock on
the date of the grant. The replacement awards granted on
August 20, 2002 retained the infrinsic value of the awards
immediately prior to conversion and therefore the exercise
price either exceeded the market value or was less than
the market value on August 20, 2002. The following table
presents the weighted average exercise price and



weighted average grant date fair value information with
respect to these grants:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Options Average Grant Date
Granted Exercise Price Fair Value
Original awards
2002
Exercise price equal to
market at grant ... 21,907,936 $18.16 $5.84
Exercise price exceeds
market at grant .. .. - - -
Exercise price less than
market at grant . . .. - - -
Replacement
awards
Exercise price equal to
market at grant .. .. - - -
Exercise price exceeds
market at grant .... 27,704,096 $23.45 $3.14
Exercise price less than
market at grant ... 29,190,020 $11.43 $7.28
Total granted ....... 78,802,052 $17.53 $5.42

12. PENSION PLANS AND RETIREMENT
BENEFITS

Beginning August 20, 2002, TPC sponsors qualified and
nonqualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plans
covering substantially all employees. These plans provide
benefits under a cash bolance formula, except that
employees satisfying certain age and service requirements
remain covered by a prior final pay formula. TPC also
provides postretirement health and life insurance benefits
for employees satisfying certain age and service require-
ments who retire after the Citigroup Distribution. Prior to the
Citigroup Distribution, substantially similar benefits were
provided to TPC emplovees through plans sponsored by
Citigroup.

Under agreements with Citigroup, TPC assumed liabilities
for nonqualified pension, postretirement health care and life
insurance benefit liabilities related to active Company plan
participants as of August 20, 2002. The initial projected
benefit obligation of the Company's nonqualified pension
plan at August 20, 2002 was $21.3 million. Because
Citigroup assumed liabilities for the same benefits for
retired or inactive plan participants, the Company trans-
ferred short-term securities of $171.1 million and recorded
a payable of $13.5 million in 2002 to Citigroup affiliated
companies, and reduced other liabilities and deferred taxes
by $284.0 million and $99.4 million, respectively, related
to retfired or inactive employees, pending final agreements
on the amounts. Final agreement on settlement amounts was
reached and an additional $2.2 million is expected to be
paid to Citigroup during the first quarter of 2003.

In addition, the Company assumed liabilities for qualified
pension plan benefits for active Company employees. As a
result, assets and liabilities for qualified pension plan
benefits relating to active, but not retired or inactive, plan
participants were transferred from the Citigroup qualified
pension plan to the Company's newly established qualified
pension plan, The initiol projected benefit obligation of the
Company’s qudlified pension plan at August 20, 2002 was
$445.0 million. Assets of $390.0 million were transferred
from the Citigroup pension plan to the Company’s pension
plan in 2002 and were invested primarily in a Standard &
Poors stock index fund and in a tehman Brothers Aggre-
gate bond index fund at December 31, 2002. A final asset
transfer is expected in the first quarter of 2003.

The following tables summarize the funded status and
amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet for
TPC's plans.

Postretirement

{in millions) Pension Plans Benefit Plans

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at August 20,

2002 ... $ 466.3 $ 14.2
Benefits earned . ............. 11.1 .
Interest cost on benefit

obligation. ................ 11.5 4
Actuarial foss ... ... ol 17.0 .8
Benefits paid ................ (3.3) (.1)
Benefit obligation at

December 31, 2002 ....... $ 502.6 $ 15.4
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at

August 20, 2002 .......... $ 429.3 $ -
Actual return on plan assets . .. (16.3) -
Company contributions ....... .3 R
Benefits paid ................ (3.3) {.1)
Fair value of plan assets at

December 31, 2002 ....... $ 410.0 $ -
Reconciliation of prepaid

{accrued) benefit cost and

total amount recognized
Funded status of plan......... $ (92.6) $(15.4)
Unrecognized:

Prior service cost .......... (42.9) (.2)
Net actuarial loss .......... 168.3 3.7
Net amount recognized....... $ 328 $(11.9)

Amounts recognized in the

statement of financial

position consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost . ......... $ 490 -
Accrued benefit liability . ... ... (121.2) (11.9)
Accumulated other

comprehensive income . ... .. 105.0 -

Net amount recognized....... $ 328 $(11.9)




For the pension plans, the aggregate projected benefit
obligation and the aggregate accumulated benefit obligo-
tion were $502.6 million and $482.2 million, respectively,
at December 31, 2002.

The principal assumptions used in determining pension and
postretirement benefit obligation are shown in the following
table:

(at December 31, 2002}

Discount rate. ... i e 6.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets .............. 8.0%
Future compensation increase rate .......c.ovvvvv .. 4.5%
Health care cost increase rate (ultimate rate):
Following year ... ... .o 10.0%
Decreasing to the year 2008. . .. ... ...\ il 5.0%

As an indicator of sensitivity, increasing the assumed health
care cost trend rate by 1% would have increased the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of Decem-
ber 31, 2002 by $.8 million and the aggregate of the
service and interest cost components of 2002 net postre-
tirement benefit expense by less than $.1 million. Decreas-
ing the assumed health care cost trend rate by 1% would
have decreased the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2002 by $.7 million and the
aggregate of the service and interest cost components of
2002 net postretirement benefit expense by less than

$.1 million.

The following table summarizes the components of net
benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statement
of income for TPC's plans for the period August 20, 2002
through December 31, 2002.

Postretirement

{in millions) Pension Plans Benefit Plans
Service cost. ..., $ 113 $.1
Interest cost on benefit

obligation.............. ... 11.5 4
Expected return on plan ossefs . . {14.0) -
Amortization of unrecognized:

Prior service cost .......... (2.1) 1

Net actuarial loss .. ........ 2.1 -
Net benefit expense.......... $ 8.6 3.6

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, the Company partici-
pated in noncontributory defined benefit pension plans and
a postretirement health care and life insurance benefit plan
sponsored by Citigroup. The Company's share of net
expense | credit} related to these plans was ${3.9) million
for January 1, 2002 through August 20, 2002, $11.7 mil-
lion for 2001, and $14.5 million for 2000.

%

13. LEASES

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, most leasing functions for
TPC and its subsidiaries were administered by the Com-
pany. Rent expense related to these leases was shared by
a former offiliate and the Company on a cost allocation
method based generally on estimated usage by depart-
ment. See note 16. In conjunction with the Citigroup
Distribution, the Company purchased certain properties
from Citigroup. See note 1. Rent expense was $123.3 mil-
lion, $121.0 million and $113.3 million in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

“Future minimum annual rentals under noncancellable operat-

ing leases are $84.5 million, $64.7 million, $49.3 million,
$36.5 million, $25.7 million and $40.7 million for 2003,
2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and thereafter,
respectively. Future sublease rental income of approxi-
mately $4.9 million will partially offset these commitments.

14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments, including
interest rate swaps, equity swaps, credit derivatives,
options, financial futures and forward contracts, as @ means
of hedging exposure to interest rate, equity price change
and foreign currency risk. The Company's insurance subsid-
iaries do not hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes.

Beginning January 1, 2001, the Company adopted

FAS 133, which establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments, including certain deriv-
ative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for
hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognizes all
derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair value.
Where applicable, hedge accounting is used to account for
derivatives.

To qualify as a hedge, the hedge relationship is desig-
nated and formally documented at inception detailing the
particular risk management objective and strategy for the
hedge, which includes the item and risk that is being
hedged, the derivative that is being used, as well as how
effectiveness is being assessed. A derivative has to be
highly effective in accomplishing the objective of offsetting
either changes in fair value or cash flows for the risk being

hedged.




For fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of
derivatives are reflected in realized investment gains
{losses), together with changes in the fair value of the
related hedged item. The Company did not utilize fair value
hedges during the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001.

For cash flow hedges, the accounting treatment depends
on the effectiveness of the hedge. To the extent these
derivatives are effective in offsetting the variability of the
hedged cash flows, changes in the derivatives' fair value
will not be included in current earnings but are reported in
accumulated other changes in equity from nonowner
sources. These chonges in fair value will be included in the
earnings of future periods when earnings are also affected
by the variability of the hedged cash flows. At Decem-

ber 31, 2002, the Company expects to include reclized
investment losses of approximately $.1 million in earnings
over the next twelve months for these cash flow hedges. To
the extent these derivatives are not effective, changes in
their fair value are immediately included in realized
investment gains (losses). The Company’s cash flow
hedges primarily include hedges of floating rate available-
for-sale securities and certain forecasted transactions up to
a maximum tenure of one year. While the earnings impact
of cash flow hedges are similar to the previous accounting
practice, the amounts included in the accumulated other
changes in equity from nonowner sources will vary depend-
ing on market conditions. :

For net investment hedges in which derivatives hedge the
foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign
operation, the accounting treatment will similarly depend on
the effectiveness of the hedge. The effective portion of the
change in fair value of the derivative, including any forward
premium or discount, is reflected in the accumulated other
changes in equity from nonowner sources as part of the
foreign currency translation adjustment. For the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the amount included
in the foreign currency translation adjustment in equity from
nonowner sources was an $8.5 million gain and $3.2 mil-
lion loss. The ineffective portion is reflected in realized
investment gains (losses).

Derivatives that are either hedging instruments that are not
designated or do not qualify as hedges under the new
rules are also carried at fair value with changes in value
reflected in realized investment gains (losses). The Com-
pany has certain foreign currency forward contracts, which
are not designated as hedges at December 31, 2002 and
2001.

The effectiveness of these hedging relationships is evalu-
ated on a retrospective and prospective basis using
quantitative measures of correlation. If a hedge relationship
is found to be ineffective, it no longer qualifies as a hedge,
and any excess gains or losses attributable to such
ineffectiveness as well as subsequent changes in fair value

are recognized in redlized investment gains (losses).
During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company
realized a gain of $3.8 million from hedge ineffectiveness.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, there was no
hedge ineffectiveness.

For those hedge relationships that are terminated, hedge
designations removed, or forecasted transactions that are
no longer expected to occur, the hedge accounting
treatment described in the paragraphs above will no longer
apply. For fair value hedges, any changes to the hedged
item remain as part of the basis of the asset and are
ultimately reflected as an element of the yield. For cash
flow hedges, any changes in fair value of the end-user
derivative remain in accumulated other changes in equity
from nonowner sources, and are included in earnings of
future periods when earnings are also offected by the
variability of the hedged cash flow. If the hedged
relationship was discontinued or a forecasted transaction is
not expected to occur when scheduled, any changes in fair
value of the end-user derivative are immediately reflected
in realized investment gains (losses). During the year
ended December 31, 2002, the Company recognized a
$4.9 million gain from discontinued forecasted transactions.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, there were no
such discontinued forecasted transactions.

The Company also purchases investments that have embed-
ded derivatives, primarily convertible debt securities. These
embedded derivatives are carried at fair value with
changes in value reflected in realized investment gains
{losses). The Company bifurcates an embedded derivative
where: al the economic characteristics and risks of the
embedded instrument are not clearly and closely related to
the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract,
b) the entire instrument would not otherwise be remeasured
at fair value, and ¢) a separate instrument with the same
terms of the embedded instrument would meet the definition
of a derivative under FAS 133. Derivatives embedded in
convertible debt securities are reported on a combined
basis with their host instrument and are classified as fixed
maturity securities.

Foir Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses various financial instruments in the
normal course of its business. Certain insurance contracts
are excluded by Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,”” and, therefore, are not included in the
amounts discussed.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, investments in fixed
maturities had a fair value, which equaled carrying value,
of $30.003 billion and $25.851 billion, respectively. The
fair value of investments in fixed maturities for which a
quoted market price or dealer quote are not available was




$892.5 million and $789.9 million at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively. See note 1.

The carrying values of cash, trading securities, short-term
securities, mortgage loans, investment income accrued,
receivables for investment sales, payables for investment
purchases and securities lending payable approximated
their fair values. See notes 1 and 4.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the carrying value of
$700.0 million and $1.698 billion, respectively, of the
notes payable to former affiliates approximated their fair
value. Fair value is based upon discounted cash flows.

At December 31, 2002, long-term debt had a carrying
value and a fair value of $926.2 million and $971.7 mil-
lion, respectively. At December 31, 2001, long-term debt
had a carrying value of $379.8 million, which approxi-
mated its fair value. At December 31, 2002, the converti-
ble junior subordinated notes payable had a carrying value
and a fair value of $867.8 million and $797.9 million,
respectively. The convertible notes payable had a carrying
value of $49.7 million, which approximated its fair value.
Fair value is based upon bid price at December 31, 2002
and 2001. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the TIGHI
Debentures had a carrying value of $900.0 million, which
approximated their fair value. Fair value is based upon the
closing price at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

The carrying values of $607.5 million and $392.7 million of
financial instruments classified as other assets approximated
their fair values at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The carrying values of $2.272 billion and
$2.556 billion of financial instruments classified as other
liobilities at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
also approximated their fair values. Fair value is determined
using various methods including discounted cash flows, as
appropriate for the various financial instruments.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

in the normal course of business, the Company has
unfunded commitments to parinerships, joint ventures and
certain private equity investments in which it invests. These
commitments were $864.3 million and $1.025 billion at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Litigation

The Company is involved in numerous lawsuits, other than
asbestos and environmental claims, arising mostly in the
ordinary course of business operations either as a liability
insurer defending third-party claims brought against in-
sureds or as an insurer defending coverage claims brought
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against it. While the ultimate resolution of these legal
proceedings could be significant to the Company's results
of operations in a future quarter, in the opinion of the
Company's management it would not be likely to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations for a calendar year or on the Company’s
financial condition or liquidity.

For asbestos and environmental claims matters see note 6.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, the Company provided
and purchased services to and from Citigroup affiliated
companies, including facilities management, banking and
financial functions, benefit coverages, data processing
services, and short-term investment pool management ser-
vices. Charges for these shared services were allocated at
cost. In connection with the Citigroup Distribution, the
Company and Citigroup and its affiliates entered intc a
transition services agreement for the provision of certain of
these services, tradename and trademark and similar
agreements related to the use of trademarks, logos and
tradenames and an amendment to the March 26, 2002
Intercompany Agreement with Citigroup. During the first
quarter of 2002, Citigroup provided investment advisory
services on an allocated cost basis, consistent with prior
years. On August 6, 2002, the Company entered into an
investment management agreement, which has been
applied retroactively to April 1, 2002, with an affiliate of
Citigroup whereby the affliate of Citigroup is providing
investment advisory and administrative services to the
Company with respect to its entire investment portfolio for
a period of two years and at fees mutually agreed upon,
including a component based on performance. Charges
incurred related to this agreement were $47.2 million for
the period from April 1, 2002 through December 31,
2002. Either party may terminate the agreement effective
on the end of a month upon 90 days prior notice. The
Company and Citigroup also agreed upon the allocation or
transfer of certain other liabilities and assets, and rights
and obligations in furtherance of the separation of opera-
tions and ownership as a result of the Citigroup Distribution.
The net effect of these allocations and transfers, in the
opinion of management, were not significant to the Com-
pany’s results of operations or financial condition.

For a period of two years following the Citigroup Distribu-
tion, the Company has the right of first offer to provide
Citigroup property and casualty coverage that it does not
currently provide to it and Citigroup has the right of first
offer to provide the Company any financial service it does
not currently provide to the Company, at market rates,
terms and conditions at the time of the offer. Neither party
is required to purchase the services at rates, terms or
conditions less favorable than those offered by any third
party at the time of the offer.



Prior to the Citigroup Distribution, a former affiliate main-
tained a shori-term investment pool in which the Company
participated. The positions of each company participating
in the pool were calculated and adjusted daily. At
December 31, 2001, the total of the pool and the
Company's share of the pool were $5.632 billion and
$2.406 billion, respectively. Subsequent to the Citigroup
Distribution, the former affiliate, which provides investment
and advisory services to the Company (see note 1),
established o separate investment pool for the Company.

Included in revenues in the consolidated statement of
income {loss) is $520.0 million from the Citigroup indemni-
fication agreement in 2002. At December 31, 2002, other
assets in the consolidated balance sheet include a

$360.6 million receivable under the Citigroup indemnifica-
tion agreement. See note 6.

In conjunction with the purchase of TIGH!'s outstanding
shares in April 2000, TPC borrowed $2.2 billion pursuant
to a note agreement with Citigroup. At December 31,
2001 the outstanding balance of the note payable to
Citigroup was $1.198 billion. This note was prepaid
following the offerings. Interest expense included in the
consolidated statement of income was $5.5 million,

$79.2 million and $112.7 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. See notes 2 and 8.

The Company had notes payable to Citigroup of

$700.0 million and $500.0 million at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively. Interest expense included in the
consolidated statement of income was $18.1 million and
$8.7 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. See note 8.

At December 31, 2000, the Company had @ note payable
to Citigroup of $287.0 million. This was repaid during
2001. Interest expense included in the consolidated state-
ment of income was $3.5 million and $48.8 million in 2001
and 2000, respectively. See note 8.

On October 1, 2001, the Company paid $329.5 million to
Citigroup for The Northiand Company and its subsidiaries
and Associates Lloyds Insurance Company. In addition, on
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October 3, 2001, the capital stock of Associates Insurance
Company, with a net book value of $356.5 million, was
contributed to the Company. See note 2.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had
$60.2 million and $102.0 million, respectively, of securities
pledged as collateral to Citigroup to support a letter of
credit facility for certain of the Company’s surety
customers.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company purchases
and sells securities through formerly offiliated broker-
dealers. These transactions are conducted on an arm's-
length basis. Commissions are not paid for the purchase
and sale of debt securities. In addition, Citigroup performs
investment banking and advisory services for the Company.
Citigroup was the underwriter of the offerings and received
underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately
$90.0 million.

The Company participates in reinsurance agreements with
TIC, a former affiliate. See note 5.

The Company purchases annuities from former affiliates to
settle certain claims. Through 2004, the Company has
agreed to use TIC as the most preferred provider of
annuities, as long as Citigroup maintains competitive ratings
and its products are competitively priced. Reinsurance
recoverables at December 31, 2002 and 2001 included
$810.4 million and $824.7 million, respectively, related to
these annuities.

17. NONCASH FINANCING AND INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

fn 2002, TPC paid dividends of $5.095 billion to Citigroup
in the form of notes payable. These notes were all repaid
during 2002. See notes 1 and 8. On October 3, 2001, the
capital stock of Associates insurance Company, with a net
book value of $356.5 million, was contributed to the
Company. See note 2. There were no significant noncash
financing or investing activities for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000.




18. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

2002 First Second Third Fourth
{in millions, except per share data) Quarter  Quarter  Quarter Quarter Total
Total revenues. .. ... $3,232.7 $3,319.8 $3,563.9 $ 4,153.3 $14,269.7
Total @XPenses ..o e 2,778.4 2,884.6 3,224.3 5,642.2 14,529.5
Income (loss) before federal income taxes, cumulative

effect of change in accounting principles and ‘

minority interest. ... ..o 454.3 435.2 339.6 (1,488.9) (259.8)
Federal income taxes (benefit) .................... 109.6 103.2 6.0 (695.3) {476.5)
Minerity interest, netof tox........................ - - 1.3 (.2) 1.1
Income (loss} before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principles ... .. 344.7 332.0 332.3 (793.4) 215.6
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill

and other intangible assets, net of fax ............ (242.6) - - - {242.6)
Net income (loss) .., $ 102.1 $ 3320 $ 3323 $ (793.4) $ (27.0)
Basic and diluted eqrmn%s per share'
Income before cumulative effect of chcmge in

accounting principles ... o $ 043 $ 033 $ 033 $ (0.79}) % 0.23
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles . . {0.30) - - - {0.26)
Netincome (loss) ..., $ 013 $ 033 $ 033 % (0.79) % (0.03)
2001 First Second Third Fourth
(in millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarier Quarter Total
Total revenues. ... .o $ 3,058.1 $ 29830 §$3,0125 $ 31769 $ 12,2305
Total eXPenses ... e 2,389.9 2,513.3 3,165.1 2,773.2 10,841.5
Income (loss) before federal income taxes and

cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles . . 668.2 469.7 {152.6) 403.7 1,389.0
Federal income toxes {beneft) ......... .. .. ... ..., 1941 5.0 (92.7) 100.4 326.8
income (loss) before cumulative effect of changes in

accounting principles . ... o 4741 344.7 {59.9) 303.3 1,062.2
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for:

Derivative instruments and hedging activities,

net of taX .. 4.5 - - 4.5

Securitized financial assets, net of tax ............ - (1.3) - - (1.3)
Net income (loss) ... i, $ 4786 $ 3434 $ (599) § 3033 $ 11,0654
Basic and diluted eurnin%s per share!!
Income before cumulative effect of changes in

accounting principles . ... . e $ 061 $ 045 $ (0.08) % 039 % 1.38
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles . . 0.01 - - - 0.01
Net income (loss) ... $ 062 $ 045 $ (0.08) % 032 % 1.39

") Due to the averaging of shares, quarterly earnings per share may not add to the total for the full year.
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item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DiISCLOSURE

Not Applicable.

PART {i

item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item regarding the direc-
tors of the Company is set forth under the caption

“ltem 1 — Election Of Directors — The Class | Nominees —
Directors Continuing In Office’” in the definitive Proxy

Statement for the Company’s Annual Meeting of Sharehold-

ers to be held on April 24, 2003, filed or to be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days
after the Company's 2002 fiscal year end (the '"Proxy
Statement’'}, and is incorporated herein by reference. The
information required by this item regarding executive
officers is set forth in Item 1, "“Business — Other Informa-
tion — Executive Officers of the Company’’ herein. Informa-
tion required by this item regarding Section 16 reporting
compliance is set forth under the caption “*Sec-

tion 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance’’ in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference.

item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is set forth under the
caption “‘Executive Compensation’ in the Proxy Statement,
(except for the information under the caption ''Report on

Executive Compensation by the Compensation and Govern-

ance Committee’’), and is incorporated herein by
reference.

item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP GF
CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is set forth under the
captions “‘About the Annual Meeting - does any single

shareholder control as much as 5% of any class of
Travelers stock?” and “'Stock Ownership’’ and “'ltem 2 —
Approval and Adoption Of The Travelers Property Casualty
Corp. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan' in the Proxy Statement,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND
RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is set forth under the
caption "‘Certain Relationships And Transactions'' in the

Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ltem 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company has established and maintains *‘disclosure
controls and procedures” (as those terms are defined in
Rules 13a-141{c) and 15d-14(c) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act’’). Robert I.
Lipp, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Com-
pany, and Jay S. Benet, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, have evaluated the Company's disclosure con-
trols and procedures within ninety days of the filing of this
Form 10-K. Based on their evaluations, Messrs. Lipp and
Benet have concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures are effective to ensure that the
information required to be disclosed by the Company in
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified by SEC rules and forms.

There were no significant changes in the Company’s
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect these controls ofter the date of their evaluations.
There were no significant deficiencies or material weak-
nesses, and therefore there were no corrective actions
taken.




PART IV

ltem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT

SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON
FORM 8-K

(a)

(1)

(2)

({3)

(b)

Documents filed as a port of the report:

Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 64 hereof.

Financial Statement Schedules. See Index to Consol-

idated Financial Statements and Schedules on
page 110 hereof.

Exhibits:

See Exhibit Index on pages 120-122 hereof.

Reports on Form 8-K:

On October 17, 2002, the Company filed a
Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 17,
2002, reporting under ltem 5 thereof the results of
the Company’s operations for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, and certain other selected
financial data.

No other reports on Form 8-K were filed during the
2002 fourth quarter.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 4th day of March,

20083.

TRAVELERS PROPERTY CAsuaLTY CORP.
{Registrant)

By: /s/ ROBERT . Lipp
Robert I. Lipp, Chief Fxecutive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the copacities indicated on the 4th day of March, 2003.

Signature

/s/ ROBERT I. Lipp

Robert I. Lipp

/s/ Jay S. BENET

Jay S. Benet

/s/ Douclas K. Russell

Douglas K. Russell

/s/ HowaRD P. BerkowiTz

Howard P. Berkowitz

/s/  KENNETH J. BialkIN

Kenneth J. Biakin

/s/ CHARLES J. CLARKE
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/s/ Leste B. DISHAROON

Title

Chief Executive Officer
{ Principal Executive Officer), and Chairman of the Board

Chief Financial Officer
{Principal Financial Officer)

Chief Accounting Officer
{Principal Accounting Officer)
Director
Director

President and Director

Director

Leslie B. Disharoon

/s/  MeryL D. HARTZBAND

Director

Meryl D. Hartzband

/s/ CLarence OTis, JR.

Director

Clarence Otis, Jr.

/s/  JEFFREY M. PEEK

Director

Jeffrey M. Peek
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Frank J. Tasco
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|l
1.
2.

CERTIFICATION

Robert I. Lipp, certify that:
| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Travelers Property Casualty Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-141} for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b} evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “‘Evaluation Date' }; and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the eftectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions) :

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date
of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.

Date: March 4, 2003

/s/ ROBERT I. Liep

Robert I. Lipp
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION

[, Jay S. Benet, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Travelers Property Casualty Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
ond for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “‘Evaluation Date” ) ; and

¢} presented in this annuol report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions):

al) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date
of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.

March 4, 2003

/s/ Jay S. BENeET

Jay S. Benet
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Travelers Property Casualty Corp.:

Under date of January 23, 2003, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Travelers Property Casualty Corp.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), changes
in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, which
are included in this Form 10-K. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we
also audited the related financial statement schedules as listed in the accompanying index. These financial statement
schedules are the responsibility of the Company's management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statement schedules based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for

goodwill and other intangible assets in 2002 and its methods of accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities
and for securitized financial assets in 2001.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
January 23, 2003
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SCHEDULE il

TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP.
{Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

(In millions}

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)

For the year ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Revenues
Net INVESIMENT INCOME .« v v ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e $ 48 % 25 % 1.4
Realized investment gains (losses) ... i i {(.3) 19.0 9.1
Recoveries from former affiliate ... ... i i 520.0 - -
Other TEVENUES . . oot e , - - .3
TOtal POV IMUES . . ...ttt e e e 524.5 21.5 10.8
Expenses _
0 Y= O O O 36.9 82.7 161.4
L 1= PR 81.1 59 4.5
Tota] @ P OMSES o o e 118.0 88.6 165.9
Income {loss) before federal income tax benefit and equity in net income
of sUbSIdIarEs . . . ... e 406.5 (67.1) (155.1)
Federal income tax benefit .. ... ... . e 44.8 22.2 53.3
income {loss) before equity in net income of subsidiaries .............. ... 451.3 (44.9) (101.8)
Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries, net of minority interest ................. (478.3) 1,110.3 1,414.0
Netincome ([08s) . ... . . . $ (27.0) $1,065.4 $1,312.2

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto and the accompanying notes to the condensed financial information of Registrant,




SCHEDULE i

TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CCRP.
{Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

{In miflions )

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

At December 31, 2002 2001
Assets
SROM-1EIM SECUIHES « « v v ot ettt et e e e e e e e e e e $ 89 $ 1524
Investment in subsidiaries at @qQUItY .. ..t i 11,1420 11,152.5
Receivable from former affiliate ... . ot 360.6 418.4
GoodWill Lo 155.C 155.0
(@ o= e 1= £ PN 133.6 40.5
Total ASSOIS . ..o $11,800.2 $11,918.8
Liabilities
Notes payable to former affiliates. ... ..o $ - $ 11977
Long-term debt . ... e 549.5 -
Convertible junior subordinated notes payable ....... ... ... .. 867.8 -
Other iabiliies . ... o 245.6 34.8
Total liabilities. ......... .. ... . . 1,662.9 1,232.5

Sharehoiders’ equity
Common stock:
Class A, $.01 par value, 1.5 billion shares authorized, 504.2 million and 269.0 million

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively ................. 5.0 2.7
Class B, $.01 par value, 1.5 billion shares authorized, 500.0 million issued and outstanding . . 5.0 5.0
Additional paid-in capital ... 8,618.4 4,433.0
REtOINEd @OIMINGS .+ ettt e 880.5 6,004.2
Accumulated other changes in equity from NnONoOWNEr SOUMCES. .. ... v eennn.n 656.6 241.4
Treasury stock, at cost {338,068 and O) ... ..o i {4.9) -
Unearned compensation . ...ttt ettt e e (23.3) -
Total shareholders’ equity ... ... ... .. .. i 10,137.3 10,686.3
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity...................... ... .. ............. $11,800.2 $11,918.8

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto and the accompanying notes to the condensed financial information of Registrant,



SCHEDULE i}

TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

(In millions}

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (1055 ..o $ (27.0) $ 1,0654 $ 13122
Adjustments to reconcile net income to nef cash provided by operating activities:
Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries ......... ... it 478.3 {1,110.3)  (1,414.0)
Dividends received from consolidated subsidiaries .. ....... ... ... .. ... .... 60.0 1,100.0 1,226.0
Deferred federal income tax benefit (expense) ......... ... ... ........... {92.8) 29.0 2.7
Federal income taxes receivable {payable) ... ... ..o . il (5.8) 26.5 (28.4)
O T O P 99.5 87.2 (228.4)
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ....................... 512.2 1,197.8 870.1
Cash flows from investing activities
Tender offer of minority interest shareholders’ ... ... ... ... i, - - (2,398.6)
Short-term securities, (purchases) sales, net ... ... . 143.5 (114.7) (36.3)
Other INvestmMeEnts, Net ... .t e e e 402.6 {1.0)
Net cash provided by {used in) investing activities. ............... 546.1 (114.7) {2,435.9)
Cash flows from financing octivities
Issuance of convertible notes, net . ... 867.2 - -
Issuance of long-term debt. . ... . . 549.4 - -
Issuance of notes payable to former affiliate ... ... ..o oo i it - - 2,391.3
Payment of notes payable to former offfiate ...... ... ... ... oL (6,299.0) (1,040.0) (1,687.7)
Inifial public offering ... ... o e 4,089.5 - -
Treasury stock acquired .. ..ottt e {3.7}) - -
Receipts from former subsidiaries, net ... ... . i 157.5 4749 859.2
Dividends to former affiliate . .. ... {157.5) (526.0) -
Transfer of employee benefit obligations to former affilictes .................. (172.4) - -
Transfer of lease obligations to former affifiate.......... ... ... ... (87.8) - -
Return of capital from former subsidiaries .. ... . ... - 8.0 3.0
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............... {1,056.8) {1,083.1)} 1,565.8
Net increase in cash .. .. o i e e 1.5 -
Cash at beginning of period .. ... .. e - - -
Cash at end of period .. ... . . $ 1.5 % - % -
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash received during the period fortaxes ... $ 241 % 884 % 29.4
Cash paid during the period forinterest ... $ 22.1 % 10.5 § 20.6

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto and the accompanying notes to the condensed financial information of Registrant.




NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

1. GENERAL

The condensed financial statements include the accounts of
Travelers Property Casualty Corp. (TPC) and, on an
equity basis, its subsidiaries and should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto. Certain reclassifications have been made to
prior years' financial statements to conform to the current
year's presentation.

TPC was reorganized in connection with its initial public
offering (PO} in March 2002. Pursuant to the reorganiza-
tion, which was completed on March 19, 2002, TPC's
financial statements have been adjusted to exclude the
accounts of certain formerly wholly-owned TPC subsidiaries,
principally The Travelers Insurance Company (TIC) and its
subsidiaries (U.S. life insurance operations!}, certain other
wholly-owned non-insurance subsidiaries of TPC and sub-
stantially all of TPC's assets and certain liabilities not
related to the property casualty business.

In March 2002, TPC issued 231 million shares of its class A
common stock in an IPO, representing approximately 23%
of TPC’s common equity. After the PO, Citigroup Inc.
(together with its consolidated subsidiaries, Citigroup)
beneficially owned all of the 500 million shares of TPC's
outstanding class B common stock, each share of which is
entitled to seven votes, and 269 million shares of TPC's
class A common stock, each share of which is entitled to
one vote, representing at the time 94% of the combined
voting power of all classes of TPC’s voting securities and
77% of the equity interest in TPC. Concurrent with the IPO,
TPC issued $892.5 million aggregote principal amount of
4.5% convertible junior subordinated notes which mature on
April 15, 2032. The IPO and the offering of the convertible
notes are collectively referred to as the Offerings. During
the first quarter of 2002, TPC paid three dividends of
$1.000 billion, $3.700 billion and $395.0 million, aggre-
gating $5.095 billion, which were each in the form of notes
payable to Citigroup. On December 31, 2002, the

$1.000 billion note was repaid in its entirety. The proceeds
of the offerings were used to prepay the $395.0 million
note and substantially prepay the $3.700 billion note.

On Auvgust 20, 2002, Citigroup made a tax-free distribution
to its stockholders (the Citigroup Distribution), of a portion
of its ownership interest in TPC, which, together with the
shares issued in the IPO, represented more than 90% of
TPC’s common equity and more than 90% of the combined
voting power of TPC's outstanding voting securities. For
each 100 shares of Citigroup outstanding common stock,
approximately 4.32 shares of TPC class A common stock
and 8.88 shares of TPC class B common stock were
distributed. At December 31, 2002, Citigroup was a holder
of 9.95% of TPC's common equity. and 9.98% of the
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combined voting power of TPC's outstanding voting securi-
ties. Citigroup received a private letter ruling from the
Internal Revenue Service that the Citigroup Distribution is
tax-free to Citigroup, its stockholders and TPC. As part of
the ruling process, Citigroup agreed to vote the shares it
continues to hold following the Citigroup Distribution pro
rata with the shares held by the public and to divest the
remaining shares it holds within five years following the
Citigroup Distribution.

2. DEBT

Long-term debt outstanding was as follows:

Debt
(ot December 31, 2002, Face Issuance
in millions ) Value Costs Total
Promissory Note due 2004 .... $ 550.0 $ 5 $ 5495
Convertible junior subordinated
notes poyable due 2032. ... 892.5 247 867.8
Total ool $1,442.5 $25.2 $1,417.3

At December 31, 2001, TPC had a note payable to
Citigroup in the amount of $1.198 billion, in conjunction
with the purchase of TIGHI's outstanding shares in April
2000 (see note 2). On February 7, 2002, this note
payable was replaced by a new note agreement. Under
the terms of the new note agreement, interest accrued on
the aggregote principal amount outstanding at the commer-
ciol paper rate (the then current short-term rate) plus 10
basis points per annum. Interest was compounded monthly.
This note was prepaid following the offerings.

At December 31, 2000, TPC had a note payable to
Citigroup, which had a principal balance outstanding of
$287.0 million. Interest accrued at a rate of 5.06%,
compounded semi-annually. On March 29, 2001, this note
was repaid in its entirety, plus accrued interest.

in February 2002, TPC paid a dividend of $1.000 billion to
Citigroup in the form of a non-interest bearing note
payable on December 31, 2002. This note would have
begun to accrue interest from December 31, 2002 on any
outstanding balance at the floating rate of the base rate of
Citibank, N.A., New York City plus 2.0%. On Decem-

ber 31, 2002, this note was repaid in its entirety.

In February 2002, TPC also paid a dividend of $3.700 bil-
lion to Citigroup in the form of a note payable in two
instaliments. This note was substantially prepaid following
the offerings. The balance of $150.0 million was due on
May 9, 2004. This note would have begun to bear interest




from May 9, 2002 at a rate of 7.25% per annum. This
note was prepaid on May 8, 2002.

in March 2002, TPC paid a dividend of $395.0 million to
Citigroup in the form of a note payable which would have
begun to bear interest after May 9, 2002 at a rate of
6.0% per annum. This note was prepaid following the
offerings.

In March 2002, TPC issued $892.5 million aggregate
principal amount of 4.5% convertible junior subordinated
notes which will mature on April 15, 2032, unless earlier
redeemed, repurchased or converted. Interest is payable
quarterly in arrears. TPC has the option to defer interest
payments on the notes for a period not exceeding 20
consecutive interest periods nor beyond the maturity of the
notes. During a deferral period, the amount of interest due
to holders of the notes will continue to accumulate, and
such deferred interest payments will themselves accrue
interest. Deferral of any interest can create certain restric-
tions for TPC.

Unless previously redeemed or repurchased, the notes are
convertible into shares of class A common stock at the
option of the holders at any time after March 27, 2003
and prior to April 15, 2032 if at any time (1) the average
of the daily closing prices of class A common stock for the
20 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the
conversion date is at least 20% above the then applicable
conversion price on the conversion date, (2] the notes
have been called for redemption, (3) specified corporate
transactions have occurred, or (4) specified credit rafing
events with respect to the notes have occurred. The notes
will be convertible into shares of class A common stock at
a conversion rate of 1.0808 shares of class A common
stock for each $25 principal amount of notes {equivalent
to an initial conversion price of $23.13 per share of class
A common stock), subject to adjustment in certain events.

On or after April 18, 2007, the notes may be redeemed at
TPC's option. TPC is not required to make mandatory
redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the
notes.
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The notes are general unsecured obligations and are
subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future
Senior Indebtedness. The notes are also effectively subordi-
nated to all existing and future indebtedness and other
liabilities of any of TPC's current or future subsidiaries.

During May 2002, TPC fully and unconditionally guaran-
teed the payment of all principal, premiums, if any, and
interest on certain debt obligations of its wholly-owned
subsidiary TIGHI. TPC is deemed to have no independent
assets or operations except for its wholly-owned subsidiary
TIGHI. Consolidated financial statements of TIGHI have not
been presented herein or in any separate reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission because manage-
ment has determined that such financial statements would
not be material to holders of TIGHI debt. The guarantees
pertain to the $150.0 million 6.75% Notes due 2006 and
the $200.0 million 7.75% Notes due 2026 included in
long-term debt and the $900.0 million of TIGHI-obligated
mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts hold-
ing solely junior subordinated debt securities of TIGHI
(TIGHI Securities). TIGH! has the right, at any fime, to
defer distributions on the TIGHI Securities for a period not
exceeding 20 consecutive quarterly interest periods
{though such distributions would continue to accrue interest
during any such extended payment period!. TIGHI cannot
pay dividends during such deferments.

In December 2002, TPC entered into a loan agreement
with an unaffiiated lender and borrowed $550.0 million
under a promissory note due in January 2004. The
Promissory Note carried a variable interest rate of LIBOR
plus 25 basis points per annum. On February 5, 2003, TPC
issued $550.0 million of Floating Rate Notes due in
February 2004. The proceeds from these notes were used
to repay the Promissory Note. The Floating Rate Notes also
carry a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 25 basis points
per annum and are callable by the Company after

August 5, 2003.
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Travelers Property Casualty Corp. and Subsidiaries

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

SCHEDULE V

{in millions )
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginnin Costs and Other End of
of Perio Expenses Accounts''! Deductions'?! Period
Reinsurance Recoverables:
2002, .. $286.2 $ - $ 49.8 $ 6.9 $329.1
2001 ... $213.0 $ - $130.5 $57.3 $ 286.2
2000, .. $ 2195 $ - $ - $ 6.5 $213.0
‘1 Charged to claims and claim adjustment expenses in the consolidated statement of income.
2! Credited to the related asset account.
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Index

Description of Exhibit

2.1

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.2t
4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.9

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 28, 1995, between the Company (then known as The
Travelers Insurance Group Inc.) and Aetna Life and Casualty Company, was filed as Exhibit 10.1 of the
Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1995 of Aetna Life and Casualty Company (File No. 15704,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, effective March 19, 2002, was filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to
the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, effective March 20, 2002, was filed as
Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as amended on January 23, 2003.

Rights Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2002, between the Company and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.,
was flled as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
the Company, and Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (filed herewith as Exhibits 3.1.1, 3.1.2 and
3.2, respectively ).

Intercompany Agreement, dated os of March 26, 2002, by and among the Company, The Travelers Insurance
Company and Citigroup Inc., was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to Intercompany Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2002, amending that certain
Intercompany Agreement dated as of March 26, 2002, by and among the Company, The Travelers Insurance
Company and Citigroup Inc., was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended ond Restated Tox Allocation Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2002, between the Company and
Citigroup Inc., was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Trademark license Agreement dated as of August 19, 2002, by and between the Company and The Travelers
Insurance Company, was flled as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s guarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Transition Services Agreement dated as of August 19, 2002 by and between the Compaony and Citigroup Inc.,
was filed as Exhibit 10.3 1o the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Investment Management and Administrative Services Agreement dated as of August 6, 2002, by and hetween
Travelers Insurance Group Holdings, Inc. (TIGHI) and Citigroup Alternative Investments LLC, was filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Promissory note dated February 7, 2002, between the Company and Citicorp, was filed as Exhibit 10.4.1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 { Amendment No. 2) dated March 5, 2002 (Registration
No. 333-82388), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Promissory note dated February 7, 2002, between the Company and PFS Services, Inc., was filed as
Exhibit 10.4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) dated March 5, 2002
{Registration No. 333-82388), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Promissory note dated February 7, 2002, between the Company and PFS Services, inc., was filed as
Exhibit 10.4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 {Amendment No. 2) dated March 5, 2002
(Registration No. 333-823881, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit

10.221*

Promissory note, dated as of April 13, 2001, by and between Travelers Insurance Group Holdings Inc. (then
known as Travelers Property Casualty Corp.) and Citicorp Banking Corporation was filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 { Amendment No. 4) dated March 12, 2002 (Registration

No. 333-82388), and is incorporated herein by reference.

line of credit agreement, dated December 19, 2001 between Travelers Insurance Group Holdings Inc. (then
known as Travelers Property Casualty Corp.) and Citigroup Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 4) dated March 12, 2002 (Registration

No. 333-82388), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Indemnification Agreement dated as of March 25, 2002, between the Company and Citigroup Inc., was filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

First Supplemental Indenture dated May 10, 2002, by and among the Company, TIGH! and Bank One Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee, relating to $200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of TIGHI's 7%/.:% Notes due
2026 and $150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of TIGHI's 6%/.% Notes due 2006, was filed as

Exhibit 4.1 to TIGH!I's current report on Form 8-K dated May 14, 2002, and is incorporated herein by

First Supplemental Indenture dated May 10, 2002, by and among the Company, TIGHI, and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, as trustee, relating to TIGHI's $800,000,000 aggregate principal amount 8.08% Junior Subordinated
Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2036, and $100,000,000 aggregate principal amount 8.0% Junicr
Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2036, was filed as Exhibit 4.2 to TIGHI's current report on
Form 8-K dated May 14, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Preferred Securities Guarantee Agreement dated May 10, 2002, by and among the
Company, TIGHI and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as trustee, relating to 32,000,000 preferred securities,
designated the 8.08% Trust Preferred Securities, having an aggregate liquidation amount of $800,000,000,
issued by Travelers P & C Capital |, was filed as Exhibit 4.3 to TIGH!'s current report on Form 8-K dated
May 14, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Preferred Securities Guarantee Agreement dated Moy 10, 2002, by and among the
Company, TIGHI, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as trustee, relating to 4,000,000 preferred securities, designated
the 8.0% Trust Preferred Securities, having an aggregate liquidation amount of $100,000,000, issued by
Travelers P & C Capital I, was filed as Exhibit 4.4 to TIGHI's current report on Form 8-K dated May 14, 2002,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Lease for office space at CityPlace, Hartford, Connecticut, dated March 28, 1996, by and between Aetna Life
and Casualty Company and The Travelers Indemnity Company, was filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the registration
statement on Form S-1 of Travelers Insurance Group Holdings Inc. {then known as Travelers/Aetna Property
Casualty Corp.} on April 22, 1996 (File No. 333-2254), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Lease for office space in Hartford, Connecticut, dated as of April 2, 1996, by and between The Travelers
Insurance Company and The Travelers Indemnity Company, was filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the annual report on
Form 10-K of Travelers Insurance Group Holdings Inc. (then known as Travelers/Aetna Property Casualty
Corp.), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Agreement between the Company and HPB Management LLC dated as of January 1, 2002, and Termination
Agreement between the parties dated September 24, 2002, were filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, and are incorporated herein

Travelers Property Casualty Corp. Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors was filed as Exhibit 10.8 to
the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002, and is incorporated

Number Description of Exhibit
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
reference.
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
by reference.
10.20*
herein by reference.
10.21*

Travelers Property Casualty Corp. Executive Performance Compensation Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the
Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002, and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Travelers Property Casualty Corp. 2002 Stock Incentive Pian, as amended eftective January 23, 2003.
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Exhibit

Employment Agreement between the Company and Robert |. Lipp dated March 7, 2002 was filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002, and

Employment Letter Agreement dated May 22, 2002 between the Company and Maria Olivo, Executive Vice
President of the Company, was filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Lefter Agreement dated October 25, 2002 between the Company and Stewart R. Morrison, Chief

Statement of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Certified Public Accountants, with respect to the incorporation by reference
of KPMG LLP's audit report into Forms S-8 of the Company, Registration Nos. 333-98365 and 333-84740.

Certification of Robert 1. lipp, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, as required by Section 906 of the

Number Description of Exhibit
10.23t* Travelers Deferred Compensation Plan.
10.241* Travelers Benefit Equalization Plan,
10.25*

is incorporated herein by reference.
10.26*
10.271*

Investment Officer of the Company.
1274
21.1¢ Subsidiaries of the Company.
23.1¢
99.1¢

Sarbanes-Cxley Act of 2002.
99.24

Certification of Jay S. Benet, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, as required by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Cxley Act of 2002.

The total amount of securities authorized pursuant to any instrument defining rights of holders of long-term debt of the
Company does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. Therefore, the
Company is not filing any instruments evidencing long-term debt. However, the Company will furnish copies of any such
instrument to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

Copies of any of the exhibits referred to above will be furnished to security holders who make written request therefore to
Shareholder Relations, Travelers Property Casualty Corp., One Tower Square, Hartford, Connecticut 06183,

t Filed herewith
* Management contract or compensatory plan in which directors and/or executive officers are eligible to participate.
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EXHIBIT 99.1

TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Travelers Property Casualty Corp. (the ““Company’’) on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, Robert 1. Lipp, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S5.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
]934, ond

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Dated this 4th day of March, 2003

/s/ RoBert I. Lipp

Robert I. Lipp
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT $9.2

TRAVELERS PROPERTY CASUALTY CORP.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.5.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Travelers Property Casualty Corp. (the “Company’) on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hersof (the
“Report’), |, Jay S. Benet, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and :

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Dated this 4th day of March, 2003

/s/  Jay S. BENET

Jay S. Benet
Chief Financial Officer
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Shareholder Information

Common Stock and Public Debt

Travelers Property Casualty Corp. Class A and Class B common stock are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, under the symbols TAP.A (for the Class A common stock) and TAP.B (for the Class B
common stock).

Travelers P&C Capital |, 8.08% Trust Preferred Securities, Travelers P&C Capital il, 8.00% Trust Preferred
Securities, and Travelers Property Casualty Corp. 4.50% Convertible Junior Subordinated Notes are also
listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

2003 Annual Meeting
The 2003 annual meeting of shareholders will be held at the Wadsworth Atheneum, 600 Main Street,
Hartford, CT, at 10:00am on April 24, 2003.

Transfer Agent
Shareholder inquiries regarding stock account matters, including stock transfers, dividend
replacement, 1099-DIV reporting, change of address and lost common stock certificates should
be directed to:

Equiserve

150 Royall Street

Canton, MA 02021

Toll Free Number: (866) 290-4344

(Outside the U.S. and Canada call (781) 575-3654)

Web Site: www.travelers.equiserve.com

Investor Relations
Security analysts, investment professionals and shareholders should direct inquiries to:
Maria Olivo, Executive Vice President
investor Relations, 2MS
One Tower Square
Hartford, CT 06183
(860) 277-8330

Public information and SEC Filings
Please visit us at our Web site, www.travelers.com, for our latest news and earnings.

Travelers makes available, free of charge on its Web site, all of its filings that are made electronically
with the SEC, including Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K. To access these filings, go to the company's Web
site and click on “investors,” then click on "SEC Filings.” This links directly to the SEC's Web site where
the company’s filings may be viewed.

Otherwise, you can obtain public information, including SEC filings and annual reports, by writing:
Travelers Property Casualty Corp.
Attn: Shareholder Relations
One Tower Square, 251
Hartford, CT 06183
(860Q) 277-0779

Corporate Governance

Travelers Corporate Governance Principles, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the charters
of committees of the Board of Directors and other governance information are available on the
company Web site listed above. Shareholders may receive a paper copy by contacting Travelers
as directed above.,
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